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Forward Looking Statements

The information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (Securities Act), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act). Such
statements are based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Any statements contained herein that are not statements of
historical facts may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. For example, words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “estimates,” “predicts,”
“potential,” “continue,” “strategy,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “expects,” “intends” and similar expressions are intended to identify
forward-looking statements. Our actual results and the timing of certain events may differ significantly from the results discussed in the
forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause or contribute to such a discrepancy include, but are not limited to, those discussed
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K in the section titled “Risk Factors” and the risks discussed in our other Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) filings. We undertake no obligation to publicly release any revisions to the forward-looking statements after the date of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Part I
 

Item 1. Business
Overview

Riverbed® has developed an innovative and comprehensive solution to the fundamental problems of wide-area distributed computing.
Historically, computing within an organization across wide area networks (WANs) has been plagued by poor performance, IT complexity and high
cost. Our Steelhead® products enable our customers to improve the performance of their applications and access to their data across WANs,
typically increasing transmission speeds by 5 to 50 times and in some cases by up to 100 times. Our products also offer the ability to simplify IT
infrastructure and realize significant capital and operational cost savings. Our goal is to establish our solution as the preeminent performance and
efficiency standard for organizations relying on wide-area distributed computing. We believe our products and services can provide significant
benefits in millions of locations worldwide.

A common misconception is that increasing or optimizing bandwidth alone can adequately reduce the inefficiencies and performance
problems inherent in wide-area distributed computing. Increasing or optimizing bandwidth may allow an organization to increase the amount of
data that can traverse a WAN at a given point in time. However, WAN performance problems resulting from the distance between locations across
a WAN and resulting from network and application protocol inefficiencies are not addressed by increasing or optimizing bandwidth alone.
Inadequate bandwidth is only one of three inter-related causes of these performance problems. We believe that these problems can best be
solved by simultaneously addressing all three inter-related root causes: software application protocol inefficiencies, transport network protocol
inefficiencies and insufficient or unavailable bandwidth.

Unlike alternative approaches, our Steelhead products simultaneously address these root causes across a broad range of applications.
Our products utilize our proprietary software to improve the performance of applications and access to data over distance by reducing:
 

 �  application protocol inefficiencies through our proprietary Application Streamlining techniques;
 

 �  network protocol inefficiencies through our proprietary Transport Streamlining techniques; and
 

 �  bandwidth requirements through our proprietary Data Streamlining techniques and data compression.
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Our Steelhead products are used at both ends of a WAN connection and are designed to be more easily and transparently integrated into

existing networks than alternative products. Our products address a broad range of widely used software applications, are scalable across
networks of all sizes and address the wide-area distributed computing needs of every major industry.

We were founded in May 2002. Prior to the first commercial shipments of our products in May 2004, our activities were primarily focused
on research and development of a comprehensive Wide-area Data Services (WDS) solution for organizations relying on wide-area distributed
computing, development of a customer and partner support program to support our product offerings and the hiring of the personnel needed to
sell, market and support our products and services. Since that time, our products have been sold to more than 3,500 customers worldwide, from
large global organizations with hundreds or thousands of locations to smaller organizations. We sell our products and support directly through our
sales force and indirectly through distribution partners, including value-added distributors, value-added resellers (VARs), Systems Integrators and
Service Providers. We operate internationally primarily through a number of wholly owned subsidiaries that are designed primarily to support our
sales, marketing and support activities outside the United States.

We have achieved broad industry recognition for our innovative technology: The Wall Street Journal selected our Steelhead appliances as
a winner of one of its “2005 Technology Innovation Awards.” Network Computing Magazine presented us with its “Well-Connected Award” for
Remote Office Solutions in 2006, InfoWorld magazine presented us with a “Technology of the Year” award in 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008, and in
2006 and 2007, Gartner positioned us in the Leaders’ Quadrant in the “WAN Optimization Controller (WOC) Magic Quadrant.” This report
positions vendors in one of four quadrants based on the companies’ vision and ability to execute on that vision.

Industry Background
We believe there are over four million remote offices of U.S. based companies alone. We also believe millions of remote computing

locations exist for companies based outside the U.S. Many of these locations represent potential sites for our products.

The WDS market provides global access to data and applications across WANs with local area network (LAN)-like performance. The WDS
market is large and growing. The key drivers of demand in this market are the increasingly geographically distributed nature of organizations and
employees, the growing business dependence on application performance and real-time access to data and the increasing desirability of
consolidation of IT resources to achieve compelling cost, management and data protection benefits.

Increasingly Distributed Organizations and Workforces
Organizations are becoming more geographically distributed, placing operations closer to customers and partners to improve efficiency and

responsiveness. Businesses are becoming more global by expanding into new markets, migrating manufacturing facilities to lower-cost locations
and outsourcing certain business processes. In addition, mergers, acquisitions, partnerships and joint ventures continue to expand the geographic
scope of existing enterprises.

Organizations are Increasingly Dependent on Timely Access to Critical Data and Applications
Application performance and effective access to data are critical to executing, maintaining and expanding business operations. Employees

are increasingly dependent on a wide array of software applications to perform their jobs effectively, such as e-mail, document management,
enterprise resource planning and customer relationship management.
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Benefits of IT Infrastructure Consolidation
As organizations have become more geographically distributed, installing and managing IT infrastructure has become increasingly costly

and complex. Accordingly, IT managers often seek to consolidate IT infrastructure resources into headquarters or centralized datacenter locations,
which can provide a number of benefits, including:
 

 �  reduction in capital costs as IT infrastructure resources (file servers, e-mail servers, web servers, application servers, back-up systems
and databases) are consolidated and shared within an organization;

 

 �  reduction in IT support costs as fewer personnel are required to manage more centralized data and applications;
 

 �  more efficient and reliable data back-up and recovery and application and database administration by managing these processes from a
central point of control;

 

 �  improved data protection as consolidated IT infrastructure resources are less vulnerable to theft, loss and misuse; and
 

 �  enhanced ability to implement internal controls and comply with other regulatory requirements as centralized data and applications are
easier to monitor, store and access.

Despite these benefits, many organizations have foregone or delayed consolidation projects because of performance problems.

Wide-Area Distributed Computing Challenges
Technological advances in computing, networking, semiconductor and storage technologies have improved users’ ability to access data

and use applications rapidly across their LANs and store enormous amounts of information economically. However, these same applications and
storage technologies, which were often designed to operate optimally on LANs, perform slowly across WANs and frequently exhibit the following
performance challenges:
 

 �  delays in accessing, saving and transferring files;
 

 �  slow execution of critical software application functions;
 

 �  incomplete or inconsistent back-up and recovery of sensitive data; and
 

 �  loss of worker productivity and increased end-user frustration.

Although many companies have attempted to solve these problems solely by adding bandwidth, we believe these performance problems
can best be solved by addressing not only bandwidth challenges but also, and usually more importantly, the effects of latency and protocol
chattiness:
 

 

�  Latency and protocol chattiness — “Latency” is the amount of time it takes data to travel distances across a WAN. “Chattiness” refers to
the numerous interactions between clients and servers that are often required by applications or network transport protocols to complete
an operation or transfer data. When combined in geographically distributed computing environments, latency and chattiness can result
in dramatically slower performance. For example, a simple request to open a file may require hundreds if not thousands of sequential
round-trip interactions that, when aggregated, can result in substantial delays. This problem arises from two distinct sources:

 

 
– Application protocol chattiness — Many business applications were designed for optimal use within LAN environments and employ

unique communications procedures that cause high chattiness, resulting in slow performance for the end-user when transmitted over
a WAN; and
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– Network protocol chattiness — Transmission Control Protocol (TCP), the underlying transport protocol for most WAN
traffic, divides data into relatively small packets that are sent sequentially across the WAN, and require return
acknowledgement from the recipient. These numerous round trips across the WAN can result in slow performance for
the end-user.

 

 

�  Bandwidth limitations — Bandwidth is defined as the amount of data that can traverse a network in a given amount of time and is
typically measured in megabits per second (Mbps). While most organizations’ LANs typically operate at 100 or 1,000 Mbps, their remote
office WAN connections typically operate at 2 Mbps or less. This often results in WAN congestion and poor application and data
services performance. In addition, WAN outages limit the effectiveness of workers who are dependent on remote access to data and
applications.

Limitations of Alternative Approaches
Historically, organizations have implemented partial solutions in attempting to improve the performance of wide-area distributed computing,

including:
Additional Investment in Bandwidth and IT Infrastructure Resources

 

 
�  Bandwidth — Organizations often attempt to improve application performance by making costly investments in more bandwidth. While

additional bandwidth may reduce network congestion, no amount of bandwidth can address performance issues caused by high latency
and application and network protocol chattiness; and

 

 
�  IT infrastructure resources — Deploying additional IT infrastructure resources at remote locations can increase selected application and

data services performance. However, this approach is expensive, complex to manage and increases the risks of data inconsistency and
compromised security.

Deployment of Point Products
Our competitors have designed products that fail to address all of the root causes of wide-area distributed computing problems for a broad

range of applications. Such products, which we refer to as point products, include:
 

 

�  Caching — Cache-based architectures are application specific, and accordingly only improve the performance of applications for which
they are written. For example, wide area file services (WAFS) approaches only address poor performance of file-based applications.
Caches store frequently accessed data objects (files, web pages or attachments) locally at remote locations and replicate and
synchronize that data with servers, but this approach has limitations. For instance, when an end-user changes and renames a data
object, caches no longer recognize that this data object has moved across the network and cannot optimize its transfer. In addition,
caching approaches have inflexible architectures with limited ability to extend to other applications and also increase the risk of data
inconsistency; and

 

 

�  WAN optimization — WAN optimization products, which typically offer some combination of compression, TCP optimization and
quality-of-service functions, can result in a reduction of network congestion and more efficient utilization of bandwidth. However, other
WAN optimization products typically do not address application chattiness as comprehensively as we do and many do not provide for
continued access to remote files during WAN failures.

In addition to their limited application, these point products often involve deployment and operational complexities that cause network
disruption, and inefficiency, and difficulties scaling to large numbers of locations. They may often require server or client re-configuration, or
complex pre-installation configuration that demands significant amounts of time from IT personnel.
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Over time, point-product vendors have attempted to incorporate additional functionality to solve for their limitations. These amalgamations

of legacy approaches with additional layers of features often suffer from the same underlying issues with their legacy underpinnings; insufficient
performance improvement over a broad spectrum of data networking traffic, scaling difficulties, and deployment and operational complexity.

Need for a Comprehensive Solution
Alternative approaches have failed to comprehensively address all of the root causes of wide-area distributed computing problems for a

broad range of applications, and offer only limited performance enhancement. Some vendors have attempted to combine capabilities of otherwise
more limited approaches through partnerships and acquisitions, but the resulting products have been poorly integrated and have failed to improve
the performance of a sufficiently wide array of applications. We believe significant demand exists for an integrated, flexible and comprehensive
WDS solution that adequately addresses the root causes of the fundamental performance problems of wide-area distributed computing.

The Riverbed Solution
We have developed an innovative and comprehensive solution that broadly addresses the inter-related root causes of poor performance of

wide-area distributed computing: latency and protocol chattiness, and bandwidth limitations. By simultaneously addressing these causes, we are
able to improve significantly the performance of applications and access to data across WANs and enable the consolidation of costly IT
infrastructure. Our WDS solution consists of the Riverbed Optimization System (RiOS™), our proprietary software that is embedded on a general
purpose hardware computing platform to form our Steelhead appliances. We also embed RiOS in our Steelhead Mobile software designed for use
on mobile worker laptop computers.

Through the application of our proprietary technology, our WDS solution simultaneously addresses each of these root causes of poor WAN
performance:
 

 �  Application protocol chattiness — Our Application Streamlining technology significantly reduces unnecessary protocol chattiness for a
broad range of applications;

 

 �  Network protocol chattiness — Our Transport Streamlining technology employs a variety of techniques to significantly improve TCP
performance. Our technology allows more data to be transmitted in each trip, which reduces the number of trips required; and

 

 
�  Bandwidth limitations — Our Data Streamlining technology employs sophisticated data mapping and pattern recognition techniques to

minimize the amount of redundant data traversing WAN connections. Our products detect requests for redundant information and send
very little more than the data that has actually been modified over the WAN.

When combined, these key technologies allow us to deliver significant benefits to our customers, including the ability to:
 

 

�  Accelerate performance of applications and access to data over the WAN — Our solution enables our customers to recognize dramatic
increases in performance of applications and access to data across a WAN, typically increasing transmission speeds by 5 to 50 times
and in some cases by up to 100 times. Benefits include increased employee productivity, more efficient collaboration of globally
distributed workgroups and more consistent rollout and adoption of enterprise applications;

 

 �  Consolidate geographically distributed IT resources — Our solution enables the consolidation of remote office infrastructure, including
servers, storage back-up systems, databases and IT
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 support personnel, while achieving more LAN-like performance. Also, consolidation enhances data security by centralizing IT resources
in more secure datacenters;

 

 �  Reduce the need for WAN bandwidth — Our solution nearly eliminates redundant traffic traversing the WAN and enables more efficient
use of existing bandwidth, reducing the pressure to add bandwidth, which is often expensive or unavailable, as network traffic increases;

 

 

�  Shorten storage back-up and replication time over the WAN — Our solution enables back-up and replication of data over the WAN in a
fraction of the time previously allocated to the task. Additional benefits to our solution include reduced IT support needed to execute
daily back-up procedures, as well as reduced security concerns related to storing and transporting backed-up data on physical tape
media at every remote computing location; and

 

 
�  Improve productivity and reduce frustration for IT managers and end-users — Our solution allows users in sites linked by a WAN to

collaborate and share files and other data without the delays normally caused by WANs. Additional benefits include faster development
cycles, better data synchronization, lower error rates and more flexibility with respect to staffing and personnel coordination.

Our products are designed to be easily and transparently deployed into our customers’ networks. Our products are also designed to be
easily managed, scalable across networks of all sizes and to address the wide-area distributed computing needs of every major industry.

The Riverbed Strategy
Our goal is to establish our solution as the preeminent performance and efficiency standard for organizations relying on wide-area

distributed computing. Key elements of our strategy include:
 

 
�  Maintain and extend our technological advantages — We believe that we offer the broadest ability to enable rapid, reliable access to

applications and data for our customers. We intend to enhance our position as a leader and innovator in the WDS market. We also
intend to continue to sell new capabilities into our installed base;

 

 
�  Enhance and extend our product line — We plan to introduce new models of our current products as well as enhancements to their

capabilities in order to address our customers’ size and application requirements. We also plan to introduce new products to extend our
market and utilize our technology platform to extend our capabilities;

 

 �  Increase market awareness — To generate increased demand for our products, we will continue promoting our brand and the
effectiveness of our comprehensive WDS solution;

 

 �  Scale our distribution channels — We intend to leverage and expand our indirect channels to extend our geographic reach and market
penetration; and

 

 �  Enhance and extend our support and services capabilities — We plan to enhance and extend our support and services capabilities to
continue to support our growing global customer base.

Products
Our Steelhead appliances consist of our RiOS proprietary software that is embedded on a general purpose hardware computing platform.

Our line of Steelhead appliances addresses the needs of customers ranging from small office deployments to large headquarters and datacenter
locations. The U.S. list prices for our 13 Steelhead appliance models currently range from $3,495 to $119,995.

Our Central Management Console (CMC) is a complementary product designed to centrally manage many Steelhead appliances
distributed across a WAN, simplifying the tasks of deploying,
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configuring, monitoring, reporting and upgrading large numbers of Steelhead appliances. The U.S. list prices of our CMC appliances currently
range from $4,995 to $49,995.

Our InterceptorTM is a complementary product designed to enable flexible and scalable deployment of a cluster of Steelhead appliances in
complex, high traffic data center environments without requiring complex network reconfiguration, making the deployment of a Riverbed-based
solution simpler, faster and more scalable than alternatives. The U.S. list price of our Interceptor appliance is currently $34,995.

In addition to accelerating the performance of applications across the WAN, Steelhead and CMC products utilize our Management
Streamlining technology to simplify deployment, configuration, management, and ongoing maintenance, thereby lowering the total cost of
ownership of our products. Management Streamlining offers the following benefits:
 

 

�  Ease of deployment — Our products are designed to be more easily and seamlessly integrated into networks than alternative
approaches with full support for most existing routing and networking configurations. Steelhead products can automatically detect each
other within an organization’s WAN and be automatically configured across WAN links to begin optimizing data without the need to
manually set up complicated appliance-to-appliance network tunnels; and

 

 
�  Simplified management — Our products simplify remote-site appliance management by enabling remote configuration, management

and updating of Steelhead products. In addition, our products also provide performance reporting capabilities necessary to deliver
relevant performance information to centralized IT resources.

In August 2007, we launched Steelhead Mobile, a software product that incorporates RiOS to accelerate the performance of applications
and access to data from mobile worker laptops. The U.S. list price of a Steelhead Mobile software license is approximately $350 per concurrently
connected end-user. A customer must have at least one Steelhead Appliance in their network to which Steelhead Mobile will connect. A Steelhead
Mobile Controller appliance is used to manage Steelhead Mobile connections. The U.S. list price for a Steelhead Mobile Controller bundled with
30 Steelhead Mobile licenses is currently $12,995.

Technology
The Riverbed Optimization System (RiOS) is our proprietary software platform that provides the core intelligence for our Steelhead

products. To achieve performance improvements across a broad range of applications, RiOS integrates four key sets of technologies: Data
Streamlining, Transport Streamlining, Application Streamlining and Management Streamlining.

Data Streamlining
Our Data Streamlining technologies address bandwidth limitations in existing networks. Our patented approach can be applied to all data

and applications that run over TCP to reduce bandwidth consumption by dramatically reducing the need to send the same data multiple times over
the WAN. Data Streamlining also supports the classification of individual data packets for quality-of-service and route control.

In a non-optimized WAN setting, each time data is requested by a remote user, all of the data must be sent across the WAN, regardless of
whether identical data (or an insignificantly modified version of the data) has previously been sent. In wide-area distributed computing
environments where Steelhead products have been deployed, all of the requested data must be sent across the WAN only the first time data is
requested by a user, at which time that data is stored by the Steelhead products on both sides of the network. In subsequent requests, redundant
data segments will not be sent
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regardless of what application is requesting the data or which user is making the request. The detection of repetitive data patterns is very granular,
with a typical segment of data being as small as approximately 100 bytes. This fine level of granularity enables Steelhead products to detect tiny
changes in files, e-mails, web pages and other application data, sending only those changes across the WAN.

Each end-user request for data is sent directly to the intended authoritative application server as opposed to a cache that typically utilizes a
copy of the data. Our Steelhead product intercepts the server response, identifies redundant data patterns and then sends only the new segments
across the WAN to the end-user. All of the existing segments are represented by references which point to those already existing segments stored
on the end-user side of the WAN connection. In this way, significantly less traffic needs to be sent to deliver large amounts of data to the end-user.
In addition, this approach eliminates data consistency issues inherent in cache-based approaches.

Transport Streamlining
Transport Streamlining enhances the performance of the TCP protocol by increasing the amount of data carried per TCP round trip,

thereby reducing the number of round trips required to move a given amount of data over the WAN. We accomplish this by both increasing the
default TCP payload and by filling the window with references to data rather than actual data.

We also enhance TCP performance by reducing the time associated with creating new TCP connections (especially for small, short-lived
transfers), adapting transfer parameters based on real-time network characteristics and assigning priority for necessary packet resends due to
packet loss. A component of Transport Streamlining, High Speed TCP, also addresses the TCP chattiness and latency that is particularly
pronounced in high speed connections (for example OC-12 (622 Mbps)). Another component of transport streamlining, MXTCP, is designed to
address private networks with packet loss.

Application Streamlining
Application Streamlining provides a further mechanism to enhance the performance of specific applications. Many applications were

designed for use over a LAN and require hundreds to thousands of interactions between client and server to execute even simple requests, such
as opening a file. By understanding the semantics of particular application protocols, Steelhead products reduce chattiness, collapsing hundreds
of client-server interactions into a few round trips over the WAN.

While most important business applications that run over TCP immediately benefit from Data Streamlining and Transport Streamlining,
Application Streamlining enables us to add additional acceleration for specific applications. We have built specific Application Streamlining
modules that support file, e-mail, web, ERP, and database application protocols (CIFS, MAPI, HTTP, Oracle 11i, SSL, NFS and MS-SQL). We
have also built special modules to address protocol inefficiencies for common storage back-up and replication applications. We believe these
applications are especially inefficient in wide-area distributed computing. We have designed our architecture to enable additional Application
Streamlining modules to be incorporated easily over time.

Management Streamlining
Management Streamlining allows for simplified implementation and administration of our Steelhead products. Unlike alternative

approaches which usually require changes to clients, servers, routers and switches or the addition of an overlay network of tunnels, Steelhead
products are designed to be transparently installed in existing IT infrastructure with minimal administration. The auto-discovery
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capabilities of RiOS allow our Steelhead products to identify automatically all Steelhead products on the WAN, typically without a need to
reconfigure any network infrastructure. Our products automatically intercept WAN traffic without any further configuration requirements to
applications, clients, or other network infrastructure, while allowing non-optimized traffic to simply pass through.

Our RiOS software provides IT administrators with simplified management of Steelhead products through Command Line Interface (CLI),
Graphical User Interface (GUI) and an optional Central Management Console.

Other key elements of Management Streamlining include touchless configuration options, over-the-wire software upgrades for Steelhead
products, singular and grouped appliance management and customizable reporting analytics.

Customers
Our products have been sold to over 3,500 customers worldwide in every major industry, including manufacturing, finance, technology,

government, architecture, engineering and construction, professional services, utilities, healthcare and pharmaceuticals, media and retail. Our
products are deployed in a wide range of organizations, from large global organizations with hundreds or thousands of locations to smaller
organizations with few locations. During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, no single customer accounted for 10% or more of
our consolidated revenue.

Sales and Marketing
We sell our products and support through indirect distribution partners and our field sales force:

 

 �  Indirect distribution partners — We have over 500 channel partners worldwide, primarily VARs and System Integrators. These partners
help market and sell our products to a broad array of organizations and allow us to leverage our field sales force; and

 

 �  Field sales force — We have a field sales force that is responsible for managing all direct and indirect sales within each of our
geographic territories.

Our marketing activities include lead generation, advertising, website operations, direct marketing, public relations, technology conferences
and trade shows.

Support and Services
We offer tiered customer support programs depending upon the service needs of our customers’ deployments. Support contracts provide

customers rights to unspecified software product upgrades and maintenance releases issued when and if available during the support period.
Product support includes internet access to technical content, as well as telephone access to technical support personnel. Support contracts
typically have a one year term. We have support centers in New York, San Francisco Bay Area, Amsterdam area, London area, Singapore and
Tokyo, which enable us to respond at all times. As we expand internationally, we plan to continue to hire additional technical support personnel to
service our growing international customer base.

Primary product support for customers of our indirect distribution partners is often provided by the partners themselves and we provide
back-up support.

Our product sales include a warranty on hardware and software. Hardware is typically warranted against material defects for 12 months.
Software is typically warranted to meet published specifications for a period of 90 days.
 

11

Source: Riverbed Technology,, 10-K, February 15, 2008



Table of Contents
Research and Development

Continued investment in research and development is critical to our business. To this end, we have assembled a team of engineers with
expertise in various fields, including networking, applications, storage and systems management. We have invested significant time and financial
resources into the development of our products. We plan to expand our product offerings and solutions capabilities in the future and plan to
dedicate significant resources to these continued research and development efforts. Further, as we expand internationally and into different
sectors, we may incur additional costs to conform our products to comply with local laws or local product specifications.

Research and development expenses were $39.7 million, $19.2 million, and $8.1 million in 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively.

Manufacturing
We outsource manufacturing of all hardware products. Our manufacturers provide us with limited warranties to cover general component

failures, and our larger manufacturing partners provide specific quality control processes and replacement cycle time commitments. In addition,
the lead times associated with certain components are lengthy and make rapid changes in quantity requirements and delivery schedules difficult.
Although we outsource manufacturing operations for cost-effective scale and flexibility, we perform rigorous quality control testing intended to
ensure the reliability of Steelhead appliances once deployed. We provide long term forecasts to our manufacturing partners and we maintain
oversight of their supply chain activities.

Shortages in components that we use in our products are possible and our ability to predict the availability of such components may be
limited. Some of these components are available only from single or limited sources of supply. Our ability to timely deliver products to our
customers would be materially adversely impacted if we needed to qualify replacements for any of a number of the components used in our
products.

We outsource our logistics functions to third parties. These third parties ship our products on our behalf and perform certain other shipping
and physical distribution capabilities.

Competition
The WDS market is highly competitive and continually evolving. We believe we compete primarily on the basis of offering a comprehensive

WDS solution that broadly addresses the root causes of poor performance of wide-area distributed computing. We believe other principal
competitive factors in our market include product performance, ability to deploy easily into existing networks and ability to remotely manage
products. We believe that our solution performs better than competitive products as measured by a broad range of metrics encompassing
application performance, compression ratios and data transfer times. Our ability to sustain such a competitive advantage depends on our ability to
achieve continuous technological innovation and adapt to the evolving needs of our customers.

We believe we are currently the only provider of a comprehensive WDS solution. However, a large number of vendors have made
acquisitions to enter the WDS market and continue to invest in this area.

Our primary competitors include Cisco Systems (through its Actona acquisition), Juniper Networks (through its Peribit Networks
acquisition), Packeteer (through its Tacit Networks acquisition), BlueCoat Systems, F5 Networks (through its Swan Labs acquisition) and Citrix
Systems (through its Orbital Data acquisition). We also face competition from a large number of smaller private companies and new market
entrants.
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We believe that we compete favorably in each of the sub-segments of WAN optimization and WAFS in addition to being the only provider

of a comprehensive WDS solution. As we have a purpose-built architecture, compared to many vendors attempts to combine separate technology
elements, we believe we have a significant advantage in performance, ease-of-use, and ability to scale to large numbers of locations and
employees.

Intellectual Property
Our success as a company depends upon our ability to protect our core technology and intellectual property. To accomplish this, we rely

on a combination of intellectual property rights, including patents, trade secrets, copyrights and trademarks, as well as customary contractual
protections.

We have been granted three United States patents for our Content-Based Segmentation Scheme (which covers aspects of our Data
Streamlining), one United States patent for aspects of our Transaction Accelerator system (the architectural framework of RiOS), and one United
States patent for our Cooperative Proxy Auto-Discovery and Connection Interception methods and apparatus. The granted United States patents
will expire in 2022 or 2023. United States patent filings are intended to provide the holder with a right to exclude others from making, using, selling
or importing in the U.S. the inventions covered by the claims of granted patents. We have United States provisional and non-provisional patent
applications pending, as well as counterparts pending in other jurisdictions around the world. We do not know whether any of our pending patent
applications will result in the issuance of patents or whether the examination process will require us to narrow our claims. Our granted United
States patents, and to the extent any future patents are issued, any such future patents may be contested, circumvented or invalidated over the
course of our business, and we may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing these patents. Therefore, the exact effect of having a
patent cannot be predicted with certainty.

Our three registered trademarks in the United States are Riverbed, Steelhead and Riverbed (stylized). Our three registered trademarks in
Japan are Riverbed, Steelhead and Riverbed (stylized). Our two registered trademarks in the European Community are Steelhead and Riverbed
(stylized). We also have United States trademark applications pending to register Riverbed (stylized), RiOS, Interceptor, THINK FAST and the
Riverbed Design mark, and a European Community trademark application pending for the mark Riverbed.

In addition to the foregoing protections, we generally control access to and use of our proprietary software and other confidential
information through the use of internal and external controls, including contractual protections with employees, contractors, customers and
partners, and our software is protected by United States and international copyright laws.

We also incorporate third-party software programs into our products pursuant to license agreements. These software programs enable us,
for example, to configure a storage adapter for specific redundant disk setups, initialize and diagnose hardware on certain models, and help
manage statistics and reporting. Any disruption in our access to these software programs could result in significant delays in our product releases
and could require substantial effort to locate or develop a replacement program.

Employees
As of December 31, 2007, we had 623 employees in offices in all major geographies. Of these, 285 were engaged in sales and marketing,

181 in research and development, 69 in support and services, 83 in finance and administration and 5 in manufacturing. None of our U.S.
employees are
 

13

Source: Riverbed Technology,, 10-K, February 15, 2008



Table of Contents
represented by labor unions; however, in certain international subsidiaries workers councils represent our employees. We consider current
employee relations to be good.

Available Information
Our Internet address is www.riverbed.com. There we make available, free of charge, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on

Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such
material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Our SEC reports can be accessed through the investor relations section of our website. The information
found on our website is not part of this or any other report we file with or furnish to the SEC.

 

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Set forth below and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and in other documents we file with the SEC, are risks and

uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results contemplated by the forward-looking statements contained in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Because of the following factors, as well as other variables affecting our operating results, past financial
performance should not be considered as a reliable indicator of future performance and investors should not use historical trends to anticipate
results or trends in future periods.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We compete in new and rapidly evolving markets and have a limited operating history, which make it difficult to predict our future
operating results.

We were incorporated in May 2002 and shipped our first Steelhead appliance in May 2004. We have a limited operating history and offer a
single line of products in an industry characterized by rapid technological change. It is very difficult to forecast our future operating results. You
should consider and evaluate our prospects in light of the risks and uncertainty frequently encountered by early stage companies in rapidly
evolving markets characterized by rapid technological change, changing customer needs, evolving industry standards and frequent introductions
of new products and services. As we encounter rapidly changing customer requirements and increasing competitive pressures, we likely will be
required to reposition our product and service offerings and introduce new products and services. We may not be successful in doing so in a
timely and appropriately responsive manner, or at all. Furthermore, because we compete in an early stage market, many of our target customers
have not purchased products similar to ours and might not have a specific budget for the purchase of our products and services. All of these
factors make it difficult to predict our future operating results.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly, which makes our future results difficult to predict and could cause our operating
results to fall below expectations or our guidance.

Our quarterly and annual operating results have varied significantly in the past and will vary significantly in the future, which makes it
difficult for us to predict our future operating results. Our operating results may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of
our control, including the changing U.S. and global economic environment, and any of which may cause our stock price to fluctuate. As a result,
comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. You should not rely on our past results as an indication of our
future performance. In addition, revenues in any quarter are largely dependent on customer contracts entered into during that quarter. Moreover, a
significant portion of our quarterly sales typically occurs during the last month of the quarter, which we believe reflects customer buying patterns of
products similar to ours and other products in the technology industry generally. As a result, our quarterly operating results are difficult to predict
even in the near term and a delay in an anticipated sale past the end of a particular quarter may
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negatively impact our results of operations for that quarter, or in some cases, that year. A delay in the recognition of revenue, even from just one
account, may have a significant negative impact on our results of operations for a given period. If our revenue or operating results fall below the
expectations of investors or securities analysts or below any guidance we may provide to the market, the price of our common stock would likely
decline substantially. Such a decline could occur, and has occurred in the past, even when we have met our publicly stated revenue and/or
earnings guidance. We are rapidly expanding the number of personnel, programs and infrastructure to accommodate and facilitate anticipated
future growth. If revenues are less than anticipated, then our financial results would be adversely affected.

In addition to other risk factors listed in this “Risk Factors” section, factors that may affect our operating results include, but are not limited
to:
 

 
�  fluctuations in demand, including due to seasonality, for our products and services. For example, many companies in our industry

experience adverse seasonal fluctuations in customer spending patterns, particularly in the first and third quarters; we have experienced
these seasonal fluctuations in the past and expect that this trend will continue in the future;

 

 �  fluctuations in sales cycles and prices for our products and services;
 

 �  reductions in customers’ budgets for information technology purchases and delays in their purchasing cycles;
 

 �  general economic conditions in our domestic and international markets;
 

 �  limited visibility into customer spending plans;
 

 �  changing market conditions, including current and potential customer consolidation;
 

 �  customer concentration;
 

 
�  the timing of recognizing revenue in any given quarter as a result of software revenue recognition rules, including the extent to which

sales transactions in a given period are unrecognizable until a future period or, conversely, the satisfaction of revenue recognition rules
in a given period resulting in the recognition of revenue from transactions initiated in prior periods;

 

 �  the sale of our products in the timeframes we anticipate, including the number and size of orders, and the product mix within any such
orders, in each quarter;

 

 �  our ability to develop, introduce and ship in a timely manner new products and product enhancements that meet customer requirements;
 

 �  the timing of product releases or upgrades by us or by our competitors;
 

 �  any significant changes in the competitive dynamics of our markets, including new entrants or substantial discounting of products;
 

 �  our ability to control costs, including our operating expenses and the costs of the components we purchase;
 

 �  volatility in our stock price, which may lead to higher stock compensation expenses pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123(R); and

 

 
�  unpredictable fluctuations in our effective tax rate due to disqualifying dispositions of stock from the employee stock purchase plan and

stock options, changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets or liabilities, changes in actual results versus our estimates, or
changes in tax laws, regulations, accounting principles, or interpretations thereof.

 
15

Source: Riverbed Technology,, 10-K, February 15, 2008



Table of Contents
We face intense competition that could reduce our revenue and adversely affect our financial results.

The market for our products is highly competitive and we expect competition to intensify in the future. Other companies may introduce new
products in the same markets we serve or intend to enter.

This competition could result in increased pricing pressure, reduced profit margins, increased sales and marketing expenses and failure to
increase, or the loss of, market share, any of which would likely seriously harm our business, operating results or financial condition.

Competitive products may in the future have better performance, more and/or better features, lower prices and broader acceptance than
our products. Many of our current or potential competitors have longer operating histories, greater name recognition, larger customer bases and
significantly greater financial, technical, sales, marketing and other resources than we do. Potential customers may prefer to purchase from their
existing suppliers rather than a new supplier regardless of product performance or features. Currently, we face competition from a number of
established companies, including Cisco Systems (which acquired Actona Technologies), Juniper Networks (which acquired Peribit Networks),
Packeteer (which acquired Tacit Networks), Blue Coat Systems , F5 Networks (which acquired Swan Labs), and Citrix Systems (which acquired
Orbital Data). We also face competition from a large number of smaller private companies and new market entrants.

We expect increased competition from other established and emerging companies if our market continues to develop and expand. For
example, third parties currently selling our products could market products and services that compete with our products and services. In addition,
some of our competitors have made acquisitions or entered into partnerships or other strategic relationships with one another to offer a more
comprehensive solution than they individually had offered. We expect this trend to continue as companies attempt to strengthen or maintain their
market positions in an evolving industry and as companies enter into partnerships or are acquired. Many of the companies driving this
consolidation trend have significantly greater financial, technical and other resources than we do and are better positioned to acquire and offer
complementary products and technologies. The companies resulting from these possible consolidations may create more compelling product
offerings and be able to offer greater pricing flexibility, making it more difficult for us to compete effectively, including on the basis of price, sales
and marketing programs, technology or product functionality. Continued industry consolidation may adversely impact customers’ perceptions of
the viability of smaller and even medium-sized technology companies and consequently customers’ willingness to purchase from such companies.
These pressures could materially adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

We also face competitive pressures from other sources. For example, Microsoft has announced its intention to improve the performance of
its software for remote office users. Our products are designed to improve the performance of many applications, including applications that are
based on Microsoft protocols. Accordingly, improvements to Microsoft application protocols may reduce the need for our products, adversely
affecting our business, operating results and financial condition. Improvement in other application protocols or in the Transmission Control
Protocol (TCP), the underlying transport protocol for most WAN traffic, could have a similar effect. In addition, we market our products, in
significant part, on the anticipated cost savings to be realized by organizations if they are able to avoid the purchase of costly IT infrastructure at
remote sites by purchasing our products. To the extent other companies are able to reduce the costs associated with purchasing and maintaining
servers, storage or applications to be operated at remote sites, our business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected.
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We rely heavily on indirect distribution partners to sell our products. Disruptions to, or our failure to effectively develop and manage,
our distribution channels and the processes and procedures that support them could harm our business.

Our future success is highly dependent upon establishing and maintaining successful relationships with a variety of indirect distribution
partners, including value-added resellers. A substantial majority of our revenue is derived through indirect channel sales and we expect indirect
channel sales to continue to account for a substantial majority of our total revenue. Accordingly, our revenue depends in large part on the effective
performance of these channel partners, and the loss of or reduction in sales to our channel partners could materially reduce our revenues. By
relying on indirect channels, we may have little or no contact with the ultimate users of our products, thereby making it more difficult for us to
establish brand awareness, ensure proper delivery and installation of our products, service ongoing customer requirements and respond to
evolving customer needs. In addition, we recognize a large portion of our revenue based on a sell-through model using information regarding the
end user customers that is provided by our channel partners. If those channel partners provide us with inaccurate or untimely information, the
amount or timing of our revenues could be adversely impacted.

Recruiting and retaining qualified channel partners and training them in our technology and product offerings requires significant time and
resources. In order to develop and expand our distribution channel, we must continue to scale and improve our processes and procedures that
support our distribution channel, including investment in systems and training, and those processes and procedures may become increasingly
complex and difficult to manage. We have no long-term contracts or minimum purchase commitments with any of our value-added resellers or
other indirect distributors, and our contracts with these channel partners do not prohibit them from offering products or services that compete with
ours. Our competitors may be effective in providing incentives to existing and potential channel partners to favor their products, to choose not to
partner with us, or to prevent or reduce sales of our products. Our channel partners may choose not to offer our products exclusively or at all. If we
fail to maintain successful relationships with our channel partners, fail to develop new relationships with channel partners in new markets or
expand the number of channel partners in existing markets, fail to manage, train or motivate existing channel partners effectively or if these
channel partners are not successful in their sales efforts, sales of our products may decrease and our business, operating results and financial
condition would be materially adversely affected.

Adverse economic conditions or reduced information technology spending may harm our business.
Our business depends on the overall demand for information technology, and in particular for Wide-area Data Services, and on the

economic health and general willingness to make capital commitments of our current and prospective customers. The market we serve is
emerging and the purchase of our products involves material changes to established purchasing patterns and policies. In addition, the purchase of
our products is often discretionary and may involve a significant commitment of capital and other resources. In addition, our operating expenses
are largely based on anticipated revenue trends and a high percentage of our expenses are, and will continue to be, fixed in the short-term.
Uncertainty about future economic conditions makes it difficult to forecast operating results and to make decisions about future investments. Weak
economic conditions, or a reduction in information technology spending even if economic conditions improve, would likely harm our business and
operating results in a number of ways, including longer sales cycles, lower prices for our products and services and reduced unit sales.
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We expect our gross margins to vary over time and our recent level of product gross margin may not be sustainable.

Our product gross margins vary from quarter to quarter and the recent level of gross margins may not be sustainable and may be
adversely affected in the future by numerous factors, including product or sales channel mix shifts, increased price competition, increases in
material or labor costs, excess product component or obsolescence charges from our contract manufacturers, increased costs due to changes in
component pricing or charges incurred due to component holding periods if our forecasts do not accurately anticipate product demand, warranty
related issues, or our introduction of new products or entry into new markets with different pricing and cost structures.

We rely on third parties to perform shipping and other logistics functions on our behalf. A failure or disruption at a logistics partner
would harm our business.

Currently, we use third party logistics partners to perform storage, packaging, shipment and handling for us. We intend to utilize additional
logistics service providers in connection with any expansion of our international sales. Although the logistics services required by us may be
readily available from a number of providers, it is time consuming and costly to qualify and implement these relationships. If one or more of our
logistics partners suffers an interruption in its business, or experiences delays, disruptions or quality control problems in its operations, or we
choose to change or add additional logistics partners, our ability to ship products to our customers would be delayed and our business, operating
results and financial condition would be adversely affected.

We are susceptible to shortages or price fluctuations in our supply chain. Any shortages or price fluctuations in components used in
our products could delay shipment of our products.

Shortages in components that we use in our products are possible and our ability to predict the availability of such components may be
limited. Some of these components are available only from limited sources of supply. For example, our Steelhead appliances depend on network
bypass cards to provide a fail-to-wire capability. These bypass cards use high speed relays available only from a limited number of vendors. In
addition, our ability to timely deliver products to our customers would be harmed if we needed to qualify replacements for the systems,
motherboards, chassis and storage adapters used in our appliances. We would be similarly impacted by shortages in the availability, or the
complete unavailability, of the central processing units, bypass cards, disks, memory, fans and power supplies that we use in our appliances.
Specifically, the unavailability of any of these components would prevent us from shipping products because each of these components is
necessary to the proper functioning of our appliances. In addition, the lead times associated with certain components are lengthy and preclude
rapid changes in quantity requirements and delivery schedules.

Any growth in our business or the economy is likely to create greater pressures on us and our suppliers to project overall component
demand accurately and to establish optimal component inventory levels. In addition, increased demand by third parties for the components we use
in our products may lead to decreased availability and higher prices for those components. We carry very little inventory of our product
components, and we rely on our suppliers to deliver necessary components to our contract manufacturers in a timely manner based on forecasts
we provide. We rely on both purchase orders and long-term contracts with our suppliers. As a result, even if available, we may not be able to
secure sufficient components at reasonable prices or of acceptable quality to build products in a timely manner, which would seriously impact our
ability to deliver products to our customers, and impact our revenue.
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If we fail to predict accurately our manufacturing requirements, we could incur additional costs or experience manufacturing delays
which would harm our business. We are dependent on contract manufacturers, and changes to those relationships, expected or
unexpected, may result in delays or disruptions that could harm our business.

We depend on independent contract manufacturers to manufacture and assemble our products. We rely on purchase orders or long-term
contracts with our contract manufacturers. Some of our contract manufacturers are not obligated to supply products to us for any specific period, in
any specific quantity or at any specific price. Our orders may represent a relatively small percentage of the overall orders received by our contract
manufacturers from their customers. As a result, fulfilling our orders may not be considered a priority by one or more of our contract manufacturers
in the event the contract manufacturer is constrained in its ability to fulfill all of its customer obligations in a timely manner. We provide demand
forecasts to our contract manufacturers. If we overestimate our requirements, the contract manufacturers may assess charges or we may have
liabilities for excess inventory, each of which could negatively affect our gross margins. Conversely, because lead times for required materials and
components vary significantly and depend on factors such as the specific supplier, contract terms and the demand for each component at a given
time, if we underestimate our requirements, the contract manufacturers may have inadequate materials and components required to produce our
products, which could interrupt manufacturing of our products and result in delays in shipments and deferral or loss of revenue.

Although the contract manufacturing services required to manufacture and assemble our products may be readily available from a number
of established manufacturers, it is time consuming and costly to qualify and implement contract manufacturer relationships. Therefore, if one or
more of our contract manufacturers suffers an interruption in its business, or experiences delays, disruptions or quality control problems in its
manufacturing operations, or we choose to change or add additional contract manufacturers, our ability to ship products to our customers would
be delayed.

If functionality similar to that offered by our products is incorporated into existing network infrastructure products, organizations may
decide against adding our products to their network, which would harm our business.

Other providers of network infrastructure products are offering or announcing functionality aimed at addressing the problems addressed by
our products. For example, Cisco Systems incorporates WAN optimization functionality into certain of its router blades. The inclusion of, or the
announcement of intent to include, functionality perceived to be similar to that offered by our products in products that are already generally
accepted as necessary components of network architecture or in products that are sold by more established vendors may have an adverse effect
on our ability to market and sell our products. Furthermore, even if the functionality offered by other network infrastructure providers is more limited
than our products, a significant number of customers may elect to accept such limited functionality in lieu of adding additional appliances from an
additional vendor. Many organizations have invested substantial personnel and financial resources to design and operate their networks and have
established deep relationships with other providers of network infrastructure products, which may make them reluctant to add new components to
their networks, particularly from new vendors. In addition, an organization’s existing vendors or new vendors with a broad product offering may be
able to offer concessions that we are not able to match because we currently offer only a single line of products and have fewer resources than
many of our competitors. If organizations are reluctant to add additional network infrastructure from new vendors or otherwise decide to work with
their existing vendors, our business, operating results and financial condition will be adversely affected.
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If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights, our competitive position could be harmed or we could be required to incur
significant expenses to enforce our rights.

We depend on our ability to protect our proprietary technology. We rely on trade secret, patent, copyright and trademark laws and
confidentiality agreements with employees and third parties, all of which offer only limited protection. Despite our efforts, the steps we have taken
to protect our proprietary rights may not be adequate to preclude misappropriation of our proprietary information or infringement of our intellectual
property rights, and our ability to police such misappropriation or infringement is uncertain, particularly in countries outside of the United States.
Further, with respect to patent rights, we do not know whether any of our pending patent applications will result in the issuance of patents or
whether the examination process will require us to narrow our claims, and even if patents are issued, they may be contested, circumvented or
invalidated over the course of our business. Moreover, the rights granted under any issued patents may not provide us with proprietary protection
or competitive advantages, and competitors may be able to develop similar or superior technologies to our own now or in the future. Protecting
against the unauthorized use of our products, trademarks and other proprietary rights is expensive, difficult and, in some cases, impossible.
Litigation has been necessary and may be necessary in the future to enforce or defend our intellectual property rights, to protect our trade secrets
or to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. For example, on November 13, 2007, we served Quantum Corporation
with a lawsuit, filed in the United States District Court, Northern District of California, alleging patent infringement. Also, on January 9, 2008, we
filed an action in the United States District Court, Delaware, against Quantum Corporation and certain of its subsidiaries seeking a declaratory
judgment of non-infringement and invalidity with respect to a certain patent owned by Quantum Corporation and/or certain of its subsidiaries. Such
litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of management resources, either of which could harm our business, operating results and
financial condition. Furthermore, many of our current and potential competitors have the ability to dedicate substantially greater resources to
enforce their intellectual property rights than we do. Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing
upon or misappropriating our intellectual property.

Claims by others that we infringe their proprietary technology could harm our business.
Our industry is characterized by the existence of a large number of patents and frequent claims and related litigation regarding patent and

other intellectual property rights. In the ordinary course of our business, we are involved in disputes and licensing discussions with others
regarding their claimed proprietary rights and cannot assure you that we will always successfully defend ourselves against such claims. Third
parties have claimed and may in the future claim that our products or technology infringe their proprietary rights. For example, on October 9, 2007,
Quantum Corporation served us with a lawsuit, filed in the United States District Court, Northern District of California, alleging patent infringement.
Also, on or about February 13, 2008, Quantum Corporation filed a lawsuit against us in the United States District Court, Northern District of
California, alleging patent infringement of an additional patent. We expect that infringement claims may increase as the number of products and
competitors in our market increases and overlaps occur. In addition, as we have gained greater visibility and market exposure as a public
company, we face a higher risk of being the subject of intellectual property infringement claims. Any claim of infringement by a third party, even
those without merit, could cause us to incur substantial costs defending against the claim, and could distract our management from our business.
Furthermore, we could be subject to a judgment or voluntarily enter into a settlement, either of which could require us to pay substantial damages.
A judgment or settlement could also include an injunction or other court order that could prevent us from offering our products. In addition, we
might elect or be required to seek a license for the use of third party intellectual property, which may not be available on commercially reasonable
terms or at all, or if available, the payments under such license may harm our operating results and financial condition. Alternatively, we may be
required to develop non-infringing technology, which could require significant
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effort and expense and may ultimately not be successful. Any of these events pursuant to existing or future infringement claims could seriously
harm our business, operating results and financial condition. Third parties may also assert infringement claims against our customers and channel
partners. Any of these claims would require us to initiate or defend potentially protracted and costly litigation on their behalf, regardless of the
merits of these claims, because we generally indemnify our customers and channel partners from claims of infringement of proprietary rights of
third parties. If any of these claims succeed, or if we voluntarily enter into a settlement, we may be forced to pay damages on behalf of our
customers or channel partners, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, and our sales efforts require considerable time and expense. As a result, our revenue
is difficult to predict and may vary substantially from quarter to quarter.

The timing of our revenue is difficult to predict. Our sales efforts involve educating our customers about the use and benefit of our products,
including their technical capabilities and potential cost savings to an organization. Customers typically undertake a significant evaluation process
that has in the past resulted in a lengthy sales cycle, in some cases over twelve months. Also, as our distribution strategy has evolved into a
channel model, utilizing value-added resellers, distributors, systems integrators and service providers, the level of variability in the length of sales
cycle across transactions may increase and make it more difficult to predict the timing of many of our sales transactions. We spend substantial
time, effort and money in our sales efforts without any assurance that our efforts will produce any sales. In addition, product purchases are
frequently subject to budget constraints, multiple approvals, and unplanned administrative, processing and other delays. If sales expected from a
specific customer for a particular quarter are not realized in that quarter or at all, revenue may be harmed and we may miss our stated guidance
for that period.

If we lose key personnel or are unable to attract and retain personnel on a cost-effective basis, our business would be harmed.
Our success is substantially dependent upon the performance of our senior management and key technical and sales personnel. Our

management and employees can terminate their employment at any time, and the loss of the services of one or more of our executive officers or
other key employees could harm our business. Our success also is substantially dependent upon our ability to attract additional personnel for all
areas of our organization, particularly in our sales, research and development and customer service departments. Competition for qualified
personnel is intense, and we may not be successful in attracting and retaining such personnel on a timely basis, on competitive terms, or at all. If
we are unable to attract and retain the necessary technical, sales and other personnel on a cost-effective basis, especially in light of our recent
and anticipated growth, our business, operating results and financial condition would be adversely affected.

We may not generate positive returns on our research and development investments.
Developing our products is expensive, and the investment in product development may involve a long payback cycle or may not generate

additional revenue at all. In the year ended December 31, 2007, our research and development expenses were $39.7 million, or approximately
17% of our total revenue. Our future plans include significant investments in research and development and related product opportunities. We
believe that we must continue to dedicate a significant amount of resources to our research and development efforts to maintain our competitive
position. These investments may take several years to generate positive returns, if ever.
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Our ability to sell our products is highly dependent on the quality of our support and services offerings, and our failure to offer high
quality support and services would harm our operating results and reputation.

Once our products are deployed within our customers’ networks, our customers depend on our support organization to resolve any issues
relating to our products. A high level of support is critical for the successful marketing and sale of our products. If we or our channel partners do
not effectively assist our customers in deploying our products, succeed in helping our customers quickly resolve post-deployment issues, and
provide effective ongoing support, it would adversely affect our ability to sell our products to existing customers and could harm our reputation with
potential customers. In addition, as we expand our operations internationally, our support organization will face additional challenges including
those associated with delivering support, training and documentation in languages other than English. As a result, our failure to maintain high
quality support and services would harm our operating results and reputation.

If we fail to manage future growth effectively, our business would be harmed.
We have expanded our operations significantly since inception and anticipate that further significant expansion will be required. This future

growth, if it occurs, will place significant demands on our management, infrastructure and other resources. To manage any future growth, we will
need to hire, integrate and retain highly skilled and motivated employees. We will also need to continue to improve our financial and management
controls, reporting systems and procedures. We have converted to a new enterprise resource planning software system that has replaced a
substantial majority of our prior finance, sales and inventory management systems. We may encounter delays or difficulties as a result of this
conversion, including loss of data and decreases in productivity as our personnel become familiar with new systems. If we experience any delays
or difficulties, either in connection with this new enterprise resource planning system or other controls, systems and procedures, our ability to
properly run our business could be adversely impacted. For example, deficiencies in our internal controls over financial reporting could result in
loss of revenue, improper revenue recognition, or errors in our financial statements. If we do not effectively manage our growth, our business
would be harmed.

If we do not successfully anticipate market needs and develop products and product enhancements that meet those needs, or if those
products do not gain market acceptance, our business and operating results will be harmed.

We may not be able to anticipate future market needs or be able to develop new products or product enhancements to meet such needs,
either on a timely basis or at all. For example, our failure to address additional application-specific protocols, particularly if our competitors are able
to provide such functionality, could harm our business. In addition, our inability to diversify beyond our current product offerings could adversely
affect our business. Any new products or product enhancements that we introduce, including our recently introduced Steelhead Mobile product,
may not achieve any significant degree of market acceptance or be accepted into our sales channel by our channel partners, which would
adversely affect our business and operating results.

Organizations are increasingly concerned with the security of their data, and to the extent they elect to encrypt data being transmitted
from the point of the end-user in a format that we’re not able to decrypt, rather than only across the WAN, our products will become less
effective.

Our products are designed to remove the redundancy associated with repeated data requests over a WAN, either through a private
network or a virtual private network (VPN). The ability of our products to reduce such redundancy depends on our products’ ability to recognize the
data being requested. Our products currently detect and decrypt some forms of encrypted data. Since most
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organizations currently encrypt most of their data transmissions only between sites and not on the LAN, the data is not encrypted when it passes
through our products. For those organizations that elect to encrypt their data transmissions from the end-user to the server in a format that we’re
not able to decrypt, our products will offer little performance improvement unless we are successful in incorporating additional functionality into our
products that address those encrypted transmissions. Our failure to provide such additional functionality could limit the growth of our business and
harm our operating results.

If our products do not interoperate with our customers’ networks, installations will be delayed or cancelled, which would harm our
business.

Our products must interoperate with our customers’ existing networks, which often have different specifications, utilize multiple protocol
standards and products from multiple vendors, and contain multiple generations of products that have been added over time. If we find errors in
the existing software or defects in the hardware used in our customers’ networks or problematic network configurations or settings, as we have in
the past, we may have to modify our software or hardware so that our products will interoperate with our customers’ networks. This could cause
longer installation times for our products and could cause order cancellations, either of which would adversely affect our business, operating
results and financial condition. In addition, government and other customers may require our products to comply with certain security or other
certifications and standards. If our products are late in achieving or fail to achieve compliance with these certifications and standards, or our
competitors achieve compliance with these certifications and standards, we may be disqualified from selling our products to such customers, or at
a competitive disadvantage, which would harm our business, operating results and financial condition

Our products are highly technical and may contain undetected software or hardware errors, which could cause harm to our reputation
and our business.

Our products, including software product upgrades and releases, are highly technical and complex and, when deployed, are critical to the
operation of many networks. Our products have contained and may contain undetected errors, defects or security vulnerabilities. Some errors in
our products may only be discovered after a product has been installed and used by customers. Some of these errors may be attributable to third
party technologies incorporated into our products, which makes us dependant upon the cooperation and expertise of such third parties for the
diagnosis and correction of such errors. Any errors, defects or security vulnerabilities discovered in our products after commercial release could
result in loss of revenue or delay in revenue recognition, loss of customers and increased service and warranty cost, any of which could harm our
reputation, business, operating results and financial condition. Any such errors, defects or security vulnerabilities could also adversely affect the
market’s perception of our products and business. In addition, we could face claims for product liability, tort or breach of warranty, including claims
relating to changes to our products made by our channel partners. Our contracts with customers contain provisions relating to warranty
disclaimers and liability limitations, which may not be upheld. Defending a lawsuit, regardless of its merit, is costly and may divert management’s
attention and harm the market’s perception of us and our products. In addition, if our business liability insurance coverage proves inadequate or
future coverage is unavailable on acceptable terms or at all, our business, operating results and financial condition could be adversely impacted.

We may engage in future acquisitions that could disrupt our business and cause dilution to our stockholders.
In the future we may acquire other businesses, products or technologies. We have not made any acquisitions to date. Our ability as an

organization to make acquisitions is unproven. We may not be able to find suitable acquisition candidates and we may not be able to complete
acquisitions on
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favorable terms, if at all. If we do complete acquisitions, we may not ultimately strengthen our competitive position or achieve our goals, or the
acquisition may be viewed negatively by customers, financial markets or investors. In addition, with respect to any acquisitions that we make, we
may encounter difficulties in integrating personnel and operations from the acquired businesses and in retaining and motivating key personnel
from these businesses. Acquisitions may disrupt our ongoing operations, divert management from day-to-day responsibilities and increase our
expenses. Future acquisitions may reduce our cash available for operations and other uses and could result in an increase in amortization
expense related to identifiable assets acquired, potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of debt.

Our international sales and operations subject us to additional risks that may harm our operating results.
In 2005, we derived approximately 18% of our revenue from customers outside the United States. This number increased to approximately

37% in the year ended December 31, 2007. We have personnel in numerous countries worldwide. We expect to continue to add personnel in
additional countries. Our international operations subject us to a variety of risks, including:
 

 �  the difficulty of managing and staffing international offices and the increased travel, infrastructure and legal compliance costs associated
with multiple international locations;

 

 �  difficulties in enforcing contracts and collecting accounts receivable, and longer payment cycles, especially in emerging markets;
 

 �  tariffs and trade barriers and other regulatory or contractual limitations on our ability to sell or develop our products in certain foreign
markets;

 

 �  increased exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk; and
 

 �  reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries.

International customers may also require that we localize our products. The product development costs for localizing the user interface of
our products, both graphical and textual, could be a material expense to us if the software requires extensive modifications. To date, such changes
have not been extensive and the costs have not been material.

As we continue to expand our business globally, our success will depend, in large part, on our ability to anticipate and effectively manage
these and other risks associated with our international operations. Our failure to manage any of these risks successfully could harm our
international operations, reduce our international sales and harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our use of open source and third-party software could impose limitations on our ability to commercialize our products.
We incorporate open source software into our products. Although we monitor our use of open source closely, the terms of many open

source licenses have not been interpreted by United States courts, and there is a risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner that could
impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to commercialize our products. In such event, we could be required to seek licenses
from third parties in order to continue offering our products, to re-engineer our products or to discontinue the sale of our products in the event
re-engineering cannot be accomplished on a timely basis, any of which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial
condition.
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We also incorporate certain third-party technologies, including software programs, into our products and may need to utilize additional

third-party technologies in the future. However, licenses to relevant third-party technology may not continue to be available to us on commercially
reasonable terms, or at all. Therefore, we could face delays in product releases until equivalent technology can be identified, licensed or
developed, and integrated into our current products. These delays, if they occur, could materially adversely affect our business, operating results
and financial condition. We currently use third-party software programs in our Steelhead appliances, our Interceptor appliances, our Central
Management Console appliances and our recently available Steelhead Mobile software client and controller. For example, in our Steelhead
appliances, we use third-party software to configure a storage adapter for specific redundant disk setups as well as to initialize and diagnose
hardware on certain models, and in our Central Management Console and Steelhead Mobile Controller appliances we use third-party software to
help manage statistics and reporting. Each of these software programs is currently available from only one vendor. As a result, any disruption in
our access to these software programs could result in significant delays in our product releases and could require substantial effort to locate or
develop a replacement program. If we decide in the future to incorporate into our products any other software program licensed from a third party,
and the use of such software program is necessary for the proper operation of our appliances, then our loss of any such license would similarly
adversely affect our ability to release our products in a timely fashion.

We are subject to various regulations that could subject us to liability or impair our ability to sell our products.
Our products are subject to a variety of government regulations, including export controls, import controls, environmental laws and required

certifications. In particular, our products are subject to U.S. export controls and may be exported outside the U.S. only with the required level of
export license or through an export license exception, because we incorporate encryption technology into our products. In addition, various
countries regulate the import of certain encryption technology and have enacted laws that could limit our ability to distribute our products or could
limit our customers’ ability to implement our products in those countries. Changes in our products or changes in regulations may create delays in
the introduction of our products in international markets, prevent our customers with international operations from deploying our products
throughout their global systems or, in some cases, prevent the export or import of our products to certain countries altogether. Any change in
regulations, shift in approach to the enforcement or scope of existing regulations, or change in the countries, persons or technologies targeted by
such regulations, could result in decreased use of our products by, or in our decreased ability to export or sell our products to, existing or potential
customers with international operations. We must comply with various and increasing environmental regulations, both domestic and international,
regarding the manufacturing and disposal of our products. For example, we must comply with Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment Directive
laws, which are being adopted by certain European Economic Area countries on a country-by-country basis. Failure to comply with these and
similar laws on a timely basis, or at all, could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. This would
also be true if we fail to comply, either on a timely basis or at all, with any U.S. environmental laws regarding the manufacturing or disposal of our
products. Any decreased use of our products or limitation on our ability to export or sell our products would harm our business, operating results
and financial condition.

We incur significant costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management devotes substantial time to new
compliance initiatives.

We incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses as a public company, including costs resulting from regulations regarding
corporate governance practices and costs relating to compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. For example, the listing
requirements of the Nasdaq Stock Market’s Global Select Market require that we satisfy certain corporate governance requirements relating to
independent directors, audit committees, distribution of annual and interim reports,
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stockholder meetings, stockholder approvals, solicitation of proxies, conflicts of interest, stockholder voting rights and codes of conduct. Our
management and other personnel devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regulations have
increased our legal and financial compliance costs and will make some activities more time-consuming and costly. For example, these rules and
regulations could make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, our board committees or as
executive officers.

While we believe that we currently have adequate internal control over financial reporting, we are exposed to risks from legislation
requiring companies to evaluate those internal controls.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we test our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures. In
particular, for the year ended December 31, 2007, we have performed system and process evaluation and testing of our internal control over
financial reporting to allow management and our independent registered public accounting firm to report on the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Our compliance with Section 404 will require that we incur
substantial expense and expend significant management time on compliance-related issues. Moreover, if we are not able to comply with the
requirements of Section 404 in the future, or if we or our independent registered public accounting firm identify deficiencies in our internal control
over financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses, the market price of our stock may decline and we could be subject to
sanctions or investigations by the Nasdaq Stock Market’s Global Select Market, the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which would require
significant additional financial and management resources.

We are required to expense equity compensation given to our employees, which has reduced our reported earnings, will harm our
operating results in future periods and may reduce our stock price and our ability to effectively utilize equity compensation to attract
and retain employees.

We historically have used stock options and an employee stock purchase plan as a significant component of our employee compensation
program in order to align employees’ interests with the interests of our stockholders, encourage employee retention, and provide competitive
compensation packages. The Financial Accounting Standards Board has adopted changes that require companies to record a charge to earnings
for employee stock option grants and other equity incentives. We adopted this standard effective January 1, 2006. By causing us to record
significantly increased compensation costs, such accounting changes have reduced, and will continue to reduce, our reported earnings, will harm
our operating results in future periods, and may require us to reduce the availability and amount of equity incentives provided to employees, which
could make it more difficult for us to attract, retain and motivate key personnel. Moreover, if securities analysts, institutional investors and other
investors adopt financial models that include stock option expense in their primary analysis of our financial results, our stock price could decline as
a result of reliance on these models with higher expense calculations.

If we need additional capital in the future, it may not be available to us on favorable terms, or at all.
We have historically relied on outside financing and cash flow from operations to fund our operations, capital expenditures and expansion.

We may require additional capital from equity or debt financing in the future to fund our operations or respond to competitive pressures or strategic
opportunities. We may not be able to secure timely additional financing on favorable terms, or at all. The terms of any additional financing may
place limits on our financial and operating flexibility. If we raise additional funds through further issuances of equity, convertible debt securities or
other securities convertible into equity, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution in their percentage ownership of our company, and
any new securities we issue could have rights, preferences and
 

26

Source: Riverbed Technology,, 10-K, February 15, 2008



Table of Contents
privileges senior to those of holders of our common stock. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, if
and when we require it, our ability to grow or support our business and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes, fire, floods and other natural catastrophic events, and to interruption by manmade
problems such as computer viruses or terrorism.

Our corporate headquarters are located in the San Francisco Bay Area, a region known for seismic activity. A significant natural disaster,
such as an earthquake, fire or a flood, could harm our business, operating results and financial condition. In addition, our servers are vulnerable to
computer viruses, break-ins and similar disruptions from unauthorized tampering with our computer systems. In addition, acts of terrorism or war
could cause disruptions in our or our customers’ business or the economy as a whole. To the extent that such disruptions result in delays or
cancellations of customer orders or the deployment of our products, our business, operating results and financial condition would be adversely
affected.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

The trading price of our common stock has been volatile and is likely to be volatile in the future.
The trading prices of the securities of technology companies have been highly volatile. Further, our common stock has a limited trading

history. Since our initial public offering in September 2006 through February 14, 2008, our stock price has fluctuated from a low of $13.60 to a high
of $52.81. Factors that could affect the trading price of our common stock include, but are not limited to:
 

 �  variations in our operating results;
 

 �  announcements of technological innovations, new services or service enhancements, strategic alliances or significant agreements by us
or by our competitors;

 

 �  the gain or loss of significant customers;
 

 �  recruitment or departure of key personnel;
 

 �  changes in the estimates of our operating results, either by us or by any securities analysts who follow our common stock, or changes in
recommendations by any securities analysts who follow our common stock;

 

 �  significant sales, or announcement of significant sales, of our common stock by us or our stockholders, including our directors and
executive officers;

 

 �  announcements by or about us regarding events or news adverse to our business;
 

 �  market conditions in our industry, the industries of our customers and the economy as a whole; and
 

 �  adoption or modification of regulations, policies, procedures or programs applicable to our business.

If the market for technology stocks or the stock market in general experiences loss of investor confidence, the trading price of our common
stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, operating results or financial condition. The trading price of our common stock might
also decline in reaction to events that affect other companies in our industry or the stock market generally even if these events do not directly
affect us. Each of these factors, among others, could cause our stock price to decline. Some companies that have had volatile market prices for
their securities have had securities class actions filed against them. If a suit were filed against us, regardless of its merits or outcome, it could
result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention and resources.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock
price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will continue to depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts
publish about us or our business. If we do not continue to maintain adequate research coverage or if one or more of the analysts who covers us
downgrades our stock or publishes inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of
these analysts ceases coverage of our company or fails to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our stock could decrease, which could
cause our stock price and trading volume to decline.

Insiders have substantial control over us and will be able to influence corporate matters.
As of December 31, 2007, our directors and executive officers and their affiliates beneficially owned, in the aggregate, approximately

22.1% of our outstanding common stock. As a result, these stockholders will be able to exercise significant influence over all matters requiring
stockholder approval, including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our
company or its assets. This concentration of ownership could limit your ability to influence corporate matters and may have the effect of delaying
or preventing a third party from acquiring control over us.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and Delaware law could discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of our
company and may affect the trading price of our common stock.

We are a Delaware corporation and the anti-takeover provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law may discourage, delay or
prevent a change in control by prohibiting us from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years
after the person becomes an interested stockholder, even if a change in control would be beneficial to our existing stockholders. In addition, our
restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that may discourage, delay or prevent a change in our
management or control over us that stockholders may consider favorable.

 

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

 

Item 2. Properties
We lease approximately 85,000 square feet of office space in San Francisco, California in a lease that expires in 2014. In addition, we

lease approximately 46,000 square feet of office space in Sunnyvale, California pursuant to a lease that expires in 2013. We maintain customer
service centers in New York, San Francisco Bay Area, Amsterdam area, London area, Singapore and Tokyo, and sales offices in multiple
locations worldwide. We believe that our current facilities are suitable and adequate to meet our current needs and we intend to add new facilities
or expand existing facilities as necessary.

 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we are subject to various legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. Other than

as discussed in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we do not believe we are party to any currently pending legal proceedings the
outcome of which may have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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There can be no assurance that existing or future legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business or otherwise will not have a material
adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

 

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
The annual meeting of stockholders of Riverbed Technology, Inc. was held on November 6, 2007 at 299 2 nd Street, San Francisco,

California. The results of the voting on the matters submitted to the stockholders are as follows:

1. To elect three members of the Board of Directors to serve until the 2010 annual meeting of stockholders or until such persons’
successors have been duly elected and qualified.

 

   Votes For   Withheld
Mark A. Floyd   65,338,043  217,528
Christopher J. Schaepe   65,303,034  252,537
James R. Swartz   37,718,631  27,836,940

The following directors, in addition to Messrs. Floyd, Schaepe and Swartz, will continue to serve as members of the Board of Directors until
the expiration of their respective terms or until their respective successors have been duly elected and qualified: Jerry M. Kennelly, Steven
McCanne, Michael R. Kourey and Stanley J. Meresman.

2. To ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2007.

 

Votes for:   65,493,462
Votes against:   33,629
Abstain:   28,480
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Part II

 

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock has traded on Nasdaq under the symbol “RVBD” since our initial public offering on September 20, 2006, first on the
Nasdaq Global Market and, since January 1, 2008, on the Nasdaq Global Select Market. Prior to our initial public offering, there was no public
market for our common stock.

The following table sets forth for the indicated periods the high and low sales prices of our common stock as reported by the Nasdaq
Global Market or the Nasdaq Global Select Market.
 

   High   Low
Third Quarter 2006 (from September 20, 2006)   $ 19.70  $ 13.60
Fourth Quarter 2006   $ 35.17  $ 17.52
First Quarter 2007   $ 36.25  $ 25.45
Second Quarter 2007   $ 45.89  $ 26.00
Third Quarter 2007   $ 49.44  $ 36.62
Fourth Quarter 2007   $ 52.81  $ 22.85

The last reported sale price for our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Select Market was $22.84 per share on February 14, 2008.

Dividend Policy
We have never paid any cash dividends on our common stock. Our board of directors currently intends to retain any future earnings to

support operations and to finance the growth and development of our business and does not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock
for the foreseeable future. Any future determination related to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board of directors.

Stockholders
As of February 7, 2008, there were 204 registered stockholders of record of our common stock.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
(a) Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.

(b) Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stock
In September 2006, we completed our initial public offering (IPO) pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1 (Registration

No. 333-133437) which the SEC declared effective on September 20, 2006. Under the registration statement, we registered the offering and sale
of an aggregate of 9,990,321 shares of our common stock, and another 100,000 shares of our common stock sold by a selling stockholder. The
offering did not terminate until after the sale of all of the shares registered on the registration statement. All of the shares of common stock issued
pursuant to the registration statement, including the shares sold by the selling stockholder, were sold at a price to the public of $9.75 per share.
The managing underwriters were Goldman, Sachs & Co., Citigroup Global Markets Inc., Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., and Thomas Weisel
Partners LLC.
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As a result of the IPO, we raised a total of $87.5 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $6.8

million and offering expenses of $3.1 million. On October 2, 2006 we used $1.5 million of our proceeds to pay off our credit facility.

In February 2007, we completed our follow-on public offering pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1 (Registration
No. 333-140544) which the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission declared effective on February 22, 2007. Under this registration statement,
we registered the offering and sale of 2,854,671 shares of our common stock (including 250,000 shares sold by us pursuant to the underwriters’
exercise of their over-allotment option) and another 2,645,329 shares of our common stock sold by certain selling stockholders. The offering did
not terminate until after the sale of all of the shares registered on the registration statement. All of the shares of common stock issued pursuant to
the registration statement, including the shares sold by the selling stockholders, were sold at a price to the public of $32.50 per share. The
managing underwriters were Goldman, Sachs & Co., Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Citigroup Global Markets Inc., and Thomas Weisel Partners
LLC.

As a result of the follow-on public offering, we raised a total of $87.7 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions of $4.2 million and other offering costs of $0.9 million. No payments for such expenses were made directly or indirectly to (i) any of
our officers or directors or their associates, (ii) any persons owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities, or (iii) any of our affiliates.
We did not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares in the follow-on public offering by the selling stockholders.

We have applied the remaining net proceeds from the IPO and the follow-on public offering to our working capital for general corporate
purposes, which may include expansion of our domestic and international sales and marketing organizations, investments in our infrastructure to
support our anticipated growth, further development and expansion of our service offerings and possible acquisitions of complementary
businesses, technologies or other assets. We have no current agreements or commitments with respect to any material acquisitions. We invested
the net proceeds in short-term, interest-bearing, investment grade securities. There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds
from the IPO and the follow-on public offering as described in the final prospectuses filed with respect to such public offerings with the Securities
and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b).

(c) Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers
None.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data
The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and

related notes thereto and with Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, which are included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, and the
selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are derived from, and are qualified by reference to, the audited
consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are derived from audited
consolidated financial statements, which are not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
(in thousands, except per share amounts)   2007   2006   2005   2004   2003  
Consolidated Statement of Operations
  Data:        
Revenue:        

Product   $ 189,218  $ 70,967  $ 17,759  $ 2,325  $ — 
Support and services    38,460   12,315   1,925   106   — 
Ratable product and related support and services    8,728   6,925   3,257   131   — 

                     

Total revenue    236,406   90,207   22,941   2,562   — 
                     

Cost of revenue:        
Cost of product    49,009   23,504   5,843   806   — 
Cost of support and services    14,451   4,748   1,276   508   — 
Cost of ratable product and related support and services    2,464   1,900   1,475   209   — 

                     

Total cost of revenue (1)    65,924   30,152   8,594   1,523   — 
                     

Gross profit    170,482   60,055   14,347   1,039   — 
                     

Operating expenses        
Sales and marketing (1)    95,652   48,080   19,722   5,586   976 
Research and development (1)    39,696   19,215   8,108   4,266   2,360 
General and administrative (1)    24,834   9,294   3,531   1,033   665 

                     

Total operating expenses    160,182   76,589   31,361   10,885   4,001 
                     

Operating income (loss)    10,300   (16,534)   (17,014)   (9,846)   (4,001)
                     

Total other income (expense), net    9,733   992   (77)   24   27 
                     

Income (loss) before income taxes    20,033   (15,542)   (17,091)   (9,822)   (3,974)
Provision for income taxes    5,235   303   55   5   — 

                     

Income (loss) before cumulative change in accounting principle    14,798   (15,845)   (17,146)   (9,827)   (3,974)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle    —   —   280   —   — 

                     

Net income (loss)   $ 14,798  $ (15,845)  $ (17,426)  $ (9,827)  $ (3,974)
                     

Net income (loss) per share:        
Basic   $ 0.22  $ (0.59)  $ (1.85)  $ (1.71)  $ (1.82)

                     

Diluted   $ 0.20  $ (0.59)  $ (1.85)  $ (1.71)  $ (1.82)
                     

Shares used in computing basic and diluted net income (loss) per
share:        

Basic    68,020   26,977   9,401   5,760   2,189 
                     

Diluted    73,244   26,977   9,401   5,760   2,189 
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(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows:
 

(in thousands)   2007   2006   2005   2004   2003
Cost of product   $ 101  $ —  $ —  $ —  $  —
Cost of support and services    2,576   520   40   1   —
Sales and marketing    15,160   4,636   482   78   —
Research and development    8,593   2,541   397   12   —
General and administrative    5,371   1,521   368   1   —

                    

Total stock-based compensation   $ 31,801  $ 9,218  $ 1,287  $ 92  $  —
                    

 

   As of December 31,  
(in thousands)   2007   2006   2005   2004   2003  
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data         
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 162,979  $ 105,330  $ 10,410  $ 23,380  $ 12,717 
Working capital    241,135   101,319   6,411   23,382   12,033 
Total assets    337,602   150,769   23,644   26,838   13,229 
Current and long-term debt    —   —   2,461   1,374   239 
Convertible preferred stock    —   —   36,385   36,469   16,453 
Common stock and additional paid-in-capital    295,487   162,033   10,130   612   12 
Stockholders’ equity (deficit)    259,718   108,980   (29,911)   (13,931)   (4,223)
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the

consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The information in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act.
Such statements are based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Any statements contained herein that are not
statements of historical facts may be deemed to be forward-looking statements. For example, words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “estimates,”
“predicts,” “potential,” “continue,” “strategy,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “expects,” “intends” and similar expressions are intended to identify
forward-looking statements. Our actual results and the timing of certain events may differ significantly from the results discussed in the
forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause or contribute to such a discrepancy include, but are not limited to, those discussed
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K in the section titled “Risk Factors” and the risks discussed in our other SEC filings. We undertake
no obligation to publicly release any revisions to the forward-looking statements after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview
We were founded in May 2002 by experienced industry leaders with a vision to improve the performance of wide-area distributed

computing. Having significant experience in caching technology, our executive management team understood that existing approaches failed to
address adequately all of the root causes of this poor performance. We determined that these performance problems could be best solved by
simultaneously addressing inefficiencies in software applications and wide area networks, or WANs, as well as insufficient or unavailable
bandwidth. This innovative approach served as the foundation of the development of our products. We began commercial shipments of our
products in May 2004 and have since sold our products to over 3,500 customers worldwide. We now offer 13 models of our Steelhead appliances
as well as our Central Management Console, Interceptor and Steelhead Mobile product line.

In August 2007 we began selling our new Steelhead® Mobile product line, which includes a software client version of our Steelhead
appliances, which delivers LAN-like application performance to any employee laptop, whether on the road, working from home or connected
wirelessly in the office.

We are headquartered in San Francisco, California. Our personnel are located throughout the United States and in over twenty countries
worldwide. We expect to continue to add personnel in the United States and internationally to provide additional geographic sales, research and
development, general and administrative, and technical support coverage.

In September 2006, we completed our initial public offering, or IPO, of common stock in which we sold and issued 9,990,321 shares of our
common stock, at an issue price of $9.75 per share. We raised a total of $97.4 million in gross proceeds from the IPO, or approximately $87.5
million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $6.8 million and other offering costs of $3.1 million. Upon the
closing of the IPO, all outstanding shares of our convertible preferred stock automatically converted into 39,441,439 shares of common stock.

In February 2007, we completed a follow-on public offering of common stock in which we sold and issued 2,854,671 shares of our common
stock, including 250,000 shares sold by us pursuant to the underwriters’ partial exercise of their over-allotment option, at an issue price of $32.50
per share. As a result of the offering, we raised a total of $92.8 million in gross proceeds, or approximately $87.7 million in net proceeds after
deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $4.2 million and other offering costs of $0.9 million.
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Outlook.     We believe that our current value proposition, which enables customers to improve the performance of their applications and

access to their data across WANs, while also offering the ability to simplify IT infrastructure and realize significant capital and operations cost
savings, should allow us to continue to grow our business. Our product revenue growth rate will depend significantly on continued growth in the
wide-area data services, or WDS, market and our ability to continue to attract new customers in that market and generate additional sales from
existing customers. Our growth in support and services revenue is dependent upon increasing the number of products under support contracts,
which is dependent on both growing our installed base of customers and renewing existing support contracts. Our future profitability and rate of
growth will be directly affected by the continued acceptance of our products in the marketplace, as well as the timing and size of orders, product
mix, average selling prices and costs of our products and general economic conditions. Our ability to maintain profitability will also be affected by
the extent to which we must incur additional expenses to expand our sales, marketing, development, and general and administrative capabilities to
grow our business. The largest component of our expenses is personnel costs. Personnel costs consist of salaries, benefits and incentive
compensation for our employees, including commissions for sales personnel and stock-based compensation. We expect that each of these
expenses will continue to grow in absolute dollars and generally decrease as a percentage of revenue over time.

Revenue.    We derive our revenue from sales of our products and support and services. Our revenue has grown rapidly since we began
shipping products in May 2004, increasing from $2.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 to $236.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007. As of December 31, 2007, our products had been sold to over 3,500 customers.

We sell our products directly through our sales force and indirectly through resellers. We derived 89% of our revenue through indirect
channels in the year ended December 31, 2007. We expect revenue from resellers to continue to constitute a substantial majority of our future
revenue.

Cost of Revenue.    Cost of product revenue consists of the costs of appliance hardware, manufacturing personnel, manufacturing,
shipping and logistics costs, and expenses for inventory obsolescence and warranty obligations. We utilize third parties to jointly develop and
manufacture our appliance hardware, embed our proprietary software and perform shipping logistics. Cost of support and service revenue is
primarily comprised of the personnel costs of providing technical support and professional services. Cost of ratable product and related support
and services consists of hardware, support and service costs related to transactions recognized ratably. As we expand internationally and into
other sectors, we may incur additional costs to conform our products to comply with local laws or local product specifications. In addition, as we
expand internationally, we will continue to hire additional technical support personnel to support our growing international customer base.

Gross Margin.    Our gross margin has been and will continue to be affected by a variety of factors, including the mix and average selling
prices of our products, new product introductions and enhancements, the cost of our appliance hardware, cost of support and services personnel,
and the mix of distribution channels through which our products are sold.

Operating Expenses.    Operating expenses consist of sales and marketing, research and development and general and administrative
expenses. Personnel-related costs are the most significant component of each of these expense categories. We grew from 325 employees at
December 31, 2006 to 623 employees at December 31, 2007. We expect to continue to hire large numbers of new employees to support our
anticipated growth. The timing of these additional hires has and could materially affect our operating expenses, both in absolute dollars and as a
percentage of revenue, in any particular period.
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Sales and marketing expenses represent the largest component of our operating expenses and include personnel costs, sales

commissions, marketing programs and facilities costs. Marketing programs are intended to generate revenue from new and existing customers,
and are expensed as incurred. We expect sales and marketing expenses to increase as we hire additional personnel and spend more on
marketing programs with the intent to grow our revenue. The majority of our international personnel are engaged in sales, marketing and support
activities. The percentage of sales and marketing expenses incurred internationally grew from 11% in 2004 to 30% in the year ended
December 31, 2007.

Research and development expenses primarily include personnel costs and facilities costs. Quality assurance, infrastructure and related
costs of product quality efforts are also included. We expense research and development expenses as incurred. We are devoting substantial
resources to the continued development of additional functionality for existing products and the development of new products. We intend to
continue to invest significantly in our research and development efforts because we believe they are essential to maintaining our competitive
position. Investments in research and development personnel costs are expected to increase in total dollars.

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs related to our executive, finance, human resource, information
technology and legal organizations, and fees for professional services. Professional services include outside legal, audit and information
technology consulting costs.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense.    Effective January 1, 2006, we began to measure and recognize compensation expense for
stock-based awards at fair value, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment,
or SFAS 123(R). Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R) we accounted for stock options under the intrinsic value method in accordance with
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, or APB 25. In the fourth quarter of 2006, we implemented
the 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or Purchase Plan. Under the Purchase Plan, employees may purchase shares of common stock at a
price per share that is 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of our common stock as of the beginning or the end of a purchase period. The
Purchase Plan is compensatory and results in compensation expense accounted for under SFAS 123(R). We expect to continue to incur
significant stock-based compensation expense.

Other Income (expense), net.    Other income (expense), net primarily includes interest income on cash and marketable securities. Cash
has historically been invested in highly liquid investments such as time deposits held at major banks, commercial paper, United States government
agency discount notes, money market mutual funds and other money market securities with maturities at the date of purchase of 90 days or less. .
In 2006 and 2005, other income (expense), net included the impact of recording our outstanding preferred stock warrants at fair value.
Subsequent to our IPO, we were no longer required to re-measure our warrants to fair value.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

These accounting principles require us to make certain estimates and judgments that can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of
the date of the consolidated financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods presented. We
believe that the estimates and judgments upon which we rely are reasonable based upon information available to us at the time that these
estimates and judgments are made. To the extent there are material differences between these estimates and actual results, our consolidated
financial statements could be adversely affected. The accounting policies that reflect our
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more significant estimates and judgments and which we believe are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported
financial results include revenue recognition, stock-based compensation, income taxes, inventory valuation and allowances for doubtful accounts.

Revenue Recognition
Our software is integrated on appliance hardware and is essential to the functionality of the product. As a result, we account for revenue in

accordance with Statement of Position, or SOP, 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, as amended by SOP 98-9, Modification of SOP 97-2,
Software Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain Transactions, for all transactions involving the sale of software. We recognize product
revenue when all of the following have occurred: (1) we have entered into a legally binding arrangement with a customer; (2) delivery has
occurred, which is when product title transfers to the customer; (3) customer payment is deemed fixed or determinable and free of contingencies
and significant uncertainties; and (4) collection is probable.

Product revenue consists of revenue from sales of our appliances and software licenses. Product sales include a perpetual license to our
software. Product revenue is generally recognized upon transfer of title at shipment, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are met.
Shipping charges billed to customers are included in product revenue and the related shipping costs are included in cost of product revenue.
Product revenue on sales to resellers is recorded once we have received persuasive evidence of an end-user and all other revenue recognition
criteria have been met.

Substantially all of our products have been sold in combination with product support services, which consist of software updates and
support. Software updates provide customers with rights to unspecified software product upgrades and to maintenance releases and patches
released during the term of the support period. Support includes internet access to technical content, telephone and internet access to technical
support personnel and hardware support. Revenue for support services is recognized on a straight-line basis over the service contract term, which
is typically one year.

We use the residual method to recognize revenue when a product agreement includes one or more elements to be delivered at a future
date and vendor specific objective evidence, or VSOE, of the fair value of all undelivered elements exists. Through December 31, 2007, in virtually
all of our contracts, the only element that remained undelivered at the time of delivery of the product was support and updates. Under the residual
method, the fair value of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the contract fee is recognized as product revenue. If
evidence of the fair value of one or more undelivered elements does not exist, all revenue is generally deferred and recognized when delivery of
those elements occurs or when fair value can be established. When the undelivered element is support, revenue for the entire arrangement is
bundled and recognized ratably over the support period. Revenue related to these arrangements is included in ratable product and related support
and services revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. VSOE of fair value for elements of an arrangement is based
upon the normal pricing and discounting practices for those services when sold separately, and for product support and updates, is additionally
measured by the renewal rate offered to the customer. Prior to the third quarter of 2005, we had not established VSOE for the fair value of support
contracts provided to our reseller class of customers. As such, prior to the third quarter of 2005, we recognized all revenue on transactions sold
through resellers ratably over the term of the support contract, typically one year. Beginning in the third quarter of 2005, we determined that we
had established VSOE of fair value of support for products sold to resellers, and began recognizing product revenue upon title transfer at
shipment, provided the remaining criteria for revenue recognition had been met.

Our fees are typically considered to be fixed or determinable at the inception of an arrangement, generally based on specific products and
quantities to be delivered. Substantially all of our contracts do
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not include rights of return or acceptance provisions. To the extent that our agreements contain such terms, we recognize revenue once the
acceptance provisions or right of return lapses. Payment terms to customers generally range from net 30 to 60 days. In the event payment terms
are provided that differ from our standard business practices, the fees are deemed to not be fixed or determinable and revenue is recognized
when the payments become due, provided the remaining criteria for revenue recognition have been met.

We assess the ability to collect from our customers based on a number of factors, including credit worthiness of the customer and past
transaction history of the customer. If the customer is not deemed credit worthy, we defer all revenue from the arrangement until payment is
received and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Stock-Based Compensation
Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for employee stock options using the intrinsic value method in accordance with Accounting

Principles Board, or APB, Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, or APB 25, and Financial Accounting Standards Board
Interpretation, or FIN 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation, an Interpretation of APB No. 25 and had adopted the
disclosure only provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS
123) and SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure (SFAS 148) using the minimum value method.

In accordance with APB 25, stock-based compensation expense, which is a non-cash charge, resulted from stock option grants at exercise
prices that, for financial reporting purposes, were deemed to be below the estimated fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of
grant. Through December 31, 2005, we recorded deferred stock-based compensation relative to these options of approximately $9.9 million which
is being amortized over the service period, which generally corresponds to the vesting period of the applicable options on a straight-line basis.
During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 respectively, we amortized $2.3 million, $2.4 million and $1.3 of deferred
compensation expense, net of reversals for terminations, relative to these options.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, using the
prospective transition method, which requires us to apply the provisions of SFAS 123(R) to new awards granted, and to awards modified,
repurchased or cancelled, after the effective date. Under this transition method, stock-based compensation expense recognized beginning
January 1, 2006 is based on a combination of the following: (a) the grant-date fair value of stock option and employee stock purchase plan awards
granted or modified after January 1, 2006; and (b) the amortization of deferred stock-based compensation related to stock option awards granted
prior to January 1, 2006, which was calculated using the intrinsic value method as previously permitted under APB 25.

Under SFAS 123(R), we estimated the fair value of stock options granted using the Black-Scholes option-pricing formula and a single
option award approach. This model utilizes the estimated fair value of common stock and requires that, at the date of grant, we use the expected
term of the option, the expected volatility of the price of our common stock, risk free interest rates and expected dividend yield of our common
stock. This fair value is then amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards, which is generally the vesting
period. Options typically either vest with respect to 25% of the shares one year after the options’ vesting commencement date and the remainder
ratably on a monthly basis over the following three years, or ratably on a monthly basis over four years. On September 20, 2006, we implemented
our Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or Purchase Plan. Purchase Plan shares typically vest over two years, and include two purchase dates per
year. The 2006 Purchase Plan became effective on the effective date of the registration statement relating to
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our IPO. Under the Purchase Plan, employees may purchase shares of common stock through payroll deductions at a price per share that is 85%
of the lesser of the fair market value of our common stock as of the beginning of an applicable offering period or the applicable purchase date, with
purchases generally every six months.

The fair value of options granted and Purchase Plan shares were estimated at the date of grant using the following assumptions:
 

   Year ended December 31,
   2007   2006
Employee and Director Stock Options     
Expected life in years   4.5-6.0   4.5-6.1
Risk-free interest rate   3.4%-4.9%   4.6%-5.1%
Volatility   51%-62%   62%-81%
Weighted average fair value of grants   $11.35-$24.40   $3.67-$18.40

Purchase Plan     
Expected life in years   0.5-2.0   0.5-2.0
Risk-free interest rate   4.0%-5.0%   4.8%-5.1%
Volatility   38%-46%   42%-47%
Weighted average fair value of grants   $8.04-$12.87   $15.02-$15.52

The expected term represents the period that stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding. For the year ended December 31, 2007,
we have elected to use the simplified method of determining the expected term of stock options as permitted by SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin
107. The computation of expected volatility for the year ended December 31, 2007 is based on the historical volatility of comparable companies
from a representative peer group selected based on industry, financial and market capitalization data. As required by SFAS 123(R), we estimated
expected forfeitures and are recognizing compensation costs only for those equity awards expected to vest.

As of December 31, 2007, total compensation cost related to stock options granted under SFAS 123(R) to employees and directors but not
yet recognized as of December 31, 2007 was approximately $92.7 million, net of estimated forfeitures of $14.0 million. This cost will be amortized
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, which is typically 4 years. Amortization in the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was
$18.9 million and $4.3 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2007, there was $9.1 million left to be amortized under our Purchase Plan, which will be amortized over the remaining
Purchase Plan offering period, which is between 8 and 22 months. Amortization in the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $10.6
million and $2.5 million, respectively.

In accordance with SFAS 123(R), we have presented the cash-related tax benefits resulting from tax deductions in excess of the
compensation cost recognized for those options as financing cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2007. Tax benefits presented as
financing cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2007 were $850,000. Tax benefits related to stock option exercises for options granted
before the adoption of SFAS 123(R) are presented as operating cash flows.

Accounting for Income Taxes
We use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income

Taxes, Accounting for Income Taxes, (SFAS 109). Under this method, income tax expenses or benefits are recognized for the amount of taxes
payable or refundable for the current year and for deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequences of events that have been
recognized in our consolidated financial statements or tax
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returns. The measurement of current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are based on provisions of currently enacted tax laws. The effects of
future changes in tax laws or rates are not contemplated.

As part of the process of preparing consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate our income taxes and tax contingencies
in each of the tax jurisdictions in which we operate prior to the completion and filing of tax returns for such periods. This process involves
estimating actual current tax expense together with assessing temporary differences in the treatment of items for tax purposes versus financial
accounting purposes that may create net deferred tax assets and liabilities.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount we believe is more likely than not to be realized. In
assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we have considered our historical levels of income, expectations of future taxable income and on
going tax planning strategies. Because of the uncertainty of the realization of the deferred tax assets, we have recorded a full valuation allowance
against our deferred tax assets. Realization of our deferred tax assets is dependent primarily upon future U.S. taxable income.

In June 2006, FASB issued interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement
No. 109, (FIN 48). This interpretation prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for tax positions taken or expected to be taken
in a tax return. This interpretation also provides guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods,
disclosure and transition. The evaluation of a tax position in accordance with this interpretation is a two-step process. In the first step, recognition,
we determine whether it is more-likely-than-not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related appeals
or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. The second step addresses measurement of a tax position that meets the
more-likely-than-not criteria. The tax position is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized
upon ultimate settlement. Differences between tax positions taken in a tax return and amounts recognized in the financial statements will generally
result in an increase in a liability for income taxes payable or a reduction of an income tax refund receivable, or a reduction in a deferred tax asset
or an increase in a deferred tax liability, or both. Tax positions that previously failed to meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold should
be recognized in the first subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is met. Previously recognized tax positions that no longer
meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold should be de-recognized in the first subsequent financial reporting period in which that
threshold is no longer met. We adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007 and accrued approximately $157,000 as of December 31,
2007 as a result. We have also recognized a decrease in our deferred tax asset of $85,000 as of December 31, 2007. We have elected to record
interest and penalties recognized in accordance with FIN 48 in the financial statements as income taxes.

Inventory Valuation
Inventory consists of hardware and related component parts and is stated at the lower of cost (on a first-in, first-out basis) or market. A

portion of our inventory relates to evaluation units located at customer locations as some of our customers test our equipment prior to purchasing.
Inventory that is obsolete or in excess of our forecasted demand is written down to its estimated realizable value based on historical usage,
expected demand, and evaluation unit conversion rate and age. Inherent in our estimates of market value in determining inventory valuation are
estimates related to economic trends, future demand for our products and technological obsolescence of our products. Inventory write-downs are
reflected as cost of product and amounted to approximately $1.1 million, $1.5 million and $772,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006
and 2005.
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Allowances for Doubtful Accounts
We make judgments as to our ability to collect outstanding receivables and provide allowances for the applicable portion of receivables

when collection becomes doubtful. Provisions are made based upon a specific review of all significant outstanding invoices. For those invoices not
specifically reviewed, provisions are provided at differing rates, based upon the age of the receivable. In determining these percentages, we
analyze our historical collection experience and current economic trends. If the historical data we use to calculate the allowance for doubtful
accounts does not reflect the future ability to collect outstanding receivables, additional provisions for doubtful accounts may be needed and the
future results of operations could be materially affected. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $734,000 and $472,000 and at December 31,
2007 and 2006.

Results of Operations
Revenue
We derive our revenue from sales of our appliances with bundled software licenses and from product support and services. We began

shipping our products in May 2004.

Product revenue primarily consists of revenue from sales of our Steelhead products and is typically recognized upon shipment.

Support and services revenue includes unspecified software license updates and product support. Support revenue is recognized ratably
over the contractual period, which is typically one year. Service revenue includes professional services and training, which to date has not been
significant, and is recognized as the services are performed.

Ratable product and related support and services revenue includes revenue from arrangements in which product and support are bundled
and no VSOE of fair value for support pricing in the arrangements exists. The total revenue from these arrangements is recognized ratably over
the support period, typically one year.
 

   Year ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands)   2007   2006   2005
Total Revenue   $ 236,406  $ 90,207  $ 22,941

Total Revenue by Type:       
Product    189,218   70,967   17,759
Support and services    38,460   12,315   1,925
Ratable product and related support and services    8,728   6,925   3,257

% Revenue by Type:       
Product    80%   79%   78%
Support and services    16%   14%   8%
Ratable product and related support and services    4%   7%   14%

Total Revenue by Geography:       
Domestic    148,171   65,675   18,866
International    88,235   24,532   4,075

% Revenue by Geography:       
Domestic    63%   73%   82%
International    37%   27%   18%

Total Revenue by Sales Channel:       
Direct    26,046   22,177   9,500
Indirect    210,360   68,030   13,441

% Revenue by Sales Channel:       
Direct    11%    25%   41%
Indirect    89%   75%   59%
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2007 Compared to 2006:    Product revenue increased in 2007 due primarily to an increase in new customers and additional purchases by

existing customers. As of December 31, 2007, our products had been sold to over 3,500 customers, compared to approximately 1,600 as of
December 31, 2006. We believe the market for our products has grown due to increased market awareness of wide area data services and
distributed organizations, which increases dependence on timely access to data and applications.

Substantially all of our customers purchase support when they purchase our products. The increase in support and services revenue on an
absolute basis and as a percentage of total revenues is a result of increased product and first year support sales combined with the renewal of
support contracts by existing customers. As our customer base grows, we expect the proportion of revenue generated from support and services
to increase.

In the year ended December 31, 2007, we derived 89% of our revenue from indirect channels compared to 75% in the year ended
December 31, 2006. This increase in indirect channel revenue is due to our increased focus on expanding our indirect channel sales. We expect
indirect channel revenue to continue to be a significant portion of our revenue.

We generated 37% of our revenue in the year ended December 31, 2007 from international locations, compared to 27% in the year ended
December 31, 2006. We continue to expand into international locations and introduce our products in new markets and expect international
revenue to increase in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue over time.

2006 Compared to 2005:    Product revenue increased in 2006 due primarily to an increase in new customers and additional purchases by
existing customers. As of December 31, 2006, our products had been sold to over 1,600 customers, compared to approximately 500 as of
December 31, 2005.

The increase in support and services revenue on an absolute basis and as a percentage of total revenue is a result of increased product
and first year support sales combined with the renewal of support contracts by existing customers.

The increase in ratable product and related support and services revenue in the year ended December 31, 2006 was due to the
amortization of revenue from one of our OEM arrangements. Prior to the second quarter of 2006, we had undelivered obligations to this OEM and
all revenue relating to this arrangement was deferred. In the quarter ended June 30, 2006, we satisfied all future obligations to this OEM, except
for support. As such, in the second quarter we began amortizing revenue relating to this arrangement over the remaining support period for each
sale made under the arrangement. In the year ended December 31, 2006, we recognized $2.2 million of revenue associated with this
arrangement.

In the year ended December 31, 2006, we derived 75% of our revenue from indirect channels compared to 59% in the year ended
December 31, 2005 due to our increased focus on expanding our indirect sales channels.

We generated 27% of our revenue in the year ended December 31, 2006 from international locations, compared to 18% in the year ended
December 31, 2005.
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Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin
Cost of product revenue consists of the costs of the appliance hardware, manufacturing, shipping and logistics costs and expenses for

inventory obsolescence and warranty obligations. Cost of support and service revenue consists of salary and related costs of technical support
personnel. Cost of ratable product and related support and services consists of hardware, support and service costs related to transactions for
which the revenue is recognized ratably.
 

   Year ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands)   2007   2006   2005
Revenue:       

Product   $ 189,218  $ 70,967  $ 17,759
Support and services    38,460   12,315   1,925
Ratable product and related support and services    8,728   6,925   3,257

            

Total Revenue    236,406   90,207   22,941
            

Cost of revenue:       
Cost of product    49,009   23,504   5,843
Cost of support and services    14,451   4,748   1,276
Cost of ratable product and related support and services    2,464   1,900   1,475

            

Total cost of revenue    65,924   30,152   8,594
            

Gross profit   $ 170,482  $ 60,055  $ 14,347
            

Gross margin for product    74%   67%   67%
Gross margin for support and services    62%   61%   34%
Gross margin for ratable product and related support and services    72%   73%   55%

Total gross margin    72%   67%   63%

2007 Compared to 2006:    The increase in cost of product revenue was due primarily to increased hardware costs associated with higher
revenue. Cost of support and services revenue increased as we added more technical support headcount domestically and abroad to support our
growing customer base. Technical support and services headcount was 69 employees as of December 31, 2007 compared to 33 employees as of
December 31, 2006.

Gross margins increased to 72% in the year ended December 31, 2007 from 67% in the year ended December 31, 2006 primarily due to
higher margins on product revenue as a result of lower unit product costs and decreases in inventory valuation and warranty provisions as a
percentage of product revenue.

2006 Compared to 2005:    The increase in cost of product revenue was due primarily to increased hardware costs associated with
increased shipments of our products to customers. Cost of support and services revenue increased as we added more technical support
headcount domestically and abroad to support our growing customer base. Technical support headcount was 33 employees as of December 31,
2006 compared to 15 employees as of December 31, 2005. Cost of ratable product and related support and services increased due to more
ratable reseller arrangements being amortized in the first half of 2006 partially offset by a decrease in the third quarter of 2006 as reseller
arrangements entered into in the third quarter of 2005 were no longer recognized ratably and the one year amortization period for these contracts
was complete.

Gross margins increased to 67% in the year ended December 31, 2006 from 63% in the year ended December 31, 2005 primarily due to
increased margins on support and services as a result of growing our support installed base and support renewals at a greater rate than support
personnel costs.
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Sales and Marketing Expenses
Sales and marketing expenses primarily include personnel costs, sales commissions, marketing programs and facilities costs.

 

   Year ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands)   2007   2006   2005
Sales and marketing expenses   $ 95,652  $ 48,080  $ 19,722
Percent of total revenue    40%   53%   86%

2007 Compared to 2006:     The increase in sales and marketing expenses was primarily due to an increase in the number of sales and
marketing employees, as sales and marketing headcount grew to 285 employees as of December 31, 2007 from 151 employees as of
December 31, 2006. The increase in employees resulted in higher salary expense, employee related benefits and fees for recruitment of new
employees. Additionally, commission expense increased in the year ended December 31, 2007 as compared to the year ended December 31,
2006 due to the substantial increase in revenue. Salaries, bonuses and commissions accounted for $18.5 million, marketing related activities
accounted for $5.3 million, facilities and information technology expenses attributable to sales and marketing accounted for $4.8 million, and travel
and entertainment expenses accounted for $3.5 million of the $47.6 million increase in sales and marketing expenses. Stock-based compensation,
which was $15.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to $4.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2006, accounted for
approximately $10.6 million of the increase in sales and marketing expenses.

We plan to continue to make significant investments in sales and marketing with the intent to add new customers and increase penetration
within our existing customer base by increasing the number of sales personnel worldwide, expanding our domestic and international sales and
marketing activities, increasing channel penetration, building brand awareness and sponsoring additional marketing events. We expect future
sales and marketing expenses to continue to increase and continue to be our most significant operating expense. Generally sales personnel are
not immediately productive and sales and marketing expenses do not immediately result in revenue. Hiring additional sales personnel reduces
short-term operating margins until the sales personnel become productive and generate revenue. Accordingly, the timing of sales personnel hiring
and the rate at which they become productive will affect our future performance.

2006 Compared to 2005:    The increase in sales and marketing expenses was primarily due to an increase in the number of sales and
marketing employees, as sales and marketing headcount grew to 151 employees as of December 31, 2006 from 77 employees as of
December 31, 2005. The increase in employees resulted in higher salary expense, employee-related benefits and fees for recruitment of new
employees. Additionally, commission expense increased in the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the year ended December 31,
2005 due to the substantial increase in revenue. Salaries and commissions accounted for $15.3 million, travel and entertainment expenses
accounted for $2.2 million, and marketing related activities accounted for $1.8 million of the $28.4 million increase in sales and marketing
expenses. Stock-based compensation, which was $4.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to $482,000 in the year ended
December 31, 2005, accounted for approximately $4.2 million of the increase in sales and marketing expenses. The percentage of sales and
marketing expenses incurred internationally grew to 34% in the year ended December 31, 2006 from 27% in the year ended December 31, 2005.
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Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses primarily consist of personnel costs and facilities costs. We expense research and development

expenses as incurred.
 

   Year ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands)   2007   2006   2005
Research and development expenses   $ 39,696  $ 19,215  $ 8,108
Percent of total revenue    17%   21%   35%

2007 Compared to 2006:     Research and development expenses increased in the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the year
ended December 31, 2006 due to an increase in personnel and facility-related costs as a result of research and development headcount
increasing to 181 employees as of December 31, 2007 from 109 employees as of December 31, 2006. Salaries and bonuses accounted for $6.2
million, facilities and information technology expenses accounted for $4.7 million and professional services account for $1.0 million of the $20.5
million increase in research and development expenses. Stock-based compensation, which was $8.6 million in the year ended December 31,
2007 compared to $2.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2006, accounted for $6.1 million of the increase in research and development
expenses. We plan to continue to invest in research and development as we develop new products and make further enhancements to existing
models.

2006 Compared to 2005:    Research and development expenses increased in the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the year
ended December 31, 2005 due to an increase in personnel and facility related costs as a result of research and development headcount
increasing to 109 employees as of December 31, 2006 from 66 employees as of December 31, 2005. Salaries accounted for $5.1 million of the
$11.1 million increase in research and development expenses. Stock-based compensation, which was $2.5 million in the year ended
December 31, 2006 compared to $397,000 in the year ended December 31, 2005, accounted for $2.1 million of the increase in research and
development expenses. In addition, depreciation and related expenses increased as a result of additional information technology assets
purchased in the second half of 2005 and in 2006.

General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation for personnel and facilities costs related to our executive, finance,

human resources, information technology and legal organizations, and fees for professional services. Professional services include outside legal,
audit and information technology consulting costs.
 

   Year ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands)   2007   2006   2005
General and administrative expenses   $ 24,834  $ 9,294  $ 3,531
Percent of total revenue    11%    10%   15%

2007 Compared to 2006:     The increase in general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the
year ended December 31, 2006 is due to an increase in personnel costs, primarily as a result of headcount increasing to 83 employees as of
December 31, 2007 from 32 employees as of December 31, 2006, and an increase in professional services fees. Salaries and bonuses accounted
for $2.7 million and professional service fees accounted for approximately $6.1 million of the $15.5 million increase in general and administrative
expenses. Professional service fees increased due to increased Sarbanes-Oxley compliance fees, contract labor, information technology
consulting fees and audit and tax advisory fees. Stock-based compensation,
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which was $5.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to $1.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2006, accounted for
approximately $3.9 million of the increase in general and administrative expenses.

2006 Compared to 2005:    The increase in general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the
year ended December 31, 2005 is due to an increase in personnel costs, primarily as a result of headcount increasing to 32 employees as of
December 31, 2006 from 16 employees as of December 31, 2005, and an increase in professional services fees. Salaries accounted for $1.8
million and professional service fees accounted for $1.7 million of the $5.8 million increase in general and administrative expenses. The additional
personnel and professional services fees were primarily to address the legal, finance, human resources, recruiting and information technology
functions required of a public company. Stock-based compensation, which was $1.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to
$368,000 in the year ended December 31, 2005, accounted for approximately $1.2 million of the increase in general and administrative expenses.

Other Income (Expense), Net
Other income (expense), net consists primarily of interest income, interest expense, and foreign currency exchange gains (losses).

 

   Year ended December 31,  
(dollars in thousands)   2007   2006   2005  
Interest income   $ 10,068  $ 2,096  $ 457 
Interest expense    —   (247)   (239)
Other    (335)   (857)   (295)

             

Total other income (expense), net   $ 9,733  $ 992  $ (77)
             

2007 Compared to 2006:     Other income (expense), net, increased in the year ended December 31, 2007 primarily due to interest income
on higher cash and marketable securities balances. We did not have interest expense in 2007, as we paid off the balance of our credit facility on
October 2, 2006. Other expense decreased due to recording our preferred stock warrants to fair value in 2006 and no such adjustment was
required in 2007. In the year ended December 31, 2006 we recognized a $644,000 charge to record our preferred stock warrants at fair value.
Subsequent to our IPO, we were no longer required to record the warrants to fair value. Other expense in the year ended December 31, 2007
consists primarily of foreign currency losses.

2006 Compared to 2005:     Other income (expense), net increased in 2006 due primarily to interest income on higher cash balances. In
February 2006, we received net proceeds of $19.9 million from the issuance of 3,738,318 shares of Series D convertible preferred stock. In
September 2006, we received net IPO proceeds of $87.5 million. Interest expense decreased slightly as we paid off the balance of our credit
facility on October 2, 2006. Other expense increased due to recording our preferred stock warrants to fair value. In 2006 and 2005 we recorded
$644,000 and $230,000 of warrant expense respectively. Subsequent to our IPO, we were no longer required to record the warrants to fair value.

Provision for Income Taxes
Prior to the first quarter of 2007, we had incurred operating losses and, accordingly, had not recorded a provision for income taxes for any

of the periods presented other than foreign provisions for income tax. For the year ended December 31, 2007, we generated operating profits.
After applying our available net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, our tax provision accrued for the year ended December 31, 2007
consists of federal, foreign and state provisions for income tax.
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Since inception, we recorded a valuation allowance against our net deferred tax assets due to operating losses incurred. Realization of

deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. Accordingly, the net deferred tax
assets were fully offset by a valuation allowance. If not utilized, the federal and state net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards will expire
between 2013 and 2026 while the foreign net operating losses do not expire. Utilization of the federal and state net operating losses and credit
carryforwards is subject to annual limitation that are applicable when we experienced an “ownership change”, by a change in significant
stockholder allocation or equity structure.

If our recent trend of profitability continues, we may determine that there is sufficient positive evidence to support a reversal of, or decrease
in, the valuation allowance. If we were to reverse all or some part of our valuation allowance and recognize all or some part of our deferred tax
assets, our financial statements in the period of reversal would likely reflect an increase in assets on our balance sheet and a corresponding tax
benefit to our statement of operations in the amount of the reversal.

Our effective tax rate for 2007 has fluctuated on a quarterly basis. Our effective tax rate is and can be affected by such items as
disqualifying dispositions of stock from the Purchase Plan and incentive stock options, by changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets or
liabilities, or by changes in tax laws, regulations, accounting principles, or interpretations thereof. In addition, we are subject to potential income
tax audits on open tax years by any taxing jurisdiction for which we operate in. The taxing authorities of the most significant jurisdictions are the
United States Internal Revenue Service, California Franchise Tax Board and HM Revenue and Customs in the United Kingdom. Since all filed
federal and California franchise tax returns have shown operating losses, we do not anticipate any material adjustments to the provisions relating
to these returns. The statute of limitations for federal, state, and UK tax purposes are generally three, four, and three years respectively; however,
we continue to carryover tax attributes prior to these periods for federal and state purposes, which would still be open for examination by the
respective tax authorities. All years since our inception are open to tax examinations.
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Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our unaudited quarterly consolidated statement of operations data for each of the eight quarters ended
December 31, 2007. In management’s opinion, the data has been prepared on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and reflects all necessary adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary
for a fair presentation of this data. The results of historical periods are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations for a full year or any
future period.
 

  For the three months ended  
(in thousands, except
per share data)

 2007  2006  
 Dec. 31  Sep. 30  Jun. 30  Mar. 31  Dec. 31   Sep. 30   Jun. 30   Mar. 31  

Revenue:         
Product  $ 61,342 $ 50,847 $ 43,392 $ 33,637 $ 26,798  $ 19,303  $ 14,030  $ 10,836 
Support and services   12,688  10,460  8,475  6,837  4,930   3,595   2,267   1,523 
Ratable product and related support and services   2,280  2,003  2,135  2,310  2,097   1,720   1,746   1,362 

                            

Total revenue   76,310  63,310  54,002  42,784  33,825   24,618   18,043   13,721 
                            

Cost of revenue:         
Cost of product   13,467  13,533  12,348  9,661  8,927   6,211   4,776   3,590 
Cost of support and services   4,754  3,994  3,413  2,290  1,897   1,304   855   692 
Cost of ratable product and related support and services   651  613  597  603  456   390   557   497 

                            

Total cost of revenue   18,872  18,140  16,358  12,554  11,280   7,905   6,188   4,779 
                            

Gross profit   57,438  45,170  37,644  30,230  22,545   16,713   11,855   8,942 
Operating expenses   52,949  43,206  35,440  28,587  26,094   19,458   17,948   13,089 

                            

Operating income (loss)   4,489  1,964  2,204  1,643  (3,549)   (2,745)   (6,093)   (4,147)
Other income (expense), net   2,705  2,754  2,555  1,719  1,286   (275)   83   (102)

                            

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes   7,194  4,718  4,759  3,362  (2,263)   (3,020)   (6,010)   (4,249)
Provision for income taxes   2,367  1,950  815  103  148   77   41   37 

                            

Net income (loss)  $ 4,827 $ 2,768 $ 3,944 $ 3,259 $ (2,411)  $ (3,097)  $ (6,051)  $ (4,286)
                            

Net income (loss) per share basic  $ 0.07 $ 0.04 $ 0.06 $ 0.05 $ (0.04)  $ (0.16)  $ (0.46)  $ (0.36)
                            

Net income (loss) per share diluted  $ 0.07 $ 0.04 $ 0.05 $ 0.05 $ (0.04)  $ (0.16)  $ (0.46)  $ (0.36)
                            

Stock-based compensation expense included in above  $ 9,622 $ 9,363 $ 7,440 $ 5,376 $ 4,786  $ 2,080  $ 1,457  $ 895 
                            

Our operating results may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control. As a result, comparing our
operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. You should not rely on our past results as an indication of our future
performance. In addition, a significant portion of our quarterly sales typically occurs during the last month of the quarter, which we believe reflects
customer buying patterns of products similar to ours and other products in the technology industry generally. As a result, our quarterly operating
results are difficult to predict even in the near term.

Commencing with the first shipment of our products in the second quarter of 2004, revenue has increased sequentially each quarter, due to
increases in the number of products sold to new and existing customers and international expansion. Cost of revenue has increased sequentially
each quarter in absolute dollars; however, has decreased over time as a percentage of revenue. The increase in gross margins is primarily due to
higher margins on product revenue as a result of lower unit product costs. Operating expenses in all quarters increased sequentially as we
continued to add headcount and related costs to accommodate our growing business.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

   As of December 31,  
(in thousands)   2007   2006   2005  
Working capital   $ 241,135  $ 101,319  $ 6,411 
Cash and cash equivalents    162,979   105,330   10,410 
Marketable securities    83,103   3,999   — 

   Year ended December 31,  
(in thousands)   2007   2006   2005  
Cash provided by used in operating activities   $ 48,168  $ 297  $ (12,505)
Cash used in investing activities    (90,927)   (10,509)   (2,401)
Cash provided by financing activities    100,323   105,090   1,988 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments in time deposits held at major banks, commercial paper, United States

government agency discount notes, money market mutual funds and other money market securities with original maturities at the date of purchase
of 90 days or less.

Marketable securities consist of government sponsored enterprise obligations and corporate bonds and notes. As of December 31, 2007
and 2006, the marketable securities are recorded at amortized cost, which approximates fair market value.

Pursuant to certain lease agreements and as security for our merchant services agreement with our financial institution, we are required to
maintain cash reserves, classified as restricted cash. Current restricted cash totaled $142,000 at December 31, 2007 and $121,000 at
December 31, 2006, and long-term restricted cash totaled $3.5 million and $1.5 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Long-term
restricted cash is included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets and consists primarily of funds held as collateral for letters of credit
for the security deposit on the leases of our corporate headquarters and is restricted until the end of the lease terms on August 30, 2010 and
July 31, 2014.

Since the fourth quarter of 2004, we have expanded our operations internationally. Our sales contracts are principally denominated in
United States dollars and as such, the increase in our revenue derived from international customers, has not affected our cash flows from
operations. As we fund our international operations, our cash and cash equivalents are affected by changes in exchange rates. To date, the
foreign currency effect on our cash and cash equivalents has not been material.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Our largest source of operating cash flows is cash collections from our customers. Our primary uses of cash from operating activities are

for personnel related expenditures, product costs, outside services and rent payments. Our cash flows from operating activities will continue to be
affected principally by the extent to which we grow our revenue and spend on hiring personnel in order to grow our business. The timing of hiring
sales personnel in particular affects cash flows as there is a lag between the hiring of sales personnel and the generation of revenue and cash
flows from sales personnel.

Cash provided by operating activities was $48.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to $297,000 in the year ended
December 31, 2006 primarily due to increased profitability. In the first nine months of 2006, we experienced negative cash flows from operations
as we continued to expand our business and build our infrastructure domestically and internationally.
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Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Cash flows used in investing activities primarily relate to investments in marketable securities and capital expenditures to support our

growth.

Cash used in investing activities increased in the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to the year ended December 31, 2006 due to
additional purchases of marketable securities. Additionally, capital expenditures increased in 2007 compared to 2006 primarily resulting from
leasehold improvement additions associated with our new corporate headquarters and software purchased for internal use associated with our
ERP system. Restricted cash outlays increased in 2007 due to the cash collateralized $1.6 million letter of credit required for our new corporate
headquarters.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Prior to September 2006, we financed our operations primarily through private sales of convertible preferred stock totaling $56.3 million

and collections from customers and, to a lesser extent, borrowings under our credit facility. In February 2006, we sold 3,738,318 shares of our
Series D convertible preferred stock for net proceeds of $19.9 million. In September 2006, we completed our IPO and received net proceeds of
$87.5 million. In February 2007, we completed a follow-on public offering of our common stock and received net proceeds of $87.7 million.

On June 7, 2004, we entered into a loan and security agreement with a financial institution for a $2.5 million credit facility, and we borrowed
$1.4 million and $1.1 million in 2004 and 2005, respectively. We made principal payments of $625,000 in the first six months of 2006 and repaid
the remaining balance on our loan on October 2, 2006.

In addition to proceeds from our follow-on offering of common stock, cash flows from financing activities in the year ended December 31,
2007 consisted of cash proceeds and tax benefits received from the exercise of stock options and stock purchases under our Purchase Plan.

We believe that our net proceeds from operations, together with our cash and marketable securities balances at December 31, 2007, will
be sufficient to fund our projected operating requirements for at least the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements will depend on many
factors, including our rate of revenue growth, the expansion of our sales and marketing activities, the timing and extent of expansion into new
territories, the timing of introductions of new products and enhancements to existing products, and the continuing market acceptance of our
products. We may enter into arrangements for potential investments in, or acquisitions of, complementary businesses, services or technologies,
which also could require us to seek additional equity or debt financing. Additional funds may not be available on terms favorable to us or at all.

Contractual Obligations
The following is a summary of our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2007:

 

   Year ending December 31,

   Total   2008   2009   2010   2011   

2012
and

beyond
   (in thousands)
Other Contractual Obligations             
Operating leases   $ 31,238  $ 4,698  $ 5,102  $ 4,689  $ 5,241  $ 11,508
Purchase obligations (1)    6,831   6,444   360   27   —   —

                        

Total contractual obligations   $ 38,069  $ 11,142   $ 5,462  $ 4,716  $ 5,241  $ 11,508
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(1) Represents amounts associated with agreements that are enforceable, legally binding and specify terms, including: fixed or minimum
quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the approximate timing of payment. Obligations under
contracts that we can cancel without a significant penalty are not included in the table above.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
At December 31, 2007 and 2006, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities

often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance
sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes, nor did we have any undisclosed material transactions or commitments
involving related persons or entities.

Other
At December 31, 2007 and 2006, we did not have commercial commitments under lines of credit, standby repurchase obligations or other

such debt arrangements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 15 of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” for recent accounting pronouncements that could have an effect on us.

 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Foreign Currency Risk
Our sales contracts are principally denominated in United States dollars and therefore our revenue is not subject to foreign currency risk.

We do incur certain operating expenses in currencies other than the U.S. dollar and therefore are subject to volatility in cash flows due to
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the British pound, Euro, Australian dollar and Singapore dollar. To date, we
have not entered into any hedging contracts since exchange rate fluctuations have had minimal impact on our operating results and cash flows.

Interest Rate Sensitivity
We had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents totaling $163.0 million and $105.3 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The unrestricted cash and cash equivalents are held for working capital purposes. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative
purposes. Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with a maturity of ninety days or less at the time of purchase. Cash
equivalents consist primarily of money market securities, U.S. treasury bills, U.S. agency discount notes and commercial paper. Due to the high
investment quality and short duration of these investments, we do not believe that we have any material exposure to changes in the fair market
value as a result of changes in interest rates. Declines in interest rates, however, will reduce future investment income. If overall interest rates had
fallen by 10% in 2007, our interest income on cash and cash equivalents would have declined approximately $772,000, assuming consistent
investment levels.
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED

PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Riverbed Technology, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Riverbed Technology, Inc. as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and
the related consolidated statements of operations, preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2007. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the index at Item 15(b). These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
Riverbed Technology, Inc. at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related
financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material
respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, under the headings Stock-Based Compensation and Accounting for
Income Taxes, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment”, effective January 1,
2006 and Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of
FASB Statement No. 109”, effective January 1, 2007. As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted
FASB Staff Position 150-5 (FSP 150-5) “Issuer’s Accounting under FASB Statement No. 150 for Freestanding Warrants and Other Similar
Instruments on Shares that are Redeemable,” during the year ended December 31, 2005.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Riverbed
Technology, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 14, 2008
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/    ERNST & YOUNG LLP

San Francisco, California
February 14, 2008
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED

PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Riverbed Technology, Inc.

We have audited Riverbed Technology Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the
COSO criteria). Riverbed Technology, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting which is contained in Part I, Item 9A of this Annual Report on From
10-K under the heading “Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.” Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Riverbed Technology, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007 based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, preferred stock and
stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007 and our report dated February 14,
2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Francisco, California
February 14, 2008
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RIVERBED TECHNOLOGY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)

 

   As of December 31,  
   2007   2006  

ASSETS    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 162,979  $ 105,330 
Marketable securities    83,103   3,999 
Trade receivables, net of allowances of $734 and $472 as of December 31, 2007 and 2006    50,072   18,148 
Other receivables    1,273   118 
Inventory    9,413   7,452 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    5,136   5,438 

         

Total current assets    311,976   140,485 
         

Fixed assets, net    18,826   7,718 
Other assets    6,800   2,566 

         

Total assets   $ 337,602  $ 150,769 
         

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable   $ 20,325  $ 11,113 
Accrued compensation and benefits    14,290   8,285 
Other accrued liabilities    9,381   2,931 
Deferred revenue    26,845   16,837 

         

Total current liabilities    70,841   39,166 
         

Deferred revenue, non-current    6,634   2,245 
Other long-term liabilities    409   378 

         

Total long-term liabilities    7,043   2,623 
         

Commitments and contingencies    
Stockholders’ equity:    

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value — 30,000 shares authorized, no shares outstanding    —   — 
Common stock and additional paid-in-capital; $0.0001 par value — 600,000 shares authorized as of

December 31, 2007 and 2006, 71,332 and 66,180 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2007
and 2006    295,487   162,033 

Deferred stock-based compensation    (3,287)   (5,704)
Accumulated deficit    (32,535)   (47,333)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)    53   (16)

         

Total stockholders’ equity    259,718   108,980 
         

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 337,602  $ 150,769 
         

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

 

   Year ended December 31,  
   2007   2006   2005  
Revenue:     

Product   $ 189,218  $ 70,967  $ 17,759 
Support and services    38,460   12,315   1,925 
Ratable product and related support and services    8,728   6,925   3,257 

             

Total revenue    236,406   90,207   22,941 
             

Cost of revenue:     
Cost of product    49,009   23,504   5,843 
Cost of support and services    14,451   4,748   1,276 
Cost of ratable product and related support and services    2,464   1,900   1,475 

             

Total cost of revenue    65,924   30,152   8,594 
             

Gross profit    170,482   60,055   14,347 
             

Operating expenses:     
Sales and marketing    95,652   48,080   19,722 
Research and development    39,696   19,215   8,108 
General and administrative    24,834   9,294   3,531 

             

Total operating expenses    160,182   76,589   31,361 
             

Operating income (loss)    10,300   (16,534)   (17,014)
             

Other income (expense), net:     
Interest income    10,068   2,096   457 
Interest expense    —   (247)   (239)
Other    (335)   (857)   (295)

             

Total other income (expense), net    9,733   992   (77)
             

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes and cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle    20,033   (15,542)   (17,091)

Provision for income taxes    5,235   303   55 
             

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle    14,798   (15,845)   (17,146)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle    —   —   280 

             

Net income (loss)   $ 14,798  $ (15,845)  $ (17,426)
             

Net income (loss) per common share:     
Basic   $ 0.22  $ (0.59)  $ (1.85)

             

Diluted   $ 0.20  $ (0.59)  $ (1.85)
             

Shares used in computing net income (loss) per share:     
Basic    68,020   26,977   9,401 

             

Diluted    73,244   26,977   9,401 
             

Stock-based compensation expense included in above:     
Cost of product   $ 101  $ —  $ — 
Cost of support and services    2,576   520   40 
Sales and marketing    15,160   4,636   482 
Research and development    8,593   2,541   397 
General and administrative    5,371   1,521   368 

             

Total stock-based compensation expense   $ 31,801  $ 9,218  $ 1,287 
             

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

(in thousands)
 

   
Convertible

Preferred Stock      
Common Stock
And Additional
Paid-in-Capital   

Deferred
Stock-Based

Compensation  
Accumulated

Deficit   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   Total  

   Shares   Amount      Shares   Amount              
Balance at December 31, 2004   35,704  $ 36,469    13,272  $ 612  $ (475)  $ (14,062)  $ (6)  $ (13,931)
Stock options exercised   —   —    3,652   940   —   —   —   940 
Stock options repurchased   —   —    (203)   (18)   —   —   —   (18)
Reclassification of options

exercised but not vested   —   —    —   (711)   —   —   —   (711)
Deferred stock-based

compensation related to options
granted to employees   —   —    —   9,307   (9,307)   —   —   — 

Amortization of deferred
stock-based compensation, net
of reversals for terminated
employees   —   —    —   —   1,287   —   —   1,287 

Reclassification of warrants to
liabilities (Note 2)   —   (84)    —   —   —   —   —   — 

Comprehensive loss:             
Currency translation adjustments   —   —    —   —   —   —   (52)   (52)
Net loss   —   —    —   —   —   (17,426)   —   (17,426)

               

Comprehensive loss   —   —    —   —   —   —   —   (17,478)
                                 

Balance at December 31, 2005   35,704  $ 36,385    16,721  $ 10,130  $ (8,495)  $ (31,488)  $ (58)  $ (29,911)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 — (Continued)

(in thousands)
 

   
Convertible

Preferred Stock       
Common Stock
And Additional
Paid-in-Capital   

Deferred
Stock-Based

Compensation  
Accumulated

Deficit   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   Total  

   Shares   Amount       Shares   Amount              
Issuance of Series D preferred

stock for cash net of
issuance costs of $85   3,738  $ 19,915     —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ — 

Preferred stock converted to
common at IPO   (39,442)   (56,300)     39,442   56,300   —   —   —   56,300 

Proceeds from IPO, net of
expenses   —   —     9,990   87,496   —   —   —   87,496 

Stock options exercised   —   —     254   213   —   —   —   213 
Stock options repurchased   —   —     (325)   (34)   —   —   —   (34)
Reclassification of options

exercised but not vested   —   —     —   263   —   —   —   263 
Reclassification of warrant

liability upon IPO   —   —     —   1,238   —   —   —   1,238 
Warrant exercise   —   —     98   —   —   —   —   — 
Amortization of deferred

stock-based compensation
related to options granted to
employees net of reversals
for terminated employees   —   —     —   (389)   2,791   —   —   2,402 

Stock-based compensation   —   —     —   6,816   —   —   —   6,816 
Comprehensive loss:             
Currency translation

adjustments   —   —     —   —   —   —   42   42 
Net loss   —   —     —   —   —   (15,845)   —   (15,845)

               

Comprehensive loss   —   —     —   —   —   —   —   (15,803)
                                  

Balance at December 31, 2006   —  $ —     66,180  $ 162,033  $ (5,704)  $ (47,333)  $ (16)  $ 108,980 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 — (Continued)

(in thousands)
 

   
Convertible

Preferred Stock      
Common Stock
And Additional
Paid-in-Capital   

Deferred
Stock-Based

Compensation   
Accumulated

Deficit    

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)    Total  

   Shares   Amount      Shares   Amount                 
Proceeds from follow-on stock

offering, net of expenses   —  $ —    2,855  $ 87,681  $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 87,681 
Stock purchased under Employee

Stock Purchase Plan   —   —    734   6,733   —    —    —    6,733 
Stock options exercised   —   —    1,531   5,059   —    —    —    5,059 
Reclassification of options

exercised but not vested   —   —    —   313   —    —    —    313 
Warrant exercise   —   —    32   —   —    —    —    — 
Tax benefit from employee stock

plans   —   —    —   4,284   —    —    —    4,284 
Amortization of deferred

stock-based compensation
related to options granted to
employees net of reversals for
terminated employees   —   —    —   (146)   2,417    —    —    2,271 

Stock-based compensation   —   —    —   29,530   —    —    —    29,530 
Comprehensive income:                  
Currency translation adjustments   —   —    —   —   —    —    84    84 
Unrealized loss on marketable

securities                 (15)    (15)
Net income   —   —    —   —   —    14,798    —    14,798 

                    

Comprehensive income   —   —    —   —   —    —    —    14,867 
                                    

Balance at December 31, 2007           —  $         —    71,332  $ 295,487  $ (3,287)   $ (32,535)   $ 53   $ 259,718 
                                    

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

 

   Year ended December 31,  
   2007   2006   2005  
Operating Activities:     

Net income (loss)   $ 14,798  $ (15,845)  $ (17,426)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating

activities:     
Depreciation and amortization    5,052   2,037   831 
Stock-based compensation    31,801   9,218   1,287 
Revaluation and amortization of warrants    —   683   251 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle    —   —   280 
Provision for trade receivable allowances    461   474   75 
Excess tax benefit from employee stock plans    (850)   —   — 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     

(Increase) in trade receivables    (32,726)   (13,266)   (4,049)
(Increase) in inventory    (5,160)   (5,186)   (2,901)
(Increase) in prepaid expenses and other assets    (1,614)   (3,887)   (1,295)
Increase in accounts payable and other current liabilities    16,893   12,362   5,673 
Increase in income taxes payable    4,597   224   50 
Increase in deferred revenue    14,916   13,483   4,719 

             

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities    48,168   297   (12,505)
             

Investing Activities:     
Capital expenditures    (9,708)   (5,110)   (2,259)
Purchase of available for sale securities    (129,099)   (3,999)   — 
Proceeds from maturities of available for sale securities    10,980   —   — 
Proceeds from sales of available for sale securities    39,000   —   — 
Increase in other assets    (2,100)   (1,400)   (142)

             

Net cash used in investing activities    (90,927)   (10,509)   (2,401)
             

Financing Activities:     
Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs    —   19,915   — 
Proceeds from public offerings, net of expenses    87,681   87,496   — 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee stock plans, net of

repurchases    11,792   179   922 
Payments and proceeds from debt    —   (2,500)   1,066 
Excess tax benefit from employee stock plans    850   —   — 

             

Net cash provided by financing activities    100,323   105,090   1,988 
             

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    85   42   (52)
             

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    57,649   94,920   (12,970)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    105,330   10,410   23,380 

             

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 162,979  $ 105,330  $ 10,410 
             

Supplemental schedule of cash flow data:     
Cash paid for interest   $ —  $ 206  $ 219 
Cash paid for income taxes    464   79   4 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.    ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Organization

Riverbed Technology, Inc. was founded on May 23, 2002 and has developed a comprehensive solution to the fundamental problems of
wide-area distributed computing. Our products enable our customers simply and efficiently to improve the performance of their applications and
access to their data over wide area networks (WANs).

Public Offerings
In September 2006, we completed our initial public offering, or IPO, of common stock in which we sold and issued 9,990,321 shares of our

common stock, including 1,290,321 shares sold by us pursuant to the underwriters’ exercise of their over-allotment option, at an issue price of
$9.75 per share. We raised a total of $97.4 million in gross proceeds from the IPO, or approximately $87.5 million in net proceeds after deducting
underwriting discounts and commissions of $6.8 million and other offering costs of $3.1 million. Upon the closing of the IPO, all shares of
convertible preferred stock outstanding automatically converted into 39,441,439 shares of common stock.

In February 2007, we completed a follow-on public offering of common stock in which we sold and issued 2,854,671 shares of our common
stock, including 250,000 shares sold by us pursuant to the underwriters’ partial exercise of their over-allotment option, at an issue price of $32.50
per share. As a result of the offering, we raised a total of $92.8 million in gross proceeds, or approximately $87.7 million in net proceeds after
deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $4.2 million and other offering costs of $0.9 million.

Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the accounts of our wholly owned subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions
and balances have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, or GAAP. These

accounting principles require us to make certain estimates and judgments that can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the
date of the consolidated financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods presented. Significant
estimates and assumptions made by management include the determination of the fair value of stock awards issued, inventory valuation and the
allowance for doubtful accounts. We believe that the estimates and judgments upon which we rely are reasonable based upon information
available to us at the time that these estimates and judgments are made. To the extent there are material differences between these estimates
and actual results, our consolidated financial statements will be affected.

Revenue Recognition
Our software is integrated on appliance hardware and is essential to the functionality of the product. As a result, we account for revenue in

accordance with Statement of Position, or SOP, 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, as amended by SOP 98-9, Modification of SOP 97-2,
Software Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain Transactions, for all transactions involving the sale of
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
 
software. We recognize product revenue when all of the following have occurred: (1) we have entered into a legally binding arrangement with a
customer; (2) delivery has occurred, which is when product title transfers to the customer; (3) customer payment is deemed fixed or determinable
and free of contingencies and significant uncertainties; and (4) collection is probable.

Product revenue consists of revenue from sales of our appliances and software licenses. Product sales include a perpetual license to our
software. Product revenue is generally recognized upon transfer of title at shipment, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are met.
Shipping charges billed to customers are included in product revenue and the related shipping costs are included in cost of product revenue.
Product revenue on sales to resellers is recorded once we have received persuasive evidence of an end-user and all other revenue recognition
criteria have been met.

Substantially all of our products have been sold in combination with support services, which consist of software updates and support.
Software updates provide customers with rights to unspecified software product upgrades and to maintenance releases and patches released
during the term of the support period. Support includes internet access to technical content, telephone and internet access to technical support
personnel and hardware support. Revenue for support services is recognized on a straight-line basis over the service contract term, which is
typically one year.

We use the residual method to recognize revenue when a product agreement includes one or more elements to be delivered at a future
date and vendor specific objective evidence, or VSOE, of the fair value of all undelivered elements exists. Through December 31, 2007, in virtually
all of our contracts, the only element that remained undelivered at the time of delivery of the product was support and updates. Under the residual
method, the fair value of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the contract fee is recognized as product revenue. If
evidence of the fair value of one or more undelivered elements does not exist, all revenue is generally deferred and recognized when delivery of
those elements occurs or when fair value can be established. When the undelivered element for which we do not have a fair value is support,
revenue for the entire arrangement is bundled and recognized ratably over the support period. Revenue related to these arrangements is included
in ratable product and related support and services revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. VSOE of fair value for
elements of an arrangement is based upon the normal pricing and discounting practices for those services when sold separately and for support
and updates is additionally measured by the renewal rate offered to the customer. Prior to the third quarter of 2005, we had not established VSOE
for the fair value of support contracts provided to our reseller class of customers. As such, prior to the third quarter of 2005, we recognized all
revenue on transactions sold through resellers ratably over the term of the support contract, typically one year. Beginning in the third quarter of
2005, we determined that we had established VSOE of fair value of support for products sold to resellers, and began recognizing product revenue
upon delivery, provided the remaining criteria for revenue recognition had been met.

Our fees are typically considered to be fixed or determinable at the inception of an arrangement, generally based on specific products and
quantities to be delivered. Substantially all of our contracts do not include rights of return or acceptance provisions. To the extent that our
agreements contain such terms, we recognize revenue once the acceptance provisions or right of return lapses. Payment terms to customers
generally range from net 30 to 60 days. In the event payment terms are provided that differ from our standard business practices, the fees are
deemed to not be fixed or determinable and revenue is recognized when the payments become due, provided the remaining criteria for revenue
recognition have been met.
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We assess the ability to collect from our customers based on a number of factors, including credit worthiness of the customer and past
transaction history of the customer. If the customer is not deemed credit worthy, we defer all revenue from the arrangement until payment is
received and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Stock-Based Compensation
Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for employee stock options using the intrinsic value method in accordance with Accounting

Principles Board, or APB, Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, or APB 25, and Financial Accounting Standards Board
Interpretation, or FIN 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation, an Interpretation of APB No. 25 and had adopted the
disclosure only provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS
123) and SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure (SFAS 148) using the minimum value method.

In accordance with APB 25, stock-based compensation expense, which is a non-cash charge, resulted from stock option grants at exercise
prices that, for financial reporting purposes, were deemed to be below the estimated fair value of the underlying common stock on the date of
grant. Through December 31, 2005, we recorded deferred stock-based compensation relative to these options of approximately $9.9 million which
is being amortized over the service period, which generally corresponds to the vesting period of the applicable options on a straight-line basis.
During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 respectively, we amortized $2.3 million, $2.4 million and $1.3 of deferred
compensation expense, net of reversals for terminations, relative to these options.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, using the
prospective transition method, which requires us to apply the provisions of SFAS 123(R) to new awards granted, and to awards modified,
repurchased or cancelled, after the effective date. Under this transition method, stock-based compensation expense recognized beginning
January 1, 2006 is based on a combination of the following: (a) the grant-date fair value of stock option and employee stock purchase plan awards
granted or modified after January 1, 2006; and (b) the amortization of deferred stock-based compensation related to stock option awards granted
prior to January 1, 2006, which was calculated using the intrinsic value method as previously permitted under APB 25.

Under SFAS 123(R), we estimated the fair value of stock options granted using the Black-Scholes option-pricing formula and a single
option award approach. This model utilizes the estimated fair value of common stock and requires that, at the date of grant, we use the expected
term of the option, the expected volatility of the price of our common stock, risk free interest rates and expected dividend yield of our common
stock. This fair value is then amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards, which is generally the vesting
period. Options typically either vest with respect to 25% of the shares one year after the options’ vesting commencement date and the remainder
ratably on a monthly basis over the following three years, or ratably on a monthly basis over four years. On September 20, 2006, we implemented
our Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or Purchase Plan. Purchase Plan shares typically vest over two years, and include two purchase dates per
year. The 2006 Purchase Plan became effective on the effective date of the registration statement relating to our IPO. Under the Purchase Plan,
employees may purchase shares of common stock through payroll deductions at a price per share that is 85% of the lesser of the fair market
value of our common stock as of the beginning of an applicable offering period or the applicable purchase date, with purchases generally every six
months.
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The fair value of options granted and Purchase Plan shares were estimated at the date of grant using the following assumptions:
 

  Year ended December 31,
  2007  2006
Employee and Director Stock Options   
Expected life in years  4.5 – 6.0  4.5 – 6.1
Risk-free interest rate  3.4% – 4.9%  4.6% – 5.1%
Volatility  51% – 62%  62% – 81%
Weighted average fair value of grants  $11.35 – $24.40  $3.67 – $18.40
Purchase Plan   
Expected life in years  0.5 –2.0  0.5 – 2.0
Risk-free interest rate  4.0% – 5.0%  4.8% – 5.1%
Volatility  38% – 46%  42% – 47%
Weighted average fair value of grants  $8.04 – $12.87  $15.02 – $15.52

The expected term represents the period that stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding. For the year ended December 31, 2007,
we have elected to use the simplified method of determining the expected term of stock options as permitted by SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin
107. The computation of expected volatility for the year ended December 31, 2007 is based on the historical volatility of comparable companies
from a representative peer group selected based on industry, financial and market capitalization data. As required by SFAS 123(R), management
estimated expected forfeitures and is recognizing compensation costs only for those equity awards expected to vest.

As of December 31, 2007, total compensation cost related to stock options granted under SFAS 123(R) to employees and directors but not
yet recognized was approximately $92.7 million, net of estimated forfeitures of $14.0 million. This cost will be amortized on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, which is typically 4 years. Amortization in the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $18.9 million and
$4.3 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2007, there was $9.1 million, net of estimated forfeitures of approximately $840,000, left to be amortized under our
Purchase Plan, which will be amortized over the remaining Purchase Plan offering period, which is between 8 to 22 months. Amortization in the
years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $10.6 million and $2.5 million, respectively.

In accordance with SFAS 123(R), we have presented the cash-related tax benefits resulting from tax deductions in excess of the
compensation cost recognized for those options as financing cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2007. Tax benefits presented as
financing cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2007 were $850,000. Tax benefits related to stock option exercises for options granted
before the adoption of SFAS 123(R) are presented as operating cash flows.

Accounting for Income Taxes
We use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income

Taxes, Accounting for Income Taxes (SFAS 109). Under this method, income tax expenses or benefits are recognized for the amount of taxes
payable or refundable for the current year and for deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax
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consequences of events that have been recognized in our consolidated financial statements or tax returns. The measurement of current and
deferred tax assets and liabilities are based on provisions of currently enacted tax laws. The effects of future changes in tax laws or rates are not
contemplated.

As part of the process of preparing consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate our income taxes and tax contingencies
in each of the tax jurisdictions in which we operate prior to the completion and filing of tax returns for such periods. This process involves
estimating actual current tax expense together with assessing temporary differences in the treatment of items for tax purposes versus financial
accounting purposes that may create net deferred tax assets and liabilities.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount we believe is more likely than not to be realized. In
assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we have considered our historical levels of income, expectations of future taxable income and
on-going tax planning strategies. Because of the uncertainty of the realization of the deferred tax assets, we have recorded a full valuation
allowance against our deferred tax assets. Realization of our deferred tax assets is dependent primarily upon future U.S. taxable income.

In June 2006, FASB issued interpretation No. 48, “ Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes-an interpretation of FASB Statement
No. 109 (FAS No. 109) ” (“FIN 48”). This interpretation prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for tax positions taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. This interpretation also provides guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting
in interim periods, disclosure and transition. The evaluation of a tax position in accordance with this interpretation is a two-step process. In the first
step, recognition, the Company determines whether it is more-likely-than-not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination, including
resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. The second step addresses measurement
of a tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not criteria. The tax position is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than
50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. Differences between tax positions taken in a tax return and amounts recognized in the
financial statements will generally result in an increase in a liability for income taxes payable or a reduction of an income tax refund receivable, or
a reduction in a deferred tax asset or an increase in a deferred tax liability or both. Tax positions that previously failed to meet the
more-likely-than-not recognition threshold should be recognized in the first subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is met.
Previously recognized tax positions that no longer meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold should be de-recognized in the first
subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is no longer met. We adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007 and have
accrued approximately $157,000 as of December 31, 2007 as a result. We have also recognized a decrease in our deferred tax asset of $85,000
as of December 31, 2007. We have elected to record interest and penalties recognized in accordance with FIN 48 in the financial statements as
income taxes.

Inventory Valuation
Inventory consists of hardware and related component parts and is stated at the lower of cost (on a first-in, first-out basis) or market. A

portion of our inventory relates to evaluation units located at customer locations as some of our customers test our equipment prior to purchasing.
Inventory that is obsolete or in excess of our forecasted demand is written down to its estimated realizable value based on historical usage,
expected demand, and evaluation unit conversion rate and age. Inherent in our estimates of market value in determining inventory valuation are
estimates related to economic trends, future demand for our products and technological obsolescence of our products. Inventory write-downs
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are reflected as cost of product and amounted to approximately $1.1 million, $1.5 million and $772,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts
We make judgments as to our ability to collect outstanding receivables and provide allowances for the portion of trade receivables when

collection becomes doubtful. Provisions are made based upon a specific review of all significant outstanding invoices. For those invoices not
specifically reviewed, provisions are provided at differing rates, based upon the age of the receivable. In determining these rates, we analyze our
historical collection experience and current economic trends. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $734,000 and $472,000 at December 31,
2007 and 2006.

Software Development Costs
We account for costs incurred for computer software purchased or developed for internal use in accordance with Statement of position

98-1 (SOP 98-1), Accounting for the Cost of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use. SOP 98-1 requires companies to
capitalize qualifying computer software costs, which are incurred during the application development stage, and amortize them over the software’s
estimated useful life.

We capitalized $2.1 million, $1.3 million and $69,000 in internal use software during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Amortization expense related to these assets totaled $343,000, $43,000 and $31,000 during the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively.

Warranty Reserve
Upon shipment of products to our customers, we provide for the estimated cost to repair or replace products that may be returned under

warranty. Our warranty period is typically 12 months from the date of shipment to the end-user customer for hardware and 90 days for software.
For existing products, the reserve is estimated based on actual historical experience. For new products, the warranty reserve is based on historical
experience of similar products until such time as sufficient historical data has been collected for the new product. Warranty reserves amounted to
approximately $1.1 million and $735,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006.

The following is a summary of the warranty reserve activity for the three years ended December 31, 2007:
 

(in thousands)   
Beginning

balance   

Additions
charged to
operations   

Warranty
costs

incurred   
Ending
balance

Warranty reserve analysis:        
Year ended December 31, 2005   $ 45  $ 382   (289)  $ 138

                

Year ended December 31, 2006   $ 138  $ 1,226  $ (629)  $ 735
                

Year ended December 31, 2007   $ 735  $ 1,983  $ (1,629)  $ 1,089
                

Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider all highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities at the date of purchase of three months or less to be cash

equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates fair value.
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Marketable Securities

We determine the appropriate classification of investments in marketable securities at the time of purchase in accordance with Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities, and reevaluate such determination
at each balance sheet date. Securities, which are classified as available for sale at December 31, 2007 and 2006, are carried at fair value, with the
unrealized gains and losses reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Unrealized gains and losses to date have been immaterial.
Fair value is determined based on quoted market rates. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary on
securities available for sale are included as a component of interest income. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific-identification
method. Interest on securities classified as available for sale is included as a component of interest income.

Deferred Inventory Costs
When our products have been delivered, but the product revenue associated with the arrangement has been deferred as a result of not

meeting the revenue recognition criteria in SOP 97-2, we also defer the related inventory costs for the delivered items in accordance with
Accounting Research Bulletin 43, Restatement and Revision of Accounting Research Bulletins. Deferred inventory costs amounted to
approximately $2.3 million and $3.5 million at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively, and are included in prepaid expenses
and other current assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

Spares
We hold spare parts to service our customers who purchase support. We classify spare parts as other long term assets and amortize the

spares over an estimated useful life of three years. At December 31, 2007 and 2006 our spare parts balance was $2.5 million and $876,000,
respectively. In the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, we amortized $711,000 and $192,000, respectively, to cost of support and
services relating to spares.

Concentrations of Risk
Financial instruments that are potentially subject to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents, marketable

securities, and trade receivables. Investment policies have been implemented that limit investments to investment grade securities. The risk with
respect to trade receivables is mitigated by credit evaluations we perform on our customers and by the diversification of our customer base. No
customer represented more than 10% of our revenue for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 or 2005.

We outsource the production of our hardware to third-party manufacturing facilities. We rely on purchase orders or long-term contracts with
our contract manufacturers. At December 31, 2007, we had no long-term contractual commitment with any manufacturer; however, we did have a
90 day commitment totaling $6.1 million.

Foreign Currency Translation
While the majority of our revenue contracts are denominated in United States dollars, we incur certain operating expenses in various

foreign currencies. The functional currency of our foreign
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operations is the local country’s currency. Consequently, expenses of operations outside the United States are translated into United States
dollars using average exchange rates for the period reported while assets and liabilities of operations outside the United States are translated into
United States dollars using end of period exchange rates. Foreign currency translation adjustments not affecting net income are included in
stockholders’ equity as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The
revaluation effect of foreign currency fluctuations on intercompany balances is recorded to foreign currency gain (loss) and included in other
income (expense) in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Foreign currency losses included in other income (expense) for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were $349,000, $219,000 and $63,000, respectively.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) consists of other comprehensive income and net income (loss). Other comprehensive income includes

certain changes in equity that are excluded from net loss. Specifically, cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments and unrealized losses
on marketable securities are included in accumulated other comprehensive income. Comprehensive loss has been reflected in the consolidated
statements of convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit).

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) was $53,000 and ($16,000) at December 31, 2007 and 2006, resulting primarily from
foreign currency translation adjustments.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
We review long-lived assets and identifiable intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that

the carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable. We assess these assets for impairment based on estimated undiscounted future
cash flows from these assets. If the carrying value of the assets exceeds the estimated future undiscounted cash flows, a loss is recorded for the
excess of the asset’s carrying value over the fair value. To date we have not recognized any impairment loss for long-lived assets.

Advertising
All advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses were $2.4 million, $295,000 and $836,000 for the years ended

December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Research and Development
All costs to develop our products are expensed as incurred. Software development costs are capitalized beginning when a product’s

technological feasibility has been established and ending when a product is available for general release to customers. Generally, our products
are released soon after technological feasibility has been established. As a result, costs subsequent to achieving technological feasibility have not
been significant and all software development costs have been expensed as incurred.

Freestanding Preferred Stock Warrants
Freestanding warrants and other similar instruments related to shares that are redeemable are accounted for in accordance with FASB

Statement No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial
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Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity. On March 31, 2003, we issued a warrant for the purchase of 32,967 shares of
Series A convertible preferred stock with an exercise price of $0.455 per share. On June 7, 2004, we issued warrants for the purchase of 100,000
shares of Series B convertible preferred stock with an exercise price of $0.836 per share. Under Statement No. 150, these warrants that were
related to our convertible preferred stock were classified as liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. The warrants were subject to
re-measurement at each balance sheet date and any change in fair value was recognized as a component of other income (expense), net.
Subsequent to the IPO and the associated conversion of our outstanding convertible preferred stock to common stock, the warrants were
reclassified to common stock and additional paid-in-capital and are no longer subject to re-measurement. During the year ended December 31,
2006, the warrants to purchase 100,000 common shares were exercised. During the year ended December 31, 2007, the warrants to purchase
32,967 shares were exercised.

Prior to the adoption of Statement No. 150, we accounted for freestanding warrants for the purchase of our convertible preferred stock
under EITF Issue No. 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with
Selling Goods or Services. We accounted for the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle as of the beginning of the third quarter of
2005. The impact consisted of a $280,000 cumulative charge for adoption as of July 1, 2005, reflecting the fair value of the warrants as of that
date.

2.    NET INCOME (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE
Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of vested common

shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income (loss) per common share is computed by giving effect to all potential dilutive common
shares, including options, common stock subject to repurchase, warrants and convertible preferred stock.

The following table sets forth the computation of income (loss) per share:
 

   Year ended December 31,  
(in thousands, except per share data)   2007   2006   2005  
Net income (loss)   $ 14,798  $ (15,845)  $ (17,426)

             

Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic    68,020   26,977   9,401 
Dilutive effect of employee stock plans    5,224   —   — 

             

Weighted average common shares outstanding — diluted    73,244   26,977   9,401 
Basic net income (loss) per share   $ 0.22  $ (0.59)  $ (1.85)

             

Diluted net income (loss) per share   $ 0.20  $ (0.59)  $ (1.85)
             

The following weighted average outstanding options, common stock subject to repurchase, convertible preferred stock and convertible
preferred stock warrants were excluded from the computation of diluted net income (loss) per common share for the periods presented because
including them would have had an anti-dilutive effect:
 

   Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)   2007   2006   2005
Options to purchase common stock   3,440  5,343  3,840
Common stock subject to repurchase   —  2,372  4,273
Convertible preferred stock and warrants (as converted basis)   —  28,170  35,837
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3.    CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of highly liquid investments in time deposits held at major banks, commercial paper, United
States government agency discount notes, money market mutual funds and other money market securities with original maturities at the date of
purchase of 90 days or less. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2007 and 2006 was approximately $163.0 million
and $105.3 million, and the weighted average interest rates were 5.0% and 5.3%, respectively. The carrying value approximates fair value at
December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Marketable securities, which are classified as available for sale at December 31, 2007, are carried at fair value, with the unrealized gains
and losses reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Marketable securities consist of government sponsored enterprise
obligations and corporate bonds and notes. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the marketable securities are recorded at amortized cost which
approximates fair market value. All investments mature in one year or less.
 

   December 31, 2007  

(in thousands)   

Estimated
Fair

Value   

Gains in
Accumulated

Other
Comprehensive

Income   

Losses in
Accumulated

Other
Comprehensive

Income  
Current:       

Corporate bonds and notes   $ 29,197  $ 5  $ (23)
Government sponsored enterprise

obligations    53,906   13   (10)
             

Total marketable securities   $ 83,103  $ 18  $ (33)
             

   December 31, 2006  

(in thousands)   

Estimated
Fair

Value   

Gains in
Accumulated

Other
Comprehensive

Income   

Losses in
Accumulated

Other
Comprehensive

Income  
Current:       

Corporate bonds and notes   $ 3,999  $ —  $ — 
Government sponsored enterprise

obligations    —   —   — 
             

Total marketable securities   $ 3,999  $ —  $ — 
             

Proceeds from the sales of available-for-sale securities were $39.0 million and $0 in the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. There were no gross realized gains or losses recorded on those sales during 2007 and 2006, respectively. Net unrealized holding
losses on available-for-sale securities in the amount of $15,000 and $0 as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, have been included in
accumulated other comprehensive income.

We evaluate investments with unrealized losses to determine if the losses are other than temporary. The gross unrealized losses were
primarily due to changes in interest rates. We have determined that the gross unrealized losses at December 31, 2007 are temporary. In making
this
determination, we considered the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuers, the
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magnitude of the losses compared to the investments’ cost, the length of time the investments have been in an unrealized loss position and our
ability to hold the investment to maturity. Investments with unrealized losses have been in an unrealized loss position for less than a year.

Restricted Cash
Pursuant to certain lease agreements and as security for our merchant services agreement with our financial institution, we are required to

maintain cash reserves, classified as restricted cash. Current restricted cash totaled $142,000 and $121,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. Long-term restricted cash totaled $3.5 million and $1.5 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Long-term restricted
cash is included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets and consists primarily of funds held as collateral for letters of credit for the
security deposit on the leases of our corporate headquarters. The long-term restricted cash is restricted until the end of the lease terms on
August 30, 2010 and July 31, 2014.

4.    INVENTORY
Inventories consist primarily of hardware and related component parts and are stated at the lower of cost (on a first-in, first-out basis) or

market. Inventory is comprised of the following:
 

   December 31,
(in thousands)   2007   2006
Raw materials   $ 513  $ 320
Finished goods    8,900   7,132

        

Total   $ 9,413  $ 7,452
        

5.    FIXED ASSETS
Fixed assets are stated at cost. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective

assets, which is typically two to five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease
term or estimated useful life of the asset. Repair and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.
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Fixed assets consisted of the following:
 

   Estimated
Useful

Life

  December 31,  
(in thousands)     2007   2006  

Computer hardware and equipment   3 years  $ 10,191  $ 5,467 
Leasehold improvements   2-5 years   8,039   2,646 
Furniture and fixtures   3 years   3,796   965 
Software   2-5 years   3,552   1,411 

           

Total fixed assets      25,578   10,489 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization      (6,752)   (2,771)

           

Fixed assets, net     $ 18,826  $ 7,718 
           

6.    DEFERRED REVENUE
Deferred revenue consisted of the following:

 

   December 31,
(in thousands)   2007   2006
Product   $ 2,007  $ 2,895
Support and services    22,255   9,456
Ratable product and related support and services    2,583   4,486

        

Deferred revenue, current    26,845   16,837
        

Deferred revenue, non-current    6,634   2,245
        

Total deferred revenue   $ 33,479  $ 19,082
        

Deferred product revenue relates to arrangements where not all revenue recognition criteria have been met. Deferred support revenue
represents customer payments made in advance for annual support contracts. Support contracts are typically billed on a per annum basis in
advance and revenue is recognized ratably over the support period. Deferred ratable product and related support and services revenue consists of
deferred revenue on transactions where VSOE of fair value of support had not been established and the entire arrangement is being recognized
ratably over the support period. Deferred revenue, non-current consists primarily of customer payments made in advance for support contracts
with terms of more than 12 months.

7.    GUARANTEES
Our agreements with customers, as well as our reseller agreements, generally include certain provisions for indemnifying customers and

resellers and their affiliated parties against liabilities if our products infringe a third party’s intellectual property rights. To date, we have not incurred
any material costs as a result of such indemnifications and have not accrued any liabilities related to such obligations in our consolidated financial
statements.

As permitted or required under Delaware law and to the maximum extent allowable under that law, we have certain obligations to indemnify
our officers, directors and certain key employees for certain events or occurrences while the officer, director or employee is or was serving at our
request in such capacity. These indemnification obligations are valid as long as the director, officer or employee
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acted in good faith and in a manner the person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, with
respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. The maximum potential amount of future
payments we could be required to make under these indemnification obligations is unlimited; however, we have a director and officer insurance
policy that mitigates our exposure and enables us to recover a portion of any future amounts paid.

8.    LEASE COMMITMENTS
We lease our facilities under non-cancelable operating lease agreements. Future minimum commitments for these operating leases in

place as of December 31, 2007 with a remaining non-cancelable lease term in excess of one year are as follows:
 

(in thousands)   
December 31,

2007
2008   $ 4,698
2009    5,102
2010    4,689
2011    5,241
2012 and thereafter    11,508

    

Total   $ 31,238
    

The terms of certain lease agreements provide for rental payments on a graduated basis. We recognize rent expense on the straight-line
basis over the lease period and have accrued for rent expense incurred but not paid. Rent expense under operating leases was $5.3 million, $2.1
million, and $763,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

On September 26, 2006, we entered into an Agreement of Sublease, or Sublease, for new corporate headquarters, and on March 21, 2007
entered into another lease agreement to expand our corporate headquarters as well as extend the term of the existing Sublease mentioned above.
The terms of the leases are from February 1, 2007 and March 31, 2007, respectively, to July 31, 2014. The aggregate minimum lease commitment
for the combined leases is $21.3 million and is included in the table above. We have entered into two letters of credit totaling $3.0 million to serve
as security deposits for the leases, which is included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet.

On July 3, 2007, we entered into a lease agreement for office space in Sunnyvale, California. The term of the lease is for five years and
seven months commencing on January 1, 2008. The aggregate minimum lease commitment is $4.7 million and is reflected in the table above. On
July 2, 2007, we entered into a letter of credit in the amount of $500,000 to serve as the security deposit for the lease.

9.    COMMON STOCK
In July 2002, our board of directors adopted the 2002 Stock Plan, or 2002 Plan. In September 2006, all shares of common stock available

for grant under the 2002 Plan transferred to the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, or 2006 Plan.
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In April and May 2006, our board of directors approved the 2006 Plan, the Purchase Plan and the 2006 Director Stock Option Plan, which
became effective upon our IPO.

The Plans provide for automatic replenishments as follows:
 

 �  2006 Plan—increased on January 1 of each year for five years, beginning in 2007, by a number equal to the lesser of (i) 4,000,000
shares or (ii) 5% of the shares of common stock outstanding at that time or (iii) the number of shares determined by the Board.

 

 �  2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan—increased on January 1 of each year by a number of shares equal to the lesser of (i) 750,000
shares or (ii) 1% of the shares of common stock outstanding at that time or (iii) the number of shares determined by the Board.

 

 �  2006 Director Option Plan—increased on January 1 of each year by 250,000 shares.

Options issued under our stock option plans are generally for periods not to exceed 10 years and are issued at the fair value of the shares
of common stock on the date of grant as determined by the Board of Directors. Following the IPO, the fair value of our common stock is
determined by the last sale price of such stock on the Nasdaq Global Market. Options typically either vest with respect to 25% of the shares one
year after the options’ vesting commencement date and the remainder ratably on a monthly basis over the following three years, or ratably on a
monthly basis over four years. Options granted under the 2002 Plan prior to May 31, 2006 have a maximum term of ten years. Beginning May 31,
2006, options granted under the 2002 Plan had a maximum term of seven years. Options granted under the 2006 Plan had a maximum term of
seven years and options granted under the 2006 Director Option Plan had a maximum term of 10 years. Prior to March 28, 2006, employees in
the United States had the right to exercise their options granted under the 2002 Plan prior to vesting. For options granted beginning March 28,
2006, optionees may only exercise vested shares. Any unvested stock issued under the 2002 Plan is subject to repurchase by us. Grants made
pursuant to the 2006 Plan do not provide for the early exercise of options.

The Purchase Plan became effective on the effective date of the registration statement relating to our IPO. Under the Purchase Plan,
employees may purchase shares of common stock through payroll deductions at a price per share that is 85% of the lesser of the fair market
value of our common stock as of the beginning of an applicable offering period or the applicable purchase date, with purchases generally every six
months. Employees’ payroll deductions may not exceed 15% of their compensation. Employees may purchase up to 2,000 shares per purchase
period provided that the value of the shares purchased in any calendar year does not exceed IRS regulations. As of December 31, 2007,
1,428,033 shares were available under the Purchase Plan.
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding:
 

(in thousands, except per share amounts)   
Shares

Available  
Options

Outstanding  

Weighted
Average Exercise
Price Per Share

Balance, December 31, 2004   646  1,181  $ 0.08
Additional options authorized   4,613  —   —
Granted   (5,407)  5,407  $ 0.66
Exercised   —  (3,652)  $ 0.26
Repurchased   203  —  $ 0.09
Canceled   138  (138)  $ 0.19

        

Balance, December 31, 2005   193  2,798  $ 0.96
Additional options authorized   7,315  —   —
Granted   (4,832)  4,832  $ 8.75
Exercised    (254)  $ 0.84
Repurchased   325  —  
Canceled   332  (332)  $ 3.73

        

Balance, December 31, 2006   3,333  7,044  $ 6.18
Additional options authorized   3,559  —   —
Granted   (5,780)  5,780  $ 34.97
Exercised   —  (1,531)  $ 3.30
Repurchased   —  —  
Canceled   458  (458)  $ 20.13

        

Balance, December 31, 2007   1,570  10,835  $ 21.36
        

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at December 31, 2007 was $0.05 to $48.50.
 

Range of Exercise Price   

Options
Outstanding as
of December 31,

2007   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual Life  

Weighted
Average Exercise
Price Per Share   

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

   (in thousands)   (in years)      (in thousands)
$0.05   – $0.60   783  7.30  $ 0.40  
$0.61   – $5.75   1,468  7.78  $ 3.42  
$5.76   – $16.72   2,452  5.83  $ 6.61  
$16.73 – $34.12   4,402  6.37  $ 30.63  
$34.13 – $48.50   1,730  6.57  $ 43.38  

         

$0.05   – $48.50   10,835  6.54  $ 21.36  $ 105,213
         

Exercisable   2,830  6.44  $ 7.25  $ 57,049
Vested and expected to vest   9,644  6.43  $ 21.26  $ 94,323

The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying stock option awards and the
closing price of our common stock at December 31, 2007. During the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, the aggregate intrinsic value of
stock option awards exercised was $50.0 million and $1.5 million, determined at the date of option exercise.
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The per share weighted-average fair value and exercise price of options granted in the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as
follows:
 

   

Year ended
December 31,

2007   

Year ended
December 31,

2006
Weighted-average fair value:     
Options granted below reassessed value   $ —  $ 4.79
Options granted equal to reassessed value   $ —  $ 10.46
Options granted equal to market price   $ 17.54  $ —
Weighted-average exercise price:     
Options granted below reassessed value   $ —  $ 5.72
Options granted equal to reassessed value   $ —  $ 19.19
Options granted equal to market price   $ 34.97  $ —

At December 31, 2007 and 2006 there were 1,088,000 and 2,372,000 shares, respectively, subject to repurchase under common stock
repurchase agreements. The cash received from the sale of these shares is initially recorded as a liability and is subsequently reclassified to
common stock as the shares vest. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, there was $346,000 and $659,000, respectively, recorded in accrued
liabilities and other long-term liabilities related to the issuance of these shares.

The following table shows the shares issued and the weighted average purchase price per share under the Purchase Plan for the year
ended December 31, 2007:
 

(shares in thousands)    
Purchase date   April 30, 2007
Shares issued   373
Weighted average purchase price per share   $  8.29
Purchase date   October 31, 2007
Shares issued   361
Weighted average purchase price per share   $10.09

The total intrinsic value of stock option purchases for the year ended December 31, 2007 was $17.4 million.

10.    INCOME TAXES
A geographical breakdown of income before provision for income taxes is shown in the following table:

 

   Year ended December 31,  
(in thousands)   2007   2006   2005  
Domestic   $ 23,340  $ (16,362)  $ (17,077)
Foreign    (3,307)   820   (14)

             

Total   $ 20,033  $ (15,542)  $ (17,091)
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The provision for income tax expense consists of the following:
 

   Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)   2007   2006   2005
Current:       
Federal   $ 4,177  $ —  $ —
State    768   —   —
Foreign    290   303   55

            

Total Current   $ 5,235  $ 303  $ 55
            

Deferred:       
Federal   $ —  $ —  $ —
State    —   —   —
Foreign    —   —   —

            

Total Deferred   $ —  $ —  $ —
            

Total Provision   $ 5,235  $ 303  $ 55
            

For the year ended December 31, 2007, our effective tax rate was 26.1%. In 2006 and 2005, we had negative effective tax rates due to
book losses. We have not provided U.S. taxes for our foreign earnings because such earnings are intended to be indefinitely reinvested outside
the U.S.

The reconciliation of federal statutory income tax to our effective income tax is as follows:
 

   Year ended December 31,  
(in thousands)   2007   2006   2005  
Expected provision at federal statutory rate*   $ 7,011  $ (5,284)  $ (5,907)
State taxes, net of federal benefit    521   (928)   (1,014)
Stock-based compensation expense    2,705   3,134   513 
Change in valuation allowance    (5,054)   3,751   6,663 
Research and development tax credits    (1,534)   (830)   (418)
Non-deductible expenses    137   327   237 
Foreign rate differential    1,449   24   (19)
Other (net)    —   109   — 

             

Total   $ 5,235  $ 303  $ 55 
             

 
*35% for 2007, 34% for 2005-2006.
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The components of the current and deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following:
 

   December 31,  
(in thousands)   2007   2006  
Current deferred tax assets:    
Other accrued liabilities and reserves   $ 1,297  $ 1,165 
Deferred revenue    231   168 
Deferred compensation    719   423 
Valuation allowance    (2,247)   (1,756)

         

Total Current   $ —  $ — 
         

Non-current deferred tax assets:    
Depreciation and amortization   $ 858  $ 148 
Deferred compensation    5,121   531 
Net operating losses    185   11,812 
Credit carryforwards    2,016   1,757 
Other accrued liabilities and reserves    1,615   359 
Valuation allowance    (9,795)   (14,607)

         

Total non-current   $ —  $ — 
         

As of December 31, 2007, we had net operating loss carryforwards for federal, state and foreign income tax purposes of $15.1 million,
$16.9 million and $3.7 million, respectively. We also had federal and state research and development tax credit carryforwards of approximately
$2.9 million and $2.8 million, respectively.

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, if any, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. Accordingly, the
net deferred tax assets were fully offset by a valuation allowance. If not utilized, the federal and state net operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards will expire between 2013 and 2026 while the foreign net operating losses do not expire. Due to prior changes in ownership in 2002
and 2003, we have approximately $425,000 and $393,000 of federal and state net operating losses carryforwards which are subject to an annual
limitation on utilization. In addition, we also have approximately $152,000 and $146,000 of federal and state research and development tax credit
carryforwards, which are subject to an annual limitation.

We track the portion of our federal and state net operating loss carryforwards attributable to stock option benefits in a separate memo
account pursuant to SFAS 123(R). Therefore, these amounts are no longer included in gross or net deferred tax assets. Pursuant to SFAS 123(R),
footnote 82, the benefit of these net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards will only be recorded to equity when they reduce cash taxes
payable. We elected to use the “with-and-without” approach for utilizing the tax benefits of stock option exercises under SFAS 123(R). These
benefits would result in a credit to additional paid-in-capital when they reduce income taxes payable. We recognized a reduction in taxes payable
for the tax benefit of stock option exercises during 2007 of $4.3 million.
 

78

Source: Riverbed Technology,, 10-K, February 15, 2008



Table of Contents
RIVERBED TECHNOLOGY, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
 

Uncertain Income Tax Positions
Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted FIN 48. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of the consolidated liability for

unrecognized income tax benefits during the year is as follows:
 

(in thousands)   2007
Balance at January 1, 2007   $ —
Additions for tax positions of prior years    298
Additions for tax positions related to 2007    —
Reductions for tax positions of prior year    —
Settlements    —

    

Balance at December 31, 2007   $ 298
    

Included in the unrecognized tax benefits of $298,000 at December 31, 2007 was approximately $242,000 of tax benefits that, if
recognized, would reduce our annual effective tax rate. We did not accrue for any interest and penalty associated with the uncertain tax position.
We do not expect our unrecognized tax benefits to change significantly over the next 12 months. The statute of limitations for federal, state, and
UK tax purposes are generally three, four, and three years respectively; however, we continue to carryover tax attributes prior to these periods for
federal and state purposes, which would still be open for examination by the respective tax authorities. All years since our inception are open to
tax examinations.

11.    SEGMENT INFORMATION
FASB Statement No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, establishes standards for reporting

information about operating segments. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial
information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or decision making group, in deciding how to allocate
resources and in assessing performance. Our chief operating decision maker is our Chief Executive Officer. Our Chief Executive Officer reviews
financial information presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by information about revenue by geographic region for purposes of
allocating resources and evaluating financial performance. We have one business activity and there are no segment managers who are held
accountable for operations, operating results and plans for levels or components below the consolidated unit level. Accordingly, we are considered
to be in a single reporting segment and operating unit structure.

Revenue by geography is based on the billing address of the customer. The following table sets forth revenue and long-lived assets by
geographic area:

Revenue
 

   Year ended December 31,
(in thousands)   2007   2006   2005
Domestic revenue   $ 148,171  $ 65,675  $ 18,866
International revenue    88,235   24,532   4,075

            

Total revenue   $ 236,406  $ 90,207  $ 22,941
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Long-lived Assets
 

   As of December 31,
(in thousands)   2007   2006
Domestic long-lived assets   $ 17,805  $ 7,509
International long-lived assets    1,021   209

        

Total long-lived assets   $ 18,826  $ 7,718
        

12.    EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN
We have a 401(k) plan covering all eligible employees. We are not required to contribute to the plan and have made no contributions

through December 31, 2007.

13.    LEGAL MATTERS
On October 9, 2007, Quantum Corporation served us with a lawsuit, filed in the United States District Court, Northern District of California,

alleging patent infringement of United States Patent No. 5,990,810 (the “‘810 patent”). Quantum seeks unspecified damages and injunctive relief.

On November 13, 2007, we counterclaimed against Quantum Corporation and served Quantum with a lawsuit, filed in the United States
District Court, Northern District of California, alleging patent infringement of United States Patent No. 7,116,249. Trial on our claim against
Quantum is currently scheduled to begin February 2, 2009.

On January 9, 2008, we moved to dismiss Quantum’s complaint for infringement in the United States District Court, Northern District of
California, for lack of standing. Our motion was granted by the Court on February 4, 2008.

On January 9, 2008, we filed an action in the United States District Court, Delaware, against Quantum and certain of its subsidiaries
seeking a declaratory judgment of non-infringement and invalidity with respect to the ‘810 patent.

On or about February 13, 2008, Quantum filed a lawsuit against us in the United States District Court, Northern District of California,
alleging patent infringement of United States Patent No. 6,622,164 (the “‘164 Patent”). We have not yet been served with this lawsuit.

On February 14, 2008, Quantum moved to dismiss our complaint in the United States District Court, Delaware or, in the alternative, to
transfer the action to the United States District Court, Northern District of California. In addition, Quantum moved for leave to file an amended
counterclaim in the United States District Court, Northern District of California to add claims for infringement of the ‘810 Patent and the ‘164
Patent.

We believe that Quantum’s actions against us are without merit and we intend to vigorously defend against these claims. We currently are
unable to estimate the possible loss or range of loss associated with these actions.

From time to time, we are involved in various legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. There are
no other currently pending legal proceedings at December 31,
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2007 that, in the opinion of management, might have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

14.    RELATED PARTIES
For the year ended December 31, 2007, we recognized $787,000 of revenue from a customer who, as of December 31, 2007, held

approximately 10% of our stock. As of December 31, 2007, we had accounts receivable from this customer of approximately $559,000.

15.    NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, which defines fair value, establishes a framework for

measuring fair value and expands fair value measurement disclosures. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007.
We are currently evaluating the impact of the pending adoption of SFAS 157 on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, including an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 , which allows an entity the irrevocable option to elect fair value for the initial and subsequent
measurement for certain financial assets and liabilities under an instrument-by-instrument election. Subsequent measurements for the financial
assets and liabilities an entity elects to fair value will be recognized in earnings. SFAS 159 also establishes additional disclosure requirements.
SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, with early adoption permitted provided that the entity also adopts SFAS
157. We are currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of SFAS 159 on our consolidated financial statements.

In June 2007, the FASB ratified EITF 07-3, Accounting for Non-Refundable Advance Payments for Goods or Services Received for Use in
Future Research and Development Activities. EITF 07-3 requires that non-refundable advance payments for goods or services that will be used or
rendered for future research and development activities be deferred and capitalized and recognized as an expense as the goods are delivered or
the related services are performed. EITF 07-3 is effective, on a prospective basis, for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007. We are
currently evaluating the impact of the pending adoption of EITF 07-3 on our consolidated financial statements.
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Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
There have been no disagreements with accountants on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or

auditing scope or procedures required to be reported under this item.

 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
(a.) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting as defined in Rules

13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any internal control, including the possibility
of human error and the circumvention or overriding of controls. Accordingly, even any effective internal control can provide only reasonable
assurance with respect to financial statement preparation. Further, because of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of any internal control may
vary over time.

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. In making this assessment, management used the framework set forth by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework.

Based on our assessment, using those criteria, our management concluded that, as of December 31, 2007, our internal control over
financial reporting was effective.
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(b.) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our most recent fiscal quarter that has materially

affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

(c.) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Based on our management’s evaluation (with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer), as of

December 31, 2007, the end of the period covered by this report, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or the Exchange Act) were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules
and forms and is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

 

Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Riverbed’s Proxy Statement for its 2008 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007.

 

Item 11. Executive Compensation
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Riverbed’s Proxy Statement for its 2008 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007.

 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Riverbed’s Proxy Statement for its 2008 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007.

 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Riverbed’s Proxy Statement for its 2008 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007.

 

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Riverbed’s Proxy Statement for its 2008 Annual Meeting of

Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007.
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Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Financial Statements
The financial statements filed as part of this report are listed on the index to financial statements on page 52.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules
The following financial statement schedule is filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

SCHEDULE II
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

 

  
Beginning

balance  

Additions
charged to
operations Write-offs  

Ending
balance

  (in thousands)
Trade receivables allowance     

Year ended December 31, 2005  $ 31 $ 75 $ (16)  $ 90
             

Year ended December 31, 2006  $ 90 $ 474 $ (92)  $ 472
             

Year ended December 31, 2007  $ 472 $ 461 $ (199)  $ 734
             

All other schedules are omitted because they are not required or the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes
thereto.

(c) Exhibits
The following exhibits are incorporated by reference or filed herewith.

 

Exhibit No.  Description

3.1
  

Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No.
333-133437).

3.2
  

Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 of Registrant’s Form 8-K Registration No.
001-33023, filed with the SEC on December 3, 2007).

4.1  Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2.
4.2

  
Form of Common Stock certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No.

333-133437).
4.3

  

Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated February 10, 2006, by and among the Registrant and the
investors listed on the signature pages thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of Registrant’s Form S-1
Registration No. 333-133437).

10.1
  

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and each of its directors, executive officers and certain key
employees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437).
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Exhibit No.  Description

10.2  
  

Riverbed Technology, Inc. 2002 Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration
No. 333-133437). *

10.3  
  

Form of 2002 Stock Plan Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Registrant’s Form S-1
Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.4  
  

Form of 2002 Stock Plan Stock Option Agreement (Officers and Key Employees) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of
Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.5  
  

2006 Equity Incentive Plan and form of agreement thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Registrant’s Form
S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.6  
  

2006 Director Option Plan and forms of agreements thereunder (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of Registrant’s
Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.7  
  

2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No.
333-133437). *

10.8  
  

Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement, dated May 12, 2005, with Steven McCanne (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.24 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.9  
  

Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement, dated May 12, 2005, with Jerry Kennelly (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.27 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.10
  

Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement, dated March 16, 2005, with Stanley J. Meresman (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.31 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.11
  

Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement, dated March 28, 2006, with Michael R. Kourey (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.32 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.12
  

Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement, dated April 12, 2006, with Michael R. Kourey (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.33 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.13
  

Form of 2002 Stock Plan Stock Option Agreement (Installment Vesting) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 of
Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.14
  

Form of 2002 Stock Plan Stock Option Agreement (Officers and Key Employees) (Installment Vesting) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.35 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.15
  

Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement, dated May 1, 2006, with Steven McCanne (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.36 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.16
  

Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement, dated May 1, 2006, with Jerry Kennelly (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.37 of Registrant’s Form S-1 Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.17

  

Form of Equity Incentive Plan Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.42 of Registrant’s Quarterly Report on

    Form 10-Q, Registration No. 001-33023, filed with the SEC on July 30, 2007). *

10.18

  

Riverbed Technology, Inc. Management Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 of Registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, Registration

    No. 001-33023, filed with the SEC on July 30, 2007). *
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Exhibit No.  Description

10.19
  

Form of 2006 Director Option Plan Notice of Stock Option Grant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 of Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Registration No. 001-33023, filed with the SEC on October 25, 2007). *

10.20
  

Offer Letter with David M. Peranich, dated July 7, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 of Registrant’s Form S-1
Registration No. 333-133437). *

10.21
  

Agreement of Sublease dated September 26, 2006 between PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and the Registrant (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 2, 2006).

10.22
  

Lease agreement for 199 Fremont Street dated March 21, 2007 between GLL Fremont Street Partners, Inc. and the
Registrant.

10.23

  

Lease agreement dated June 28, 2007 between W2005 RPS Realty, L.L.C. and the Registrant (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.44 of Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Registration No. 001-33023, filed with the SEC on July 30,
2007)

21.1    List of subsidiaries.
23.1    Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
31.1    Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
31.2    Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
32.1    Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

The certification attached as Exhibit 32.1 that accompanies this Annual Report on Form 10-K is not deemed filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Riverbed Technology, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933 or
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whether made before or after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, irrespective of any general
incorporation language contained in such filing.
 

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on February 14, 2008.
 

RIVERBED TECHNOLOGY, INC.

By:  /S/    JERRY M. KENNELLY

 
Jerry M. Kennelly,
President and Chief Executive Officer

RIVERBED TECHNOLOGY, INC.

By:  /S/    RANDY S. GOTTFRIED

 
Randy S. Gottfried,
Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Signature  Title  Date

/s/    JERRY M. KENNELLY

Jerry M. Kennelly  

President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer)  

February 14, 2008

/s/    RANDY S. GOTTFRIED

Randy S. Gottfried  

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  

February 14, 2008

/s/    STEVEN MCCANNE

Steven McCanne  

Director
 

February 14, 2008

/s/    MARK A. FLOYD

Mark A. Floyd  

Director
 

February 14, 2008

/s/    MICHAEL R. KOUREY

Michael R. Kourey  

Director
 

February 14, 2008

/s/    STANLEY J. MERESMAN

Stanley J. Meresman  

Director
 

February 14, 2008

/s/    CHRISTOPHER J. SCHAEPE

Christopher J. Schaepe  

Director
 

February 14, 2008

/s/    JAMES R. SWARTZ

James R. Swartz  

Director
 

February 14, 2008
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199 FREMONT BUILDING

OFFICE LEASE FORM
 

Premises:   199 Fremont Street, San Francisco, CA, 94105, Floors 5-8

Landlord:   GLL FREMONT STREET PARTNERS, a California partnership

Tenant:   RIVERBED TECHNOLOGY, INC., a Delaware corporation

Source: Riverbed Technology,, 10-K, February 15, 2008
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FREMONT PROPERTIES

OFFICE LEASE FORM

THIS LEASE, between the parties named below as Landlord and Tenant, is dated March 21, 2007, for reference purposes only.

 
1. SALIENT LEASE TERMS AND DEFINITIONS
 

1.1 Rent Payment Address:   c/o Fremont Properties

   
50 Fremont Street, Suite 3500
San Francisco, CA 94105

1.2 Parties and Notice Address:   Landlord:

   GLL FREMONT STREET PARTNERS, INC.

   
1981 North Broadway, Suite 330
Walnut Creek, CA 94596

   Attn: Asset Manager,
   199 Fremont Street Building

   Tenant:

   
RIVERBED TECHNOLOGY, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

   Tenant’s Notice Address shall be:

   
199 Fremont Street
San Francisco, CA 94105

1.3 Premises:   1.3.1   Name and Location of Facility where the Building is located:

     

199 Fremont Street, including its underground parking garage and the adjoining sidewalks and plaza,
(specifically including the third floor, of the “Marine Electric Building” as defined in Subsection
2.2.1 below, which third floor is Common Area but specifically excluding the first and second floors
of such building).
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1.3.2

  
Street Address of Building: 199 Fremont Street,
San Francisco, CA 94105

     
(a)

  
Phase I Premises: the leaseable areas located
on the eighth (8th) floor of the Building.

     
(b)

  
Phase II Premises: the leaseable areas located
on the 5th, 6th and 7th floors of the Building.

     The Phase I Premises and Phase II Premises are sometimes referred to herein as the “Premises”.

   
1.3.3

  
Approximate number of rentable square feet (“RSF”), calculated in accordance with the BOMA
standard method of measurement (ANSI Z65.1-1996), of:

     (a)   The 8th Floor: 20,809 RSF.

     (b)   The 5th Floor: 21,266 RSF.

     (c)   The 6th Floor: 21,266 RSF.

     (d)   The 7th Floor: 21,266 RSF.

     (e)   The Premises: 84,607 RSF.

     (f)   The Building: 394,664 RSF.

1.4
 

Term:
  

1.4.1
    

Phase I Premises: a period of eighty-four (84) months, commencing on the “Phase I Premises
Effective Date” of August 1, 2007.

   
1.4.2

    
Phase II Premises: a period of forty-seven (47)months, commencing on the “Phase II Premises
Effective Date” of September 1, 2010.

   1.4.3     Expiration Date: July 31, 2014.
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1.5 Rent:   1.5.1   Minimum Annual Rent:

     (a)   Phase I Premises:

       

8/1/07 - 7/30/08: $36.00 per RSF.
8/1/08 - 7/30/09: $37.00 per RSF.
8/1/09 - 7/30/10: $38.00 per RSF.
8/1/10 - 7/30/11: $39.00 per RSF.
8/1/11 - 7/30/12: $40.00 per RSF.
8/1/12 - 7/30/13: $41.00 per RSF.
8/1/13 - 7/30/14: $42.00 per RSF.

     (b)   Phase II Premises:

       

9/1/10 - 12/31/10: $43.50 per RSF.
1/1/11 - 12/31/12: $45.50 per RSF.
1/1/13 - 7/30/14: $47.50 per RSF.

     

plus Tenant’s “Electrical Component” which shall mean and refer to (i) Tenant’s use of electricity
within the Premises and (ii) Tenant’s Percentage Share of the cost of all other electricity utilized in the
Facility outside of space demised to third party tenants of the Facility (specifically including the
Common Area variable portion of the electricity which shall be grossed up to 95% occupancy).

   
1.5.2

  
Storage Rent: In addition, Tenant will pay $24.00 per usable square foot of Storage Space per year in
equal monthly installments, pursuant to Section 7 below, as “Storage Rent”.

1.6

 

Letter of Credit:

  

Tenant shall provide Landlord with an irrevocable letter of credit in the amount of $2,120,000.00 for the
Lease Term, $ 1,600,000 to be delivered upon execution of the lease and the balance of $520,000.00 to be
delivered no later than November 30, 2009, as set forth in Subsection 5.5 below.

1.7 Permitted Uses:   The Premises shall be used for the uses permitted in Subsection 3.1.

1.8 Tenant’s Percentage Share:   Twenty-One and forty-four one-hundredths percent (21.44%).

   1.8.1   Phase I Premises: 5.27%

   1.8.2   Phase II Premises: 16.17%
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1.9

 

Base Years:

  

The Base Expense Year for Operating Expenses shall be calendar year 2007 for the Phase I Premises and
2010 for the Phase II Premises, and the Base Tax Year shall be calendar year 2007 for the Phase I Premises
and 2010 for the Phase II Premises.

1.10 Landlord’s Broker:   Cornish & Carey Commercial, Inc.

 Tenant’s Broker:   NAIBT Commercial

1.11

 

Tenant’s Parking Privileges:

  

Tenant shall have the right to rent one (1) stall per five thousand (5,000) RSF leased within the Building’s
parking facility. Tenant may enter into a direct contract with the Building’s parking facility operator for
additional spaces, if available.

1.12
 

Contents:
  

This Lease consists of: Sections 1 through 55, plus the Exhibits listed on the Table of Contents page attached
to this Lease.

1.13

 

Options to Extend:

  

Tenant shall have the right to extend the Term of this Lease for two (2) additional periods of five (5) years
each upon twelve (12) months’ prior written notice and pursuant to the provisions of Section 52 of this
Lease.

 
2. LEASE OF PREMISES.

2.1 Demising Clause.

2.1.1 Landlord hereby leases to Tenant, and Tenant hires from Landlord, effective on the respective “Effective Dates” for the Phase I Premises and
Phase II Premises as stated in Subsection 1.4 above, the Premises, together with the nonexclusive right to the use and enjoyment of the “Base Building Systems”
(i.e., the mechanical, electrical, plumbing, life-safety and sprinkler systems of the Building) and the “Common Area” for the entire Term. “Common Area” shall
mean and refer to the exercise room, parking facilities, walkways, elevators, stairwells, multi-tenant floor corridors, multi-tenant floor bathrooms, multi-tenant
floor corridor fountains, multi-tenant floor corridor elevator lobbies, lobbies, plazas, landscaped areas, driveways serving the Building and located at the Facility
and other common facilities designated by Landlord from time to time for the common use of all tenants of the Building, and the day care facility and exercise
room described in Section 54 below. Notwithstanding that the day care facility is a part of the Common Area, Landlord may charge Tenant reasonable and
uniform fees for the use of the day care facility. Said letting and hiring are upon and subject to the terms, covenants, and conditions set forth in this Lease,
including the “Salient Lease Terms” in Section 1 and the attached exhibits. This Lease is made upon the condition of such performance.

2.1.2 Landlord reserves to Landlord the areas beneath and above the Premises and the use thereof together with the right to install, maintain, use,
repair and replace pipes, ducts, conduits, wires, and structural elements leading through the Premises and serving other parts of the Facility, so long as Landlord’s
use of such areas is in compliance with the provisions of Section 22 below.
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2.1.3 Landlord reserves the right to effect such other tenancies in the Building as Landlord may elect in its sole business judgment; provided,
however, that any retail leases for the first floor of the Building must not be inconsistent with the types of uses permitted by landlords of Comparable Buildings.

2.1.4 Tenant may use any fire stairwells for circulation within the Premises to the extent that Tenant pays for any costs associated with such use in
excess of costs Landlord would have incurred but for such use and Tenant complies with all Laws (as such term is defined in Subsection 3.3 below).

2.2 Description. As used herein, the following capitalized terms shall have the indicated meanings:

2.2.1 The “Facility” shall mean that certain real property (including the high-rise office building and the land on which such building and plaza area
are situated (specifically including, if the day care center described in Section 54 is located on the third floor of that certain building located at 356 Howard Street
and commonly known as the “Marine Electric Building,” as Common Area, the third floor of the Marine Electric Building, and an undivided one-third
(1/3) interest in the land under the Marine Electric Building [but specifically excluding the first and second floors of the Marine Electric Building and an
undivided two-thirds (2/3) interest in the land under the Marine Electric Building]; or, if the day care center is located elsewhere, the area used for the day care
center and an equitable proportion of the land on which the day care center is located), the Building and Common Areas) owned by Landlord and described in
Exhibit A-l attached hereto, said real property being described in Subsection 1.3.1 above.

2.2.2 The “Premises” shall mean that certain space located in the Building and described in Section 1.3.2 above and delineated on Exhibit A-2
attached hereto, which space will consist of the amount of rentable square footage specified in said Section 1.3.3.

2.2.3 The “Building” shall mean that certain building which is a part of the Facility and located at the address described in Subsection 1.3.2 above.

2.2.4 The “Term” shall mean, with respect to the Phase I Premises and the Phase II Premises, the period commencing upon the respective Effective
Dates (as defined in Subsection 1.4 above) and ending on the Expiration Date (as defined in Subsection 1.4 above), subject to the provisions of this Lease
concerning extensions. As used in this Lease, the term “Commencement Date” shall mean and refer, as applicable, to the respective Effective Dates of the Phase
I Premises and Phase II Premises.

2.3 Delivery of Premises. The Premises shall be delivered to Tenant in “AS IS” condition, pursuant to the provisions of this Subsection 2.3.

2.3.1 The Phase I Premises shall be delivered to Tenant upon the full execution and delivery of this Lease. As contemplated by the provisions of
Subsection 2.1 of Exhibit B, during such early access by Tenant to the Premises, Tenant shall be subject to the all of the terms and conditions of this Lease,
except for payment of Minimum Monthly Rent and Operating Expenses, provided that Tenant shall be obligated to pay all electricity costs during such early
entry period.

2.3.2 The Phase II Premises shall be delivered to Tenant on the Phase II Premises Effective Date. The parties acknowledge that Tenant is in
possession of the Phase II Premises as of the date of execution and delivery of this Lease pursuant to a sublease agreement by and between Tenant and
PricewaterhouseCoopers dated September 26, 2006 (the “Sublease”).
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3. USES.

3.1 Permitted Uses. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the Premises shall be used only for general office uses. Tenant shall not use the
Premises for any other use or purpose besides those permitted under this Subsection 3.1, except upon Landlord’s prior written consent, which shall not be
unreasonably withheld; provided, however, that it shall be reasonable for Landlord to withhold its consent to the extent such use is unrelated to the Permitted
Uses, is inconsistent with the character of Class A high-rise office building in the San Francisco Financial District which are perceived in the marketplace to be
similar to the Facility, taking into account the size, age, quality, tenant-mix, and location within the sub-areas of the Financial District of the Facility and other
high-rise office buildings, as such market perception may change over time, depending upon future development in downtown San Francisco (“Comparable
Buildings”) or materially interferes with the use of the Building by other tenants or occupants thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall be permitted
to use portions of the Premises for a kitchen or kitchenette, food vending machines, a printing center, conference centers and presentation centers.

3.2 Restriction on Use. Without limitation to the generality of the foregoing use restriction, Tenant specifically covenants and agrees that it shall not (a) do,
bring, or keep, or permit to be done, brought, or kept, anything in or about the Premises that will in any way (i) adversely interfere with the access or other rights
of any other tenants or occupants of the Facility or injure or annoy them, (ii) cause a weight load or stress on the floor or any other portion of the Premises in
excess of the weight load or stress that the floor or other portion of the Premises is designed to bear without Landlord’s reasonable approval, (iii) cause or
threaten a cancellation of any fire or other insurance upon the Building or its contents (as evidenced by one or more letters from Landlord’s insurance company),
or (b) use the Premises, or allow them to be used, for any residential or disreputable purpose; (c) sublease any portion of the Premises, or otherwise transfer
occupancy, to a governmental agency or related entity unless Landlord has entered into a direct lease with a similar agency or entity that is effective as of the date
of Tenant’s proposed transfer of the Premises, or (d) commit or suffer to be committed any waste in or upon the Premises or the Facility.

3.3 Compliance with Laws.

3.3.1 Landlord’s Responsibilities. Throughout the Term, Landlord shall maintain and operate the Facility in compliance with Laws and be
responsible (subject to the provisions of Section 24 below and subject to reimbursement in accordance with Subsection 6.3.1 below) for any additional work
required to cause the Facility (including the Common Areas, Base Building Systems and the restrooms) to so comply.

3.3.2 Tenant’s Responsibilities. Tenant shall be responsible for any work of construction within the Premises required to cause the Premises to
comply during the Lease Term with all applicable and future laws, statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes, licenses, permits, certificates of occupancy,
orders, decrees, directives, judgments, approvals, plans, authorizations, and similar items of any local, state, or federal governmental or quasi-governmental
authority (collectively, “Laws,” or individually, a “Law”) that impose any duty upon Landlord or Tenant with respect to the condition, use, occupancy, or
alteration of the Premises, including, but not limited to, any required changes to the structural elements of the Premises such as interior stairwells and floor
shoring, elevator lobbies, corridors, and drinking fountains. Without limiting the generality of the forgoing definition, the parties expressly acknowledge that the
term “Laws” shall include all Environmental Requirements (as defined below) and all Laws relating to the rights of individuals with disabilities. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, Tenant shall not be required to make any changes to the Base Building Systems or structural elements of the Facility, except to the extent the same
are caused or triggered by (a) Tenant’s unique and specific use
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of the Premises for other than general office purposes, or (b) Tenant’s extraordinary and unique employees or extraordinary and unique employment practices
(which specifically require such Base Building changes). Any such compliance with Laws that is not Tenant’s responsibility pursuant to the foregoing shall be
performed by Landlord (as part of Operating Expenses to the extent allowable in Section 6 hereof), but only to the extent then required under applicable Laws to
permit Tenant to use the Premises for general office purposes in a normal and customary manner or prevent cancellation of insurance of Tenant. The parties
hereto shall immediately furnish to the other party any notices such party receives from any insurance company or governmental agency or inspection bureau
where action is required of the other party regarding any unsafe or unlawful conditions within the Premises.

 
4. INTENTIONALLY DELETED.

 
5. RENT.

5.1 Minimum Monthly Rent. Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as “Minimum Monthly Rent” for the Premises, the amount specified in Subsection 1.1.5 above.
Payments of Minimum Monthly Rent shall be made in advance, on or before the first day of each calendar month during the entire Term,

5.2 Definition of Rent; Prorations. Any and all payments of Minimum Monthly Rent, directly metered costs of Tenant’s electricity (only if such amounts
are owed to Landlord and not to a utility company), Tenant’s Percentage Share of all other electricity utilized in the Facility outside of space demised to
third-party tenants (specifically including the Common Area variable portion of the electricity which shall be grossed up to 95% occupancy), and any and all
taxes, assessments, fees, charges, costs, expenses, insurance obligations, late charges, Operating Expenses, and all other payments or reimbursements that are
attributable to, payable by or the responsibility of Tenant under this Lease (including, without limitation, charges for any “above-building-standard services”
requested by Tenant or Tenant’s authorized representatives from time to time) shall constitute “Rent” for all purposes of this Lease and any applicable unlawful
detainer statute. Any Rent payable to Landlord by Tenant for any fractional month shall be prorated based upon the actual number of days in such calendar
month.

5.3 Place and Manner of Payment. All Rent shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord in lawful money of the United States of America at Landlord’s address set
forth in Subsection 1.1.1 above, or to such other person or at such other place as Landlord may from time to time reasonably designate in writing. All payments
of Minimum Monthly Rent shall be payable without prior notice or demand and all payments of Rent shall be paid except as otherwise expressly provided herein,
without deduction, setoff or counterclaim for any reason whatsoever. Payments made by check must be drawn either on a financial institution in the state where
the Facility is located or on a financial institution that is a member of the federal reserve system.

5.4 Late Charges. Tenant acknowledges that the late payment of Rent will cause Landlord to incur damages, the exact amount of which would be
impractical and extremely difficult to ascertain. Such damages may include, without limitation, processing, accounting, and other administrative costs, loss of use
of the overdue funds, and late charges that may be imposed on Landlord by the terms of any encumbrance and note secured by any encumbrance covering the
Premises. Landlord and Tenant agree that if Landlord does not receive a payment of Rent within ten (10) days after such payment becomes due, Tenant shall pay
to Landlord a late charge in an amount equal to three percent (3%) of such overdue Rent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, such late charge shall not be assessed if
all of the following conditions shall apply: (a) the late payment is made within ten (10) days after Landlord’s written notice of delinquent payment and
(b) Landlord shall not, during the 365-day period immediately preceding the due
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date of such late payment, have delivered to Tenant written notice of more than one (1) then delinquent payment of Minimum Monthly Rent or more than two
(2) other delinquent payments of Rent (other than Minimum Monthly Rent). In addition to the provisions set forth in Section 23 of this Lease and in Section 50
of this Lease, except that Tenant shall have no obligation to pay to Landlord interest on interest, if Landlord does not receive a payment of Rent within thirty
(30) days after such payment becomes due, Tenant shall pay to Landlord additional late charges computed at the interest rate of ten percent (10%) per annum or,
if lower, the maximum interest rate allowed by law (the “Interest Rate”). Landlord agrees that any payments due from Landlord to Tenant that are not received
by Tenant within thirty (30) days after such payment becomes due shall bear interest at the Interest Rate until paid. Such interest shall begin to accrue as of such
30th day after such Rent payment became due. The parties agree that such late charges represent a fair and reasonable estimate of the cost that Landlord will
incur by reason of late payment by Tenant. Acceptance of any late charge by Landlord shall not cure or waive Tenant’s default nor prevent Landlord from
exercising, before or after such acceptance, any of the rights and remedies for a default provided by this Lease or at law. Tenant shall be liable for late charges
regardless of whether Tenant’s failure to pay the Rent when due constitutes an Event of Default under this Lease.

5.5 Letter of Credit. In consideration of Landlord’s execution and delivery of this Lease, Tenant shall provide Landlord, concurrent with the execution and
delivery of this Lease, with an unconditional letter of credit for One Million Six Hundred Thousand Dollars ($1,600,000), supplemented by the delivery not later
than November 30, 2009 of a supplemental unconditional letter of credit for Five Hundred Twenty Thousand Dollars ($520,000) (together, the “Letter of Credit”)
on a commercially reasonable, but fully unconditional form thereof, as reasonably approved by Landlord, from a major California bank or other financial
institution approved by Landlord, securing Tenant’s performance under the terms of this Lease, which Letter of Credit shall be automatically renewable and shall
have “evergreen” provisions stating that (i) Tenant shall immediately replenish any drawn portion of the Letter of Credit, (ii) Tenant will renew the Letter of
Credit by a date which is thirty (30) business days prior to its expiration, and (iii) if the Letter of Credit is not renewed by such date, Landlord may draw upon the
full amount of such Letter of Credit. To the extent that Tenant shall not timely replenish any drawn portion of the Letter of Credit or timely renew the Letter of
Credit, Tenant shall be in default under this Lease, and Landlord shall provide Tenant with written notice of Tenant’s failure to do same. Tenant shall have a
period of fifteen (15) business days after receipt of Landlord’s notice to cure such default. To the extent that Tenant fails to cure such default within such fifteen
(15) business day period, Landlord shall have the right to terminate this Lease without further opportunity for Tenant to cure effective immediately by providing
Tenant with written notice of Landlord’s election to do same. In addition to any other rights or remedies available at law or equity, Landlord shall have the right
to draw on the Letter of Credit for the amount of any Tenant Holdover Obligation that Tenant has not paid. The Letter of Credit shall expire on that date which is
sixty (60) days following the Expiration Date of this Lease, subject to earlier expiration if Landlord has terminated this Lease with more than nine (9) months
remaining on the term of the Lease.

5.6 Time of Payment. Tenant agrees to pay all Rent required under this Lease within the applicable time limits set forth in this Lease. If no such time
period is elsewhere specified herein for payment of a particular amount, then such amount shall be due and payable thirty (30) days after Landlord’s delivery of
an invoice or demand therefor.

5.7 Partial Payments. Payments by Tenant shall be applied against the then outstanding rental charges that first became due. No payment by either party or
receipt by either party of a lesser amount than any installment or payment of Rent due shall be deemed to be other than on account of the amount due, and no
endorsement or statement on any check or payment of Rent shall be deemed an accord and satisfaction. Either party may accept such check or payment without
prejudice to that party’s right to recover the balance of such installment or payment of Rent, or pursue any other remedies available to that party.
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5.8 Electricity to the Premises. All electricity directly serving the Premises shall be metered and Tenant shall pay, as monthly rental, the actual cost
(without mark up by Landlord) of all such directly metered electricity to Landlord as a reimbursement, provided that at Landlord’s election, Tenant shall pay the
electrical utility provider directly, except that Tenant shall remain obligated to pay Landlord as reimbursement Tenant’s Percentage Share of the cost of all other
electricity utilized in the Facility outside of space demised to third party tenants of the Facility (specifically including the Common Area variable portion of the
electricity which shall be grossed up to 95% occupancy). Such payments to Landlord shall be made within thirty (30) days of Landlord’s delivery of an invoice to
Tenant therefor. Tenant acknowledges that its server room will use an amount of electricity equal to or greater than 4.0 watts per usable square foot, which usage
Tenant shall meter separate and apart from all other usage in the Building.

 
6. PAYMENT OF TAXES, ASSESSMENTS, AND OPERATING EXPENSES.

6.1 Tenant’s Percentage Share. In addition to paying the Minimum Monthly Rent, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the percentage set forth in Subsection 1.1.8
(“Tenant’s Percentage Share”) of the amounts set forth below in Subsections 6.2 and 6.3. Tenant’s Percentage Share shall be calculated by dividing the net
rentable square feet of the Premises by the net rentable square feet contained in the Building. Once the rentable square footage of the Premises and the Building
are verified as provided in Subsection 2.2.2 above, Tenant’s Percentage Share shall not be subject to correction or recalculation, except as provided in connection
with the expansion or contraction of the Premises (pursuant to the terms of this Lease) or except in the event the net rentable square feet contained in the
Building, or the so-called “load factor” used in calculating such rentable area, is changed due to events of damage, destruction, demolition, alterations, new
construction, or redesignation of an area of the Facility as Common Area.

6.2 Taxes and Assessments.

6.2.1 Payment. Tenant shall pay to Landlord an amount equal to Tenant’s Percentage Share of any increase in Taxes above the amount of Taxes
accrued for the Base Tax Year set forth in Subsection 1.1.9, either by way of increase in the rate or in the assessed valuation of the Facility (or any portion
thereof) or by imposition of any such charges by ordinance or statute of any authority having jurisdiction. As used in this Section 6, the term “Taxes” shall mean
all real property taxes, excises, penalties (unless due to Landlord’s negligence or willful misconduct), fees (including, without limitation, all license, permit and
inspection fees), and other charges (but excluding Assessments, as defined in Subsection 6.2.2 below) assessed, levied, charged, confirmed, or imposed by and
payable to any local government, any local political subdivision, local public corporation, district, or other local political or local public entity or local public
authority (collectively, the “Local Taxes”): (a) on the Facility (or any portion thereof), (b) on Landlord with respect to the Facility (or any portion thereof) as
specifically by Building address or legal description provided that such Local Taxes are designated for the use of such local taxing authority, (c) on the act of
leasing or entering into leases of space in the Facility (provided that such Local Taxes are not merged into non-Local Taxes) and treating rentals from such leases
as if they were the only rentals received by Landlord, (d) on or measured by the Rent payable under leases of space in the Building, or (e) on personal property of
Landlord used in the operation of the Facility (or any portion thereof). Such Taxes may be general or specific, ordinary or extraordinary, or of any kind or nature
whatsoever, whether or not now customary or within the contemplation of the parties to this Lease, All references to Taxes herein shall be deemed to refer to
taxes accrued during a particular year, including supplemental tax bills, regardless of when they are actually assessed and without regard to when such taxes are
payable. Notwithstanding the foregoing, federal, state, and local documentary transfer taxes,
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gift, franchise, inheritance, gross receipts, transfer, succession, and estate taxes, and income taxes shall not be included as Taxes or Assessments, nor shall the
computation of increases in Taxes or Assessments for which Tenant shall pay Tenant’s Percentage Share include any amounts paid by Tenant under Subsections
6.2.3 and 6.2.4 or any amounts separately billed to a particular tenant of the Facility with respect to similar matters (other than as Tenant’s Percentage Share of
increases in Taxes or Assessments). The amount of Taxes attributable to the Base Tax Year shall be reduced by the amount of any Tax refund arising out of an
appeal and permanent reduction of the Building’s assessed valuation for the Base Tax Year.

6.2.2 Percentage Share. Tenant shall also pay to Landlord an amount equal to Tenant’s Percentage Share of any increase in Assessments above the
amount of Assessments levied or assessed against the Facility for the Base Tax Year. As used in this Section 6, the term “Assessments” shall mean all
assessments, transit charges, housing charges, and levies assessed, charged, levied, confirmed, or imposed by any local government, any political subdivision,
public corporation, district, or other local political or public entity or public authority thereof on or with respect to any of the items described in clauses
(a) through (e) of Subsection 6.2.1 or with respect to the use, occupancy, management, maintenance, alteration, repair, or operation of the Facility (or any portion
thereof) or any services or utilities furnished or consumed in connection with the use, occupancy, management, alteration, repair or operation of the Facility (or
any portion thereof). Neither “Taxes” nor “Assessments” shall include any costs, taxes, fees, assessments, or impositions levied, charged, assessed, or imposed
by public authorities in connection with any development or redevelopment of the Facility or expansion of the Building (other than those Assessments that are
generally applicable to similarly situated property owners absent any such development or redevelopment or expansion), except to the extent such Assessments
either arise from actions undertaken by Landlord in its reasonable efforts to comply with the requirements of this Lease or are legally mandated, as opposed to
discretionary actions. Except to the extent otherwise expressly provided below, the amount of Assessments attributable to the Base Tax Year shall be reduced by
the amount of any Assessment refund arising out of an appeal of an assessment levied or assessed against the Facility for the Base Tax Year.

6.2.3 Full Responsibility. In addition to paying Tenant’s Percentage Share of increases in the Taxes and Assessments described in Subsections 6.2.1
and 6.2.2, Tenant shall pay one hundred percent (100%) of the following, as reasonably determined by Landlord: any increase in Taxes or Assessments resulting
from any general office type improvements or installations above Class A-standard made to the Premises by or at the instance of Tenant, other than the retrofit
work described in Exhibit B. The total amounts due under this Subsection 6.2.3 shall be paid to Landlord on or before the date full payment of such Taxes or
Assessments shall become due, or if payable in installments, the date payment of the first installment of such Taxes or Assessments shall become due. In the
event such Taxes or Assessments are paid by Landlord, Tenant forthwith upon demand therefor shall reimburse Landlord for all amounts of such Taxes or
Assessments chargeable against Tenant pursuant to this Subsection 6.2.3. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, in the event that Tenant
disputes the total amounts due under this Subsection 6.2.3, Tenant shall have the right to resolve such disputes by arbitration pursuant to the terms and conditions
set forth in Exhibit F attached hereto.

6.2.4 Personal Property. Tenant shall pay, before delinquency, any and all levied or assessed taxes that become payable during or with respect to the
Term upon Tenant’s equipment, furnishings, fixtures, and other personal property of Tenant located in the Premises (collectively, “Tenant’s Personal Property”).
In the event said taxes are paid by Landlord, Tenant forthwith upon demand therefor shall reimburse Landlord for all such taxes paid by Landlord.

6.2.5 Apportionment. Any Taxes or Assessments that may be paid over more than a one-year period shall be apportioned evenly over the maximum
period of time permitted by Law and only
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the portion thereof accruing during a given year shall be included in Taxes or Assessments for that year. Landlord shall use its reasonable discretion in
determining whether to contest the amount of any Taxes or Assessments and, upon request of Tenant, Landlord shall explain to Tenant the basis for Landlord’s
decision as to whether or not to contest the amount of any Taxes or Assessments. In the event that Landlord contests the amount of any Taxes or Assessments
and receives a refund or credit as a result thereof, then Landlord shall pay Tenant Tenant’s Percentage Share of such refund to the extent that the refund relates to
Taxes or Assessments that have been paid by Tenant. Landlord’s obligation to pay to Tenant Tenant’s Percentage Share of such refund shall survive the
expiration or sooner termination of this Lease. Upon Tenant’s request, Landlord shall provide a copy of all applicable tax bills. Landlord shall make continuous
good faith efforts to minimize Real Estate Taxes.

6.3 Operating Expense Increases.

6.3.1 Definition. Tenant shall pay to Landlord an amount equal to Tenant’s Percentage Share of any increase in Operating Expenses above the
Operating Expenses for the Base Expense Year. As used in this Section 6, the term “Operating Expenses” shall mean costs and expenses accrued by Landlord in
connection with the operation, management, or maintenance of the Facility (which costs shall be accounted for under generally accepted accounting principles
consistently applied and shall be amortized when and as required thereunder), excluding, however, the items described in Subsection 6.3.2 below, which items
shall not be included in Operating Expenses for purposes of this Lease, By way of illustration but not limitation, Operating Expenses shall include (subject to the
specific exclusions described in Subsection 6.3.2 below) all actual and commercially reasonable (a) costs for heating, cooling, ventilation, fuel, and utilities
serving the Common Areas; (b) costs and expenses for maintenance, ordinary and extraordinary repairs, testing, and operation of building systems and
components including, without limitation, costs and expenses for maintenance and repair of the roof membrane; (c) costs and expenses for security, landscaping,
refuse disposal, janitorial services, labor, supplies, materials, equipment, and tools, including any sales, use, or excise taxes thereon; (d) market management fees
(up to but not exceeding 3% of the gross revenues/receipts of the Facility including Minimum Monthly Rent (but not including after-hours service or utilities))
and other costs of managing the Facility, whether managed by Landlord or an independent contractor; (e) the wages, salaries, bonuses, employee benefits and
payroll burden, pro-rated to account for the time actually spent with respect to the Facility, of all Landlord’s (or its agents’) on-site or off-site employees below
the level of senior property manager engaged in the day-to-day operation, maintenance, management, or security of the Facility, including employers’ payroll,
social security, workers’ compensation, unemployment, and similar taxes with respect to such employees; (f) subject to the provisions of Subsection 6.3.l(a)
below, all insurance premiums paid or incurred by Landlord with respect to the Facility and all amounts paid in connection with claims or losses that are less than
the amount of such deductibles or self-insured retentions as Landlord may have deemed reasonable for its insurance policies, but only to the extent that such
deductible or self-insured retention does not exceed (i) the then-current commercially reasonable level of dollars per occurrence, if during the initial 10-year
Term, or (ii) the customary range of deductibles or self-insured retentions (as the case may be) for Comparable Buildings, if after said initial 10-year term; (g) all
reasonable costs and expenses of contesting by appropriate proceeding the amount or validity of any Taxes or Assessments; (h) the annual amortized costs (plus
interest on the unamortized balance at a rate equal to such commercially reasonable interest rate as Landlord may be paying to a non-affiliated third party on
funds borrowed to finance such costs, or if such financing is not obtained, at a rate equal to the prime rate (the “Reference Rate”) reported from time to time in
the Money Rates section of the Wall Street Journal, or if such rate shall no longer be regularly published, such replacement rate as Landlord may reasonably
designate) of any capital improvements, capital repairs or capital assets constructed, made, purchased, or installed after the Base Year (i) in order to comply with
any Law (as defined in Subsection 3.2) which is enacted after the Base Year or (ii) in order to conserve energy or reduce other Operating Expenses or increase
the efficiency of any of the Base Building Systems so as to achieve a
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reduction or a lower increase in Operating Expenses, with any such capital costs referred to in clause (h)(i) above to be amortized over the useful life of such
capital improvements or capital assets, as reasonably determined by Landlord, and with any such capital costs referred to in clause (h)(ii) above to be passed
through to Tenant at the rate which is the lesser of; (A) an amount equal to cost of such improvements, amortized at the Reference Rate over the useful life of
such capital improvements; or (B) the rate of the actual annual savings (the determination of which may, in appropriate circumstances, require Landlord’s
reasonable engineering calculations to account for annual fluctuations in conditions such as building occupancy rates and weather conditions) in Operating
Expenses achieved as a consequence of such capital expenditure; (i) the fair market rental value of the building office and other space in the building occupied by
Landlord or its manager in connection with the operation or management of the Facility which shall not exceed 3,000 rentable square feet; (j) the cost of
complying with Subsection 47.3 below; (k) the non-capital cost of complying with the rules and regulations applicable to the Facility as mandated by
governmental authorities with jurisdiction over the Facility, including employment brokerage services pursuant to San Francisco Planning Code Section 164;
(1) all other costs and expenses that under generally accepted accounting principles and practices of Comparable Buildings would be included in operating
expenses; and (m) costs of maintenance of any exercise rooms, food service facility, day care center or other similar specialty service facility, subject to a credit
against such costs of maintenance for any revenue generated by or rent collected from such facility. Landlord’s obligations to provide services are set forth
elsewhere in this Lease. The above itemization of operating expenses is for illustrative purposes only and shall not be deemed to increase or modify Landlord’s
obligations to provide services under this Lease.

(a) Earthquake Insurance. From time to time, Landlord may carry and maintain a policy of earthquake insurance insuring the Building
against property damage caused by certain seismic hazards. The parties acknowledge that the market for earthquake insurance policies is very volatile, and may
include large fluctuations in the availability and cost of such insurance. As more fully provided below, it is the intent of the parties that, when determining what
insurance premium costs should be included in the calculation of Operating Expenses for the Base Expense Year and any later year (hereinafter, a “Comparison
Year”), appropriate adjustments should be made so that (a) Tenant will only be charged Tenant’s Percentage Share of increases allocable to what comparable
insurance policies would have cost in the two years then in question and (b) Tenant will not be charged for cost increases allocable to insurance coverage
exceeding what is then ordinary or customary. Accordingly, to the extent that Landlord at any time carries greater earthquake insurance coverage than is provided
under any “Conventional Earthquake Policy” (as defined below), Landlord shall only include in Base Expense Year Operating Expenses and Comparison Year
Operating Expenses the respective amounts reflecting what a then reasonable Conventional Earthquake Policy would have cost for the years in question. Also, to
the extent that the coverage under the respective earthquake policies (or the deemed coverage, where the actual policy was greater than a then reasonable
Conventional Earthquake Policy) are different from each other, Landlord shall recalculate the cost of the premiums for the Base Expense Year to reflect what an
earthquake policy with coverage comparable to the Comparison Year’s coverage (not to exceed the reasonable Conventional Earthquake Policy) would have cost
during the Base Expense Year. Notwithstanding any provision hereof to the contrary, if the earthquake coverage actually maintained during the Base Expense
Year exceeds (i) a then reasonable Conventional Earthquake Policy then available or (ii) the earthquake coverage actually maintained during the Comparison
Year, then the amount attributed to the cost of such policy attributable to the Base Expense Year shall not be greater than the amount attributed to the cost of such
Comparison Year’s earthquake insurance when calculating Tenant’s Percentage Share of increases in Operating Expenses for such Comparison Year.

(b) Conventional Policy. As used herein, the term “Conventional Earthquake Policy” shall mean, for any given year, a policy of earthquake
insurance that was then either customary or usual for owners of Comparable Buildings. Landlord shall have the right, in its sole and absolute discretion, to carry
no earthquake insurance at all.
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(c) Determination. Whenever Subsection 6.3.1(a) above requires the determination of the cost of an earthquake policy different from that
actually carried by Landlord for the year in question, a reputable independent insurance broker with a minimum of five years of experience in the earthquake
insurance market in the San Francisco Financial District, mutually selected by Landlord and Tenant shall reasonably determine what the premium would have
been for such a policy in the year in question.

(d) Disputes. Any disputes between the parties concerning the calculation of costs under, or the application of, Subsections 6.3.1(a) through
6.3.1(c) above shall be resolved in accordance with the arbitration procedures set forth in Exhibit F attached hereto.

6.3.2 Exclusions. The following costs and expenses shall be excluded from the definition of “Operating Expenses” for purposes of this Lease:

(a) Any costs for which Landlord is reimbursed by insurance.

(b) Brokers/Leasing commissions, attorneys’ fees, accountant’s fees, costs and disbursements and other expenses incurred in connection
with negotiations or disputes with present or prospective tenants or other occupants or associated with the enforcement of any leases or the defense of Landlord’s
title to or interest in the Facility.

(c) Costs (including permit, license and inspection fees) incurred in renovating or otherwise improving or decorating, painting, or
redecorating space for new tenants or existing tenants in connection with extensions of the terms of their respective tenancies.

(d) Landlord’s costs of any services sold or provided to tenants or other occupants for which Landlord is entitled to be reimbursed by such
tenants or other occupants as an additional charge or rental over and above the basic rental and escalations payable under the lease with such tenant or other
occupant, unless Landlord is likewise entitled to reimbursement for like services provided to Tenant or its subtenants and elects not to require reimbursement
from Tenant or its subtenants.

(e) Depreciation and amortization on the Facility and equipment, except as otherwise provided in Subsection 6.3.1(h) above.

(f) Costs (including the amortization thereof) of any repairs, improvements, alterations, or equipment that would be properly classified as a
capital expenditure according to generally accepted accounting principles, except as otherwise expressly included in the definition of “Operating Expenses”
under Subsection 6.3.1 above or which are reimbursable under any service contract, lease warranty or guaranty.

(g) Expenses in connection with services or other benefits of a type that is made available to Tenant with an additional charge, but that is
generally made available to another tenant or occupant without additional charge.

(h) Costs incurred due to violation by Landlord of the terms and conditions of any lease or any Law or regulation, except to the extent that
such costs reflect costs that would have been incurred by Landlord absent such violation.
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(i) Overhead and profit increment paid to Landlord or its subsidiaries or affiliates for management or other services on or to the Facility or
for supplies or other materials to the extent that the costs of such materials, services, or supplies exceed the costs normally payable for like services, supplies or
materials provided by unaffiliated parties on a competitive basis (taking into account the market factors in effect on the date any relevant contracts were
negotiated) in Comparable Buildings.

(j) Interest on debt or amortization payments (except as expressly included as Operating Expenses under Subsection 6.3.1 above) on any
mortgages or deeds of trust.

(k) Landlord’s general corporate overhead and general administrative expenses including Landlord’s general corporate legal and accounting
expenses.

(l) Rentals and other related expenses incurred in leasing air conditioning systems, elevators or other equipment ordinarily considered to be
of a capital nature, except equipment that is used in providing janitorial services and that is not affixed to the Building and except for equipment covered by
Subsection 6.3.l(h) above.

(m) The cost of any work required in order to rectify design and/or construction defects and to bring the Building into compliance with
building and safety code requirements applicable to the Building at the time of the commencement of the Term.

(n) Marketing, advertising and promotional expenditures.

(o) Capital costs for purchasing paintings, sculpture, and other objects of art (provided, however, that commercially reasonable costs of
installing, protecting, and maintaining such items may be included in “Operating Expenses”).

(p) Any compensation paid to clerks, attendants, or to other persons involved with the operation of the parking facility or in commercial
concessions operated by Landlord or any other costs associated therewith.

(q) Taxes and Assessments, as defined in Subsections 6.2.1 and 6.2.2 above.

(r) The cost of abating, removing, remediating, or cleaning up any asbestos or other Hazardous Substances or otherwise complying with
Environmental Requirements, except that Operating Expenses may include the costs thereof expended as part of the ordinary and customary operation and
maintenance of the Facility (“Ordinary Compliance Costs”).

(s) Advertising and promotional expenditures, and costs (other than maintenance costs) related to signs in or about the Facility identifying
the owner of the Facility or any tenant thereof.

(t) Costs for the repair of damage to any improvements in the Facility resulting from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord
or any Landlord Parties (as such term is defined in Subsection 15.1.1 below).

(u) Costs of insurance premiums in excess of those being charged by the owners of Comparable Buildings for comparable insurance.

(v) The cost of any one-time utility connection or “tap-in” fees relating to the premises of a particular tenant or occupant of the Building or
the Facility.
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(w) Costs of electricity (such costs are specifically treated in Subsections 5.2 and 5.8 above).

(x) Charitable and political contributions.

(y) Accountants’ and attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred in connection with lease enforcement, lease disputes, or lease negotiations with
prospective, former or current Building tenants or occupants, or in connection with the defense of Landlord’s title to or interest in the Facility or the sale of the
Facility and any attorneys’ fees and expenses if incurred in connection with litigation over any other matter whatsoever.

(z) Costs associated with the operation of the business of the partnership or entity that constitutes Landlord, as the same are distinguished
from the costs of operation of the Facility, including partnership or other entity accounting and legal matters, costs of defending any lawsuits with any mortgagee,
costs of any disputes between Landlord and its employees (if any), disputes between Landlord and Facility management, or outside fees paid in connection with
disputes with tenants.

(aa) The wages and benefits of any employee who does not devote substantially all of his or her employed time to the operation and
management of the Facility unless such wages and benefits are prorated to reflect time spent on operating and managing the facility vis-à-vis time spent on
matters unrelated to operating and managing the Facility.

(bb) Interest, fines or penalties assessed as a result of Landlord’s failure to make payments in a timely manner unless such failure is
economically advantageous to the tenants of the Building under the circumstances.

(cc) Costs of selling, syndicating, financing, mortgaging (including syndication thereof) or hypothecating any of Landlord’s interest in the
Facility.

(dd) Rental under any ground lease or other underlying lease of the Building or Facility and other monetary obligations in connection
therewith.

(ee) Entertainment expenses of Landlord; including costs of parties to which Tenant is not invited, other than Holiday parties.

(ff) Cost of leasing, purchasing or installing tenant improvements, furniture, fixtures, and equipment and operating costs of any eating
facility, exercise rooms, day care center, or other specialty service, if any.

(gg) Any other expense that, under generally accepted accounting principles and practices, as customarily applied in the operation and
management of Comparable Buildings, would be excluded from operating and maintenance expenses, except as otherwise expressly provided in Subsection 6.3.1
above.

(hh) Any bad debt loss, Rent loss or reserves for bad debts or Rent loss,

(ii) Costs of rooftop antennas for specific tenants.

6.3.3 Gross-Up. If at any time, including the Base Year, less than ninety-five percent (95%) of the rentable area of the Building is occupied by office
tenants and/or if the Base Year is less than twelve (12) full calendar months, the Operating Expenses shall be reasonably adjusted by Landlord
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to approximate such operating and maintenance costs which vary with the occupancy level of the Building as would have been incurred if the Building had been
at least ninety-five percent (95%) occupied by office tenants for twelve (12) full calendar months.

6.3.4 General Principles. Operating Expenses shall be computed in accordance with the following general principles:

(a) Landlord agrees to operate and maintain the Facility during the Base Year and all subsequent years using reasonably consistent policies
and practices, taking into consideration changes in policies and practices that are generally adopted from time to time in Comparable Buildings in the San
Francisco Financial District.

(b) Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, Operating Expenses shall be reasonably determined in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles.

(c) All of the Building’s ground floor retail tenants (if any) whose retail business in their premises is other than a conventional office-type of
use (e.g., a delicatessen, a day care center, or customer service for an investment, insurance, or financial business) shall be separately charged for electricity,
water, and janitorial services used directly by and in their respective premises and all such costs shall be excluded from Operating Expenses as defined in
Subsection 6.3.1 above.

(d) Landlord shall collect only 100% of actual costs without mark-up and Landlord shall not administer the Operating Expenses, Taxes or
Assessments as a “profit center.”

6.4 Allocations of Certain Costs. If any Taxes, Assessments, or Operating Expenses paid in one year relate to more than one calendar year or to buildings,
land or facilities other than the Facility, Landlord shall allocate such Taxes, Assessments, or Operating Expenses among the appropriate calendar years or
buildings, land or facilities both in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and in a fair and equitable manner. If the Term ends other than on
December 31, Tenant’s obligations to pay Tenant’s Percentage Share of estimated and actual amounts of increases in Taxes, Assessments, and Operating
Expenses for such final calendar year shall be prorated to reflect the portion of such year included in the Term. Such proration shall be made by multiplying the
total estimated or actual (as the case may be) Taxes, Assessments, and Operating Expenses for such calendar year by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be
the number of days of the Term during such calendar year, and the denominator of which shall be 365. Landlord may, but shall not be required to, calculate
prorations with regard to when during a calendar year particular items of Operating Expenses accrued.

6.5 Estimated Payments. Landlord shall notify Tenant of its reasonable good faith estimate of the monthly amount of Tenant’s Percentage Share of
increases in Taxes, Assessments, or Operating Expenses and Tenant shall pay Landlord such estimated monthly payment at the same time as, and together with,
Tenant’s Minimum Monthly Rent but in no event sooner than the first day of the calendar year 2008. Landlord may from time to time, but in no event more than
one (1) time per calendar year, by notice to Tenant, change such estimated monthly amounts based upon Landlord’s actual or projected Taxes, Assessments, or
Operating Expenses.

6.6 Statement of Expenses. Landlord shall, after December 31 of each year, using its good faith commercially reasonable efforts to do so by April 30, but
no later than December 31 following such April 30 date, furnish to Tenant a “Final Statement,” it being agreed that if the Final Statement is not delivered to
Tenant until after April 30 of the applicable year and the Final Statement shows that Tenant overpaid its allocable share of actual Taxes, Assessments and
Operating Expenses, Tenant shall be entitled to interest on such overpayment at the Interest Rate from and after April 30 until the date
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Landlord delivers such Final Statement. The Final Statement shall contain a computation of the charge or credit to Tenant for any difference between
(a) Tenant’s proportionate share of the actual Taxes, Assessments, and Operating Expenses and (b) the estimated portion(s) thereof paid by Tenant for the
preceding calendar year, and the amount of any underpayment shall be paid by Tenant within thirty (30) days after delivery of said notice. The Final Statement
shall contain a line item detail setting forth by categories the actual Operating Expenses incurred by Landlord for the previous year. In the event of overpayment
by Tenant, Landlord shall credit such overpayment in full against Tenant’s payment of Rent next coming due hereunder; provided, however, that to the extent
that the overpayment exceeds Tenant’s payment of Rent next coming due hereunder, Landlord shall refund such excess within thirty (30) days of the date
Landlord provides Tenant with notice of same. Upon expiration or sooner termination of this Lease, if Tenant was not in material default hereunder immediately
prior thereto, Landlord shall refund to Tenant any overpayment within thirty (30) days after Landlord’s computation of the same. In the event Landlord shall not
have delivered the Final Statement until after said December 31 date, Landlord shall have waived its right to collect from Tenant any underpayment for the
applicable year; provided that such waiver shall not apply to third-party invoices (such as an adjusted tax statement) which has not been received by Landlord by
November 1 of the year of delivery of the Final Statement, in which event Landlord shall have sixty (60) days from receipt of such third-party invoice to deliver
to Tenant an adjusted Final Statement with appropriate credit or payment obligation in favor of or by Tenant.

6.7 Non-Waiver of Rights. Without limitation to the provisions of Section 31 (Non-Waiver), no failure or determination of Landlord in any previous year
to include or exclude certain items in its computation of Taxes, Assessments, or Operating Expenses or to invoice Tenant for the full amount of Tenant allocable
share of Taxes, Assessments, or Operating Expenses shall be construed as depriving Landlord of the right to include such items as Taxes, Assessments, or
Operating Expenses or to invoice Tenant for the full amount of Tenant’s Percentage Share for the current year in strict accordance with the provisions of this
Section 6, so long as a parallel adjustment is made to the Base Year Operating Expenses to the extent such adjustment should properly have been included in the
Base Year (no Base Year adjustment will be made with respect as to an expense item which was not applicable to the Base Year); such adjustments shall only be
made to the Base Year and the three (3) calendar years immediately preceding the year of the first such inclusion. Any such adjustment shall be made only as to
the line item which required such adjustment.

6.8 Right to Accounting Audit.

6.8.1 Statement.

(a) Upon Tenant’s request made no later than one hundred twenty (120) days after receipt of the Final Statement (or, if applicable,
Landlord’s adjusted Final Statement), Landlord shall promptly (and in any event within ten (10) business days after Tenant’s request) deliver to Tenant such
information regarding the Final Statement (or, if applicable, Landlord’s adjusted Final Statement) as may be reasonably required by Tenant to ascertain
Landlord’s compliance with this Section 6; provided, however, that with respect to an adjusted Final Statement, Tenant may dispute only such items adjusted by
such adjusted Final Statement. If Landlord issues Tenant an adjusted Final Statement after Tenant notifies Landlord that Tenant has elected to perform an
accounting audit based on the previously delivered Final Statement, Landlord will reimburse Tenant for the additional auditor fees required to conform the
statements.

(b) Landlord and Tenant shall endeavor in good faith promptly to resolve any dispute regarding the Final Statement (or, if applicable, the
adjusted Final Statement); provided, however, that except for revisions to take into account any subsequent reassessment affecting the calculation of Taxes
included in such statement, Landlord’s Final Statement (or, if applicable, the adjusted
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Final Statement) (with such revisions, if any, as the parties shall have agreed upon) shall become final and binding upon Landlord and Tenant unless, within one
hundred twenty (120) days after Tenant’s receipt of the Final Statement (or, if applicable, the adjusted Final Statement) or Tenant’s receipt of any such timely
requested information, whichever occurs later, Tenant shall by written notice delivered to Landlord elect to perform an accounting audit of Landlord’s books and
records relating to the year in question and the Base Year, for purposes of verifying Landlord’s calculation of Taxes, Assessments, and Operating Expenses. Such
accounting audit may only be done by (i) Tenant, (ii) a reputable and nationally recognized first-class professional auditing firm, which may be compensated by
Tenant on a contingency basis or (iii) by the accounting audit professionals within a general real estate firm. Books and records within the scope of the audit shall
be made available for Tenant’s or its agent’s or the auditor’s inspection within ten (10) business days after the auditor’s request therefor. If Tenant shall have
availed itself of its right to audit Landlord’s books and records and then disputes the accuracy of the information set forth in Landlord’s books and records with
respect to the Final Statement (or, if applicable, the adjusted Final Statement), Tenant shall nevertheless continue to pay the amounts as required by the
provisions of this Section 6 until such dispute is resolved.

(c) Within thirty (30) days after Tenant’s completion of the audit, Tenant shall make the results of the audit available to Landlord. If, after
Tenant’s audit, Tenant continues to dispute the Final Statement (or, if applicable, the adjusted Final Statement), Tenant and Landlord shall attempt to resolve the
dispute within thirty (30) days after Landlord’s receipt of Tenant’s audit results (the “Reconciliation Period”). If Landlord and Tenant are able to resolve the
dispute during the Reconciliation Period and as part of such resolution the parties determine that the Tenant overpaid its Percentage Share of actual Taxes,
Assessments or Operating Expenses, Landlord shall reimburse Tenant for the amount of such overpayment within thirty (30) days after the date Landlord and
Tenant resolved such dispute. If, as part of the resolution of the dispute, the parties determine that Tenant underpaid its Percentage Share of actual Taxes,
Assessments or Operating Expenses, Tenant shall pay Landlord the amount of such underpayment within thirty (30) days after the date Landlord and Tenant
resolved such dispute. If Landlord and Tenant are unable to resolve such dispute, then no later than six (6) months after the Reconciliation Period, Tenant must
(or its right to contest such charges shall be deemed waived) institute arbitration proceedings against Landlord, in accordance with the arbitration procedures set
forth in Exhibit F attached hereto, to collect and recover any overpayment made by Tenant of its Percentage Share of actual Taxes, Assessments and Operating
Expenses. Tenant shall be precluded from contesting Taxes, Assessments, or Operating Expenses, or Landlord’s computations of the amounts payable by
Landlord or Tenant pursuant to this Section 6, unless an arbitration complaint is filed and served within such six (6) month period. Should the arbitrator find
errors in excess of three percent (3%) of the Final Statement (or, if applicable, the adjusted Final Statement), then Landlord shall be responsible for all reasonable
fees and actual, documented and reasonable out-of-pocket costs incurred by Tenant with respect to Tenant’s audit and the arbitration proceeding. Should the
arbitrator find no overcharges or overcharges not exceeding three percent (3%) of the statement, then Tenant shall be responsible for the cost of the audit and all
of the reasonable fees and actual, documented and reasonable out-of-pocket costs incurred by Landlord with respect to the arbitration proceeding.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, to the extent that the arbitrator finds overcharges, then Tenant shall have the right to audit, pursuant to
the terms and conditions of this Subsection 6.8, the Final Statement (or, if applicable, the adjusted Final Statement) issued by Landlord during the Term for the
prior three (3) (but not more than three (3)) calendar years and the Base Year.

6.8.2 Ruling. If Tenant institutes arbitration procedures as provided in Subsection 6.8.1 above, then the arbitrator shall determine whether or not
Tenant was overcharged or undercharged for Tenant’s Percentage Share of increases in Taxes, Assessments, or Operating Expenses and shall also determine the
appropriate level of Taxes, Assessments and Operating Expenses for the Base Year. At the conclusion of the arbitration, the arbitrator shall issue a ruling as to
what the Taxes,
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Assessments, and Operating Expenses for the year in question and Taxes, Assessments and Operating Expenses for the Base Year and what Tenant’s Percentage
Share of increases therein should have been had Landlord strictly complied with the provisions of this Lease. If Landlord overcharged Tenant for increases in
Taxes, Assessments, or Operating Expenses, the amount of the overcharge shall be returned to Tenant within thirty (30) days following the conclusion of the
arbitration. If the arbitrator determines that Tenant was undercharged for increases in Taxes, Assessments, or Operating Expenses, Tenant shall pay the amount
of such undercharge to Landlord within thirty (30) days following the issuance of the arbitration ruling,

 
7. STORAGE SPACE.

Storage Space shall be made available to Tenant on a first-come, first-serve, pro -rata share basis in an enclosed, dry and secure area designated by
Landlord within the Building. If there are various areas available for use as Storage Space within a larger designated area approved by Landlord for use as
Storage Space, Tenant shall be entitled to choose the location of its Storage Space prior to other tenants of the Facility. Tenant shall pay the rent for such Storage
Space at the rate of $24.00 per square foot per month. Tenant shall take possession of the Storage Space in its “AS IS” condition. In addition, Tenant shall not
transfer all or any portion of such Storage Space unless such transfer is made in connection with a transfer of the Premises.

 
8. HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES.

8.1 Definitions. As used herein, “Hazardous Substance” shall mean any substance, material, or waste that is or becomes regulated by any federal, state, or
local governmental authority because of its toxicity, infectiousness, radioactivity, explosiveness, ignitability, corrosiveness, or reactivity. As used herein,
“Environmental Requirements” shall mean all Laws and prudent industry practices relating to industrial hygiene, protection of human health, warnings, hazard
communication, employee rights-to-know, environmental protection, or any Hazardous Substance.

8.2 Consent Required for Hazardous Substances. Tenant shall not cause or authorize any Hazardous Substance to be brought upon, generated, produced,
kept or used in or about the Facility by Tenant or any “Tenant Parties” (as that term is defined in Subsection 11.1 below) or invitees of Tenant (“Tenant
Invitees”) unless (a) such Hazardous Substance is necessary for the business (and such business is a Permitted Use) of Tenant or its permitted subtenant or
assignee, and (b) Tenant first obtains the consent of Landlord if such Hazardous Substance is other than (i) an “Article” (as defined in 29 C.F.R. §1910.1200) that
is free of asbestos (whether friable or nonfriable) and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) or (ii) a consumer product that is used on the Premises in quantities that
would not require any notification or reporting under any Environmental Requirement, or any warnings to any persons located anywhere outside the Premises, if
the entire quantities were released into the environment. Any request by Tenant for such consent shall be in writing and shall demonstrate to the reasonable
satisfaction of Landlord that such Hazardous Substance will be stored, used, and disposed of in a manner that complies with all Environmental Regulations
applicable to such Hazardous Substance. Such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, but Landlord shall in no case be obligated to consent to the presence
of any Hazardous Substance that will increase the likelihood or magnitude of Landlord’s liability, or to any treatment, storage, or disposal upon the Premises or
the Facility of any Hazardous Substance whose treatment, storage, or disposal requires a permit or variance under applicable Environmental Requirements. In no
event shall Landlord ever be obligated to execute any application for any such permit or variance.

8.3 Notices. Tenant shall promptly deliver to Landlord copies of any reports made to any environmental agency arising out of or relating to any Hazardous
Substances in, on, or from the Premises
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and copies of all hazardous waste manifests reflecting the legal and proper disposal of all hazardous wastes removed by Tenant from the Facility. If at any time
Tenant shall become aware that any Hazardous Substances, other than those already known by Landlord or permitted under this Lease, have come to be located
in or about the Premises, or that any known Hazardous Substances within the control of Tenant have been, are being, or are threatened to be released into the
environment, Tenant shall, immediately upon discovering same, give notice of that condition to Landlord. In addition, each party shall immediately provide the
other party with a copy of any notices regarding Hazardous Substances in the Premises that party receives from a governmental entity.

8.4 Compliance with Environmental Requirements. Without limitation to the generality of Subsection 3.2 (Restriction on Use), Tenant shall, at its own
expense, use commercially reasonable efforts to comply with all Environmental Requirements, prudent industry practices, and Landlord’s Rules and Regulations
regarding use, handling, disturbance, management, or disposal of Hazardous Substances pertaining to the Premises and Facility, except as otherwise provided in
Subsection 8.5 below. Except as discharged into the sanitary sewer in strict accordance and conformity with all applicable Environmental Requirements, Tenant
shall cause any and all Hazardous Substances removed from the Premises (or from any other portion of the Facility, if their removal is at the instance or direction
of Tenant) to be removed and transported solely by duly licensed haulers to duly licensed facilities for final disposal of such materials and wastes. Upon
expiration or earlier termination of the Term, Tenant shall cause to be removed from the Premises and the Facility all Hazardous Substances that Tenant or any
Tenant Parties or Tenant Invitees caused or authorized to be located there; provided, however, that Tenant shall not be responsible for removing Hazardous
Substances Landlord caused to be located in the Premises, and Landlord shall be responsible for any governmentally required removal of same. If the presence of
Hazardous Substances brought onto the Facility by any of such persons results in contamination of any portion of the Facility, Tenant shall be solely responsible,
at its sole expense, for taking any and all necessary steps to return the affected portion of the Facility to its condition prior to such contamination, as reasonably
determined by Landlord; provided, however, that Tenant shall not take any remedial action (except in emergencies) in response to the presence of, nor enter into
any settlement agreement, consent decree, or other compromise in respect to any claims relating to, any Hazardous Substance in any way connected with the
Facility, without first notifying Landlord of Tenant’s intention to do so and affording Landlord ample opportunity to appear, intervene, or otherwise appropriately
assert and protect Landlord’s interest with respect thereto; and further provided, that Landlord shall have the right (but not the obligation) to perform any such
remediation on Tenant’s behalf, in which event Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for all of Landlord’s reasonable costs and expenses incurred in connection
therewith.

8.5 Landlord’s Obligation. Subject to Landlord’s right to reimbursement of certain costs or expenses under other provisions of this Lease, as such
reimbursement right is restricted under Subsection 6.3.2(r) above, Landlord agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts consistent with the efforts of landlords
of Comparable Buildings to fully comply with all applicable Environmental Requirements and prudent industry practice or rules and regulations regarding the
use, management, handling, or disposal of Hazardous Substances (a) that were existing on the Premises as of the Commencement Date or (b) that were or are
otherwise brought upon or kept or used in or about the Facility by Landlord, its affiliates and their respective agents, employees, or contractors. Landlord
represents and warrants to Tenant that, as of the Commencement Date, the Facility shall be in compliance with all Environmental Requirements in existence as of
the Commencement Date. Landlord further represents and warrants that it shall only bring Hazardous Substances into or on the Facility to the extent reasonably
necessary to operate the Facility. Landlord will treat Tenant from a financial-impact standpoint as if all tenants in the Building had a provision substantially
similar to Subsection 8.4 above in their leases and as if Landlord reasonably enforced such requirements under their leases. To the extent that Landlord does not
include provisions substantially similar to Subsection 8.4 in the other leases in the Building and/or Landlord does not reasonably enforce such provisions and
Tenant is negatively affected thereby, Landlord will protect Tenant from such effect.
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9. NO LIGHT, AIR OR VIEW EASEMENT.

No rights to any view or to light or air over any property, whether belonging to Landlord or any other person, are granted to Tenant by this Lease. If at any
time any windows of the Premises are darkened or the light or view therefrom is obstructed by reason of any repairs, improvements, maintenance or cleaning in
or about the Building, the same shall be without liability to Landlord and without any reduction or diminution of Tenant’s obligations under this Lease.

 
10. ALTERATIONS.

10.1 Tenant’s Right to Make Alterations.

10.1.1 Tenant shall not make or suffer to be made any alterations, additions, improvements, or utility installations (collectively, “Alterations”) to the
Premises or any part thereof without the prior consent of Landlord, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. Upon Tenant’s request, Landlord shall
state in writing, at the time it grants such consent, whether or not Landlord will require the removal of all or any part of the proposed Alterations at the end of the
Term pursuant to Subsection 10.3.1 below. Tenant specifically acknowledges that it shall not be unreasonable for Landlord to withhold approval of any proposed
contractor or subcontractor of Tenant on the grounds that Landlord reasonably believes that the performance of work in the Building by such contractor or
subcontractor could result in labor disputes with Landlord’s own contractors or Building employees of Landlord or Landlord’s contractors. Landlord may, at any
time during the Term, require Tenant to remove any or all Alterations made without Landlord’s consent (if Landlord’s consent is required by this Section 10) or
otherwise made in material violation of any of the provisions of this Section 10. In no event shall Landlord be required to consent to any Alterations that would,
in Landlord’s reasonable good faith opinion, adversely affect the utility or value of the Premises or the Building for future tenants, that would alter the exterior
appearance of the Building, that would be of a structural nature, that could adversely affect the plumbing, mechanical, or electrical systems servicing the Facility,
that would be excessively expensive to remove (unless Tenant expressly agrees, upon Landlord’s request, to remove the same upon the expiration or sooner
termination of this Lease), or that would otherwise be prohibited under this Lease. All permitted Alterations shall be made in conformity with the requirements of
Subsection 10.2 below. Once any such Alterations have been completed, whether prior to or during the Term, they shall thereafter be included in the designation
of the retrofit work. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 10.1.1, Tenant shall not be obligated to remove any Alterations to the Phase II
Premises constructed pursuant to the Sublease except those Alterations relating to the server room (except for server room walls, which may remain) including,
without limitation, any supplemental HVAC and related electrical and or supplemental fire/life safety systems, unless and to the extent that such Alterations were
further modified as an “alteration to the Alteration” following the expiration of the term of the Sublease but prior to the termination of this Lease. Additionally,
Tenant shall be obligated to remove all telephonic and data cabling at the end of the Term of the Lease for both the Phase 1 and Phase II Premises.

10.1.2 The foregoing notwithstanding, Tenant shall have the right, without Landlord’s consent, to make any Alteration where all of the following
conditions are met: (i) the Alteration is decorative in nature (such as paint, carpet or other wall or floor finishes, movable partitions or other such work),
(ii) Tenant complies with Landlord’s operating procedures, as provided from time to time from Landlord to Tenant in writing, for notice of the commencement of
any such Alteration (which may, for example, be as limited as telephonic notice to Building security for minor decorative alterations or two (2)
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business days’ notice for installation of carpet where scheduling of the freight elevator or loading docks might be required), (iii) such Alteration does not
negatively affect the Building’s electrical, mechanical, life safety, plumbing, security, or HVAC systems or other Base Building Systems or any other portion of
the Base Building or any part of the Building other than the Premises, (iv) the work will be performed in a workman-like manner and in accordance with all
Laws, and (v) the total cost of all such work performed without Landlord’s consent (excluding the cost of cosmetic alterations, which shall include the cost of
paint and carpet) shall not exceed $25,000 in any 12-month period during the Term. At the time Tenant notifies Landlord of any such work, Tenant shall give
Landlord a copy of Tenant’s plans for the work, if any have been prepared. If the Alterations are of such a nature that formal plans will not be prepared or are
otherwise not required for the work, Tenant shall provide Landlord with a reasonably specific description of the work.

10.2 Installation of Alterations. Any Alterations installed by Tenant during the Term shall be done in strict compliance with all of the following
requirements:

10.2.1 Approval. No such work requiring Landlord’s consent shall proceed without Landlord’s prior written approval, which shall not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed, of (a) Tenant’s contractor(s); (b) certificates of insurance from a company or companies licensed in California with a policy
holders’ rating of A- and financial rating of not less than X as designated by Best’s Insurance Reports, furnished to Landlord by Tenant’s contractor, evidencing
combined single limit bodily injury and property damage insurance covering comprehensive or commercial general liability and automobile liability in an
amount reasonably determined by Landlord given the nature and scope of such alterations (and which in no event shall be less than Five Hundred Thousand
Dollars ($500,000) per occurrence and general aggregate) and endorsed to show Landlord, Landlord’s property manager, and each constituent general partner of
Landlord (if Landlord is a partnership) as additional insureds, and for workers’ compensation as required by law, endorsed to show a waiver of subrogation by
the insurer to any claims Tenant’s contractor may have against Landlord (provided, however, nothing in this Subsection 10.2.1 shall release Tenant of its other
insurance obligations hereunder); and (c) detailed plans and specifications for such work. Any material changes in, deviations from, modifications of, or
amendments to the approved plans and specifications shall also require Landlord’s prior written approval. Any approval to be given by Landlord under this
Subsection 10.2.1 shall not be unreasonably withheld and either be given or denied within ten (10) days of Tenant’s written request therefore; provided, however,
that, to the extent Landlord shall not grant its approval, Landlord shall specify in writing its reasons therefor.

10.2.2 Coordination. Tenant shall cause its contractor(s) to coordinate with Landlord’s building management all construction and installation
activities covered by this Subsection 10.2. All such work shall be done in accordance with Landlord’s standard rules and regulations for construction in the
Building (the “Construction Rules”) (attached hereto as Exhibit H) in a skillful and first class workmanlike manner, consistent with the best practices and
standards of the construction industry, and shall be pursued diligently and continuously until completed, always in material conformity with the approved plans
and specifications. All materials, equipment, and articles incorporated into the Alterations shall be new, and of recent manufacture, and of the most suitable grade
for the purpose intended.

10.2.3 Permit. No Alterations shall be commenced without Tenant first having obtained a valid building permit and/or all other permits or licenses
required to be obtained prior to commencement of such Alterations, copies of which shall be furnished to Landlord before the work is commenced. Upon
completion, those permits which are not required prior to commencement of such Alterations shall be obtained, and a copy of such permits shall be provided to
Landlord. Any work not acceptable to any governmental authority or agency having or exercising jurisdiction over such work shall be promptly replaced and
corrected at Tenant’s expense. No work for which Landlord’s consent is required shall commence until and unless Landlord has approved plans and
specifications and the schedule for the performance of such Alterations.
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10.2.4 Reimbursement. Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for any reasonable actual out-of-pocket third-party expense incurred by Landlord in
reviewing and approving the plans and specifications (and any modifications thereto) for such work or the work itself within thirty (30) days after Tenant’s
receipt of Landlord’s invoice therefor, not to exceed five percent (5%) of the cost of the work in connection with the Alterations; provided that such expense shall
be based on the complexity of the plans, the level of engineering to be reviewed, and the cost of such Alteration. Landlord agrees to require only such review of
such plans as is required under customary industry practice.

10.2.5 Oversight. Landlord may, to the extent appropriate, supply Tenant with the Building regulations and procedures for working in areas where
there is a risk of coming into contact with materials or Base Building Systems that, if not properly handled, could cause health or safety risks or that could
damage the Base Building Systems and/or the Building. Tenant shall cause its contractors, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, strictly to comply with all such
Building regulations and procedures reasonably established and uniformly applied by Landlord and with all applicable Laws. Landlord shall have the right at all
times to monitor the work for compliance with the Building regulations and any applicable Laws. If Landlord determines that any applicable Law or any
Building regulations and/or procedures are not being strictly to complied with, Landlord may immediately require the cessation of all work being performed in or
around the Premises until such time as Landlord is reasonably satisfied that the applicable Laws and Building regulations and procedures will be observed.
Neither Landlord’s review and approval of the plans, specifications, and working drawings nor Landlord’s monitoring of any work in or around the Premises
shall create any responsibility or liability on the part of Landlord for their completeness, design sufficiency, or compliance with applicable Laws or with the
Building regulations and procedures nor shall any such review, approval, or monitoring by Landlord be deemed to constitute a waiver by Landlord of its right to
require strict compliance with such Laws, regulations, or procedures, nor shall such monitoring relieve Tenant from any liabilities relating to such work.

10.2.6 Plans. Upon completion of any Alterations for which Landlord’s written consent shall have been required under the provisions of this
Section 10 of the Lease, Tenant shall provide Landlord with field-grade “as built” plans, copies of all construction contracts, and proof of payment for all labor
and materials.

10.2.7 Standard Materials. Attached hereto as Exhibit I is a list of Building standard materials. Tenant shall have the right to purchase such materials
from Landlord at Landlord’s cost without mark-up.

10.3 Retrofit Work - Treatment at End of Lease.

10.3.1 Landlord’s Property. All retrofit work (and all Alterations, upon their completion) made by or for Tenant, whether temporary or permanent in
character, and whether made by Landlord or Tenant, shall be Landlord’s property, and shall be surrendered to Landlord in good order, condition, and repair
(ordinary wear and tear excepted and damage caused by fire or other casualty excepted), broom clean, upon the expiration or earlier termination of the Term, and
Tenant shall not be entitled to any compensation therefor. Unless Landlord shall have previously stated in writing (in connection with its approval of any
Alternations) that it will require the removal of any Alteration or Tenant Improvement at the end of the Term (in which case Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, shall
remove the same prior to the expiration of the Term and repair all damage caused by such removal), Landlord shall not have the right to require that Tenant
remove from the Premises such retrofit work and Alterations (or such portion thereof as Landlord has not required to be removed). Any damage or deterioration
of the
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Premises or any retrofit work that could have been prevented by good maintenance practices shall not be deemed to be ordinary wear and tear. The foregoing
notwithstanding, in no event shall Landlord, pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Subsection 10.3.1, require removal of any retrofit work or Alterations
that the tenant next taking possession of the Premises desires to remain in the Premises or that constitute “Standard Office Improvements.” As used herein, the
term “Standard Office Improvements” shall include any tenant improvements that can be removed and disposed of at a cost not materially greater than the cost of
removing and disposing of ordinary and customary tenant improvements for general office use. In no event, however, shall “Standard Office Improvements” be
deemed to include any interior stairwells, shower installations, raised computer flooring, data centers, telephone switch rooms (other than those included as part
of Base Building), ceramic tile floor coverings, heat pumps, special life safety installations, cafeterias, or vaults.

10.3.2 Personal Property. All of Tenant’s Personal Property located in the Premises and all trash and debris, shall be completely removed by Tenant
prior to the expiration of the Term pursuant to the Construction Rules; provided, however, that Tenant shall repair all damage caused by such removal prior to the
expiration of the Term, and provided further, Landlord shall store at Tenant’s sole cost and expense any of Tenant’s Personal Property not so removed during the
thirty (30) day period following the expiration of the Term. To the extent that Landlord provides Tenant with five business days’ notice of Landlord’s intention to
do same, after the expiration of the thirty-day storage period, Landlord may retain or in any manner dispose of said Personal Property not so removed, without
liability to Tenant.

10.3.3 Damages. Tenant shall reimburse Landlord upon written demand for any and all reasonable costs and losses (but not lost rents and other
consequential damages) incurred by Landlord as a result any failure by Tenant to surrender the Premises in the condition required hereunder.

10.4 Other Improvements in the Building. If as a result of any Alterations or as a result of Tenant’s unique and specific use of the Premises (other than as
general office or accounting and consulting firm), Landlord shall be required by any applicable Law to make other improvements (including, without limitation,
upgrading of installations of life safety systems or compliance with standards for handicapped persons) in or upon the Premises or any other portion of the
Building or Facility, then Landlord shall have the right to charge Tenant for the cost of such other improvements; provided, however, that Landlord shall
endeavor to notify Tenant of such other improvements at the time Landlord approves of such Alterations.

 
11. REPAIR OBLIGATIONS.

11.1 Tenant’s Obligations. Excepting those maintenance, repair and restoration obligations that have been expressly delegated to Landlord under other
provisions of this Lease, Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall keep the Premises and every part thereof in good, clean, pest-free, and sanitary condition and
repair at all times during the Term. All damage, injury or breakage to any part or portion of the Premises or the Facility caused by the willful or negligent act or
omission of Tenant which such negligent act or omission is not insured or required to be insured by either party under this Lease, any of its Affiliates, constituent
partners, subtenants or licensees, or agents, or any of their respective officers, directors, trustees, employees, and licensees (collectively, the “Tenant Parties”),
and any contractor, invitee, visitor, or customer of any Tenant Party (a “Tenant Invitee”) shall be promptly repaired at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, to the
reasonable satisfaction of Landlord; provided, however, that Tenant shall be entitled to receive reimbursement for such expense to the extent that the cost of any
such repair is covered by insurance obtained by Landlord as part of Operating Expenses. If Tenant fails to perform any repair obligation when required under this
Lease, then Landlord shall have the right to perform such repair work and such repair work required as a result of Tenant’s damage to the Base Building or a
Base Building item at Tenant’s expense, provided that, except in cases of an emergency, Landlord shall have
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given Tenant at least ten (10) business days’ prior written notice of Tenant’s failure to perform such repair and (a) Tenant shall have failed to complete such
repairs prior to the expiration of such notice period or (b) if such repairs could not be completed within such notice period, Tenant shall have failed to commence
such repairs or to diligently prosecute the same to completion after having commenced the repairs within such period. Tenant shall upon written demand
reimburse Landlord for all uninsured costs incurred by Landlord as a result of any breach of Tenant’s maintenance and repair obligations under this Section.
Tenant shall be solely responsible for the design and function of all of the retrofit work, whether or not installed by Landlord at Tenant’s request. Except to the
extent otherwise expressly provided in Subsection 23.6.1 below or elsewhere in this Lease, Tenant waives all rights to make repairs to the Premises or to the
Facility at the expense of Landlord, or to deduct the cost of such repairs from any payment owed to Landlord under this Lease,

11.2 Landlord’s Obligations.

(a) Except to the extent otherwise expressly provided elsewhere in this Lease, and excluding any responsibilities expressly delegated to
Tenant elsewhere in this Lease, Landlord shall keep the Facility and Building, including the Common Areas and the Base Building Systems (including the
above-ceiling distribution thereof, the cost of which above-ceiling distribution repairs shall be included as part of Operating Expenses, the mechanical rooms and
the stairwells (exclusive of Tenant’s security system)) in good condition and repair, in accordance with standards generally comparable to those observed in
Comparable Buildings (but in no event shall such standards fall below those standards set forth in Exhibit D attached hereto), and in compliance all with
applicable Laws, and so as not to deprive Tenant of its use and enjoyment, or materially adversely impair Tenant in its herein-allowed use and enjoyment, of the
Premises or the Common Areas. Landlord shall not, however, be obligated to maintain, repair, or replace any of the following within the Premises: interior
windows, window coverings, doors, door hardware.

(b) Subject to Landlord’s right to reimbursement of certain costs or expenses under other provisions of this Lease, Landlord shall perform
all needed repairs to and replacements of the exterior windows in the Premises; provided, however, that Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for the full cost of
repairs or replacements needed because of damage caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Tenant or any Tenant Party (only to the extent that
the proceeds (if any) of insurance payable under the applicable policy shall be insufficient). Also, Landlord shall not be obligated to perform repairs for which
Tenant has expressly assumed responsibility under other provisions of this Lease, Tenant hereby acknowledges that the foregoing description of certain
obligations and rights of Landlord is not intended to limit or restrict Landlord’s rights under other provisions of this Lease to reimbursement for costs and
expenses incurred in connection with such matters. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Subsection 11.2, in the event Landlord, for any
reason, fails to commence and diligently pursue completion of any repairs required to be made by Landlord under this Section 11 within a period of thirty
(30) days after Tenant delivers written notice to Landlord of the need for such repairs, (a) Rent shall be equitably abated commencing upon the date of Tenant’s
delivery of Tenant’s notice to Landlord regarding Landlord’s failure to commence and/or diligently pursue such repairs in such thirty (30) day period, and
(b) Tenant shall have the right to make such repairs which are non-structural, which do not affect the exterior of the Building and which do not adversely affect
the Base Building’s Systems; provided, however, that in the event any such failure by Landlord to perform required repairs constitutes an Adverse Condition (as
defined in Subsection 17.4 below), Tenant’s abatement rights shall be governed by Subsection 17.4.

(c) In the event Tenant exercises its right to repair as set forth in the immediately preceding sentence, Tenant shall provide to Landlord (or to
any “Qualified First Mortgagee,” which shall mean and refer to any first mortgagee of the Building, the identity and address of which has
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been provided to Tenant in writing prior thereto) with a reasonably particularized invoice for such repair. To the extent Landlord agrees with such invoice or does
not provide Tenant with written notice of its dispute with such invoice, Landlord shall pay such invoice within thirty (30) days of receipt of same. To the extent
Landlord fails to make such payment and fails to provide a written objection defending such failure within such thirty (30) day period, Tenant shall have the right
to offset the amount of such invoice plus interest at the Interest Rate against Rent; provided, however, that it is hereby deemed in this Lease that, with respect to
any right of offset in favor of Tenant, notices which must be delivered to Landlord must also be delivered to any Qualified First Mortgagee, which Qualified First
Mortgagee shall have the right to act on behalf of Landlord if Landlord fails to respond as required of Landlord in this Subsection 11.2. If, within thirty (30) days
of Landlord’s receipt of such invoice Landlord provides Tenant with written notice of its dispute of such invoice, the matter shall be referred to arbitration in
accordance with the Exhibit F attached to this Lease. Any award in favor of Tenant not paid to Tenant within thirty (30) days of Landlord’s receipt thereof shall
entitle Tenant to offset the award against the next due payment of Rent.

 
12. LIENS.

Tenant shall keep the Premises, the Building, and the rest of the Facility free from liens arising out of any work or materials actually or allegedly
performed or furnished, or obligations incurred, by or for Tenant (other than the work to be performed by Landlord pursuant to Exhibit B). Tenant agrees to
indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from and against any and all claims for mechanics’, materialmen’s or other liens in connection with any Alterations,
repairs, or any work performed, materials furnished, or obligations incurred by or for Tenant other than the work performed by Landlord pursuant to Exhibit B.
In the event any such lien is filed, and Tenant has not provided Landlord with a lien release bond or other adequate security therefor, as provided below,
Landlord may, upon thirty (30) days’ written notice to Tenant, without waiving Landlord’s rights based on such breach by Tenant and without releasing Tenant
from any obligations hereunder, pay and satisfy the same and in such event the sums so paid by Landlord shall be due and payable by Tenant immediately
without notice or demand, with interest from the date paid by Landlord through the date Tenant pays Landlord, at an interest rate equal to the Reference Rate (as
defined in Subsection 6.3.1 above) plus three percent (3%). Tenant shall nevertheless have the right to contest or object to the amount or validity of any lien
against the Premises or the Building arising out of work performed by or on behalf of Tenant by appropriate legal proceedings so long as (a) Tenant notifies
Landlord of Tenant’s intent to contest such lien within thirty (30) days after Tenant has notice of the imposition thereof, (b) Tenant, within such thirty (30) day
period, furnishes Landlord with and arranges for recordation of a lien release bond complying with the requirements of Cal. Civil Code Section 3143 (or any
successor statute) so as to release the lien from the Premises and the balance of the Facility upon recordation of such bond, or with other security reasonably
satisfactory to Landlord to satisfy such claim or lien, (c) upon any final determination of such contest which is not appealable or is not being appealed by Tenant,
Tenant pays the amount of such claim or lien then due (provided that Tenant shall at its sole cost post any bond required to pursue an appeal), and (d) Tenant’s
indemnity set forth above in this Section 12 shall apply to all claims arising in connection with such contest or objection.

 
13. SIGNS; NAMES OF BUILDING AND FACILITY.

Except for the signage provided for in Section 51 of this Lease, Tenant shall not place any other logo, sign, advertisement, announcement, warning, or
notice upon or in front of the Premises or any Common Areas without Landlord’s prior written consent, which consent may be withheld in Landlord’s sole and
absolute (but good faith) discretion. Tenant shall not use any insignia or logotype of the Building or Facility for any purpose outside of those purposes allowed to
Tenant in said Section 51. Tenant shall not use any picture of the Building or Facility in its advertising or stationery or in any other manner. Landlord expressly
reserves the right, in Landlord’s sole and absolute discretion, at any time to
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change the name, insignia, logotype, or street address of the Building or the Facility without in any manner being liable to Tenant; provided, however, that
Landlord shall reimburse Tenant for its reasonable cost of replacing its then current supply of stationery, business cards, and envelopes.

 
14. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING.

14.1 “Transfer” Defined. Subject to Subsection 14.10 below, as used herein, the term “Transfer” shall mean any assignment of this Lease (including,
without limitation, assignment by operation of law—e.g., death of an individual tenant or merger, dissolution, consolidation, or other reorganization of a
corporate tenant), subletting of all or any part of the Premises, or transfer of possession, or right of possession or contingent right of possession of all or any
portion of the Premises, including without limitation, concession, mortgage, encumbrance, devise, hypothecation, agency, or franchise agreement, or to suffer
any other person (the Tenant Parties excepted) to occupy or use the said Premises or any portion thereof. If Tenant is a corporation that is not a public
corporation, or is an unincorporated association or partnership, or if Tenant consists of more than one party, the transfer, assignment (including, without
limitation, assignment by operation of law), or hypothecation of any stock of or interest in Tenant in the aggregate in excess of fifty percent (50%) shall also be
deemed to be a “Transfer.” If Tenant is a partnership or consists of more than one party, then any of the foregoing events with respect to any such party
comprising Tenant, or with respect to any constituent general partner of Tenant or any such party, shall also be deemed to be a “Transfer.”

14.2 No Transfer Without Consent. Tenant shall not, either voluntarily or by operation of law or otherwise, suffer a Transfer without the prior written
consent of Landlord, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, except as otherwise expressly provided below. Landlord’s consent to one Transfer shall
not be deemed to be a consent to any subsequent Transfer; nor shall Landlord’s consent constitute an acknowledgment that no default then exists of the
obligations to be performed by Tenant under this Lease; nor shall such consent be deemed a waiver of any then existing default, except as may be otherwise
stated in writing by Landlord at the time; nor shall Landlord’s acceptance of Rent from any person be deemed a waiver by Landlord of any provision of this
Section 14. If Landlord’s approval or consent for any agreement or instrument is required hereunder, then no amendment or modification shall be made thereto
without Landlord’s prior consent. Any Transfer that is not in compliance with the provisions of this Section 14 shall be voidable at Landlord’s election.

14.3 Procedure for Assignment and Subletting/Landlord’s Recapture Rights. Tenant shall advise Landlord by written notice of (a) Tenant’s intent to make
a Transfer, (b) the name of the proposed transferee, and evidence reasonably satisfactory to Landlord that such proposed transferee will use the Premises in
compliance with the use provisions of this Lease and is comparable in reputation and stature to the other tenants then leasing comparable space in the Facility or
in Comparable Buildings (such evidence shall include, without limitation, (i) a description of the proposed transferee’s business background and experience, and
(ii) such other information as Landlord may reasonably request concerning such transferee, but Landlord shall not request information concerning the financial
condition of such transferee), and (c) the terms of the proposed assignment or subletting (including the financial terms and the intended use of the Premises),
together with a copy of the proposed Transfer documents. Landlord need not commence its review of any proposed Transfer, or respond to any request by Tenant
with respect to such, unless and until Landlord has received all of the foregoing documentation from Tenant. Landlord shall, within fifteen (15) days, in the event
that Tenant is seeking Landlord’s consent for a sublease of a portion of the Premises which is not subject to Landlord’s right of recapture (as further described
below) or twenty-five (25) days, in the event that Tenant is seeking Landlord’s consent for a sublease of a portion of the Premises which is subject to Landlord’s
right of recapture (as further described below), after receipt of such notice and documentation, and any additional information reasonably requested by Landlord,
elect one of the following:

(i) Consent to such proposed Transfer;
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(ii) Refuse such consent, which refusal shall be on reasonable grounds, subject to the provisions of Subsection 14.4 below and shall be provided to
Tenant in writing and such writing shall state the grounds for such refusal; or

(iii) Elect to terminate this Lease in the event of an assignment other than to a Permitted Affiliate (as such term is defined in Subsection 14.10
below), or in the case of a sublease, terminate this Lease as to the portion of the Premises proposed to be sublet for the proposed term of the sublease (such
election may be exercised for any reason whatsoever, including, without limitation, the intent of Landlord to enter into a direct lease with the proposed
assignee or subtenant); provided, however, that Landlord shall only have such termination option if the proposed Transfer is for the remainder of the
unexpired Term and is for at least one full floor of the Premises. Also, in the event that Tenant proposes to transfer a portion of the Premises contiguous to
space leased by Tenant to a “business partner” (i.e., a person or entity with whom Tenant has an ongoing contractual relationship evidenced by a written
contract, a copy of which shall be provided to Landlord) or Permitted Affiliate (as defined in Subsection 14.10 below), Landlord shall not have such
termination option with respect to such portion of the Premises. If Landlord exercises such termination option, then (a) this Lease shall terminate as to all
or such portion, as the case may be, of the Premises effective as of the date on which the proposed Transfer was intended to have become effective,
(b) Tenant shall vacate such portion of the Premises prior to such date, and (c) Landlord and Tenant shall have no further liability to each other under this
Lease from and after such date with respect to such space, except as otherwise provided in this Section and in Section 41 (Survival of Certain Rights and
Obligations). If this Lease is terminated as to less than all of the Premises pursuant to the preceding sentence, the Rent, including, without limitation,
Tenant’s Percentage Share, under this Lease shall be equitably adjusted by Landlord on the basis that the rentable area of the portion of the Premises
remaining bears to the rentable area of the entire Premises. No failure of Landlord to exercise its termination option hereunder shall be deemed a waiver of
the right to terminate this Lease subsequently (with respect to a subsequent Transfer) in accordance with the terms hereof, as it is intended that this option
to terminate shall continue to exist during the entire Term.

14.4 Conditions to Approval.

14.4.1 Reasonable Standards. It is understood and agreed that, without limiting Landlord’s right of consent as provided herein, Landlord’s
withholding consent shall be deemed reasonable if the proposed assignment or sublease fails to meet any one or more of the following criteria: (a) neither the
proposed Transfer nor the proposed use of the Premises by the proposed transferee shall conflict with or result in a breach of Subsections 3.2 (Restriction on
Use), or 8.2 (Consent Required for Hazardous Substances), or any other provision of this Lease, nor shall it violate any exclusivity arrangement that Landlord
may then have with any other tenant of the Facility which Landlord entered into prior to the date the Tenant requested Landlord’s consent for such proposed
transfer; (b) the proposed transferee’s proposed use of space in the Premises shall not be for an office or facility of any governmental agency or authority (unless
reasonably approved by Landlord), or an embassy or consulate or similar office; (c) the proposed transferee’s use of space in the Premises is for a school or
classroom use, an entertainment, sports or recreation facility, retail sales to the public, medical offices, or a personnel or employment agency, telephone “boiler
rooms,” or a business where the general public routinely makes payments, receives cash or checks or processes applications for permits or registrations; (d) the
proposed transferee shall be of a reputation and stature consistent with the character of the Comparable Building as reflected by the then existing tenants of the
Comparable Building which respect to comparable space; (e) neither the proposed transferee nor its use of the Premises shall be subject to
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compliance with additional requirements beyond such requirements as are then already applicable to the party desiring to assign or sublease of the Law
(including related regulations) commonly known as the “Americans with Disabilities Act” or any similar federal, state, or local Law now or hereafter in effect,
unless the proposed transferee or Tenant shall have expressly agreed to bear all costs related to compliance with such additional requirements; (f) the proposed
transferee shall not be a party for which Landlord’s consent is required under Subsection 14.7 below; and (g) if the proposed transferee would be subleasing less
than all of the Premises included in any particular floor, there shall not be (following consummation of the proposed sublease) more than five (5) “Occupants” on
such floor. For purposes of the preceding sentence, an “Occupant” of a floor shall include Tenant (if Tenant is occupying any portion of the floor through
personnel of Tenant or any Affiliate), any of Tenant’s subtenants or sub-subtenants (other than Affiliates) occupying any space on said floor, and in the case of
any floor of which Tenant leases only a portion, any other tenant (and any of its subtenants or sub-subtenants) of space on such floor.

14.4.2 Fees. In the event that Landlord shall consent to a proposed Transfer, or shall reasonably disapprove a proposed Transfer (other than in
connection with an exercise of Landlord’s recapture rights under Subsection 14.3), pursuant to the provisions of this Section 14, Tenant shall pay, within thirty
(30) days of Landlord’s demand therefor, Landlord’s reasonable, actual processing costs and attorneys’ fees (which shall be either the reasonable, actual costs of
Landlord’s in-house counsel or the reasonable, actual costs of Landlord’s outside counsel, but not both) incurred in connection with such matter.

14.5 Landlord’s Right to Bonus Rentals.

14.5.1 Payment. In the event of a Transfer of this Lease, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord, pursuant to Subsection 14.5.2 below, fifty percent
(50%) of the “Rent Differential” received by Tenant in connection with or in respect to such Transfer. For purposes of this Subsection, the following definitions
shall apply:

(a) the term “Rent Differential” shall mean the excess of (i) any and all “Proceeds” payable to Tenant over (ii) Tenant’s “Allowed Costs”;

(b) the term “Proceeds” shall mean any and all fees, rents, charges, payments, or other sums or consideration attributable to the use of the
Premises, including payments in excess of market value as reasonably determined by Tenant for Tenant’s trade fixtures, equipment and furnishings payable or
deliverable to Tenant in connection with the Transfer; and

(c) the term “Allowed Costs” shall mean (i) reasonable attorneys’ fees and reasonable broker’s commissions and reasonable advertising and
marketing costs and fees paid by Tenant to attorneys or brokers in connection with such assignment or subletting, plus (ii) any other reasonable out-of-pocket
concessions, including the reasonable costs of constructing any tenant improvements (including any demising walls and further including lost rental during the
period of such construction (up to a period of 60 days) if no Rent is being collected by Tenant for such period of time), planning allowances, moving allowances
and lease takeover payments. Tenant is required to furnish to such assignee or subtenant, plus (iii) in the case of an assignment, all of the Rent, or in the case of a
subletting, the proportionate amount of the Rent allocable to the portion of the Term and portion of the Premises (if less than all) covered by such subletting, as
reasonably determined by Landlord and Tenant.

14.5.2 Recovery. In the event the Proceeds are paid in installments (e.g., monthly subrent), then the Allowed Costs shall be deducted as they are
incurred, and Landlord’s share of the Rent Differential shall be payable at the same time such installment payments are made after Tenant recovers one hundred
percent (100%) of the Allowed Costs.
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14.5.3 Good Faith. Tenant covenants that any allocation of payments or other consideration payable or deliverable to Tenant in connection with any
subletting of the Premises or assignment of this Lease shall be made in good faith and not with a purpose to avoid Tenant’s obligation to pay 50% of the Rent
Differential to Landlord.

14.5.4 Arbitration. Should the parties fail to reach agreement concerning the amount of any Rent Differential payable to Landlord pursuant to this
Subsection 14.5, either party may elect to submit the dispute to arbitration in accordance with the provisions of Exhibit F attached hereto.

14.6 Joint and Several Obligations. Each permitted subtenant or assignee shall assume all obligations of Tenant under this Lease with respect to the
Premises, or such portion thereof as may be covered by the sublease or assignment entered into by such party, and, if the Original Tenant is not conducting
business in any portion of the Building, such permitted subtenant or assignee shall, if Landlord so elects, make direct payment to Landlord of the Rent in the
amount set forth in the sublease or assignment, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the parties thereto, and the performance of all of the terms, covenants,
conditions, and agreements herein contained on Tenant’s part to be performed with respect to the Premises or such subleased space, as the case may be. No
Transfer shall be valid and no transferee shall take possession of the Premises or any part thereof unless, within ten (10) days after the execution of the
documentary evidence thereof, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord a duly executed duplicate original of the Transfer instrument in a form reasonably satisfactory to
Landlord that (a) provides that the transferee assumes Tenant’s obligations for the payment of Rent to the extent set forth in the sublease or assignment (or the
allocable portion thereof, in the case of a sublease of a portion of the Premises) and for the full and faithful observance and performance of the covenants, terms
and conditions contained herein, applicable to the Premises in the event of an assignment or applicable to the subleased space in the event of a sublease,
(b) provides that the transferee will, at Landlord’s election, attorn directly to Landlord if Landlord will recognize the sublease or assignment, as the case may be,
and not disturb the subtenant’s or assignee’s, as the case may be, right to possession of the Premises and provide all services required by this Lease in the event
Tenant’s Lease is terminated for any reason on the terms set forth in the instrument of transfer, and (c) contains such other non-financial assurances as is then
customarily required by Landlord’s first mortgage lenders, the form for which will be provided to Tenant on request. The failure or refusal of a transferee to
execute such an instrument of assumption shall not release or discharge the transferee from its obligations set forth above.

14.7 Non-Competition. Notwithstanding anything in this Section 14 to the contrary, in no event shall Tenant, without Landlord’s prior consent, which
consent, except as provided below, may be withheld in Landlord’s sole and absolute discretion, transfer all or a portion of the Premises or this Lease to any then
tenant or occupant of space in the Building, with whom Landlord (or Landlord’s broker or representative) is engaged in active lease negotiations or discussions
or with whom Landlord (or Landlord’s broker or representative) has exchanged written correspondence regarding lease negotiations or discussions; provided,
however, if Landlord does not then have in the Building space available that would generally meet the size and location requirements of such existing tenant and
Landlord also does not expect to have such space available by the proposed commencement date under Tenant’s desired sublease or assignment of Lease, then
Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay such consent.

14.8 No Merger. The voluntary or other surrender of this Lease by Tenant or mutual cancellation of this Lease shall not work a merger. At the option of
Landlord, any such surrender or cancellation of this Lease shall either terminate any and all then existing subleases or subtenancies or operate as an assignment to
Landlord of Tenant’s interest in any and all such subleases or subtenancies.
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14.9 Landlord’s Right to Assign. Landlord shall have the right to sell, encumber, convey, transfer, and/or assign any of its rights and obligations under this
Lease (in connection with a transfer of all or any portion of Landlord’s interest in the Facility), provided, however, that no sale, conveyance, transfer, or
assignment (other than an arms-length foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure) shall relieve Landlord of its obligations hereunder unless and until the transferee
shall have assumed and agreed (in writing) to perform all of Landlord’s obligations under the Lease. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any offset rights granted to
Tenant in this Lease shall not be defeated by such transfer unless Tenant agrees to the contrary in a written instrument executed and delivered under the terms of
a Subordination, Non- Disturbance and Attornment Agreement required by the provisions of Section 21 of this Lease. Landlord shall not be relieved of any
obligations that shall have accrued with respect to the period prior to the effective date of such transfer, but to the extent so provided in Subsection 23.6.2 below,
Tenant shall look solely to the then interest of Landlord in the Facility (e.g., a mortgage interest, in the case of a seller financed sale of the Facility) and the
proceeds of such transfer (if any) for the satisfaction of any remedy of Tenant for failure to perform such obligations.

14.10 Non-Transfers. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 14 to the contrary, the following transfers (each a “Permitted Transfer”)
shall not constitute an assignment or sublease requiring the consent or approval of Landlord under this Lease, and will not extend any Rent Differential right or
termination right or option to Landlord:

(a) to an affiliate of Tenant; that is, any entity which controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, Tenant;

(b) to an entity resulting from a reorganization of or merger or consolidation with Tenant or a successor resulting from a legislative act;

(c) to an entity which acquires all or substantially all of the assets of Tenant’s business for good business purpose and not principally for the
purpose of transferring this Lease in contravention of the restrictions contained herein; or

(d) of any stock or other ownership or partnership interest in Tenant, or any affiliate of Tenant, whose stock or other ownership or
partnership or membership interest is publicly traded on any national, regional or other stock exchange or “over-the-counter” market;

provided, that Tenant notifies Landlord of any such assignment or sublease and promptly supplies Landlord with all of the documentation described in
Subsection 14.3 above. Any such transferee or affiliate described in this Subsection 14.10 shall be referred to in this Lease as a “Permitted Affiliate.” “Control,”
for the purposes hereof, shall mean the power to direct the management policies of an entity.

 
15. INDEMNIFICATION; INSURANCE; ALLOCATION OF RISK.

15.1 Indemnification.

15.1.1 Tenant’s Indemnity. Except as to any Claims (as defined below) from which Landlord releases Tenant from liability or indemnifies Tenant
pursuant to express provisions of this Lease, Tenant shall at its expense defend (by counsel reasonably approved by Landlord), protect, indemnify, and hold
harmless Landlord and Landlord’s subsidiaries, affiliates, constituent partners, and agents, their respective directors, officers, stockholders, trustees, employees,
successors, and assigns
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(collectively, the “Landlord Parties”) from and against any and all Claims for injury (including death and physical, psychological, and emotional injuries) to any
person or damage to any property whatsoever, to the extent arising from or caused by (whether in whole or in part, directly or indirectly) any of the following
occurrences or circumstances:

(a) any occurrence in, on, or about any part of the Facility, including the Premises, to the extent such injury or damage shall be caused by
the negligent act or omission of Tenant or any Tenant Parties or any of their respective contractors or subcontractors; or

(b) any breach of the obligations of Tenant under Subsection 8.4 above.

As used herein, the term “Claims” shall mean claims, liabilities, penalties, fines, judgments, forfeitures, losses, expenses (including, without limitation,
reasonable attorneys’ fees, consultant fees, expert fees, and court costs), and costs, including, without limitation, and whether foreseeable or unforeseeable, any
and all costs incurred in connection with any investigation of site conditions, and any and all costs of any required or necessary repair, cleanup, detoxification,
decontamination, or other remedial work concerning the Facility.

15.1.2 Landlord’s Indemnity. Except as to any Claims from which Tenant releases Landlord from liability or indemnifies Landlord pursuant to
express provisions of this Lease, Landlord shall at its expense defend (by counsel reasonably approved by Tenant), protect, indemnify, and hold harmless Tenant
and the Tenant Parties from and against any and all Claims for injury (including death and physical, psychological, and emotional injuries) to any person or
damage to any property whatsoever, to the extent arising from or caused by (whether in whole or in part, directly or indirectly) any of the following occurrences
or circumstances:

(a) any occurrence in, on, or about any part of the Facility, to the extent such injury or damage shall be caused by the negligent act or
omission of Landlord or any Landlord Parties or their respective contractors or subcontractors; or

(b) any Hazardous Substances that Landlord or any Landlord Parties or Landlord’s contractors or subcontractors shall have caused,
permitted or authorized to be used, analyzed, stored, transported, disposed, deposited, generated, discharged, or released in, on, under, to, from, or about the
Facility or any nearby property.

15.1.3 Insurers Not Released. The indemnification obligations of Landlord and Tenant hereunder are not intended to and shall not relieve any
insurance carrier of its obligations to Landlord or to Tenant (if any).

15.2 Tenant’s Insurance. Tenant shall have the following insurance obligations:

15.2.1 Liability Insurance. Tenant shall, at Tenant’s expense, obtain and keep in force at all times during the Term, a policy of commercial general
liability insurance (including automobile liability) for occurrences in or about the Premises or otherwise resulting from Tenant’s operations at the Facility. The
minimum limits of liability shall be a combined single limit of not less than Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000.00) per occurrence and a deductible not greater
than Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00). The policy shall protect Landlord and the Landlord Parties as additional insureds. The policy shall also provide for
severability of interest; shall provide that an act or omission of one of the insured or additional insureds that would void or otherwise reduce coverage shall not
void or reduce coverages as to other insured or additional insureds; shall insure performance by Tenant of the indemnity provisions, to the extent commercially
available in commercial general liability insurance policies or for a
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reasonable additional cost, with riders thereto, of this Lease; and shall afford coverage after the Term (by separate policy or extension if necessary) for all claims
based on acts, omissions, injury or damage that occurred or arose during the Term. The policy shall be primary coverage for Tenant and Landlord for any liability
arising out of Tenant’s and the Tenant Parties’ and Tenant Invitees’ use, occupancy or maintenance of the Premises and all areas appurtenant thereto. The limits
of said insurance shall not, however, limit any liability of Tenant under Subsection 15.1.

15.2.2 Personal Property Insurance. Tenant shall maintain in full force and effect on all of its fixtures, personal property, and equipment in the
Premises a policy or policies of fire and casualty insurance in “all risk” form (including water damage) to the extent of at least ninety percent (90%) of their
replacement cost (without deduction for depreciation). No such policy shall have a deductible (other than as to earthquake coverage, which may have a
deductible of up to Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000.00)) in a greater amount than Thirty Thousand Dollars ($30,000.00). Tenant shall also insure in
the same manner the physical value of all its leasehold improvements, if any, in the Premises. The “full replacement value” of the improvements to be insured
under this Subsection 15.2.2 shall be determined by the company issuing the insurance policy at the time the policy is initially obtained and from time to time
throughout the Term. During the Term, the proceeds from any such policy or policies of insurance shall be used for the repair or replacement of the fixtures,
equipment, and leasehold improvements so insured. Landlord shall have no interest in said insurance, and will sign all documents necessary or proper in
connection with the settlement of any claim or loss by Tenant. All such insurance shall contain waivers of subrogation in favor of Landlord.

15.2.3 Worker’s Compensation Insurance. Tenant shall carry and maintain Workers Compensation as required by applicable Laws and Employer’s
Liability insurance with a limit of not less than $1,000,000.

15.2.4 Business Interruption. Subject to Tenant’s rights to self-insure under Subsection 15.5 below, Tenant shall maintain loss of income and
business interruption insurance in such amounts as will reimburse Tenant for direct or indirect loss of earnings attributable to all perils commonly insured against
by prudent tenants or attributable to prevention of access to the Premises or to the Building as a result of such perils, but in no event in an amount less than the
Rent payable hereunder for six (6) months. All such insurance shall contain waivers of subrogation in favor of Landlord; provided, however, that Tenant shall
have the right to self insure the insurance otherwise required under this Subsection 15.2.4; provided further, however, that such self-insurance shall be deemed to
be for the full extent of the otherwise required coverage and with full waiver of subrogation in favor of Landlord.

15.2.5 Other Coverage. During such times as Tenant is performing approved Alterations in the Premises, Tenant shall carry such builder’s risk
insurance as Landlord may require pursuant to Subsection 10.2.5 above.

Not more frequently than every three (3) years, if, in the reasonable opinion of Landlord’s lender or of the independent insurance consultant retained by
Landlord, the amount of public liability insurance coverage at that time is not adequate, or additional coverages not specified above should be obtained, Tenant,
at its cost, shall increase such insurance coverage, and/or obtain such additional coverages, as required by either Landlord’s lender or Landlord’s insurance
consultant, consistent with the then prevailing custom for new leases of similar space in Comparable Buildings but only to the extent required of tenants similar
to Tenant for comparable space.

15.2.6 Insurance Criteria. All the insurance required to be carried by Tenant (except Tenant’s self-insurance under Subsection 15.5 below)
hereunder shall:

(a) Be issued by insurance companies that are qualified and admitted to do business in the State of California and that carry a designation in
“Best’s Insurance Reports,” as issued from time to time throughout the Term, as follows: Policy holders’ rating of A-; financial rating of not less than X.
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(b) Be issued in a form reasonably acceptable to Landlord.

(c) Contain an endorsement requiring thirty (30) days’ written notice from the insurance company to both parties and to Landlord’s lender
before cancellation or expiration of any policy.

(d) Waive subrogation, as required by Subsections 15.2.2, 15.2.4, and 15.2.5, with respect to property loss or damage by fire or other
casualty.

(e) To the extent that Landlord shall have any repair or replacement obligations with respect to the insured property, name Landlord and the
Landlord Parties as additional insureds (except the Worker’s Compensation Insurance) and, at Landlord’s request, shall carry a lender’s loss payee endorsement
in favor of Landlord’s lender.

15.2.7 Evidence of Coverage. A certificate of insurance for the insurance required to be carried by Tenant hereunder shall be delivered to Landlord
prior to Tenant’s commencing remodeling work in or taking occupancy of the Premises, and Tenant shall keep each such policy in full force and effect
throughout the Term. Renewal policies or certificates thereof shall be delivered to Landlord at least thirty (30) days in advance of the expiration dates of the
expiring policies.

15.2.8 Tenant Insurance Default. In the event that Tenant fails to deliver to Landlord any liability policy under Subsection 15.2.1 above, certificate,
or renewal notice hereunder required within the prescribed time period and if such failure continues after ten (10) days written notice thereof from Landlord to
Tenant, or if any such policy is canceled or the coverage with respect to the Premises reduced during the Term without Landlord’s consent, Landlord may at its
option, but shall not be obligated to, obtain such insurance on behalf of Tenant and bill Tenant, as additional rent, for the cost thereof. The provisions of this
Section 15 are for the benefit of Landlord and its lenders only and are not nor shall they be construed to be for the benefit of any employee of Tenant, any other
tenant or occupant of the Building or the Facility, or any other person whatsoever.

15.3 Landlord’s Insurance. Landlord shall maintain policies of insurance covering loss of or damage to the Building in the full amount of its replacement
cost. Such policies shall provide protection (subject to reasonable deductibles) against all perils included within the classification of fire, extended coverage (with
at least a twelve-month rent-loss rider attached and with rental abatement insurance coverage for loss of services contemplated in Subsection 17.4 below, (which
insurance Landlord presently carries and (at a minimum) with respect to the Premises will continue to carry so long as the same remains available) vandalism,
malicious mischief, special extended perils (all risk), sprinkler leakage, and any other perils that Landlord in good faith deems appropriate. Landlord shall not
obtain insurance for Tenant’s trade fixtures or equipment. Landlord shall also maintain a policy of commercial general liability insurance with a combined single
limit of not less than Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000) per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage, plus coverage against such other risks as Landlord
deems advisable from time to time, insuring Landlord against liability arising out of the ownership, use, occupancy or maintenance of the Facility and the
performance by Landlord of the indemnity provisions, to the extent commercially available in commercial general liability insurance policies or, for a reasonable
additional cost, with riders thereto, of this Lease; provided, however, that Landlord may at its option elect to substitute for said policy, insurance that is part of a
blanket insurance
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policy maintained by Landlord, provided that such substituted insurance policy has a combined single limit of not less than Twenty-Five Million Dollars
($25,000,000) allocated to the Building and conforms in all other respects with the foregoing requirements. In addition, if Landlord determines that a majority of
landlords of Comparable Buildings do so, Landlord shall increase such insurance coverage and/or obtain such additional coverages to the level carried by such
other landlords. All the insurance required to be carried by Landlord hereunder shall: (a) Be issued by insurance companies that are qualified and admitted to do
business in the State of California and that carry a designation in “Best’s Insurance Reports,” as issued from time to time throughout the Term, as follows: Policy
holders’ rating of A-; financial rating of not less than X, and (b) Waive subrogation with respect to property loss or damage, including Rent loss and builder’s
risk coverage, by fire or other casualty as specifically set forth in Subsection 15.5 below.

The amount of such liability coverage may be increased from time to time as required by Landlord (but Landlord shall not increase such liability coverage
to an amount greater than that required by owners of Comparable Buildings) or Landlord’s lender. Notwithstanding anything above to the contrary, Landlord
may self-insure the obligations set forth herein so long as (i) Landlord maintains a net worth at least equal to 2.5 times the greater of initial replacement value of
the Facility and the replacement value of the Facility from time to time according to its most recent audited financial statement (in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles consistently applied), and (ii) Landlord governs and manages its self-insurance program in a manner consistent with programs
managed by reasonable businesses. Upon request, Landlord shall supply Tenant with evidence reasonably satisfactory to Tenant’s of Landlord’s net worth and
the satisfaction of the conditions set forth above. If Landlord elects to self-insure, Landlord shall be responsible for any losses or liabilities which would have
been assumed by the insurance companies which would have issued the insurance required of Landlord under this Lease. Landlord will notify Tenant in advance
of any period for which it intends to self-insure and shall provide to confirm the satisfaction of the conditions set forth above. For so long as Landlord
self-insures, Landlord, for all applicable periods, shall and does hereby indemnify and hold harmless Tenant and Tenant’s Parties from and against all costs,
damages or expenses (including attorney fees at the trial and appellate levels) incurred or paid by Tenant or Tenant’s Parties as a result of any claim customarily
covered by the insurance policy provided for in Subsection 15.3 even if such costs, damages or expenses are the result of the fault or negligence of Landlord.

15.4 Exculpation.

15.4.1 Waiver. Landlord and Tenant release each other and Landlord Parties and Tenant Parties, respectively, from any Claims of whatever nature
for damage, loss, or injury to the Premises, the Building, and/or the Facility, or to the other’s property in, on, or about the Premises and the Facility, to the extent
of any insurance proceeds that are received or receivable (or that would have been receivable but for such releasing party’s breach or default of its obligations to
carry insurance under this Lease), even if such damage, loss, or injury shall have been caused by the fault or negligence (but not willful misconduct) of the other
party or anyone for whom such party may be responsible. Landlord and Tenant shall each cause their respective insurance policies to provide that the insurance
company waives all right of recovery by way of subrogation against either Landlord or Tenant in connection with any damage covered by any policy. To the
extent of any insurance proceeds actually received, or that would have payable but for a breach of this Lease, neither Landlord nor Tenant shall be liable to the
other for any damage caused by fire or any of the risks insured against under any insurance policy required by this Lease. Further, except to the extent otherwise
expressly provided below in this Subsection, Tenant hereby waives all Claims against Landlord and the Landlord Parties for any loss, theft, or damage to
Tenant’s business or Personal Property or injury (including death and physical, psychological, and emotional injuries) to persons, in, upon or about the Premises
and/or the Facility from any cause whatsoever, including, without limitation, the active or passive negligence of Landlord or the Landlord
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Parties. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Tenant specifically acknowledges that such waived Claims includes injuries, losses, and damage
resulting from the following causes: Fire; smoke; explosion; falling plaster, ceiling tiles, fixtures, or signs; broken glass; steam; gas; fumes; vapors; odors; dust;
dirt; grease; acid; oil; any other Hazardous Substance; debris; noise; air or noise pollution; vibration; theft; breakage; vermin; electricity; computer or electronic
equipment or systems malfunction or stoppage; water; rain; flooding; freezing; windstorm; snow; sleet; hail; frost; ice; excessive heat or cold; sewage; sewer
backup; toilet overflow; leaks or discharges from or into the Premises or any other part of the Facility, or from any pipes, sprinklers, appliances, equipment
(including, without limitation, heating, ventilating, and air-conditioning equipment); electrical or other wiring; plumbing fixtures; roofs; windows; skylights;
doors; trapdoors; the surface or subsurface of any floor or ceiling of any part of the Facility; dampness or climatic conditions; maintenance, repair, or
construction activities; renovation work; and any interruption, cessation, or failure of any public or other utility service.

 
16. SECURITY SERVICES.

16.1 Landlord’s Obligation to Furnish Security Services. Landlord shall supply to the Building unarmed lobby attendant services at all times (i.e. 365 days
a year, 24 hours a day) and that are generally comparable to the lobby attendant services provided in Comparable Buildings; provided, however, that neither
Landlord nor any other Landlord Parties shall be liable to Tenant, Tenant’s employees, invitees or any other person or entity for (and Tenant waives all claims
against them arising by reason of) direct or consequential damages except to the extent such direct damages (but not in any event consequential damages) are
caused by Landlord’s or Landlord Parties’ willful misconduct or gross negligence, but specifically including, without limitation, damage or injury to person or
property or loss of life, resulting from the presence, admission to or exclusion from the Building or Facility of any person, and Tenant acknowledges that
Landlord’s provision of security guards or other security services for the Building or Facility shall not be construed as Landlord’s or any Landlord Party’s
acceptance of any responsibility or liability for the security of persons or property in, on or about the Premises, the Building or the Facility. Landlord may, but
shall not be obligated to, furnish additional security services for the Premises, the Building and/or the Facility as Landlord deems appropriate in its sole and
absolute discretion. In the event Landlord furnishes or contracts to furnish any such additional services, Tenant shall nevertheless remain solely responsible for
the protection of itself, the Tenant Parties and all property of Tenant and the Tenant Parties located in, on, or about the Premises or the Building or the Facility,
and the provisions of Section 15 shall nevertheless continue in full force and effect. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall have the right to supplement the
security provided by Landlord under this Subsection 16.1 below to the extent that Tenant’s additional security does not interfere with the security provided by
Landlord hereunder. Landlord shall have the right to take all such reasonable and lawful measures as Landlord may deem advisable for the security of the
Building or the Facility and their occupants, including, without limitation, the lawful search of any person entering or leaving the Building, the evacuation of the
Building (or any part thereof) for cause, suspected cause, or for drill purposes, the temporary denial of access to the Building (or any part thereof), and the
closing of the Building after normal business hours and on Sundays and holidays, subject, however, to Tenant’s right to admittance, when the Building is so
closed, under such reasonable regulations as Landlord may prescribe from time to time.

16.2 Card-Key Access. Landlord has installed a card-key security system to control access to: (i) each floor of the Premises from the passenger elevators;
(ii) the Exercise Room; and (iii) the entry to the Building on Fremont Street (after normal business hours). The access described in the preceding sentence hereof
shall be controlled by card-key (one card-key for all access points) issued to Tenant by Landlord and shall operate on a 24-hour-per-day, 365-day-per-year basis.
Landlord shall pay for the cost of the initial card-keys, not to exceed one card-key for each 250 rentable square feet of space included in the Initial Premises.
Tenant shall pay for all card-keys in excess of the initial card-keys required pursuant to the preceding sentence hereof and for any replacement of lost or stolen
card-keys.
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17. BUILDING SERVICES.

17.1 Standard Building Services. Landlord shall furnish the Premises with the standard building services and utilities as set forth in the attached Exhibit D.

17.2 Additional Services. Except with respect to electricity which is separately payable by Tenant under this Lease in whatever quantities consumed by
Tenant, Tenant shall not, without the consent of Landlord (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), (a) use any equipment, apparatus, or device in the
Premises that will in any way increase the amount of cooling capacity or water usually furnished or supplied for use to the Premises for general office purposes
(i.e., the amounts provided at the standard levels specified in the attached Exhibit D as being available without additional charge), or (b) connect to water pipes or
any apparatus or device for the purpose of using water. Tenant agrees to pay within thirty (30) days of demand all reasonable charges (reasonable meaning, in
such context, the charges which would be invoiced to Tenant by third-party specialists providing such services, which charges shall in no event be more than
those charges imposed by Landlord on third-party tenants in the Building, which such charges shall be prorated based on size, type, intensity and degree of such
service) imposed by Landlord from time to time for all building services (it being agreed that there shall be no markup for typical and customary extra cleaning
services or heating and air conditioning after Business Hours (as such terms is defined in Subsection l(b) of Exhibit D attached hereto) requested by Tenant for
the Premises) and all actual charges, without markup, for services and utilities requested by and supplied to or used by Tenant in excess of or in addition to those
standard building services and utilities described in Exhibit D. Such excess and additional building services and utilities are hereinafter referred to as “Additional
Services.” If Tenant uses utilities in excess of such standards, Landlord may, upon prior notice to Tenant, cause a switch and/or metering system to be installed at
Tenant’s expense (which expense shall be Landlord’s actual cost of installing such switch and Tenant shall pay within thirty (30) days after receipt of an invoice
from Landlord covering the cost to install such switch or metering system) to measure the amount of building services, utilities, and/or Additional Services
consumed by Tenant or used in the Premises. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 17.2 or Exhibit D, Landlord has advised Tenant that the
Building’s HVAC system is reasonably capable, under normal operating circumstances, of accommodating Tenant’s reasonable cooling requirements; provided,
however, after Business Hours (as defined in Exhibit D), Tenant shall be limited to four (4) tons per floor, or a combined total of sixteen tons per the Premises.

17.3 Conservation. Tenant shall cooperate in a commercially reasonable manner with Landlord to effect conservation of all utilities in the Building and
shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to minimize its use of water, heat, electricity, and air conditioning to the extent that such efforts do not unreasonably
interfere with the conduct of Tenant’s business.

17.4 Landlord’s Right to Cease Providing Services. Landlord reserves the right, in its reasonable discretion, to reduce, interrupt, or cease service of the
heating, air conditioning, ventilation, elevator, plumbing, electrical systems, telephone systems, and/or utility services of the Premises, the Building, or the
Facility, for any of the following reasons or causes:

(a) any accident, emergency, Law (including, without limitation, Laws requiring conservation or rationing of electricity, fuel, or water), or
Force Majeure (as defined in Section 18); or
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(b) the making of any repairs or governmentally mandated additions, alterations, or improvements to the Premises, the Building, or the
Facility, until such repairs or governmentally mandated additions, alterations, or improvements shall have been completed; or

(c) the voluntary making of additions, alterations or improvements to the Building or the Facility other than those described in Subsection
17.4(b) above.

No such interruption, reduction, or cessation of any such building services or utilities shall constitute an eviction or disturbance of Tenant’s use or possession of
the Premises or Common Areas, or a breach of Landlord’s obligations hereunder, or render Landlord liable for any damages (including, without limitation, any
damages, compensation, or claims arising from any interruption or cessation of Tenant’s business), or entitle Tenant to be relieved from any of its obligations
under the Lease, or result in any abatement of Rent, except to the extent otherwise provided below. However, Landlord shall use commercially reasonable
diligence to restore such service or to reduce the length of such interruption, and to minimize any disturbance to Tenant, where it is within Landlord’s
commercially reasonable control to do so. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any interruption in, or failure or inability to provide any of the services described in
this Section 17 or Exhibit D (an “Adverse Condition”) results from activities under clause (c) above or, as to clauses (a) or (b) above, continues for the
“Applicable Interruption Period” (as defined below) after Tenant’s written notice thereof to Landlord, and Tenant is unable to conduct its business in a
reasonable manner in a “significant portion” of the Premises as a direct result thereof and Tenant therefore actually does not occupy or use such “significant
portion” of the Premises (or substantially reduces its use and occupancy of such “significant portion” to a mere “skeleton crew” basis as necessary to perform
critical functions for Tenant’s business), as the case may be, then Tenant shall be entitled to an abatement of Rent for the portion of the Premises rendered
untenantable. Such abatement shall commence as of the first day after the expiration of such Applicable Interruption Period and terminate upon the cessation of
such Adverse Condition. As used in this Subsection 17.4 and in Subsection 22.2 below, the term “significant portion” shall be deemed to mean an area consisting
of at least 1,000 rentable square feet or any strategic office (such as the computer room or phone connect room (regardless of its size)). As used herein, the term
“Applicable Interruption Period” shall mean (i) one (1) business day as to activities under clause (c) above, (ii) three (3) consecutive business days or such
shorter period as applicable under the coverage which is or would be covered by rental abatement insurance required to be covered by Landlord (subject to the
provisions of Subsection 15.3 above), (iii) five (5) consecutive business days in the case of an Adverse Condition within Landlord’s reasonable control which is
not covered by (ii) above, (iv) twenty (20) consecutive days in the case of an Adverse Condition that is not within Landlord’s reasonable control, but that exists
within or arises from an event or circumstances occurring within the Building or the Facility which is not covered by (ii) above, and (v) sixty (60) consecutive
days in the case of an Adverse Condition that is not within Landlord’s reasonable control and does not exist within or arise from any event or circumstance
occurring within the Building or the Facility, but that arises from circumstances occurring outside of and in the immediate vicinity of the Building for which is
not covered by (ii) above. If the conditions described under this Subsection 17.4(a) and (b) result in Tenant being dispossessed for a period of time which, if such
dispossession has arisen under the provisions of Section 24 below would have given rise to a right to terminate in favor of Tenant, Tenant shall have such right to
terminate under this Subsection 17.4. If the conditions described under Subsection 17.4(c) above (unless covered by the provisions of Section 24 below or
resulting from voluntary acts of Tenant) result in Tenant being dispossessed for a period of 60 days, Tenant shall have a right to terminate this Lease.

 
18. FORCE MAJEURE.

Except as otherwise expressly provided elsewhere in this Lease with respect to Tenant’s right to abatement of Rent under certain circumstances, neither
Landlord nor Tenant shall be chargeable with,
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liable for, or responsible to the other party for anything or in any amount for any failure to perform or delay caused by any of the following events (collectively,
“Force Majeure”): fire; earthquake; explosion; flood; hurricane; the elements; acts of God or the public enemy; actions, restrictions, limitations or interference of
governmental or quasi-governmental authorities or agents; war; invasion; insurrection; rebellion; riots; strikes or lockouts; inability to obtain necessary materials,
goods, equipment, services, utilities or labor; accident; breakage; or any other cause whether similar or dissimilar to the foregoing which is beyond the reasonable
control of such failure (but not unavailability of funds); and any such failure or delay due to said causes or any of them shall not be deemed a breach of or default
in the performance of this Lease by such party.

 
19. RULES AND REGULATIONS.

19.1 Compliance. Tenant, its agents, employees, and servants and those claiming under Tenant will at all times observe, perform, and abide by all of the
general rules and regulations promulgated by Landlord as set forth in Exhibit C and the Rules and Regulations for Construction by Tenant set forth in Exhibit H,
and, to the extent that Tenant is provided with written notice of same, as reasonably modified, supplemented, or amended by Landlord from time to time
(together, the “Rules and Regulations”). Landlord shall not be responsible to Tenant for the nonperformance by any other tenant or occupant of the Facility of
any of said Rules and Regulations, and provided that Landlord shall do the same for Tenant, Landlord shall have the right to make reasonable exceptions for
specific tenants or occupants with respect to the application of certain rules and regulations; provided, however, that nothing contained in this sentence shall
excuse Landlord from performing its obligations required by this Lease. Subject to the foregoing, Landlord agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts,
consistent with Landlord’s rights under applicable leases, to apply the Rules and Regulations in a fair, responsible, nondiscriminatory and equitable manner. If
there is a conflict between the Rules and Regulations and any provision of this Lease, the provisions of this Lease shall prevail.

19.2 Enforcement. Upon Landlord’s receipt of Tenant’s written notice that another tenant or occupant of the Facility is engaging in conduct prohibited by
this Section, to the detriment of Tenant, Landlord agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts, consistent with Landlord’s rights under the lease of such other
tenant or occupant, to cause such party to desist from such prohibited conduct. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord shall not be required to file a lawsuit
against another tenant nor shall Landlord be liable to Tenant for any such conduct on the part of other tenants or occupants of the Building, except to the extent
such conduct results in default in Landlord’s obligations under this Lease.

 
20. HOLDING OVER.

20.1 Surrender of Possession. Tenant shall surrender possession of the Premises immediately upon the expiration of the Term or termination of this Lease.
If Tenant surrenders possession of the Premises to Landlord in a condition other than that required under this Lease, Tenant shall be responsible for all costs
incurred by Landlord arising from such failure. If Tenant retains possession of all or a portion of the Premises after the expiration or earlier termination of the
Term, with Landlord’s express written consent, Tenant’s occupancy shall be deemed to be that of a month-to-month tenancy, terminable upon thirty (30) days’
written notice. If Tenant retains possession of the Premises or any part thereof after the expiration or earlier termination of the Term, without Landlord’s express
written consent, Tenant’s occupancy shall be deemed to be that of a tenancy-at-will, terminable upon five (5) days’ written notice, and in no event shall such
occupancy be deemed from month-to-month or from year-to-year; further such occupancy shall be subject to all of the provisions of this Lease pertaining to the
obligations of Tenant and the rights of Landlord during the Term shall apply, except as expressly modified by this Section 20. In the event that Tenant commits
an Event of Default or remains in possession of the Premises or any part thereof after the expiration of any month-to-month tenancy or tenancy-at-will created
hereby, then Tenant’s occupancy shall be deemed to a tenancy-at-sufferance and not a tenancy-at-will.
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20.2 Holding Over Without Consent. If Tenant, without Landlord’s consent, retains possession of the Premises after the expiration or earlier termination of
Term or past the expiration of any tenancy-at-will under Subsection 20.1 above, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord monthly rental equal to the “Applicable
Percentage” (as defined below) of the Minimum Monthly Rent applicable immediately prior to the expiration or earlier termination of the Term with respect to
such portion of the Premises that Tenant has not surrendered. The “Applicable Percentage” shall be determined as follow: 150% for the first month of such
holdover and 175% for the second month and any additional months of such holdover. In addition, Tenant shall indemnify Landlord from and against all losses,
costs, claims, liabilities, and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements but specifically excluding consequential
damages) sustained by Landlord by reason of such retention (including, without limitation, claims for damages by any other person to whom Landlord may have
agreed to lease all or any part of the Premises effective on or after the date Tenant was obligated to surrender possession of the Premises). No acceptance by
Landlord of Rent during any such holding over without Landlord’s approval shall reinstate, continue, or extend the Term or shall affect any notice of termination
given to Tenant prior to the payment of such money, it being agreed that after the service of such notice or the commencement of any suit by Landlord to obtain
possession of the Premises, Landlord may receive and collect when due any and all payments owed by Tenant under this Lease, and otherwise exercise its rights
and remedies. The making of any such payments by Tenant shall not waive such notice, or in any manner affect any pending suit or judgment obtained.

 
21. SUBORDINATION.

21.1 Landlord hereby represents that as of the date of execution and delivery of this Lease, the Facility is unencumbered by any Incumbrances (as defined
below) except for that certain unrecorded “Ground Lease” (as such term is defined in Section 55 below). If Landlord’s lender shall require the ground lessor
under the Ground Lease to deliver to it a non-disturbance agreement (which such agreement is further detailed below) and if such ground lessor agrees to deliver
such a non-disturbance agreement, Landlord shall require the delivery of a non-disturbance agreement by ground lessor in favor of Tenant within sixty (60) days
of the date that such ground lessor agrees to deliver the non-disturbance agreement to Landlord’s lender. This Lease shall be subject and subordinate to any
mortgage, deed of trust, ground lease or master lease (collectively, “Encumbrance”) hereafter placed upon the Facility and to all renewals, modifications,
replacements and extensions thereof; provided that, as a condition to such subordination, a separate written agreement in a commercially reasonable form as such
holder of or lessor under such Encumbrance (“Encumbrancer”) shall require, shall be entered into between Tenant and such Encumbrancer to specify that,
notwithstanding any default in the Encumbrance and any foreclosure or termination thereof, or the enforcement by the Encumbrancer of any rights or remedies,
including sale thereunder, or otherwise, Tenant shall not be joined or made party to such foreclosure, termination, or other proceedings, and this Lease shall be
recognized and shall remain in full force and effect, and Tenant shall not be disturbed and shall be permitted to remain in quiet and peaceful possession of the
Premises throughout the Term in accordance with and subject to all the provisions of this Lease as long as no Event of Default by Tenant is outstanding.

21.2 In the event that any ground lease or master lease terminates for any reason or any mortgage or deed of trust is foreclosed or a conveyance in lieu of
foreclosure is made for any reason, Tenant shall, notwithstanding any subordination, attorn to and become the Tenant of the successor in interest to Landlord if
such successor shall recognize and assume the Lease and shall agree not to disturb Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises. Upon request by Landlord,
Tenant shall execute and deliver such instruments in a commercially reasonable form as may be reasonably necessary or convenient to
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evidence such subordination, nondisturbance, and/or attornment; provided, however, that if the content of such instruments affect an amendment to this Lease,
such instruments shall be governed by the restrictions set forth with respect to Lease amendments set forth in Section 28 below. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
in no event shall Tenant be obligated to execute any instrument that would constitute an amendment of this Lease, except to the extent otherwise provided in
Section 28 below. Also notwithstanding any provision hereof to the contrary, if any Encumbrancer shall elect to have this Lease prior to the lien of its
Encumbrance and shall give notice thereof to Tenant, this Lease shall be deemed prior to the Encumbrance irrespective of whether the Lease is dated prior or
subsequent to the date of the Encumbrance or the recording date thereof.

 
22. ENTRY BY LANDLORD.

22.1 Reservation. Landlord reserves and shall have the right to enter the Premises at any and all reasonable times after twenty-four (24) hours notice of
same (except in cases of emergency (in which case no notice shall be required)) and in the presence of a representative of Tenant to the extent a representative is
available (except in cases of emergency in which case no representative need be present)) (a) to inspect the same, (b) to verify Tenant’s compliance with its
obligations under this Lease, (c) to post notices of non-responsibility (if permitted by the Laws of the State where the Facility is located), (d) to post any notices
Landlord is required by law to post on the Premises or deemed reasonably necessary by Landlord for Landlord to protect its interest in the Premises and/or the
Facility or for health and safety purposes, (e) to deliver notices to Tenant or any subtenant or occupant of any portion of the Premises, (f) to supply any service to
be provided by Landlord to Tenant hereunder, and (g) to submit the Premises to prospective lender, purchasers, investors, or, during the last six (6) months of the
Term only, tenants. Tenant shall maintain any such notices required by law posted by Landlord in or on the Premises.

22.2 Designation. Tenant may designate certain areas of the Premises as “Secured Areas” should Tenant require such areas for the purpose of securing
certain valuable property or confidential information. Landlord may not enter such Secured Areas except in the case of emergency (in which case no notice shall
be required) or in the event of a Landlord inspection, in which case Landlord shall provide Tenant with ten (10) days’ prior written notice of the specific date and
time of such Landlord inspection and Landlord shall make such inspection in the presence of a representative of Tenant (except in cases of emergency, in which
case no representative need be present).

22.3 Representative. Landlord also reserves and shall have the right to enter the Premises, after twenty-four (24) hours notice of same (except in cases of
emergency, in which case no notice shall be required) and in the presence of a representative of Tenant to the extent a representative is available (except in cases
of emergency, in which case no representative need be present), to perform Landlord’s obligations under Subsection 11.2 above and to perform those repairs to
the Premises for which Tenant is responsible, but which Tenant failed to perform pursuant to Subsection 11.1 above, and Landlord may for such purposes erect
scaffolding and other appropriate structures where reasonably required by the character of the work to be performed.

22.4 Abatement. In the event that any such entry by Landlord into the Premises, or such work performed by Landlord at the Facility, prevents Tenant from
gaining access to or prevents Tenant’s use of all or any “significant portion” of the Premises, Tenant’s Rent shall be abated in the manner set forth in Subsection
17.4.

22.5 Limitation. If, as a result of any entry by Landlord which is described in Subsection 22.4 above, the amount of rentable square feet constituting the
Premises shall be permanently reduced, both parties shall execute an amendment to the Lease memorializing the amount of such reduction in the
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Minimum Monthly Rent and additional Rent. Except as provided in Subsection 17.4 above, in no event, however, shall Tenant be entitled to any abatement of
Rent on account of any noise, vibration, or other disturbance to Tenant’s business at the Premises that may arise out of any such entry by Landlord into the
Premises or out of Landlord’s performance of any such work at the Facility, and under no circumstances shall any such noise, vibration, disturbance, work, or
entry by Landlord be construed or deemed to be a forcible or unlawful entry into or a detainer of the Premises or an eviction of Tenant from the Premises or any
portion thereof.

22.6 Mitigation. Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts (which shall not include any obligation to employ labor at overtime rates other than
with respect to activities which cause noise or vibration at disruptive levels or impede access to the Premises, such as core drilling, which shall only be performed
on an “after Business Hours” basis except in emergencies) to avoid or minimize disruption of Tenant’s business during any such entry or work by Landlord.

22.7 Emergency. Landlord shall have the right to use any and all means that Landlord may deem appropriate to open any doors in an emergency in order to
obtain entry to the Premises; provided, however, that Landlord shall repair any damage resulting therefrom (and costs thereof shall constitute an Operating
Expense to the extent permitted by Section 6 above).

 
23. DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES.

23.1 Events of Default.

23.1.1 Definition. In addition to those events designated as Events of Default in other provisions of this Lease, each of the following shall constitute
an “Event of Default” by Tenant and a breach of this Lease:

(a) Tenant’s failure to make any payment owed by Tenant under this Lease, as and when due, where such failure is not cured within ten
(10) days following Tenant’s receipt of Landlord’s written notice thereof, provided, however, that in the event Tenant shall fail to make timely payment of Rent
payments which are due monthly three (3) or more times in any twelve (12) month period and Landlord shall have delivered to Tenant a written notice of such
delinquencies, then during the twelve (12) consecutive months immediately after such failure the ten (10) day cure period shall be reduced to a three (3) day cure
period; or

(b) Tenant’s failure to observe, keep, or perform any of the terms, covenants, agreements, or conditions under this Lease that Tenant is
obligated to observe or perform, other than that described in clause (a) above, for a period of thirty (30) days after delivery of notice to Tenant of said failure;
provided however, that if the nature of Tenant’s default is such that more than thirty (30) days are reasonably required for its cure, then Tenant shall not be
deemed to be in default under this Lease if Tenant shall commence the cure of such default so specified within said thirty (30) day period and shall diligently
prosecute the same to completion; provided further, however, that if Tenant is prevented from observing, keeping or performing any of the terms, covenants,
agreements or conditions under this Lease because of a Force Majeure event, then Tenant shall not be in default during the period of such Force Majeure event;
or

(c) The occurrence of any of the events described in Subsection 37.5 (Events of Bankruptcy) below with respect to any guarantor of any
obligations of Tenant under this Lease, where Tenant fails to furnish a substitute guarantor, or alternative security, satisfactory to Landlord within sixty (60) (or
sooner if reasonably possible) days after Landlord’s delivery of Landlord’s written demand therefor.
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23.1.2 Notice of Default. The notices of default provided for in Subsection 23.1 .l(a) and (b) shall in each case be in lieu of, and not in addition to,
any notice required under applicable unlawful detainer Laws;

23.2 Remedies. Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, Landlord may exercise any one or more of the termination rights and other remedies
described in this Section 23, in addition to all other rights and remedies now or hereafter provided at law or in equity.

23.3 Right to Cure. All covenants and agreements to be performed by Tenant under this Lease shall be performed by Tenant at Tenant’s sole cost and
expense. If Tenant shall fail to perform any act on its part to be performed under this Lease, and such failure shall continue beyond any applicable notice and cure
period (except that no notice or cure shall be required in cases of emergency), Landlord may, but shall not be obligated to do so, without waiving or releasing
Tenant from any obligations of Tenant, perform any such act on Tenant’s part to be performed as provided in this Lease. All reasonable costs incurred by
Landlord with respect to any such performance by Landlord (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord within thirty (30) days of
Landlord’s demand therefor.

23.4 Waiver of Redemption. Tenant hereby waives, for itself and all persons claiming by and under Tenant, all rights and privileges which it might have
under any present or future law to redeem the Premises or to continue the Lease after being dispossessed or ejected from the Premises.

23.5 Remedies Cumulative. All remedies of Landlord under this Lease are cumulative. Efforts by Landlord to mitigate the damages caused by Tenant’s
default shall not constitute a waiver of Landlord’s right to recover damages, nor shall Landlord have any obligation to mitigate damages, except to the extent
provided by applicable Laws.

23.6 Default by Landlord.

23.6.1 Notice. In no event shall Landlord be deemed to be in default if Landlord fails to perform any covenant, term, or condition of this Lease upon
Landlord’s part to be performed (including Landlord’s obligations set forth in Section 40 below, it being agreed that after the expiration of the cure period
provided therein Landlord shall have no further cure period), unless and until thirty (30) days have expired after delivery, to Landlord and to the holder of any
mortgage or deed of trust covering the Premises whose name and address shall have theretofore been furnished to Tenant, of a written notice specifying in detail
Landlord’s failure to perform and demanding the correction of such deficiency; provided, however, that if such deficiency cannot be cured or corrected within
such 30-day period Landlord shall not be in default if Landlord or anyone on behalf of Landlord commences such cure or correction within such 30-day period
and thereafter diligently and continuously prosecutes the same to completion. If Landlord is deemed to be in default under the provisions of this Subsection,
Tenant shall be entitled to bring an action for declaratory judgment or specific performance, or for damages (subject to the provisions of this Lease limiting
Landlord’s liability) shown by Tenant to have been directly caused by such default; provided, however, that subject to Subsection 23.6.5 below, an action for
declaratory judgment or specific performance will be Tenant’s sole right and remedy in any dispute as to whether Landlord has breached any express or implied
obligation under this Lease to not unreasonably withhold Landlord’s consent or approval.

23.6.2 Consequential Damages. Tenant agrees that, in the event it becomes entitled to receive damages from Landlord, Tenant shall not, in any
event, be allowed to recover from Landlord consequential damages or damages in excess of the out-of-pocket expenditures incurred by Tenant as a result of a
default by Landlord. Further, Tenant shall look solely to the then interest of Landlord in the Facility, or of any successor in interest to Landlord, as owner of the
Facility, and/or the proceeds of
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insurance relating thereto, and (in the case of any liability that Subsections 14.90 and 26 provide shall survive a sale, conveyance, or transfer of the Facility) the
proceeds (if any) of a sale, conveyance or transfer of the Facility, for the satisfaction of any remedy of Tenant for failure to perform any Landlord’s obligations
under this Lease, express or implied, or under any Law.

23.6.3 Non-Liability. Neither Landlord nor any disclosed or undisclosed principal of Landlord (or officer, director, stockholder, partner or agent of
Landlord or of any such principal), nor any successor of any of them, shall have any personal liability for any such failure under this Lease or otherwise. The
provisions of this Subsection shall apply only to Landlord and the parties above-described. They shall not be for the benefit of any insurance company or other
third party. Except as set forth in Subsections 11.2, 17.4, and 22.2 above and in Sections 24, 25 below or in the Work Letter or elsewhere in the Lease, Tenant
hereby expressly waives its rights under any and all Laws, to terminate this Lease (whether prior to or after the commencement of the Term) or to withhold any
payment owed by Tenant under this Lease, on account of any damage, condemnation, destruction, or state of disrepair of the Premises, or any part thereof, it
being the parties’ intent that the provisions of this Lease shall govern the parties’ rights and obligations with respect to such matters. In the event of any conflict
between any provision of this Subsection and any other provision(s) of this Lease, the provisions of this Subsection shall control.

23.6.4 Counter-Claim. In the event Landlord commences any proceedings against Tenant for possession of the Premises or for non-payment of Rent
or any other sum due and payable to Landlord hereunder, Tenant shall not interpose any counter-claim or other claim against Landlord of whatever nature or
description in any such proceedings; and in the event that Tenant interposes any such counter-claim or other claim against Landlord in such proceedings,
Landlord and Tenant hereby stipulate and agree that, in addition to any other lawful remedy of Landlord, upon motion of Landlord, such counter-claim or other
claim asserted by Tenant shall be severed out of the proceedings instituted by Landlord and such proceedings instituted by Landlord may proceed to final
judgment separately and apart from and without consolidation with or reference to the status of such counter-claim or other claim asserted by Tenant. The
foregoing provisions of this Subsection 23.6.4 shall not apply in the case of any “claim” that under applicable codes of civil procedure would be deemed forfeited
if not asserted in the same proceeding. Landlord hereby stipulates and agrees that the provisions of this Subsection 23.6.4 shall not apply or be enforceable so
long as the Original Tenant or an affiliate thereof is still the Tenant hereunder or the Tenant hereunder became the Tenant as a result of a Permitted Transfer.

23.6.5 Arbitration. Notwithstanding any provision hereof to the contrary, Tenant shall have the following additional remedy in the event that
Landlord, pursuant to Subsection 14.3 of this Lease, refuses to consent to a proposed Transfer and Tenant believes that such refusal constitutes a breach of
Landlord’s obligations under this Lease: Within five (5) business days after notice of such refusal is received or deemed received by Tenant, Tenant may by
written demand delivered to Landlord elect to submit to binding arbitration the issue of whether Landlord refused such consent in accordance with the provisions
of this Lease. Such written demand by Tenant shall include Tenant’s designation of its candidate to serve as the arbitrator, which candidate shall satisfy the
following requirements:

(a) Qualifications. Each candidate for arbitrator shall be a California-licensed attorney with recognized expertise and at least ten (10) years’
experience in leasing matters pertaining to first-class high rise office building operations in the San Francisco Financial district. Each candidate for arbitrator, and
the law firm (if any) with which he/she is affiliated, shall be independent of each party and shall not previously have represented either Landlord or Tenant as
legal counsel.

(b) Response. Within five (5) business days after the service of demand for arbitration, Landlord shall give to Tenant notice (the
“Response”) of the name and address of the person
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designated by Landlord to act as arbitrator on Landlord’s behalf, which arbitrator must also meet the qualifications set forth above. If Landlord fails to notify
Tenant of the appointment of Landlord’s arbitrator, within or by the time above specified, then the arbitrator appointed by Tenant shall be the arbitrator to
determine the issue. The arbitration shall be conducted in San Francisco, California, in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American
Arbitration Association (as used in this Subsection 23.6.5(b), the “Rules”). If two (2) arbitrators are chosen pursuant to the above provisions, the arbitrators so
chosen shall meet within five (5) business days after the second arbitrator is appointed, and if within five (5) business days after such first meeting the two
arbitrators shall be unable to agree promptly upon a determination of the matter in issue, they shall appoint a third arbitrator, who shall be competent and
impartial person with the required qualifications specified above. Said third arbitrator or, if Landlord shall have failed to notify Tenant of the appointment of
Landlord’s arbitrator, Tenant’s arbitrator, as the case may be, shall decide the issue within ten (10) business days after his/her appointment. Within such ten
(10) business day period the arbitrator shall hold a hearing in accordance with the aforesaid Rules. At such hearing each party may submit evidence, be heard and
cross-examine witnesses, with each party having at least five (5) business days advance notice of the hearing. The hearing shall be conducted so that Landlord
and Tenant shall each have reasonably adequate time to present oral evidence or argument, but either party may present whatever written evidence it deems
appropriate prior to the hearing (with copies of any such written evidence being sent to the other party prior to the hearing). The arbitrator shall have the right to
consult experts and competent authorities with factual information or evidence pertaining to the determination of the matter at issue, but any such consultation
shall be made in the present of both parties with full right on their part to cross-examine. The only decision to be rendered by the arbitrator(s) is whether or not
Landlord’s refusal of consent constituted a breach of the Lease, The arbitrator(s) shall render his/her/their decision in writing with counterpart copies to each
party. The arbitrators shall have no power to modify the provisions of this Lease. Any decision derived from the foregoing arbitration process shall be binding
and conclusive upon the parties. If the arbitrator(s) decide(s) that Landlord’s refusal of consent was unreasonable, then such refusal shall automatically be
deemed null and void and Landlord’s consent to the proposed Transfer that be deemed granted, so that Tenant may proceed to consummate the Transfer. The
losing party shall pay the fees and costs of the arbitrators and of the expert witnesses (if any) of the prevailing party as well as those of its expert witnesses and
the actual and reasonable attorneys’ fees of the prevailing party’s legal counsel.

23.7 Unlawful Detainer Notice. Tenant hereby specifically agrees that any notice of default provided for in Subsection 23.1 of the Lease shall be in lieu of,
and not in addition to, any notice required under Section 1161 of the California Code of Civil Procedure.

23.8 Additional Remedies of Landlord. Upon the occurrence and continuation of any Event of Default described in Subsection 23.1 of this Lease,
Landlord may exercise any one or more of the following remedies, in addition to all other rights and remedies provided elsewhere in this Lease or now or
hereafter provided at law or in equity:

23.8.1 Right to Terminate. Landlord shall have the right, in addition to all other rights available to Landlord under this Lease or now or later
permitted by law or equity, to terminate this Lease by providing Tenant with a notice of termination. Upon termination, Landlord may recover any damages
proximately caused by Tenant’s failure to perform under the Lease, including, without limitation, any reasonable amount (collectively, the “Costs of Reletting”)
expended or to be expended by Landlord in an effort to mitigate damages (including, without limitation, advertising costs, brokerage fees, attorneys’ fees, and
costs for maintaining the Premises and putting them into good order, condition, and repair, and performing such remodeling, renovations, or alterations as may be
desirable to prepare the Premises for reletting to an identified tenant with whom Landlord has reached a lease agreement), as well as any other damages to which
Landlord is entitled to recover under any Law now or hereafter in effect. Those Costs
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of Reletting that are of a type that would ordinarily have been incurred by Landlord in reletting the Premises after the expiration of the Term without any default
on the part of Tenant (e.g., brokers’ commissions and tenant improvement allowances) shall be amortized on a straight-line basis over the entire term (exclusive
of renewal options) of the reletting of the Premises or any portion thereof to which they relate, which term shall be deemed to commence when the obligation to
pay monthly rents commences. For Costs of Reletting that are to be so amortized, only the portion (if less than all) of such costs that relates to any portion of the
balance of the Term (as the same would have remained in effect but for Tenant’s Event of Default) shall be included in the computation of damages and such
amortized Costs of Reletting relating to periods after such end of the Term shall not be included in the computation of damages. Other Costs of Reletting that are
of a type that would not ordinarily have been incurred by Landlord in reletting the Premises after the expiration of the Term without any default on the part of
Tenant (including, without limitation, and costs of removing personal property or Alterations that Tenant was required to remove at Tenant’s expense) shall not
be so amortized, and instead 100% of such costs shall be included in the computation of damages. Landlord’s damages include the worth, at the time of any
award, of the amount by which the unpaid Rent for the balance of the Term after the time of the award exceeds the amount of the rental loss that Tenant proves
could be reasonably avoided. The worth at the time of award shall be determined by discounting to present value such amount at one percent (1%) more than the
discount rate of the Federal Reserve Bank in San Francisco in effect at the time of the award. Damages to which Landlord is entitled shall bear interest,
commencing on the date such damages are incurred, at an annual interest rate, not to exceed the maximum rate allowed by law, equal to the sum of (a) the
Reference Rate (as defined in Subsection 6.3.1 of the Lease) in effect from time to time plus (b) two percent (2%) per annum. Notwithstanding any provision of
this Lease to the contrary, in no event shall Landlord be entitled to collect more than once for any discrete element of damages.

23.8.2 Right to Recover Rent as It Becomes Due. Landlord may exercise the remedy described in California Civil Code Section 1951.4 (landlord
may continue lease in effect after tenant’s breach and abandonment, and recover Rent as it becomes due, if tenant has right to sublet or assign, subject only to
reasonable limitations). Tenant hereby specifically acknowledges and agrees that the limitations on its right to sublet or assign, as set forth in Section 14 of the
Lease, are reasonable.

23.8.3 Right to Remove Personal Property. Upon any reentry by Landlord into the Premises under this Section, Landlord shall have the right to
cause any movable furniture, equipment, trade fixtures, or other personal property left on the Premises to be removed and stored in a public warehouse or
elsewhere at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, and/or after thirty (30) days notice to Tenant, to dispose of or sell such property and apply the proceeds therefrom
pursuant to applicable Law. In the event Landlord stores such property at premises owned or leased by Landlord, Landlord may charge Tenant for such storage at
such reasonable rates as Landlord shall from time to time determine. The foregoing notwithstanding, nothing set forth in this paragraph or elsewhere in this Lease
shall impose on Landlord any obligation for the care or preservation of such property so left upon the Premises, except to the extent otherwise expressly provided
by applicable Laws.

23.9 Waiver of Certain California Code Sections. The parties understand and agree that the provisions of this Lease shall govern the parties rights and
obligations with respect to the matters addressed in the statutory provisions described below. Accordingly, and without limitation to the generality of the
provisions of the Lease concerning the waiver of certain statutory provisions, Tenant hereby specifically waives its rights under the following provisions of
California law:

23.9.1 Civil Code Sections 1932 and 1933(4), concerning the termination of a lease (whether prior to or after the commencement of the lease term)
on account of the condition of the premises, but without waiver of the right expressly granted to Tenant in Subsection 23.6.1 of the Lease or any other express
provision of the Lease;
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23.9.2 Civil Code Sections 1941 and 1942, concerning the making of repairs at a landlord’s expense, but without waiver of Tenant’s right expressly
granted in Subsection 23.6.1 of the Lease or any other express provision of the Lease; and

23.9.3 Code of Civil Procedure Section 1265.130, concerning the right to petition the Superior Court to terminate a lease in the event of a partial
taking of the premises by condemnation, but without waiver of the right expressly granted to Tenant in Subsection 23.6.1 of the Lease or any other express
provision of the Lease.

These waivers shall also apply to any similar future Laws enacted in addition to or in substitution of the Laws specified above.

 
24. DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION.

24.1 Exclusive Remedy. The remedies provided for in this Section 24 shall be Tenant’s and Landlord’s sole and exclusive remedy in the event a Casualty
causes damage to or destruction of all or any portion of the Premises, Building, or Facility, and Tenant and Landlord, as a material inducement to the other
party’s entering into this Lease, irrevocably waives and releases the provisions of any Law that would automatically terminate this Lease or otherwise be contrary
to the provisions of this Section in the event of any such damage or destruction, it being the intent of both parties that the provisions of this written Lease shall
instead govern the rights and obligations of the respective parties with respect to such matters.

24.2 Loss Covered by Insurance. If at anytime prior to the expiration or termination of this Lease, (i) all or any portion of the Premises, or any portion of
the Common Areas whose use is necessary for Tenant’s business, shall be wholly or partially damaged or destroyed by fire or other casualty or peril
(collectively, a “Casualty”), and (ii) such damage or destruction shall render the Premises totally or partially inaccessible or unusable by Tenant in the ordinary
conduct of Tenant’s business, then the following provisions shall apply.

24.2.1 Repairs That Can Be Completed Within One Year.

(a) Within sixty (60) days after the earlier of (i) the date Landlord obtains actual knowledge that the Premises or any portion of the Common
Areas are damaged and require repair, or (ii) the date of Tenant’s notice to Landlord of such damage or destruction (the “Damage Notice Date”), Landlord shall
give Tenant notice of Landlord’s contractor’s good faith determination, as evidenced by a certificate of such contractor in favor of Landlord and Tenant, of
whether the damage or destruction can be repaired under applicable Laws, without the payment of overtime or other premiums, within one year after the date
such determination of Landlord’s contractor is made and the date when such repair shall be substantially completed. In cases where such damage or destruction is
patent and substantial and known to Landlord within 24 hours after its occurrence, Tenant’s notice to Landlord shall not be required and the date of such damage
or destruction shall be deemed the “Damage Notice Date.”

(b) If all such repairs to the Premises and/or such portions of the Common Areas can, in Landlord’s contractor’s good faith judgment, be
substantially completed in such manner within such one year period (the “One Year Period”), Landlord shall promptly, diligently and continuously undertake
such repairs and this Lease shall remain in full force and effect. Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, in the event Landlord commences repair of
such damage, and the repairs are not substantially completed within a period of time equal to 120% of the period of time between the date of such damage and
the date estimated for completion of the repairs set forth in the contractor’s certificate (“Completion Date”) (as the end of such 120% time period may be
extended by the
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number of days that the substantial completion of the repair work is delayed due to any Tenant-caused delays) (the “First 120% Period”), then Tenant shall have
the right to terminate this Lease within five (5) business days after the expiration of the First 120% Period, by notice to Landlord (the “First Damage Termination
Notice”), which such termination shall be effective as of thirty (30) days after Tenant’s delivery to Landlord of the First Damage Termination Notice (the “First
Damage Termination Notice Period”). Landlord’s contractor shall have the right to deliver to Tenant a notice at any time prior to the expiration of the First 120%
Period estimating a revised Completion Date, upon receipt of which Tenant shall have thirty (30) days to elect whether or not to terminate this Lease or to
approve the revised Completion Date.

24.2.2 Repairs That Cannot Be Completed Within One Year.

(a) In the event that Landlord’s contractor determines in good faith, as evidenced by a certificate to Landlord and Tenant, that such repairs to
the Premises or to such portions of the Common Areas cannot be substantially completed under applicable Laws, without the payment of overtime or other
premiums, within one year after the date of such determination, then Landlord shall notify Tenant by the Damage Notice Date of such determination and
Landlord shall notify Tenant of the Completion Date. In such notice Landlord shall either agree to undertake such repairs or elect to terminate this Lease. If
Landlord so agrees to undertake repairs, but states that the required repairs will not be completed within one year after delivery of such notice, then Tenant shall
have an option, exercisable by written notice thereof delivered to Landlord not later than the fifteenth (15th) business day after Landlord’s delivery of Landlord’s
notice that the repairs will not be completed within such one year period, to terminate this Lease.

(b) If neither Landlord nor Tenant exercise such a right of termination following Landlord’s determination that repairs will take more than
one year, then Landlord shall promptly, diligently and continuously undertake to repair such damage or destruction. Notwithstanding the immediately preceding
sentence, in the event Landlord commences repair of such damage, and the repairs are not substantially completed within a period of time equal to 120% of the
period of time between the date of such damage and the Completion Date, as such Completion Date may be extended by the number of days that the substantial
completion of the repair work is delayed due to any Tenant-caused delays (the “Second 120% Period”), then Tenant shall have the right to terminate this Lease
within five (5) business days after the expiration of the Second 120% Period, by notice to Landlord (the “Second Damage Termination Notice”), which such
termination shall be effective as of thirty (30) days after Tenant’s delivery to Landlord of the Second Damage Termination Notice (the “Second Damage
Termination Notice Period”). Landlord’s contractor shall have the right to deliver to Tenant a notice at any time prior to the Completion Date estimating a
revised Completion Date, upon receipt of which Tenant shall have thirty (30) days to elect whether or not to terminate this Lease or to approve the revised
Completion Date.

24.3 Loss Not Covered By Insurance. If, at anytime prior to the expiration or termination of this Lease, (a) all or any portion of the Premises, or any
portion of the Common Areas the use of which is required for Tenant’s business or any other portion of the Facility the use of which is required for Tenant’s
business or Tenant’s access to the Premises, is wholly or partially damaged or destroyed by a Casualty, and (b) less than ninety percent (90%) (if any) of the total
costs of performing the necessary repairs and replacements will be fully covered and paid for by the greater of (i) the amount that would have been received had
that party maintained the insurance required by this Lease (which proceeds will be deemed to be self-insured by the party failing to carry the required insurance
to the extent the required insurance was not so obtained unless no proceeds are available because of the financial failure of the insurer), or (ii) the available
proceeds of insurance actually maintained by Landlord or Tenant, and (c) such damage or destruction renders the Premises totally or partially inaccessible or
unusable by Tenant in the ordinary conduct of Tenant’s business, then:
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24.3.1 Landlord Action. Landlord shall deliver to Tenant, within sixty (60) days after the Damage Notice Date, a written notice whereby Landlord shall
either (a) elect to terminate this Lease or (b) agree to undertake such repairs promptly, diligently and continuously, in which latter event such notice shall include
a statement of Landlords contractor’s good faith estimate, as evidenced by a certificate to Landlord and Tenant, of the number of days required in order to
achieve substantial completion, under applicable Laws, of such repair and restoration work (“Landlord’s Estimate of the Completion Date”), If Landlord does not
elect by such notice to Tenant to repair such damage, this Lease shall be deemed to have been terminated by Landlord.

24.3.2 Tenant’s Option. If pursuant to Subsection 24.3.1 Landlord elects to undertake such repairs, but the Landlord’s Estimate of the Completion Date is
more than one year after delivery of such notice, then Tenant shall have an option, exercisable by written notice thereof delivered to Landlord not later than the
fifteenth (15th) business day after Landlord’s delivery of Landlord’s notice that the repairs will not be completed within such one year period, to terminate this
Lease. If neither Landlord nor Tenant exercise such a right of termination with respect to a Casualty covered by this Subsection 24.3, then Landlord shall
promptly, diligently and continuously undertake to repair such damage or destruction. Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, in the event
Landlord commences repair of such damage, and the repairs are not substantially completed within a period of time equal to 120% of the period of time between
the date of such damage and the Landlord’s Estimate of the Completion Date, as such Landlord’s Estimate of the Completion Date may be extended by the
number of days that the substantial completion of the repair work is delayed due to any Tenant-caused delays (the “Third 120% Period”), then Tenant shall have
the right to terminate this Lease within five (5) business days after the expiration of the Third 120% Period, by notice to Landlord, which such termination shall
be effective as of thirty (30) days after Tenant’s delivery to Landlord of the Damage Termination Notice (the “Third Damage Termination Notice Period”).
Landlord shall have the right to deliver to Tenant a notice at any time prior to the Landlord’s Estimate of the Completion Date estimating a revised Landlord’s
Estimate of the Completion Date, upon receipt of which Tenant shall have thirty (30) days to elect whether or not to terminate this Lease or to approve the
revised Landlord’s Estimate of the Completion Date.

24.4 Destruction During Final Twenty-Four Months. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Subsection 24.2, if the Premises or the
Building or a portion of the Common Areas the use of which is required for Tenant’s business or Tenant’s access to the Premises are wholly or partially damaged
or destroyed within the final twenty-four (24) months of the Term, and no renewal rights have been exercised prior to such damage or destruction, and if as a
result of such damage or destruction Tenant is denied access or use of the Premises for the conduct of its business operations for a period of ninety
(90) consecutive business days, Tenant may, at its option, by giving Landlord written notice prior to substantial completion of the repairs, and in no event later
than the 60th day after the Damage Notice Date, elect to terminate this Lease. In addition, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Subsections or
24.2, if the Premises or the Building is wholly or partially damaged or destroyed (which partial damage is of such a degree that it requires Tenant to relocate from
the Premises) within the final twenty-four (24) months of the Term, and no renewal rights have been exercised prior to such damage or destruction and Landlord
elects to terminate all other leases for premises within the Building similarly affected by such damage or destruction during the final twenty-four (24) months of
such lease term, Landlord may, at its option, by giving written notice prior to substantial completion of the repairs, and in no event later than sixty (60) days after
the Damage Notice Date, elect to terminate this Lease.
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24.5 Effective Date of a Lease Termination. Any notice of Tenant’s election to terminate under this Section 24 shall include a statement of the effective
date of such termination, which shall not be more than sixty (60) days after the date such notice is delivered; provided, however, that the immediately preceding
clause shall not apply to Tenant’s Damage Termination Notice (as such term is defined in Subsection 24.2.2) and Tenant’s Non-Insured Damage Termination
Notice (as such term is defined in Subsection 24.3.2). Any notice of Landlord’s election to terminate under this Section 24 shall be effective (a) on the date
Landlord delivers the notice, if the damage or destruction shall have prevented Tenant from conducting business at the Premises, or (b) on the sixtieth (60th) day
after delivery of the notice, in the event that Tenant shall not have been so prevented from conducting business at the Premises. If Landlord terminates this Lease
under this Section 24 and thereafter restores the Building to substantially the same condition existing prior to the damage or destruction, then Tenant shall have
the right to deliver to Landlord, not later than sixty (60) days following commencement of such work of restoration, a notice electing to complete the term of this
Lease in which event Landlord will restore the Premises to its condition prior to such damage as a part of such work of restoration.

24.6 Abatement of Rent. In the event that all or any portion of the Premises shall be rendered inaccessible or unusable to Tenant other than as a result of an
act or omission of Tenant which was neither insured nor required to be insured under this Lease, then Rent shall be reduced proportionately for such portion of
the Premises as shall be rendered inaccessible or unusable to Tenant, and unused by Tenant, during the period of time that such portion is unusable or
inaccessible to Tenant, and unused by Tenant.

24.7 Destruction of Tenant’s Personal Property, Retrofit Work or Property of the Tenant Parties. In the event a Casualty causes damage to or destruction of
the Premises or the Building or the Facility, under no circumstances shall Landlord be required to repair damage to, or make any repairs to or replacements of,
Tenant’s Personal Property (as such term is defined in Subsection 6,2,4 above). However, as part of Operating Expenses, Landlord shall cause to be insured
retrofit work and Alterations that do not consist of Tenant’s Personal Property and shall cause proceeds of such insurance to be applied to the cost of repairing or
restoring such retrofit work and Alterations. Landlord shall have no responsibility for any contents placed or kept in or on the Premises or the Building or the
Facility by Tenant or the Tenant Parties.

 
25. EMINENT DOMAIN.

25.1 Definitions. The following terms shall have the indicated definitions as used herein: (a) “Condemnation” or “Taking” means (i) the exercise of any
governmental power, whether by legal proceedings or otherwise, by a Condemnor and/or (ii) a voluntary sale or transfer by Landlord to any Condemnor, while
legal proceedings for eminent domain are pending; (b) “Date of Taking” means the date the Condemnor has the right to possession of the property being
condemned; (c) “Award” means all compensation, sums, or anything of value awarded, paid, or received on a total or partial Condemnation; and
(d) “Condemnor” means any public or quasi-public authority, or private corporation or individual, having the power of eminent domain.

25.2 Permanent Taking.

25.2.1 Total Taking. If the Premises are totally taken by Condemnation, this Lease shall terminate on the Date of Taking.
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25.2.2 Partial Taking; Common Areas.

(a) Tenant’s Rights. If any portion of the Premises is taken by Condemnation, this Lease shall remain in effect, except that Tenant shall have
the right to elect to terminate this Lease if twenty-five percent (25%) or more of the rentable square footage of the Premises is taken, or if the portion taken
renders the remainder of the Premises economically unusable by Tenant, as reasonably determined by Tenant’s licensed architect. To be effective, such election
to terminate must be made by written notice delivered to Landlord within thirty (30) days after the Decision Period (as such term is defined in Subsection 25.2.3
below). Tenant’s notice shall contain a clear and unequivocal statement of its election to terminate and its reasons for this election.

(b) Interference. If any part of the Common Areas of the Facility is taken by Condemnation, this Lease shall remain in full force and effect
so long as there is no material interference with access to the Premises. If such a Taking materially interferes with access to the Premises, either party may elect
to terminate this Lease pursuant to this Section 25.

(c) Remaining Leases. If twenty-five percent (25%) or more of the Building or the Facility is taken by Condemnation (whether or not any
Portion of the Premises shall have been taken), Landlord and Tenant may elect to terminate this Lease in the manner prescribed herein, provided that in the event
that Landlord seeks to exercise its right to terminate this Lease, Landlord shall also terminate any remaining leases of tenants similarly affected in the Building.

25.2.3 Termination or Abatement. If either party elects to terminate this Lease under the provisions of Subsection 25.2.2 (such party is hereinafter referred
to as the “Terminating Party”), it must terminate by giving notice to the other party (the “Non-terminating Party”) within thirty (30) days after the nature and
extent of the Taking have been finally determined (the “Decision Period”). The Terminating Party shall notify the Non-terminating Party of the date of
termination, which date shall not be earlier than sixty (60) days after the Terminating Party has notified the Nonterminating Party of its election to terminate, nor
later than the Date of Taking. If such notice of termination is not given within the Decision Period, this Lease shall continue in full force and effect except that
the Minimum Monthly Rent and Tenant’s Percentage Share shall be reduced by a fraction, the numerator of which is the rentable square footage taken from the
Premises and the denominator of which is the rentable square footage in the Premises prior to the Taking.

25.2.4 Restoration. If there is a partial Taking of the Premises and this Lease remains in full force and effect pursuant to this Section 25, Landlord, at its
cost, shall accomplish all necessary restoration so that the Premises are returned as near as practical to their condition immediately prior to the Date of Taking,
but in no event shall Landlord be obligated to expend more for such restoration than the extent of funds actually paid to Landlord by the Condemnor. Landlord
shall have the right to deliver to Tenant a notice at any time prior to the date Landlord’s contractors certified to Landlord and Tenant as the date estimated that
such work would be completed whereby Landlord sets forth a revised completion date, upon receipt of which Tenant shall have thirty (30) days to elect whether
or not to terminate this Lease or to approve the revised completion date.

25.2.5 Award. Any Award arising from the Condemnation or the settlement thereof shall belong to and be paid to Landlord, and Tenant hereby assigns to
Landlord any right of Tenant thereto, except that Tenant shall receive from the Award, to the extent that Landlord receives the Award, compensation for the
following, if specified by amount in the Award by the Condemnor, so long as it does not reduce Landlord’s Award with respect to the real property: Tenant’s
trade fixtures, tangible personal property, goodwill, loss of business, and relocation expenses. Tenant shall have the right to participate in condemnation
proceedings for the purposes permitted under this Section 25 and to complain against the Condemnor authority for a separate award for such losses. In all events,
Landlord shall be solely entitled to all Awards with respect to the real property, including the bonus value of the leasehold.
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25.3 Temporary Taking. No temporary taking of the Premises or any part of the Premises and/or of Tenant’s rights to the Premises or under this Lease
shall terminate this Lease or give Tenant any right to any abatement of any rents owed to Landlord pursuant to this Lease, unless such temporary taking exceeds,
or is contractually in excess of, a period of one (1) year from the date of such taking, in which event Tenant shall have a right to terminate this Lease pursuant to
the termination procedures granted to Tenant in the case of a repair which cannot be completed within one (1) year as set forth in Section 24.2.2 above, effective
at the end of such one (1) year period. Any award made to Tenant by reason of such temporary taking shall belong entirely to Tenant; provided, however, that if
the remaining portion of the Premises is not sufficient to allow Tenant to effectively conduct its business in such remaining portion, and if Tenant does not
conduct its business from such remaining portion, then the Minimum Monthly Rent and Tenant’s Percentage Share of Operating Expenses allocable to such
remaining portion shall be abated for the entire Premises, for such time as Tenant continues to be so prevented from using, and does not use, the Premises.

 
26. SALE BY LANDLORD.

In the event Landlord shall sell, assign, convey, or transfer its interest in the Facility or any part of the Facility, Tenant agrees to attorn to such transferee,
assignee, or new owner. If all of Landlord’s interest in the Facility shall be sold, assigned, conveyed, or transferred, then upon consummation of such sale,
assignment, conveyance, or transfer, then Landlord shall, to the extent that such transferee, assignee or new owner assumes Landlord’s liability and obligations
accruing or to be performed from and after the date of such sale, assignment, transfer or conveyance, be freed and relieved from all liability and obligations
accruing or to be performed from and after the date of such sale, assignment, transfer, or conveyance, and in such event Tenant agrees to look solely to the
responsibility of such transferee, assignee, or new owner. In the event of such sale, assignment, transfer, or conveyance, Landlord shall transfer, or in lieu thereof
grant a credit at closing, to such transferee, assignee, or new owner of the Facility the balance of the Deposit, if any, remaining after lawful deductions and in
accordance with applicable Law, after notice to Tenant, and Landlord shall thereupon be relieved of all liability with respect to the Deposit. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, no sale, conveyance, transfer, or assignment (other than an arms-length foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure) shall relieve Landlord of its
obligations hereunder unless and until the transferee shall have assumed and agreed to perform all of Landlord’s obligations coming due under the Lease from
and after the effective date of such transaction. Landlord shall not be relieved of any obligations that shall have accrued with respect to the period prior to the
effective date of such transfer. Tenant shall only be required to look to the new landlord for the fulfillment of Landlord’s obligations under this Lease.

 
27. ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATES.

Upon either party’s prior request from time to time, the other party shall execute, acknowledge, and deliver to the requesting party, not later than fifteen
(15) days after such request, a statement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit K (a) certifying the date of commencement of this Lease, (b) stating that this
Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or if there have been modifications, that this Lease is in full force and effect as modified and the date and nature
of such modifications), (c) stating the dates to which Rent has been paid, (d) acknowledging that there are not, to the certifying party’s actual knowledge, any
uncured defaults on the part of the other party, or specifying each such default if any are claimed, and (e) setting forth such other matters as may reasonably be
requested. Landlord and Tenant intend that any such statement delivered pursuant to this Section may be relied upon by any permitted subtenant, assignee, or
lender of Tenant, by the mortgagee or the beneficiary of any deed of trust, or by any purchaser or prospective purchaser of the Facility. If either party’s failure to
deliver such statement within the required time is not cured within fifteen (15) days after the requesting party’s delivery of written notice of such default, such
failure to deliver the statement shall, at the requesting party’s option
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(without any further notice or cure period otherwise provided under this Lease), be a material default under this Lease by the non-performing party, and it shall
be conclusive upon the non-performing party that (i) this Lease is then in full force and effect, without modification except as may be represented by the
requesting party, (ii) there are no uncured defaults in the requesting party’s performance, and (iii) not more than one month’s Rent has been paid in advance.

 
28. REQUIREMENTS OF LANDLORD’S LENDERS.

28.1 Financing Condition. Landlord may from time to time desire to mortgage all or a portion of the Facility for the purpose of securing financing from an
institutional lender. In the event such institutional lender not affiliated to Landlord requires, as a condition of granting Landlord such financing, that this Lease be
amended or modified, then Tenant shall, within ten (10) days after Landlord’s request, consent to and execute any such reasonable amendment or modification of
this Lease; provided, however, that such modification or amendment only concerns (a) the lender’s right to notification, (b) requirements for the lender’s prior
consent or approval for any amendment, modification, or early termination of the Lease unless specifically granted in the Lease, for any waiver of any of the
terms or conditions of the Lease to be performed or observed by Tenant, or for any estoppel certificate to be provided by Landlord, (c) restrictions on
prepayments of Rent (unless required by this Lease), (d) the lender’s right to require that rents be paid directly to the lender upon default of Landlord under the
loan made by such lender and Notice to Tenant, (e) the resolution of ambiguities or correction or errors or omissions contained in this Lease, (f) restrictions on
Tenant’s ability to subordinate this Lease to junior financing, and/or (g) such other matters as Tenant may consent to, which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld. The parties acknowledge, however, that it would not be unreasonable for Tenant to withhold consent to any modification that affects the length of the
Term or increases the Rent payable by Tenant hereunder or otherwise increases Tenant’s obligations (other than notice requirements and other similarly
ministerial obligations) or diminishes Tenant’s rights under this Lease.

28.2 Mortgagee Protection. Tenant agrees to give any present or future mortgagee and/or trust deed holders, by registered mail, a copy of any notice of
default served upon Landlord, provided that prior to such notice Tenant has been notified, in writing (by way of notice of assignment of rents and leases,
execution of nondisturbance agreement, or otherwise), of the address of such mortgagee and/or trust deed holder. Tenant further agrees that if Landlord shall
have failed to cure such default within the time provided for in this Lease (if any), then the mortgagees and/or trust deed holders shall have an additional thirty
(30) days within which to cure such default or if such default cannot be cured within that time, then such reasonable additional time as may be necessary if,
within such thirty (30) days, any mortgagee and/or trust deed holder has commenced and is diligently pursuing the remedies necessary to cure such default but in
no event exceeding ninety (90) days after expiration of Landlord’s cure period; provided, however, that if the default by Landlord is of such a nature that it may
not be cured by such holder without the holder becoming owner of the Building and/or Facility, and so long as Tenant receives a commercially reasonable
non-disturbance agreement from such holder, Tenant shall not exercise any rights to terminate this Lease other than any rights to terminate set forth in Exhibit B
(but Tenant may exercise any offset or cure rights granted to Tenant by this Lease and such rights shall not be abrogated by the provisions of this Section 28), if
such holder (a) commences a judicial or non-judicial foreclosure of Landlord’s interest in the Building and/or Facility within sixty (60) days of the expiration of
Landlord’s cure period, (b) thereafter uses reasonable efforts to complete the foreclosure of Landlord’s interest in the Building and/or Facility, and (c) cures such
default within thirty (30) days after the completion of such foreclosure or, if the cure cannot reasonably be effected within thirty (30) days, commences the cure
within such thirty (30) day period and thereafter diligently pursues it to completion but not in any event to exceed ninety (90) days after completion of such
foreclosure. Such holder shall have the right to perform all obligations of Landlord under this Lease on behalf of Landlord without becoming an owner of the
Building and/or Facility, but such holder shall have no obligation to cure any default under this Lease unless it becomes an owner of the Building and/or Facility,
in which event this Lease shall not be terminated while such remedies are being diligently pursued.
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29. INTENTIONALLY DELETED.
 

30. ATTORNEYS’ FEES.

In the event either party requires the services of an attorney in connection with enforcing the terms of this Lease (including an action or proceeding
between one party and the trustee or debtor in possession while the other party is a debtor in a proceeding under the Bankruptcy Code (Title 11 of the United
States Code or any successor statute to such Code), or in the event suit is brought for the recovery of any amount due and owing under this Lease, the prevailing
party shall be entitled to recover all its costs and expenses in connection therewith (including court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and disbursements)
from the unsuccessful party, whether or not such action, proceeding or appeal is prosecuted to judgment or other final determination. The term “prevailing party”
shall include, without limitation, a party who obtains legal counsel or brings an action against the other party by reason of the other party’s breach or default and
substantially obtains the relief sought, whether by compromise, settlement, or judgment. If such prevailing party shall recover in any such action, proceeding, or
appeal, such costs and expenses (including court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and disbursements) shall be included in and as a part of such
judgment.

 
31. NON-WAIVER.

The waiver by Landlord or Tenant of any term, covenant, agreement or condition contained in this Lease shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any
subsequent breach of the same or of any other term, covenant, agreement, condition or provision of this Lease. Nor shall any consent by Landlord or Tenant in
any one instance dispense with necessity of consent in any subsequent or other instance. Nor shall any custom or practice that may develop between the parties in
the administration of this Lease be construed to waive or lessen the right of Landlord or Tenant to insist upon performance by the other in strict accordance with
all of the terms, covenants, agreements, conditions, and provisions of this Lease. The subsequent acceptance by a party hereto of any payment owed by the other
party to that party under this Lease, or the payment of Rent by Tenant, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any preceding breach by the other party of any term,
covenant, agreement, condition, or provision of this Lease, other than the failure of the other party to make the specific payment so accepted by that party,
regardless of either party’s knowledge of such preceding breach at the time of the making or acceptance of such payment.

 
32. NOTICES.

All notices, notifications, demands, requests, consents, approvals, designations, elections, and waivers that may or are required to be given by either party
to the other hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given when delivered personally, or one business day after such notice or
demand is sent by a reliable overnight courier service, or three (3) business days after it is sent by United States certified or registered mail, in each case with
postage prepaid and the notice or demand addressed to the other party at its address set forth in Subsection 1.1.2 of this Lease, or to such other place as such party
may from time to time by like notice designate.
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33. JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY.

If Tenant consists of a partnership or more than one person or other entity (collectively, the “Tenant Constituents”), then Tenant’s obligations hereunder
shall be joint and several as between all such Tenant Constituents (if more than one) and as between each all constituent general partners of any partnership
constituting any Tenant Constituent. No partner, member or shareholder of the Original Tenant or Permitted Affiliate shall have any personal liability for breach
of any covenant or obligation of the Original Tenant under this Lease, and no recourse shall be had or be enforceable against the assets of any partner, member,
or shareholder of the Original Tenant or Permitted Affiliate for any payment of any sums due to Landlord or for enforcement of any other relief based upon any
claim made by Landlord for the breach of any of the Original Tenant’s covenants or obligations under this Lease. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set
forth in this Section 33, Landlord shall only pursue the assets of Tenant only for recovery of any sums due under this Lease and shall not proceed against the
assets of individual partners of Tenant.

 
34. TIME.

Subject to the provisions of Section 18 (Force Majeure), time is of the essence of this Lease and each and all of its provisions.

 
35. SUCCESSORS.

Subject to the provisions of Section 14 (Assignment and Subletting) and Section 26 (Sale by Landlord), and except as otherwise provided to the contrary in
this Lease, the terms, covenants, and conditions herein contained shall apply to, bind, and inure to the benefits of the heirs, successors, executors, administrators,
and permitted assigns of the respective parties hereto.

 
36. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.

This Lease (including the exhibits, riders, addenda, and schedules referred to herein and made a part hereof) embodies the entire agreement between, and
understanding of, the parties and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings (oral or written) between the parties with respect to the subject matter
hereof. This Lease shall not be modified by any oral agreement, either express or implied, and all modifications hereof shall be in writing and signed by both
Landlord and Tenant,

 
37. RESTRICTIONS ON OPTIONS.

37.1 Definition. As used in this Section 37, the word “Option” shall mean any of the following rights or options of Tenant, if any such rights or options are
granted pursuant to an addendum or other modification to this standard lease form: (a) any right or option to extend the Term, (b) any option or any right of first
refusal or first offer to lease the Premises or any other space within the Facility or other property of Landlord or its affiliates, and (c) any right or option of Tenant
to terminate or cancel this Lease prior to the last day of the initial Term contemplated by Subsection 2.2.4.

37.2 Options Personal. Each Option, if any, granted to Tenant in this Lease is personal to the Original Tenant and may be exercised (i) only by the Original
Tenant or a Permitted Affiliate while the Original Tenant and/or a Permitted Affiliate are directly (and not through subleases) occupying more than seventy-five
percent (75%) of the Premises or (ii) if the Premises is either the practice office of the Original Tenant and/or a Permitted Affiliate or one of two practice offices
of the Original Tenant and/or a Permitted Affiliate, in the City of San Francisco, and may not be exercised or assigned, voluntarily or involuntarily, by or to any
person or entity other than the Original Tenant or a Permitted Affiliate. The
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Options, if any, herein granted to the Original Tenant or a Permitted Affiliate are not assignable separate and apart from this Lease, nor may any Option be
separated from this Lease in any manner, by reservation or otherwise.

37.3 Multiple Options. In the event that Tenant has multiple Options to extend or renew the Term, a later Option cannot be exercised unless the prior
Option to extend or renew this Lease has been so exercised.

37.4 Strict Enforcement of Conditions and Limitations Upon Options.

37.4.1 Tenant hereby specifically acknowledges and agrees that the time limitations upon the exercise of any Option will be strictly enforced, that
any attempt to exercise such Option at any other time shall be void and of no force or effect, and that if any such Option is not exercised within the applicable
time period, Landlord intends immediately thereafter to undertake appropriate efforts relating to the marketing or management of the space affected by the
Option. The period of time within which an Option may be exercised shall not be extended or enlarged by reason of Tenant’s inability to exercise such Option
because of the provisions of this Subsection or for any other reason whatsoever.

37.4.2 Tenant further agrees that if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and Landlord has given Tenant prior notice thereof, on the
date of giving the required notice of exercise of such Option, such notice shall at Landlord’s sole election be totally ineffective, in which event this Lease shall
expire at the end of the Term as theretofore in effect. Notwithstanding any provision of this Lease to the contrary, all Options shall automatically be void, and
shall have no further effect, upon the commencement of any holdover by Tenant after the expiration or earlier termination of the Term.

37.5 Events of Bankruptcy. In addition to those events and occurrences constituting defaults or Events of Default under other provisions of this Lease, the
occurrence of any of the following events shall also constitute a default and Event of Default for purposes of Subsection 37.4:

(a) Filing by Tenant of a voluntary petition under any applicable bankruptcy Law, or the issuance of an order for relief entered under any
applicable bankruptcy Law, or the filing by Tenant of any petition or answer seeking any reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation,
dissolution, or similar relief for Tenant under the present or any future applicable Law relative to bankruptcy, insolvency, or other relief for debtors, or Tenant’s
consent to or acquiescence in the appointment of any trustee, receiver, conservator, or liquidator of Tenant or of all or any substantial part of its properties or its
interest in the Premises (the term “acquiesce,” as used in this clause, includes, but is not limited to, the failure to file a petition or motion to vacate, appeal, or
discharge any order, judgment, or decree within sixty (60) days after entry of such order, judgment, or decree);

(b) Issuance or entry, by a court of competent jurisdiction, of any order, judgment, or decree approving a petition filed against Tenant
seeking any reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution, or similar relief under any present or future applicable Law relating
to bankruptcy, insolvency, or other relief for debtors, and acquiescence by Tenant in the entry of such order, judgment, or decree; or the failure of such order,
judgment, or decree to be vacated or stayed within an aggregate of ninety (90) days (whether or not consecutive) after the date of entry thereof; or the
appointment, without the consent or acquiescence of Tenant, of any trustee, receiver, conservator, or liquidator of Tenant or of all or any substantial part of its
properties or its interest in the Premises and the failure of such appointment to be vacated or stayed within an aggregate of ninety (90) days (whether or not
consecutive);
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(c) Tenant’s making a general arrangement or general assignment for the benefit of creditors or taking any other similar action for the
protection or benefit of creditors.

 
38. RECORDING.

Tenant shall not record this Lease or any memorandum hereof without Landlord’s prior written consent. Further, upon Landlord’s written request at any
time on or after the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, Tenant shall promptly execute, acknowledge, and deliver to Landlord any quitclaim deed or
other document required by any reputable title company, to remove any cloud or encumbrance created by this Lease upon the Facility. Tenant shall nevertheless
have the right to record a Request for Notice of Default and Sale under any then applicable Law.

 
39. AUTHORIZATION TO SIGN LEASE.

Each individual executing this Lease on behalf of Landlord represents and warrants that he/she is duly authorized to do so pursuant to authority delegated
by Landlord’s duly authorized partnership formation documents and that this Lease is binding on Landlord in accordance with its terms. If Tenant is a
partnership, each individual executing this Lease on behalf of Tenant represents and warrants that he/she is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Lease on
behalf of Tenant in accordance with the terms of such entity’s partnership agreement, and that this Lease is binding upon Tenant in accordance with its terms. If
Landlord or Tenant consist of more than one legal entity, the foregoing representations, warranties, and covenants shall apply to any such entity that is a
corporation or partnership, as the case may be.

 
40. BROKER PARTICIPATION.

In consideration for brokerage services rendered to Landlord in this transaction, Landlord shall pay its and Tenant’s brokers (which brokers are identified
in Subsection 1.1.10 above). Landlord shall pay its broker a commission as set forth in a separate agreement between such parties. Landlord shall pay Tenant’s
broker a commission equal to One Dollar and 50/100 ($1.50) per rentable square foot per year of direct lease term (prorated for partial years and capped at Ten
Dollars ($10.00). One-half of the commission due to Tenant’s broker for the Premises shall be paid on full execution and delivery of this Lease. The remaining
one-half of the commission due to Tenant’s broker shall be paid, for the eighth (8 th) floor, upon the commencement of Tenant’s occupancy thereof, and for the
fifth (5th), sixth (6th) and seventh (7th) floors, on or before June 15, 2008. Except as otherwise set forth in the preceding sentences, each party agrees to indemnify,
defend, and hold harmless the other party from any claim or loss arising out of any actual or alleged dealings of the indemnifying party with any real estate
broker, agents or finder in connection with this transaction.

 
41. SURVIVAL OF CERTAIN RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS.

The respective parties’ remedies, payment obligations, indemnities, waivers and releases under this Lease, with respect to Tenant’s use or possession of the
Premises during the Term and any holdover period, and with respect any cost or expense incurred during or with respect to the Term or any holdover period,
shall survive the termination of this Lease.

 
42. PARKING.

42.1 Subject to the terms and conditions of this Section 42, Tenant shall be entitled but not obligated to use, in common with other tenants and Landlord
and its agents, the number of undesignated vehicle parking spaces allocated to Tenant in Subsection 1.1.11, and which such spaces will be available
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at all times during the Term for Tenant’s use; provided, however, that if the size of the Premises shall hereafter be increased or reduced, whether pursuant to an
amendment of lease or any modification to this Lease or otherwise, the number of parking spaces allocated to Tenant shall automatically be increased or reduced
pro rata, as the case may be, provided further, however, that if the number of parking spaces in the Building’s parking facility is expanded, then the number of
parking spaces allocated to Tenant shall be increased pro rata.

42.2 The parking facility shall be operated on a parking assist/valet basis, and the hours of such operation shall be extended if demand warrants the same
and provided that the cost of such additional operation is paid by the tenants of the Building who are users of such extended hours program.

42.3 Tenant’s use of such parking spaces shall be subject to payment by Tenant of such standard monthly parking rates, if any, as may be charged from
time to time to persons other than the officers and employees of Landlord and its affiliates, and subject to such non-discriminatory rules and regulations as may
be reasonably established or altered from time to time by Landlord or its manager of such parking facilities, provided that, subject to any Laws, Tenant shall have
access to the Building’s parking facility at all times (i.e., 365 days a year, 24 hours a day) and provided further that such rates do not exceed any rates charged to
other tenants of the Building nor do such rates exceed fair market rates for generally comparable parking facilities in Class A office buildings located within a
two (2) block radius of the Building. If a dispute arises between the parties regarding the fair market rate for Tenant’s vehicle parking spaces in the Building’s
parking facility, it shall be resolved by arbitration and in accordance with the provisions of Exhibit F attached to this Lease.

42.4 Tenant shall have the right to increase the number of parking spaces it contracts to use, subject to the maximum number set forth in Subsection 1.1.9,
by providing Landlord with sixty (60) days’ written notice of its intent to do same. Tenant shall have the right to decrease the number of parking spaces it
contracts to use by providing Landlord with thirty (30) days’ written notice of its intent to do same.

42.5 At Landlord’s request, Tenant (or its designated employees with parking privileges) shall enter into commercially reasonable parking licenses or lease
agreements or other arrangements then in use by Landlord (or Landlord’s operator of the parking facilities) with respect to such monthly parking. Upon request,
Tenant shall provide Landlord with the license plate numbers of all vehicles that Tenant’s employees park in the Building’s parking facility.

42.6 At all times, the Building’s parking facility shall accommodate approximately thirty-three (33) cars to be parked on a visitor or “short term” parking
basis and on an assist/valet basis, subject to governmental requirements and restrictions. In addition, a portion of the Building’s parking facility shall be reserved
for car pool parking (approximately 19 cars) and handicap parking (approximately five (5) cars) and motorcycle parking. If Tenant parks more vehicles in the
Facility’s parking area than are permitted under this Section, Landlord shall have the right, without limitation to Landlord’s other remedies under this Lease, to
collect from Tenant a daily charge, to be reasonably determined by Landlord, for each such additional vehicle.

42.7 Provided that Landlord determines that there has been a mutually agreed demonstrated need for off-site valet parking, Landlord shall attempt to
contract for such service, subject to the availability of suitable off-site facilities within a reasonable proximity to the Building, and subject to the agreement of the
users of such service (including Tenant) to pay for all of the cost of such off-site valet parking operation.
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43. SEVERABILITY.

Should any provision of this Lease be illegal, void, invalid, inoperative, or unenforceable, no other provision of this Lease shall be affected thereby, and
the remainder of this Lease shall be effective as though such illegal, void, invalid, inoperative, or unenforceable provision had not been included herein.

 
44. CERTAIN RIGHTS RESERVED BY LANDLORD.

Landlord hereby expressly reserves the rights set forth in the Subsections of this Section 44. Except to the extent otherwise expressly provided elsewhere
in this Lease or otherwise required by Law, such rights shall be exercisable (a) without notice, (b) without liability to Tenant for damage or injury to property,
persons, or business, (c) without effecting a constructive or actual eviction of Tenant or disturbance of Tenant’s use, possession, or enjoyment of its Premises,
and (d) without giving rise to any claim for setoff or abatement of Rent; provided, however, that Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to minimize
any interference with Tenant’s business operations in Landlord’s exercise of its rights hereunder. The enumeration of such rights of Landlord in the following
Subsections is not intended to limit any other rights of Landlord or Tenant (or excuse Landlord from performing its express obligations under this Lease),
whether expressed or implied, at law or under other provisions of this Lease.

44.1 Repairs. Landlord shall have the right to decorate and make repairs, alterations, additions, changes, and/or improvements, whether structural or
otherwise, in and about the Building and elsewhere in the Facility, including, without limitation, construction of additional buildings or other new improvements
and changes in the location, size, shape, and number of driveways, entrances, parking spaces, parking areas, loading and unloading areas, ingress, egress,
direction of traffic, landscaped areas, sidewalks, and walkways; provided, however that Landlord shall have no right to change the general concept and character
of the main ground floor lobby of the Building. For such purposes Landlord may enter upon the Premises and, during the continuance of any such work,
temporarily close doors, entryways, public space and corridors in the Building or elsewhere in the Facility, to interrupt or temporarily suspend building services
and facilities and to change the arrangement and location of entrances, or passageways, doors and doorways, corridors, elevators, stairs, toilets, or other public
parts of the Building or Facility, all without abatement of Rent and without affecting any of Tenant’s obligations hereunder, except as otherwise expressly
provided in this Lease (e.g., Subsections 17, 22.2 and 24.6).

44.2 Security. Landlord shall, in compliance with all applicable leases, have the right to take all such reasonable measures as Landlord may deem
advisable for the security of the Building or the Facility and their occupants, including, without limitation, the lawful search of any person entering or leaving the
Building, the evacuation of the Building (or any part thereof) for cause, suspected cause, or for drill purposes, the temporary denial of access to the Building (or
any part thereof), and the closing of the Building after normal business hours and on Sundays and holidays, subject, however, to Tenant’s right to admittance,
when the Building is so closed, under such reasonable regulations as Landlord may prescribe from time to time.

 
45. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL.

EACH PARTY HEREBY WAIVES THE RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING BASED UPON, OR RELATED TO,
THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THIS LEASE. THIS WAIVER IS KNOWINGLY, INTENTIONALLY, AND VOLUNTARILY MADE BY TENANT AND
TENANT ACKNOWLEDGES THAT NEITHER LANDLORD NOR ANY PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF LANDLORD HAS MADE ANY
REPRESENTATIONS OF FACT TO INDUCE THIS WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY OR IN ANY WAY TO MODIFY OR NULLIFY ITS EFFECT.
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46. INTERPRETATION.

The words “Landlord” and “Tenant” as used herein shall include the plural as well as the singular and, when appropriate, shall refer to action taken by or
on behalf of Landlord or Tenant by their respective employees, agents, or authorized representatives. Words in masculine gender include the feminine and neuter.
The titles of the Sections, Subsections, and other provisions of this Lease are for convenience only and they shall not in any way limit or amplify the terms or
provisions of this Lease. All provisions, whether covenants or conditions, on the part of Tenant shall be deemed to be both covenants and conditions. This Lease
shall not be construed against either party more or less favorably by reason of authorship of origin of language. The only inference that shall be drawn from the
fact of any provision of this Lease having been stricken, crossed out, or otherwise deleted is that said stricken, crossed out, or deleted provision is not a part of
this Lease; no inference shall be drawn to the effect that the parties intended the opposite of what the stricken, crossed out, or deleted provision would have
provided for. This Lease shall in all respects be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the Laws of the State of California, and any litigation
concerning this Lease between the parties hereto shall be initiated in the City and County of San Francisco.

 
47. COOPERATION WITH GOVERNMENT SPONSORED PROGRAMS.

47.1 In General. Tenant hereby covenants and agrees, at its sole cost and expense, to participate in and cooperate with the requirements of any and all
governmentally mandated programs adopted for the Building or the Facility concerning employment, transportation system management, child care facilities,
recycling, energy or water conservation, safety, emergency training procedures and drills, or the like; provided, however, that a failure to so participate and
cooperate with such requirements shall not be deemed a default to the extent that Tenant’s failure to participate and cooperate with such requirements shall not
have any adverse consequences to Landlord. Tenant shall designate floor wardens and assistant floor wardens for each floor of the Premises. Upon reasonable
notice from Landlord, Tenant shall cause its floor wardens to attend Landlord’s emergency response training during regular business hours. Tenant shall establish
appropriate procedures for communicating Landlord’s emergency procedures to all of Tenant’s employees occupying the Premises.

47.2 Transportation. Tenant shall fully comply with all present or future governmentally mandated programs intended to manage parking, transportation or
traffic in and around the Building, and in connection therewith, Tenant shall take responsible action for the transportation planning and management of all
employees located at the Premises by working directly with Landlord, any governmental transportation management organization or any other
transportation-related committees or entities; provided, however, that a failure to so participate and cooperate with such requirements shall not be deemed a
default but only to the extent that Tenant’s failure to participate and cooperate with such requirements shall not have any adverse consequences to Landlord. Such
programs may include, without limitation: (a) restrictions on the number of peak-hour vehicle trips generated by Tenant; (b) increased vehicle occupancy;
(c) implementation of an in-house ridesharing program and an employee transportation coordinator; (d) working with employees and any Building or area-wide
ridesharing program manager; (e) instituting employer-sponsored incentives (financial or in-kind) to encourage employees to rideshare; and (f) utilizing flexible
work shifts for employees.

47.3 Assistance. Pursuant to the City of San Francisco Planning Code Section 163, the Landlord has entered into an agreement with the San Francisco
Department of City Planning to provide and implement a transportation management program for tenants of the Building and to participate in a
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program designed to coordinate commute alternatives marketing and brokerage for employees in the Greater Downtown San Francisco, California area. During
the term of the Tenant’s tenancy, Landlord agrees to provide transportation brokerage and commute assistance services, as part of Operating Expenses, to the
Tenant to assist the Tenant in meeting the transportation needs of its employees to the extent required by law. Tenant agrees to cooperate with and assist the
Landlord’s transportation management coordinator (the “Coordinator”), through designation of a responsible employee, to distribute to Tenant’s employees
written materials promoting and encouraging the use of public transit and/or ridesharing, and distribute and return to the Coordinator transportation survey
questionnaire forms; provided, however, that a failure to so participate and cooperate with such requirements shall not be deemed a default under this Lease but
only to the extent that Tenant’s failure to participate and cooperate with such requirements shall not have any adverse consequences for Landlord. Tenant may
agree, at its option, to participate in other activities required of Landlord and/or ridesharing by employees in the Building.

 
48. PARTIES TO ACT REASONABLY AND IN GOOD FAITH.

Except in those instances where this Lease provides for a contrary standard, whenever in this Lease the consent or approval of the Landlord or Tenant is
required, such consent or approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed (except, however, with respect to any Landlord consent, for
matters which, in the opinion of a neutral, qualified third-party expert, could have a material adverse effect on the Building’s plumbing, heating, mechanical, life
safety, ventilation, air conditioning, or electrical systems, could affect the structural integrity of the Building, or could affect the exterior appearance of the
Building, Landlord may withhold such consent or approval in its sole discretion but shall act in good faith, unless this Lease elsewhere expressly provides other
standards for such matters). Except in those instances where a contrary standard or right is set forth in this Lease, whenever the Landlord or Tenant is granted a
right to take action, exercise discretion, or make an allocation, judgment, or other determination, such party shall act reasonably and in good faith and take no
action that might result in the frustration of the reasonable expectations of a sophisticated tenant and a sophisticated landlord concerning the benefits to be
enjoyed under, and subject to all the provisions of, this Lease.

 
49. OFFER.

Preparation of this Lease by Landlord or Landlord’s agent and submission of same to Tenant shall not be deemed an offer to lease and neither party shall
act in reliance on said Lease being thereafter signed. This Lease shall become binding upon Landlord and Tenant only when fully executed by both Landlord and
Tenant.

 
50. LANDLORD’S DISCLOSURE REGARDING HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES.

50.1 In General. By signing this Lease, Tenant represents that Tenant has read and understood the required disclosures, if any, of Landlord set forth in the
paragraph below, which disclosures relate to certain Hazardous Substances known or suspected to exist at the Premises, Building, or Facility, but in doing so
Tenant neither assumes nor releases Landlord from its express obligations with respect to environmental matters set forth in this Lease.

50.2 Disclosures. California law requires landlords to disclose to tenants the existence of certain Hazardous Substances. Accordingly, the existence of
gasoline and other automotive fluids, maintenance fluids, copying fluids and other office supplies and equipment, certain construction and finish materials,
tobacco smoke, cosmetics and other personal items, and asbestos-containing materials (“ACM”) must be disclosed. Gasoline and other automotive fluids will
likely be found in the garage area of the Building, Cleaning, lubricating and hydraulic fluids used in the operation and maintenance of the
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Building will likely be found in the utility areas of the Building not generally accessible to Building occupants or the public. Many Building occupants will use
copy machines and printers with associated fluids and toners, and pens, markers, inks, and office equipment that may contain Hazardous Substances. Certain
adhesives, paints and other construction materials and finishes which will be used in portions of the Building may contain Hazardous Substances. Building
occupants and other persons entering the Building from time-to-time may use or carry prescription and non-prescription drugs, perfumes, cosmetics and other
toiletries, and foods and beverages, some of which may contain Hazardous Substances. Landlord further covenants that any costs related to removal or
remediation of Hazardous Substances which are present as a result of these prior uses shall not be charged as an Operating Expense. Landlord covenants to
comply during the Term with all local, state and federal laws and regulations applicable, to Hazardous Substances, including any such laws and regulations
requiring disclosure to tenants regarding the existence of Hazardous Substances within the Building.

 
51. SIGNAGE

51.1 Grant of Signage Rights. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Section 51, Tenant shall be entitled to install an appropriate and tasteful
“plaque-type” sign, including its name and logo, (a) at each of the ground floor main entry doors of the Building, (b) on both sides of the lower level elevator
bank in the lobby of the Building, (c) in each elevator lobby on each full floor of Tenant’s Premises, and (d) on the main entry doors to the Premises from any
elevator lobbies. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Section 51, Tenant shall have the right to install in each elevator lobby on each multi-tenant floor of
Tenant’s Premises building standard signage. Landlord and Tenant shall jointly and reasonably select the location, design, size, construction materials, and
method of installation of the non- multi-tenant floor signage. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, Tenant shall have the right to use the
same materials and graphics as used by other tenants of the Building for its signage. Tenant shall have the opportunity to install signage in the same locations as
were granted to Price-waterhouseCoopers relative to its lease of, among other premises in the Building, the Phase II Premises, so long as the following conditions
are met: (a) Tenant has leased from Landlord more than 100,000 RSF of space in the Building and occupies same; (b) Tenant pays for all costs associated with
removal, installation and restoration of the signage; (c) all signage, type, size and installation are subject to Landlord approval.

51.2 Costs and Installation. The costs of Tenant’s signage and the installation thereof shall be paid for by Tenant, but such costs may be reimbursed from
the Allowance (as such term is defined in Subsection 1.1 of Exhibit B). Tenant shall adhere to Landlord’s reasonable requirements regarding Tenant’s installation
of Tenant’s signs. At Landlord’s election, Landlord may install Tenant’s ground floor or exterior signs on Tenant’s behalf. If Landlord does so elect to install any
of Tenant’s Signs, and provided that Landlord shall first provide Tenant with its estimate of the costs of such installation, Landlord shall be reimbursed by Tenant
(either directly or through a credit against the Allowance) for the reasonable out-of-pocket cost of such installation.

51.3 Multi-Tenant Directory. Landlord shall provide, at no charge to Tenant, directory listings on a multi-tenant directory which will consist of a board
identifying Tenant and a computer directory to be installed in the Building’s main lobby naming Tenant and the names of Tenant’s partners. Tenant shall not be
charged for any changes to directory listings.

 
52. RENEWAL OPTIONS (WITH ARBITRATION)

52.1 Grant of Renewal Options. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Section and Section 37 of the Lease, and provided Tenant occupies at least
seventy-five percent (75%) of the 84,607 RSF demised as the Phase I and Phase II Premises, Tenant shall have two (2) options (each, a “Renewal
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Option”) to extend the Term for a period of five (5) additional years each (each, a “Renewal Term”). A Renewal Option shall be exercisable one time only upon
written notice (an “Option Notice”) given to Landlord not fewer than twelve (12) months prior to the expiration of the “Then Scheduled Term.” As used herein,
the term “Then Scheduled Term” shall mean the Term set forth in Subsection 1.1.4 of the Lease, as extended by Tenant’s exercise of its rights under this
Section 52.

52.2 Minimum Monthly Rent. For purposes of this Section 52, the term “Minimum Monthly Rent” shall be deemed to include both the Minimum Monthly
Rent payable pursuant to Subsection 5.1 of the Lease and also any monthly rent paid for any storage space Tenant may then be leasing from Landlord. In the
event the Renewal Option is validly exercised in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Section, then the Term shall be extended to include the
Renewal Term, during which all the terms and conditions contained in this Lease shall remain in full force and effect, except that (a) the Minimum Monthly Rent
during such Renewal Term shall be 100% of the “Then Prevailing Market Rent,” as defined below, (b) Landlord shall not be obligated to supply, nor shall Tenant
be entitled to, any further tenant improvements or any further allowances therefor or further rent concessions of any kind in connection with the Renewal Term,
except as set forth in Subsection 52.4 below, and (c) the Base Expense Year and the Base Tax Year shall be the calendar year in which the first day of the
Renewal Term occurs. Provided that the Renewal Option shall have been validly exercised by Tenant, the “Then Prevailing Market Rent” shall be determined in
the following manner.

52.2.1 Then Prevailing Market Rent.

(a) The term “Then Prevailing Market Rent” shall mean, as of the time a determination thereof is to be made, the “effective” rental rate,
expressed as a rental rate per rentable square foot of “AS IS” leased space, being charged in arms’-length transactions (“Comparable Transactions”) within the
sub-areas of the Financial District of the Building for new leases and renewal leases (and not for subleases) for space comparable to the Premises (taking into
consideration size, floor level, location of property, build-out and other factors mentioned below), in the Facility and other Comparable Buildings. However, in
no event shall Then Prevailing Market Rent be less than the Minimum Monthly Rent payable during the last month of the then current Term.

(b) In considering “Comparable Transactions” for purposes of determining the Then Prevailing Market Rent for a Renewal Term,
appropriate consideration shall be given to (and where appropriate, adjustments shall be made in deriving the Then Prevailing Market Rent from the rental rate
under Comparable Transactions because of) any differences between any of the following considerations, unless excluded under Subsection 52.2.1(c) below:
(a) the length of the Renewal Term, as compared to the term of the lease or renewal term (where such renewal provisions contain “net effective” language such
as that set forth in this Subsection 52.2.l(b) under such Comparable Transactions, (b) the size and location within the sub-areas of the Financial District of the
Building and the size, location, and floor level of the Premises and the age and quality of construction of the Facility and the Premises, as compared to such other
space or such other high-rise office building in Comparable Transactions, (c) services provided or to be provided by Landlord, as compared to services provided
under Comparable Transactions, (d) base years, CPI adjustments, or escalations, if applicable, under this Lease (as extended into the Renewal Term), as
compared to such matters under Comparable Transactions, (e) the level, quality or extent of then existing tenant improvements in the Premises and any agreed
upon tenant improvement allowances or refurbishment allowances provided for the Renewal Term under this Lease, as compared with the level, quality or extent
of any tenant improvements or such tenant improvement allowances or refurbishment allowances to be provided under such Comparable Transactions, (f) free
rent, (g) utility costs, relocation or moving allowances, (h) lease takeover/assumption contributions, and (i) other relevant factors pertaining to the Premises,
Facility, or this Lease (as extended into the Renewal Term), as such factors are used in Landlord’s determination of Prevailing Market as compared to such
corresponding factors in Comparable Transactions.
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52.2.2 Landlord’s Proposed Rental Rate. Landlord’s representatives may at any time engage in preliminary negotiations with Tenant concerning
rental rates that they would recommend to senior management. However, not earlier than eighteen (18) and not later than thirteen (13) months before the
expiration of the Then Scheduled Term, Landlord shall give Tenant, within thirty (30) days of request therefor (provided that Tenant requested such statement
not later than fourteen (14) months prior to the Then Scheduled Term), a formal written statement of Landlord’s proposed rental rate(s) for the Minimum
Monthly Rent for each year of the proposed Renewal Term (the “Landlord’s Proposed Rental Rate”), as approved by Landlord’s senior management. Landlord
shall set Landlord’s Proposed Rental Rate at a rate equal to 100% of Landlord’s good faith estimate of the Then Prevailing Market Rent. If Tenant accepts such
estimate of the Then Prevailing Market Rent, or if the parties agree upon some other rental rate, they shall immediately execute an amendment to this Lease
stating the Minimum Monthly Rent that shall apply to the Renewal Term.

52.2.3 Arbitration. If Tenant believes that Landlord’s Proposed Rental Rate, as the same may have been revised in writing during the course of
negotiations, is in excess of the Then Prevailing Market Rent for the Premises, then Tenant may elect, by delivering written notice (the “Arbitration Notice”) to
Landlord not later than nine (9) months before the expiration of the Then Scheduled Term, to arbitrate, in the manner described below, the Then Prevailing
Market Rent for the Premises. The Arbitration Notice shall not be effective unless it includes a statement of Tenant’s own good faith estimate of the Then
Prevailing Market Rent for the Premises (the “Tenant’s Proposed Rental Rate”). In such event, the Then Prevailing Market Rent shall be determined by
arbitration as provided below, each party being bound to its last written estimate provided to the other party prior to the commencement of arbitration or with the
delivery of Tenant’s Arbitration Notice. The judgment or the award rendered in any such arbitration may be entered in any court having jurisdiction and shall be
final and binding upon the parties. The arbitration shall be conducted and determined in San Francisco, California, in accordance with the American Arbitration
Association’s commercial arbitration rules then pertaining to the metropolitan area in which the arbitration is conducted, as modified by the following provisions:

(a) Within ten (10) business days after delivery of Tenant’s Arbitration Notice, Landlord and Tenant shall each, at its cost, appoint an
arbitrator. The arbitrators each shall have at least ten (10) years’ experience with leases in Comparable Buildings and shall not have previously worked for the
party appointing such arbitrator or their investors or affiliates (for purposes of determining whether such arbitrator shall have previously been employed, the fact
that such arbitrator shall have previously served as a third party in a dispute resolution matter shall not apply, but such fact must be fully disclosed to the other
party). If a party does not appoint an arbitrator within such ten (10) business day period but a qualified arbitrator is appointed by the other party, the single
arbitrator appointed shall be the sole arbitrator and shall set the Then Prevailing Market Rent. The determination of the arbitrators shall be limited solely to the
issue of whether Landlord’s or Tenant’s estimated Then Prevailing Market Rent is the closest to the actual Then Prevailing Market Rent as determined by the
arbitrators, taking into account the requirements of Subsection 52.2.1 (c).

(b) The two (2) arbitrators so appointed shall within ten (10) days of the date of the appointment of the last appointed arbitrator agree upon
and appoint a third arbitrator who shall be qualified under the same criteria as set forth hereinabove for qualification of the initial two (2) arbitrators.

(c) The three (3) arbitrators shall within thirty (30) days after the appointment of the third arbitrator reach a decision as to whether
Landlord’s or Tenant’s submitted Then Prevailing Market Rent is the closest to the actual Then Prevailing Market Rent, and shall use the closest of Landlord’s or
Tenant’s submitted Then Prevailing Market Rent as the Then Prevailing Market Rent for purposes of calculating the Then Prevailing Market Rent, and shall
notify Landlord and Tenant thereof.
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(d) The decision of the majority of the three (3) arbitrators shall be binding upon Landlord and Tenant.

(e) If the two (2) arbitrators fail to agree upon and appoint a third arbitrator within the time period provided in Subsection 52.2.3(a) above,
then the parties shall mutually select the third arbitrator. If Landlord and Tenant are unable to agree upon the third arbitrator within ten (10) days, then either
party may, upon at least five (5) days’ prior written notice to the other party, request the Presiding Judge of the San Francisco County Superior Court, acting in
his private and nonjudicial capacity, to appoint the third arbitrator. Following the appointment of the third arbitrator, the panel of arbitrators shall within thirty
(30) days thereafter reach a decision as to whether Landlord’s or Tenant’s submitted Then Prevailing Market Rent shall be used and shall notify Landlord and
Tenant thereof.

(f) The cost of the arbitrators and the arbitration proceeding shall be paid by the non-prevailing party.

(g) Within fifteen (15) days after the Then Prevailing Market Rent shall have been established pursuant to this Section 52, the parties shall
execute a mutually acceptable amendment to this Lease memorializing Tenant’s exercise of such renewal option and stating the Minimum Monthly Rent for the
Renewal Term as so established at 100% of said Then Prevailing Market Rent.

(h) The arbitrators shall have the right to consult experts and competent authorities with factual information or evidence pertaining to the
matter to be determined by them, but any such consultation shall be made in the presence of both parties with full right on their part to cross-examine. The
arbitrators shall render their decision and award in writing with counterpart copies to each party. The arbitrator shall have no power to modify the provisions of
this Lease.

(i) If one or more of the arbitrators should resign, die, withdraw, or otherwise be unable to perform his or her duties, either party may
declare such office vacant, in which event the vacancy shall be filled in the same manner provided herein for the initial selection of such arbitrator.

52.3 Termination of Tenant’s Right to Renew. If Tenant shall not have delivered to Landlord, within the time period allowed under Subsection 52.2.3
above for delivery of an Arbitration Notice, a notice accepting Landlord’s determination of the rental for the Renewal Term, or an executed Arbitration Notice,
then, at Landlord’s election, upon written notice to Tenant, the right of Tenant to renew shall terminate.

 
53. EXPANSION OPTION.

Landlord hereby grants to Tenant the right to expand the Premises on a one-time basis onto one of the following three increments of space: (i) Floors 2, 3
and 4; (ii) Floors 2 and 3; or (iii) Floor 4. Tenant must elect which of such increments (the “Expansion Premises”) it has determined to lease by delivery of
written notice to Landlord not later than March 1, 2009. The Minimum Monthly Rent for Expansion Premises space taken during the Expansion Option shall be
at the Then Prevailing Market Rent as defined in Subsection 52.2.1 above; provided, however, that in no event shall the Minimum Monthly Rent for such space
be less than the Minimum Monthly Rent payable during the last month of the then current Term. In the event that Landlord and Tenant shall not be able to agree
on the Then Prevailing Market Rent for such space, then the Then Prevailing Market Rent shall be determined pursuant to the arbitration procedure described in
Subsection 52.2.1 above.
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54. DAY CARE CENTER AND EXERCISE ROOM

The Facility currently includes a day care center (as mandated pursuant to the final conditions of approval for the Facility dated December 5, 1991 as may
be subsequently amended by Landlord and the City of San Francisco) currently planned to be 3,000 square feet with customary hours of operation and operated
in compliance with Laws and in a first-class manner and an “Exercise Room” for the use of the tenants of the building, both operated on a first-come, first-serve
basis, and usable pursuant to rules and procedures as adopted by Landlord in its sole discretion, including the requirement of indemnity agreements and waivers
as preconditions to their use. Either or both of such enterprises may be located in the Marine Electric Building. Tenant and other tenants of the Building shall be
given priority in the utilization of the day care center to the extent permitted by law (i.e., as openings for new children occur, Tenant and the other tenants of the
Building shall be notified of such openings before the general public is notified of such openings). Tenant shall be entitled to Tenant’s Percentage Share of any
openings at the day care center from time to time during the Term. Any revenue from the day care center in excess of its operating expenses will be credited
against the Operating Expenses of the Building generally.

 
55. COVENANT OF QUIET ENJOYMENT.

Provided Tenant performs the terms, conditions and covenants of this Lease, and subject to the terms and provisions hereof, Landlord covenants to secure
and to maintain for the benefit of Tenant the quiet and peaceful possession of the Premises, for the Term, without hindrance, claim or molestation by Landlord or
any other person lawfully claiming under Landlord. The foregoing covenant is in lieu of any other covenant, express or implied.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Lease as of the date first set forth above, acknowledging that each party has freely entered into
this Lease of its own free will and volition.
 

Landlord:   Tenant:

GLL FREMONT STREET PARTNERS, a California partnership   RIVERBED TECHNOLOGY, INC., a Delaware corporation

By: GLL US Office L.P., a Delaware limited   By:  /s/ RANDY S. GOTTFRIED
 partnership, its Managing General Partner   Print Name: RANDY S. GOTTFRIED
    Title:  CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
 By: GLL US Office Corp., a Delaware    
  corporation, its Managing General Partner    

  By:  /s/ [ILLEGIBLE] Cunningham Jr.    
  Print Name: [ILLEGIBLE] Cunningham Jr.    
  Its:  VP    
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EXHIBIT A-1

Legal Description of the Facility

PARCEL ONE:

BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF BEALE STREET, DISTANT THEREON 108 FEET AND 4 INCHES
NORTHWESTERLY FROM THE NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF HOWARD STREET; THENCE AT A RIGHT ANGLE SOUTHWESTERLY 137 FEET
AND 6 INCHES; THENCE AT A RIGHT ANGLE NORTHWESTERLY, 75 FEET; THENCE AT A RIGHT ANGLE NORTHEASTERLY, 127 FEET AND 6
INCHES TO THE SOUTHWESTERLY BOUNDARY LINE OF THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN THE DEED FROM DANIEL GALLAGHER TEAMING,
MERCANTILE AND REALTY COMPANY, A CORPORATION, TO STATE OF CALIFORNIA, DATED September 16, 1941, RECORDED November 12,
1941, IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, IN BOOK 3833 OF
OFFICIAL RECORDS, PAGE 35; THENCE EASTERLY ALONG SAID BOUNDARY LINE 22 FEET AND 4-3/8 INCHES TO THE SOUTHWESTERLY
LINE OF BEALE STREET; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID LINE OF BEALE STREET, 55 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

BEING A PORTION OF 100 VARA BLOCK NO. 335.

LOT 005, BLOCK 3719 

PARCEL TWO:

COMMENCING AT THE POINT OF INTERSECTION OF THE NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF HOWARD STREET AND THE SOUTHWESTERLY LINE
OF BEALE STREET; RUNNING THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY AND ALONG SAID LINE OF HOWARD STREET, 107 FEET, 6 INCHES; THENCE AT
A RIGHT ANGLE NORTHWESTERLY 108 FEET, 4 INCHES; THENCE AT A RIGHT ANGLE NORTHEASTERLY, 107 FEET, 6 INCHES TO THE
SOUTHWESTERLY LINE OF BEALE STREET; THENCE AT A RIGHT ANGLE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG SAID LINE OF BEALE STREET, 108
FEET, 4 INCHES TO THE POINT OF COMMENCEMENT.

BEING PART OF BEACH AND WATER LOTS NOS. 385, 386 AND 387.

LOT 006, BLOCK 3719 

PARCEL THREE:

BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF HOWARD STREET, DISTANT THEREON 100 FEET NORTHEASTERLY FROM
THE NORTHEASTERLY LINE OF FREMONT STREET; RUNNING THENCE NORTHEASTERLY AND ALONG SAID LINE OF HOWARD STREET,
67 FEET AND 6 INCHES; THENCE AT A RIGHT ANGLE NORTHWESTERLY, 108 FEET AND 4 INCHES; THENCE AT A RIGHT ANGLE
SOUTHWESTERLY, 67 FEET AND 6 INCHES; THENCE AT A RIGHT ANGLE SOUTHEASTERLY, 108 FEET AND 4 INCHES TO THE POINT OF
BEGINNING.

BEING A PART OF 100 VARA BLOCK NO. 335.
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LOT 007, BLOCK 3719 

PARCEL FOUR:

COMMENCING AT THE POINT OF INTERSECTION OF THE NORTHEASTERLY LINE OF FREMONT STREET AND THE NORTHWESTERLY LINE
OF HOWARD STREET; RUNNING THENCE NORTHWESTERLY AND ALONG SAID LINE OF FREMONT STREET, 33 FEET, 4 INCHES; THENCE
AT A RIGHT ANGLE NORTHEASTERLY, 100 FEET; THENCE AT A RIGHT ANGLE SOUTHEASTERLY, 33 FEET, 4 INCHES TO THE
NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF HOWARD STREET; THENCE AT A RIGHT ANGLE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID LINE OF HOWARD STREET,
100 FEET TO THE POINT OF COMMENCEMENT.

BEING A PORTION OF BEACH AND WATER LOTS NUMBERS 388, 389 AND 390, IN 100 VARA BLOCK NO. 335.

LOT 008, BLOCK 3719 

PARCEL FIVE:

BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE NORTHEASTERLY LINE OF FREMONT STREET, DISTANT THEREON 33 FEET AND 4 INCHES
NORTHWESTERLY FROM THE NORTHWESTERLY LINE OF HOWARD STREET; RUNNING THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID LINE OF
FREMONT STREET, 25 FEET; THENCE AT A RIGHT ANGLE, NORTHEASTERLY 100 FEET; THENCE AT A RIGHT ANGLE, SOUTHEASTERLY 25
FEET; THENCE AT A RIGHT ANGLE, SOUTHWESTERLY 100 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

BEING PART OF 100 VARA BLOCK NO. 355.

LOT 009, BLOCK 3719
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EXHIBIT A-2

Floor Plan of the Premises
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EXHIBIT B

Work Letter

This Work Letter (the “Work Letter”) supplements the Lease (the “Lease”) dated March 21, 2007, by and between the Landlord and Tenant, covering
certain premises described in the Lease (the “Premises”). All terms not defined herein shall have the same meaning as set forth in the Lease.

SECTION 1

ALLOWANCE

1.1 Allowance. Tenant shall be entitled to a one-time tenant retrofit allowance (the “Allowance”) in the amount of up to, but not exceeding, Twenty
Dollars ($20.00) per rentable square foot of space in the Phase I Premises for the costs relating to the retrofitting of the Phase I Premises (including, but not
limited to, permitting, space planning, working drawings and engineering) and construction of Tenant’s improvements to be permanently affixed to the Premises.
In no event shall Landlord be obligated under this Work Letter to make disbursements pursuant to this Work Letter in a total amount that exceeds the Allowance
for retrofit work, taking into account debits and credits relative to Base Building Work and retrofit work. Notwithstanding any provision of the Lease to the
contrary, all retrofit work for which the Allowance shall have been made available shall be deemed Landlord’s property under the terms of Subsection 10.3.1 of
the Lease. Tenant shall not be entitled to receive, as a credit against Rent or otherwise, any unused portion of the Allowance not used to pay for the retrofit work.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, all FF&E and telephone/data cabling shall be at Tenant’s cost.

1.2 Disbursement of the Allowance. Except as otherwise set forth in this Work Letter, the Allowance shall be disbursed by Landlord for costs related to the
construction of the retrofit work and for the following items and costs (collectively, the “Allowance Items”): (i) payment of the actual fees of the “Architect” and
the “Engineers,” as those terms are defined in Subsection 2.1 of this Work Letter, payment of the cost of documents and materials supplied by Tenant’s
Engineers in connection with the preparation and review of the plans for the retrofit work and payment of the cost of Landlord’s engineers for reviewing and
monitoring the performance of Tenant’s Engineers to the extent that such costs are reasonable and are for a review of reasonable scope given customary industry
practice; (ii) the cost of any changes to the retrofit work required by applicable building codes (collectively, the “Codes”); (iii) the cost of testing and inspection
costs required by law for the construction of the retrofit work for the work performed by the Contractor and any of the subcontractors related to the construction
of the retrofit work; (iv) after-hours freight elevator usage, but only to the extent due to extraordinary scheduling requirements specified by Tenant (above and
beyond the compressed schedule contemplated by this Exhibit B) requiring such after-hours service; (v) security and janitorial services required by Landlord in
response to extraordinary move-in requests by Tenant; and (vi) trash removal costs.

SECTION 2

PLANS AND PERMITS

2.1 Plans. Tenant and its architect (the “Architect”) shall prepare and deliver to Landlord for Landlord’s approval a proposed space plan, schematic
drawings, design development drawings and working drawings (together, the “Plans”) for the retrofit work in the Premises. Landlord’s approval shall not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed, and Tenant may commence the performance of its work in the Phase I Premises following Landlord’s approval of the Plans
for the purpose of Tenant commencing such
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work. During such period of occupancy by Tenant of the Phase I Premises, up to and including the Phase I Premises Effective Date, the obligation to pay
Minimum Monthly Rent and Operating Expenses will be abated. All other terms of this Lease (including but not limited to the obligations to pay insurance
premiums and to maintain the Premises) shall, however, be in effect during such period. Any such early possession shall not affect the Expiration Date.

2.2 Permits. Tenant shall submit the approved Plans to the appropriate municipal authorities for all applicable building permits necessary to allow the
retrofit work to proceed. Landlord shall cooperate with Tenant in all phases of the permitting process.

2.3 Standards for Landlord’s Disapproval. If Landlord disapproves the Plans pursuant to its approval rights provided in this Section 2, Landlord shall
accompany such disapproval with a reasonably particularized description of the basis for such disapproval, which, by way of illustration but not limitation, may
include: (a) safety considerations; (b) quality considerations; and (c) failure to comply with any statute, regulation, ordinance, code, motion, condition of
approval or other legal requirement.

2.4 Dispute Resolution. If Landlord and Tenant are unable to agree upon the disbursement of the Allowance or upon any of the Plans, the Architect,
Tenant and Landlord will meet to attempt to resolve the issues. If such parties cannot agree on the resolution of the issues, then either Landlord or Tenant shall
have the right to submit the issue to arbitration pursuant to Exhibit F of this Lease and such arbitrator shall make the decision as to whether the drawings should
be revised pursuant to Landlord’s or Tenant’s determination of the revisions which are in dispute.

SECTION 3

MISCELLANEOUS

3.1 Tenant’s Representative. Tenant has designated Randy Gottfried as its sole representative with respect to the matters set forth in this Work Letter, who,
until further notice from Tenant to Landlord, shall have full authority and responsibility to act on behalf of the Tenant as required in this Work Letter. Tenant’s
Representative shall have access to meetings and documents to the extent that such meetings or documents pertain to the construction of the retrofit work.

3.2 Landlord’s Representative. Landlord has designated David Kaplan as its sole representative with respect to the matters set forth in this Work Letter,
who, until further notice to Tenant, shall have full authority and responsibility to act on behalf of the Landlord as required in this Work Letter.
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EXHIBIT C

RULES AND REGULATIONS

ATTACHED TO AND MADE A PART OF THIS LEASE

Adherence to these rules and regulations by each and every tenant contributes to safe occupancy and quiet enjoyment of the 199 Fremont Street building
(the “Building”) and the Common Areas in and around it. Any violation of these rules and regulations by the Tenant shall constitute a default under the Lease.

Landlord may, upon request by the Tenant, waive compliance by Tenant of any of the following rules and regulations, provided that (i) no waiver shall be
effective unless signed by Landlord or Landlord’s authorized agent, and (ii) no such waiver shall relieve Tenant from the obligation to comply with any rule or
regulation in the future, unless expressly consented to by Landlord.

1. Except as provided in the Lease, no signs, logos, posters, advertisements, notices or other lettering shall be inscribed, painted, affixed or displayed on
any exterior window, door or other exterior part of the Building, except of such color, size and style, and in such places, as shall be first approved in writing by
Landlord. If such sign, logo, poster, advertisement, notice or other lettering is exhibited without the required approval, Landlord shall have the right to remove
the same and the tenant exhibiting the same shall be liable for any and all expenses incurred by Landlord by said removal.

2. No awning or other projection shall be attached to the exterior walls of the Premises. No curtains, drapes, blinds, shades or screens visible from the
exterior of the Building or visible from the exterior of the Premises, shall be attached to or hung in, or used in connection with any exterior window or door of the
Premises without the prior written consent of Landlord, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. Such curtains, blinds, shades, screens or other fixtures
must be of a quality, type, design and color reasonably acceptable to Landlord, and attached in the manner approved by Landlord, which approval shall not be
unreasonably withheld.

3. Tenant shall not place against glass partitions or doors or windows any objects that would be unsightly from the Building corridors or from the exterior
of the Building or the Common Areas and will promptly remove any such objects upon notice from Landlord.

4. Tenant shall not make excess noises, cause disturbances or vibrations or use or operate any electrical or mechanical devices that emit excessive sound or
other waves or disturbances or create obnoxious odors, any of which may be offensive to the other tenants and occupants of the Building, or that would
materially interfere with the operation of any device, equipment, radio television broadcasting or reception from or within the Building or elsewhere and shall
not, absent written consent from Landlord, place or install any projections, antennas, or similar devices inside or outside of the Premises or on the Building.

5. Tenant shall not waste electricity, water, heating, or air conditioning and shall use reasonable efforts to cooperate fully with Landlord to insure the
effective operation of the Building’s heating and air conditioning systems and shall refrain from attempting to adjust any controls other than unlocked room
thermostats installed for Tenant’s use; provided, however, that in no event shall Tenant be required to close drapes or blinds, remove office equipment, relocate
furniture or workstations from locations previously approved by Landlord in accordance with Subsection 2.3 of the Work Letter, attached to the Lease as Exhibit
B. Tenant shall keep closed all corridor doors on multi-tenant floors and
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all corridor doors that are rated for fire egress. Tenant shall not, without Landlord’s prior written consent, use any method of heating or air conditioning other
than that supplied by Landlord. No doors, windows, light fixtures, or any lights or skylights that reflect or admit light into halls or other places of the Building
shall be covered or obstructed. No person shall waste water by interfering or tampering with the faucets or otherwise. Tenant shall exercise reasonable care and
caution that all water faucets or water apparatus are shut off each day before the Premises are left unoccupied and that all electricity or gas shall likewise be
carefully shut off so as to prevent waste of such utility or possible property damage or injury to Landlord’s janitor or other employees or representatives or to
other occupants of the Building; provided, however, that Tenant may use such electricity as is reasonably necessary to light the Premises at all times.

6. Tenant will use reasonable and diligent efforts to protect the Premises.

7. Except as expressly approved in writing by Landlord or as provided in the Lease, Tenant shall not mark, drive nails, screw, or drill into any woodwork
or any brick or masonry walls or in any way deface any portion of the Common Areas for any purpose whatsoever, except that Landlord’s approval shall not be
required for driving nails or screws into sheetrock or plaster walls as necessary for supporting pictures, paintings, and other similar decorative items, provided
that the weight thereof does not exceed fifteen (15) pounds.

8. In no event shall Tenant bring into the Building inflammables, such as gasoline, kerosene, naphtha and benzene, or explosives or any other article of
intrinsically dangerous nature, except those items used in normal general office operations, such as reproductive equipment, etc. and in the operation of the
Parking Garage located in the Basement. If, by reason of the failure of Tenant to comply with the provisions of this subparagraph, any insurance premium for all
or any part of the Building shall at any time be increased, Landlord shall have the option to require Tenant to make immediate payment of the whole of the
increased insurance premium.

9. Tenant shall comply with all applicable federal, state and municipal laws, ordinances and regulations, and rules and shall not directly or indirectly make
any use of the Premises which may be prohibited by any of the foregoing or which may be dangerous to persons or property.

10. The Premises shall not be used for cooking (i.e., the use of toasters or other devices with an open heating element) (except as expressly provided in the
Lease), lodging, sleeping, or for any immoral or illegal purpose. Microwave ovens and coffee makers and food and vending machines may be used in kitchen or
kitchenette areas of the Premises, provided that all such equipment is UL approved and further provided that all such coffee makers are equipped with a properly
functioning automatic shut-off device.

11. Tenant and Tenant’s servants, employees, agents, visitors and licensees shall observe faithfully and comply strictly with these Rules and Regulations.

12. Subject to the provisions of the Lease, no additional locks or bolts of any kind shall be placed by Tenant upon any of the doors or windows by Tenant,
nor shall any changes be made in existing locks or the mechanics thereof, without the prior written consent of Landlord. Except for the doors to Tenant’s
reception areas on the floors of the Building which are solely leased by Tenant, the doors leading to the corridors or main halls shall be kept closed during
business hours except as they may be used for ingress or egress. The Tenant shall, upon the termination of its tenancy, return to Landlord all keys used in
connection with the Premises, including any keys to the Premises, to rooms and offices within the Premises, to storage rooms and closets, to cabinets and other
built in furniture, and to toilet rooms, whether or not such keys were furnished by Landlord or procured by Tenant. On termination of Tenant’s lease, Tenant shall
disclose to Landlord the combination of all locks for safes, safe cabinets and vault doors, if any, remaining in the Premises.
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13. Tenant shall not affix any floor covering in any manner, except as approved by Landlord. Any carpeting cemented down shall be installed with a
releasable adhesive or other releasable fastening process.

14. The water and wash closets, toilets, urinals, wash bowls, drinking fountains and other plumbing fixtures shall not be used for any purpose other than
those for which they were constructed, and no sweepings, rubbish, rags, hazardous substances, coffee grounds, paint or other foreign substances shall be thrown
or deposited therein.

15. No extensive electric or other wires for any purpose shall be brought into the Premises without Landlord’s written permission, which shall not
unreasonably be withheld, specifying the manner in which same may be performed or installed. Landlord reserves the right to restrict the use of any electrical
extension cord. At no time shall more than two electrical devices be connected to any one duplex outlet. Multiple adapters, with the exception of “surge
protectors,” are prohibited. Any extension cord used shall be a two wire cord with ground, shall be sized according to the power draw on the circuit, and shall be
a UL approved extension cord.

16. No bicycles or vehicles shall be brought into or kept in occupied portions of the Building other than the bicycle storage area in the Building’s parking
facility, nor shall any animals, birds or pets (other than so called “seeing eye” dogs) be brought into or kept in or about Tenant’s Premises or in the Building.

17. Tenant shall not throw anything out of the door or windows, off any balcony, or down any passageways or elevator shafts.

18. Landlord’s employees are prohibited from receiving articles delivered to the Building and, if such employee receives any article for Tenant, such
employee shall be acting as the agent of Tenant for such purpose. Landlord assumes no liability and shall bear no risk in connection with such deliveries.

19. All loading, unloading, receiving or delivery of goods and supplies, or disposal of garbage or refuse, shall be made only through entryway and freight
elevators provided for such purposes and as indicated by Landlord. Tenant shall be responsible for any damage to the Building or the property of its employees or
others and injuries sustained by any person whomsoever resulting from the use or moving of such articles in or out of the Premises or the Building.

20. All hand trucks used anywhere in the Building shall be equipped with rubber tires and side guards. Tenant shall not place upon any floor of the
Premises a load that exceeds the structural design for the live load in that area of the Building. Landlord reserves the right to prescribe the weight and position of
all safes, files and heavy installations that the Tenant wishes to place in the Premises so as to properly distribute the weight thereof, or to require plans prepared
by a qualified structural engineer, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, for such heavy objects. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant hereby agrees to indemnify
and hold Landlord harmless from any injuries sustained by any person whomsoever, liability, damages, expenses and costs, including reasonable attorney’s fees,
caused by or arising out of the installation of any such heavy equipment, safes or files.
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21. Live/cut Christmas trees (unless certified to be treated with fire retardant), candles, and open flames are strictly prohibited. Tenant may use electrical
decorative lights only if the same are UL approved.

22. Tenant shall be responsible for all persons for whom it authorizes entry into the Premises, and shall be liable for all acts of such persons. Anything
herein to the contrary notwithstanding, Landlord shall not be liable for any lack of security in respect to the Building whatsoever. In case of invasion, mob, riot,
public excitement, or other commotion, Landlord reserves the right to prevent access to the Building during the continuance of the same by closing the doors or
otherwise, for the safety of the tenants or the protection of the Building and the property therein. In such case, Landlord shall in no event be liable for damages
for any error or other action taken with regard to the admission or exclusion from the Building of any person.

23. All entrance doors to the Premises shall be locked against ingress when the Premises are not in use. All corridor doors shall also be closed during times
when the HVAC equipment in the Building is operating so as not to dissipate the effectiveness of the system or place an overload thereon. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, on any full-floor premises leased by Tenant, Tenant may, to the extent allowed under all applicable Laws, keep one or more such main corridor doors
open during Business Hours.

24. Except as permitted by Rule 8 above, Tenant shall not do anything, or permit anything to be done, in or about the Building, or bring or keep anything
therein, that will in any way increase the possibility of fire or other casualty or do anything in conflict with the valid pertinent laws, rules, or regulations of any
governmental authority.

25. Subject to the provisions of Section 19 of the Lease, Landlord reserves the right at any time and from time to time to add to these Rules and
Regulations such other and further reasonable rules or regulations as Landlord may deem appropriate. Landlord also reserves the right at any time and from time
to time to rescind, alter or waive, in whole or in part, any of these Rules and Regulations when it is deemed necessary, in Landlord’s reasonable judgment, to do
so. Landlord shall give Tenant reasonable prior notice of any additions, alterations, rescissions, or other changes in or to any provisions of these Rules and
Regulations, and such additions, alterations, rescissions, or changes shall operate only prospectively, if retroactive application would be unreasonably
burdensome to Tenant. In no event, however, shall Landlord adopt or enforce Rules and Regulations in a manner unfairly discriminatory against Tenant.

26. Except to the extent otherwise expressly provided in the Lease, Tenant shall not permanently stock, pile, store, or place any objects in any freight
elevator lobby, in any hallways or corridors, in any Common Areas, or closer than 18 inches to the ceiling of its Premises. All costs of relocating or adding
sprinkler heads (if any) due to walls or objects in a tenant area that project closer than 18 inches to the ceiling, shall be at Tenant’s cost.

27. Tenant shall be responsible for any damage to carpeting and flooring as a result of rust, staining, or corrosion caused by any spillage of food or
chemicals or by any of Tenant’s potted plants, file cabinets, pot holders, roller chairs, or other metal objects,

28. No burglar alarm system may be installed without Landlord’s prior written approval of such system, which approval shall not be unreasonably
withheld.

29. Tenant shall not obstruct, or sweep or throw dirt or any other substance into, or temporarily or permanently store or dispose of any trash, garbage,
waste, or refuse in, any sidewalk, hall,
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passage, balcony, exit, entrance, elevator, or stairway of the Building, or use the same for any purpose other than for ingress to and egress from Tenant’s
Premises. No person shall go upon or use the roof of the Building, unless expressly so authorized by Landlord.

30. No trash, garbage, waste, or refuse shall be stored or disposed of in any Common Areas, except in the dumpsters or trash containers provided by
Landlord for that purpose. Tenant shall only use such dumpsters and trash containers for disposal of nonhazardous trash or waste generated at the Building in
connection with the ordinary conduct of Tenants’ business at the Building in accordance with the terms and conditions of its lease. Tenant shall cooperate with
Landlord in the implementation of a reasonable recycling program for the Building.

31. Tenant shall by written notice to Landlord appoint a person or persons to act as Tenant’s authorized representatives. All tenant requests to Landlord or
its management for services shall be made through the authorized representatives. Tenant’s authorized representatives shall also serve as Tenant contacts in the
event of Building emergencies, interruptions of services, or security problems.

32. In the event Landlord shall elect, or be required, to perform any maintenance, repairs, alterations, improvements, or installations on Tenant’s Premises,
Tenant shall, upon Landlord’s request, move any file cabinets, furniture, or equipment as required by Landlord’s workers in order for them to obtain full,
unobstructed access to the area where their work is to be performed.

33. Smoking of cigarettes, cigars, and pipes is prohibited in Building lobbies, stairways, corridors, elevators, restrooms, and other Common Areas, and in
all occupied spaces within the Building as well. All cigarettes, cigars, and pipes shall be extinguished before entering the Building.

34. Landlord may exclude or expel from the Building any person who, in the judgment of Landlord, shall in any manner do any act in material violation of
any of the rules or regulations of the Building.
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EXHIBIT D

Standards for Utilities and Services

The furnishing of building services and utilities to Tenant shall be accomplished in accordance with and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this
Exhibit D and elsewhere in the Lease.

1. Subject to the provisions of Section 17 of the Lease, Landlord shall furnish the Premises with building services and utilities as set forth below:

(a) Landlord shall, on a 24-hour-per-day, 365-day-per-year basis provide elevator service (which in the lower elevator bank shall consist of five
(5) passenger elevators and one (1) freight elevator) by nonattended automatic elevators for general office pedestrian usage. At least two (2) passenger elevators
will be in service at all times and, except in circumstances of necessary emergency repairs, with all passenger elevators operating during “Business Hours,” as
defined below; provided, however, that notwithstanding the provisions of this sentence, Landlord shall have the right to pull elevators from service to the extent
necessary to perform maintenance and repairs in connection with the elevators. Landlord shall also provide, for use in accordance with all applicable rules and
regulations for the Building, freight elevator service.

(b) Landlord shall provide heating and air conditioning Monday through Friday, from 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., and upon request on Saturday, from
9:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. (noon), excepting “Holidays” as defined in Paragraph 5 below (“Business Hours”). The Base Building HVAC system shall have the
capacity, and shall be operated, to maintain a temperature in the Premises, during hours that heating and air conditioning services are required to be provided, at
not less than 70°F during cool days and not greater than 72°F during warm days; provided that because of the typical “throttling” range of the thermostats, the
actual temperature on cool days may temporarily range down to 68°F, and the actual temperature on warm days may temporarily range up to 74°F. Landlord
shall provide fresh air in compliance with ASHRAE 62 89. Landlord will maintain the above required temperature comfort range for all days that meet ASHRAE
published 1% design criteria for outdoor temperatures in downtown San Francisco.

(c) Landlord shall provide tepid or hot and cold water for the restrooms serving the Premises (one wet column per floor). Landlord shall also provide
chilled water for all drinking fountains furnished by Landlord.

(d) Landlord shall provide the janitorial services specified in Exhibit G (Cleaning Specifications), which services shall be generally consistent with
Comparable Buildings. Such janitorial services shall be provided to the Common Areas and the office areas of the Premises (but specifically excluding any
cafeterias, kitchens, kitchenettes, or computer rooms, etc., except to the extent otherwise expressly provided in Exhibit G) each evening, Monday through Friday,
or, at Landlord’s option, Monday through Thursday evenings and Sunday during the day or evening, except Holidays, provided that the Premises are kept
reasonably in order by Tenant. Tenant may contract directly with the Building’s janitorial services contractor or with third-party janitorial services contractors, as
determined by Tenant (and so long as no labor disputes arise from the retention of such third-party contractors) to provide supplemental cleaning services for the
Premises. Janitorial services shall be performed at Landlord’s direction without interference by Tenant or Tenant’s employees.

(e) Landlord shall provide appropriate vermin and pest control services when reasonably necessary in connection with normal office usage.
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(f) Landlord shall wash the exterior windows of the Building at least two (2) times per year, subject to increase if the custom and practice among the
owners of the majority of the Comparable Buildings calls for more frequent window washing.

(g) Landlord shall furnish HVAC service during such hours as Tenant establishes, and at other times upon Tenant’s request given not later than
12:00 p.m. (noon) on the business day for which Tenant desires such additional service, and not later than 12:00 p.m. (noon) on the business day before any
Saturday, Sunday, or Holiday on which Tenant requires such service or upon later notice if reasonably practicable. Tenant shall pay to Landlord an amount equal
to Tenant’s proportionate share of the actual direct cost to Landlord in providing HVAC service to Tenant and all other tenants of the Building receiving such
HVAC services during normal Business Hours which shall set forth the rates of ventilation only as well as for air conditioning. Outside of normal Business
Hours, Tenant shall pay 100% of the direct cost for HVAC service, unless other tenants in the building request such after-hours service, which Landlord will then
charge each tenant requesting such service their proportionate share of the cost.

(h) The method for calculating the costs of providing HVAC services will be performed using industry standard practices, which will include the
energy consumption of the pumps, cooling towers, fans, chillers and boilers as well as other associated costs, such as chemical treatment, increased frequency of
changing air filters and building engineer’s time for monitoring such equipment outside of normal Business Hours, No tenant of the Building shall be entitled to a
more favorable method of calculating such HVAC costs during the term of this Lease than that applied to Tenant herein. All cost increases with respect to HVAC
services under this Lease shall be limited to actual cost increases incurred by Landlord.

2. Additional Services. The services for which Landlord shall be entitled to payment from Tenant pursuant to Subsection 17.2 of the Lease shall include,
without limitation, those specified below in this Section 2.

(a) If the temperature otherwise maintained in any portion of the Premises by the HVAC system is affected as a result of (i) the occupancy of the
Premises by more than one person per one hundred fifty (150) square feet of usable area therein, (ii) an electrical load for lighting and power in excess of 4.0
watts per usable square foot, or (iii) any rearrangement of partitioning or other improvements, Landlord may install any equipment, or modify any existing
equipment (including the standard air conditioning equipment) Landlord reasonably deems necessary, after receiving Tenant’s reasonable consent as to such
conclusion, to restore the temperature balance. The cost of any such equipment and the cost of installing, operating, maintaining, or repairing the same, including
the cost of any electrical or engineering consultant engaged by Landlord in connection therewith, shall be paid by Tenant pursuant to Subsection 17.2 of the
Lease, without any right of credit or offset for underutilization of services specified in Section 1 above; provided, however, that Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and
expense, may perform the work contemplated by this sentence, upon the reasonable prior approval of Landlord and in accordance with Landlord’s construction
procedures and guidelines for performing such work and in a manner otherwise reasonably satisfactory to Landlord.

(b) If Tenant otherwise requires, on a regular basis, water, heat, air conditioning, electric current, elevator or janitorial service in excess of that
provided for in Section 1 above, Tenant shall first obtain Landlord’s written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, in which event
Landlord may install an electric current or water meter (including, without limitation, any additional wiring, conduit, or panel required therefor) to measure the
electric current or water consumed by Tenant, or Landlord may cause the usage to be measured by other reasonable methods (e.g., by temporary “check” meters
or by survey). The costs to be paid by Tenant pursuant to Subsection 17.2 of
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the Lease for such additional services shall include (i) the actual cost to Landlord of any and all water, heat, air conditioning, electric current, janitorial, elevator,
or other services or utilities furnished to Tenant in excess of the services and utilities required to be furnished by Landlord as provided in Section 1 above or as
part of Landlord’s Base Building Work, (ii) the reasonable and actual cost of installation, maintenance, and repair of any meter installed in the Premises by
Landlord to measure Tenant’s utility usage if Landlord installed such meter after a request by Tenant for excess usage, or if in any event such meter shall have
disclosed that Tenant is using excess utilities or services, and (iii) the actual cost to Landlord of all electricity and water consumed by Tenant in connection with
any dedicated or supplemental HVAC systems of Tenant (all such dedicated or supplemental systems to be maintained by Tenant at Tenant’s expense). Such
payments made pursuant to Subsection 17.2 of the Lease shall be made without any right of credit or offset for underutilization of services specified in Section 1
above.

(c) Tenant shall pay to Landlord, pursuant to Subsection 17.2 of the Lease, the cost of removal of any of Tenant’s trash, refuse or rubbish (whether
in the Premises or the Basement Space) (i) that materially exceeds the quantity of trash, refuse or rubbish usually accumulated in the daily routine of ordinary
office occupancy during normal business hours or (ii) that is generated by any machinery, equipment or eating facilities of Tenant and requires special handling.
Trash generated from Tenant activities such as restacking, moving, or purging files shall be deemed to constitute such excess trash, as shall any card board boxes
that Tenant wishes to dispose of. Such payments made pursuant to Subsection 17.2 of the Lease shall be made without any right of credit or offset for
underutilization of services specified in Section 1 above.

(d) Notwithstanding any provision of Section 1 above, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, pursuant to Subsection 17.2 of the Lease, the cost of any
nonroutine vermin and pest control services required in Tenant’s cafeteria, kitchen or kitchenette areas or required because of unhygienic practices of personnel
occupying the Premises.

3. Light Bulb, Tubes and Ballasts

(a) Landlord shall have the obligation to replace, as necessary, Building Standard light bulbs, tubes, and ballasts in Common Areas, the Premises,
and the Basement Space. To the extent that Tenant may have installed, in lieu of such Building Standard items, any Special Tenant Installations (as defined in
Subsection 3.2.2 of the Lease) that are comparable to such Building Standard items and may be maintained by Landlord without special training for Landlord’s
building engineers, Landlord shall not unreasonably refuse to operate and maintain such Special Tenant Installations as part of Base Building services (but
Tenant shall have the right to replace such Special Tenant Installations at its sole cost and expense), provided, however, that Tenant shall pay Landlord for any
actual out-of-pocket costs incurred by Landlord in performing such service (to the extent that such costs exceed what Landlord would pay for the Building
Standard equivalent) and a fee of fifteen percent (15%). Tenant shall have the right to perform the work described in this Subparagraph 3(a) upon Landlord’s
reasonable approval.

(b) Landlord shall also have the right (but not the obligation) to make, from time to time, to make reasonable changes to the Building Standard for
electric light bulbs, tubes, and ballasts and to make any replacement of non-Building Standard electric light bulbs, tubes and ballasts in the Premises, any space in
the Basement leased to Tenant, or any Common Areas.

(c) The Landlord may, at Landlord’s reasonable discretion and at Landlord’s cost, adopt a system of relamping and reballasting periodically on a
group basis in accordance with good practice, so long as such relamping or reballasting does not decrease the electrical or lighting standards set forth in the Final
Plans.
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4, Landlord’s failure to bill Tenant for any of the additional services or utilities described in Section 2 above shall not waive Landlord’s right to bill Tenant
for the same at a later time, not to exceed three (3) years.

5. As used herein, the term “Holiday” shall mean New Years Day, Martin Luther King Date, President’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor
Day, Thanksgiving, the Friday following Thanksgiving, and Christmas Day, and such other days on which (i) Tenant’s San Francisco offices are closed in
conformity of local custom and practice, and (ii) such day is recognized by the owners of the Comparable Buildings as a holiday.
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EXHIBIT E

ATTACHED TO AND MADE A PART OF THIS LEASE

Acknowledgment of Commencement of Term

THIS ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF COMMENCEMENT OF TERM is made as of                     , 20    , by and between GLL FREMONT STREET
PARTNERS (“Landlord”) and Riverbed Technology, Inc. (“Tenant”).

R E C I T A L S :

A. Pursuant to a written lease dated as of March 21, 2007 (the “Lease”), Tenant leases from Landlord certain premises commonly known as the entire
leaseable area of the 2nd through 8th floors of that certain 24-story building located at 199 Fremont Street, San Francisco, California (the “Premises”), as more
particularly described in the Lease.

B. Subject to and upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Acknowledgment of Commencement of Term, the parties desire to confirm the Term.

ACCORDINGLY, the parties agree as follows:

A G R E E M E N T :

1. The parties to this Acknowledgment hereby agree to confirm the establishment of the commencement and expiration dates of the Term as follows:

(a) the date of                     , 20     , is the Commencement Date for the Term for the Premises, as defined in the Lease;

(b) the date of                     , is the scheduled Expiration Date of the Term; and

(c) the Premises consist of                      rentable square feet.

(d) the period of                     , 20     through                     , 20    , is the First Window Period during which Tenant may elect to lease the First
Expansion Space;

(e) the period of                     , 20     through                     , 20    , is the Second Window Period during which time Tenant may elect to lease the
Second Expansion Space;

(f) the Termination Date for the cancellation of the Lease with respect to the Early Termination Premises is                     .

2. Tenant hereby confirms the following:

(a) that on                      it accepted possession of the Premises pursuant to the terms of the Lease;
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(b) that the improvements and space required to be furnished by Landlord for said Premises according to the Lease have been furnished, punchlist
items and latent defects excepted;

(c) that other than this Acknowledgment, there has been no modification, alteration, or amendment to the Lease, except as follows [if none, write
“none”]:                                                                                  ;

(d) that Tenant has not made any assignment of the Lease or any sublease of all or any portion of the Premises except as follows [if none, write
“none”]:                                                                                  ;

(e) that the Lease, as confirmed, modified, and amended by this Acknowledgment, is in full force and effect and represents the entire agreement
between Landlord and Tenant concerning the Premises and the matters covered by the Lease.

3. Landlord confirms that the Lease, as confirmed, modified, and amended by this Acknowledgment, is in full force and effect and represents the entire
agreement between Landlord and Tenant concerning the Premises and the matters covered by the Lease.

4. This Acknowledgment, and each and all of the provisions hereof, shall inure to the benefit of, or bind, as the case may require, the parties hereto, and
their respective heirs, successors, and assigns subject to the restrictions upon assignment and subletting contained in the Lease.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Acknowledgment as of the date first above written.
 

Landlord:   Tenant:

GLL FREMONT STREET PARTNERS,
a California partnership   

RIVERBED TECHNOLOGY, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By: GLL US Office L.P., a Delaware limited   By:   

 partnership, its Managing General Partner   Print Name:   

    Title:   

 
By:

 
GLL US Office Corp., a Delaware
corporation, its Managing General Partner    

  By:      

  Print Name:      

  Its:      
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EXHIBIT F

Arbitration Procedure

ATTACHED TO AND MADE A PART OF THIS LEASE

If a dispute arises between the parties concerning any matter pertaining to (i) the determination of the Commencement Date pursuant to Subsection 2.4 of
the Lease, (ii) the determination of the amount payable by Tenant pursuant to Subsection 6.2.3 of the Lease, (iii) the determination of the amount payable by
Tenant pursuant to Subsections 6.3.1(a) through 6.3.1(c) of the Lease, (iv) the results of any audit performed on Tenant’s behalf pursuant to Subsection 6.8 of the
Lease, (v) deleted, (vi) the determination of the proper amount of the invoice for repair under Subsection 11.2 of the Lease, (vii) the amount of any Rent
Differential payable pursuant to Subsection 14.5 of the Lease, (viii) any amount billed to Tenant by Landlord pursuant to Subsection 23.3 of the Lease, (ix) any
dispute under the provisions of the last three sentences of Subsection 23.6.2 of the Lease, (x) the portion of any Award for the bonus value of leasehold payable
to Tenant under Subsection 25.2.5, (xi) the determination of the Fair Market Rate for parking spaces in comparable parking facilities pursuant to Section 42, or
(xii) the resolution of any dispute under of Exhibit B, and any such dispute cannot be resolved by mutual agreement, the dispute shall be submitted to arbitration.
The judgment or the award rendered in any such arbitration may be entered in any court having jurisdiction and shall be final and binding between the parties.

1. If the dispute has continued for more than thirty (30) days following written notice from either party to the other that such thirty (30) day period for the
resolution of the matter shall commence as of the date of such written notice, then at the end of such 30-day period, either party may demand arbitration in
writing by notice to the other within ten (10) business days after the expiration of such thirty (30) day period, which notice shall include the arbitrator designated
by the requesting party. Such arbitrator shall have recognized expertise in the subject to which the dispute relates and shall have at least ten (10) years’
experience in such subject matter as it pertains to office leases of space in Comparable Buildings and shall have not previously been employed by the party
appointing such arbitrator (for purposes of determining whether such arbitrator shall have previously been employed, the fact that such arbitrator shall have
previously served as a third party in a dispute resolution matter shall not apply, but such fact must be fully disclosed to the other party). If the disputed subject
concerns earthquake insurance or premiums therefor, such arbitrator shall be an insurance broker. If the disputed subject concerns Tenant’s audit of Operating
Expenses (other than costs attributable to earthquake insurance), such arbitrator shall be an accountant. If the disputed subject concerns a construction matter,
such arbitrator shall be a construction manager. If the disputed subject concerns a market rental rates, such arbitrator shall be a real estate broker. If the disputed
subject concerns any other matter, such arbitrator shall be a real estate attorney. Such arbitrator shall be a person who would qualify as an expert witness over
objection to give testimony addressed to the issue in controversy in a court of competent jurisdiction. Failure on the part of either party to make a timely and
proper demand for such arbitration shall constitute a waiver of the party’s right to demand arbitration, but not a waiver of such party’s right to pursue any other
legal or equitable remedies (provided the other party does not timely and properly demand arbitration as herein provided).

2. Within ten (10) business days after the service of demand for arbitration, the responding party shall give notice (the “Response”) to the demanding party
specifying (i) with particularity the responding party’s proposed resolution of the matter in issue and (ii) the name and address of the person designated by the
responding party to act as arbitrator on its behalf who shall be qualified as set forth in paragraph (1) above. If the responding party fails to notify the demanding
party of the appointment of its
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arbitrator, within or by the time above specified, then the arbitrator appointed by the demanding party shall be the arbitrator to determine the issue. The
arbitration shall be conducted in San Francisco, California, in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association.

3. If two (2) arbitrators are chosen pursuant to the above, the arbitrators so chosen shall meet within ten (10) business days after the second arbitrator is
appointed, and if within ten (10) business days after such first meeting the two arbitrators shall be unable to agree promptly upon a determination of the matter in
issue, they shall appoint a third arbitrator, who shall be competent and impartial person with qualifications similar to those required of the first two arbitrators
pursuant to Paragraph (1) above. If they are unable to agree upon such appointment within five (5) business days after expiration of said ten (10) day period, the
third arbitrator shall be selected by the parties themselves, if they can agree thereon, within a further period of ten (10) business days. If the parties do not so
agree, then either party, on behalf of both, may request appointment of such a qualified person by the then Chief Judge of the United States District Court having
jurisdiction over the City and County of San Francisco, acting in his private non-judicial capacity. Request for appointment shall be made in writing with a copy
given to the other party. Each party agrees that said Judge shall have the power to make the appointment. The three (3) arbitrators shall decide the dispute, if it
has not previously been resolved, by following the procedure set forth below,

4. The three (3) arbitrators shall attempt to decide the issue within fifteen (15) business days after the appointment of the third arbitrator. Within such
fifteen (15) business day period the arbitrators shall hold a hearing in accordance with the aforesaid Rules at which each party may submit evidence, be heard and
cross-examine witnesses, with each party having at least ten (10) business days advance notice of the hearing. The hearing shall be conducted so that each of
Landlord and Tenant shall have reasonably adequate time to present oral evidence or argument, but either party may present whatever written evidence it deems
appropriate prior to the hearing (with copies of any such written evidence being sent to the other party prior to the hearing). The arbitrators shall have the right to
consult experts and competent authorities with factual information or evidence pertaining to the determination of the matter at issue, but any such consultation
shall be made in the present of both parties with full right on their part to cross- examine. The decision in which any two (2) arbitrators so appointed and acting
hereunder concur shall be the final decision of the arbitration and the arbitrators shall render the decision and award in writing with counterpart copies to each
party. The arbitrators shall have no power to modify the provisions of this Lease. Any decision derived from the foregoing arbitration process shall be binding
and conclusive upon the parties. If the arbitrators are unable to render a decision in accordance with the foregoing, or if the decision of the arbitrators shall be
held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable for any reason, then the matter submitted to arbitration shall be subject to litigation in the courts of
the State of California, and Landlord and Tenant each hereby waive its right to a jury trial in any such court proceeding.

5. If any arbitrator fails, refuses or is unable to act, his successor shall be appointed by him, but in the case of the third arbitrator, his successor shall be
appointed in the same manner as provided for appointment of the third arbitrator. The losing party shall pay the fees and costs of the arbitrators and of the expert
witnesses (if any) of the prevailing party as well as those of its expert witnesses. The “losing party” shall be determined by the arbitrators as a part of the
arbitration and such determination shall be based upon an assessment of which party’s major arguments or positions taken in the arbitration could fairly be said to
have lost to the other party’s major arguments or positions on major disputed issues in the arbitrators’ decision.

6. Tenant shall not withhold payment of disputed rental amounts claimed in good faith by Landlord to be due and owing under the terms and conditions of
the Lease. If Tenant pays such amounts
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under protest and subsequently prevails in contesting such amounts under the foregoing provisions of this Exhibit or under any other dispute resolution
proceeding allowed under the Lease for such dispute, Landlord shall reimburse Tenant for such amount, together with interest, accruing from the date of Tenant’s
payment to Landlord, at an interest rate equal to the Interest Rate. Such reimbursement shall be paid within ten (10) business days after the final resolution of
such dispute.

7. The arbitrator shall have the authority to award any remedy or relief that a court of this state could order or grant, including, without limitation, specific
performance of any obligation created under this Lease; except that the arbitrator shall have no authority to award punitive damages or any other damages not
measured by the prevailing party’s actual damages. Further, the arbitrator shall have no right to modify the provisions of this Lease.

8. The non-prevailing party shall reimburse the prevailing party for any reasonable attorneys’ fees or costs incurred by the prevailing party in enforcing
any judgment or award rendered in its favor in any arbitration under this Exhibit.
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EXHIBIT G

JANITORIAL SPECIFICATIONS
 

I. Office Areas
 

 A. Daily Services: (Five days per week—except holidays)
 

 1. All trash from waste baskets will be removed from the Premises.
 

 2. Dry-mop all VCT, wood and composition floors with chemically treated dust mops.
 

 3. Vacuum all carpeted areas on an as-needed basis.
 

 4. Dust desks, chairs and other office furniture.
 

 5. Spot-clean doors and door frames.
 

 6. Spot-clean partition door glass.
 

 7. Clean, wipe and sanitize drinking fountains.
 

 8. Spot-clean VCT, wood and composition floors.
 

 9. Promptly turn off all lights upon completion of cleaning.
 

 10. Lock and check all entrance doors to Premises.
 

 B. Weekly Services:
 

 1. Wipe with treated dust cloth all chair legs and rungs, furniture legs, and other areas of furniture and accessories not dusted during nightly
cleaning.

 

 2. Clean electrical switch/receptacle covers and surrounding areas.
 

 3. Dust baseboards.
 

 4. (If customary at such frequency for the Comparable Buildings, or at such other frequency as such custom requires:) Dust all cleared vertical
and horizontal surfaces on furniture.

 

 C. Monthly Services:
 

 1. High dusting all horizontal surfaces and ledges, such as picture frames, ceiling diffuser grills, that are beyond the reach of normal nightly
dusting.

 

 D. Quarterly Services:
 

 1. Carpeted floors will be vacuumed, using a pile lifter.
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 2. (If customary at such frequency for the Comparable Buildings, or at such other frequency as such custom requires:) Clean Building light
fixtures, lens and lamps.

 

 E. Semi-Annual Service:
 

 1. Strip, clean and apply new finish to VCT resilient floors.
 

 F. Annual Service:
 

 1. Clean any discoloration of ceilings caused by improper maintenance of HVAC. Ordinary wear and tear and aging accepted.
 

 2. Dust all Building Standard window blinds.
 

 3. Clean Building light fixtures, lens and lamps.

 
II. Restrooms
 

 A. Daily Services: (Five days per week—except holidays)
 

 1. Clean and sanitize restrooms, wash basins, dispensers, chrome pipe, fittings and supports.
 

 2. Clean mirrors and frames.
 

 3. Wet-mop and disinfect floors.
 

 4. Clean and sanitize toilets, urinals and sanitary napkin receptacles.
 

 5. Promptly advise the Building Manager’s Office of any inoperative, missing or damaged restroom fixture.
 

 6. Refill all dispensers (towels, tissue, hand soap, napkins).
 

 7. Collect and dispose of all waste materials.
 

 8. Turn off all lights.
 

 B. Weekly Services:
 

 1. Dust ledges and partitions.
 

 2. Damp-clean walls, partitions, doors and frames, ledges, sills and counters.
 

 C. Monthly Services:
 

 1. Wash toilet partitions and ceramic tile walls.
 

 2. Perform high dusting and/or washing, including walls.
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 D. Semi-Annual Services:
 

 1. Scrub floors
 

 E. Annual Services:
 

 1. Clean light fixtures, lens and lamps.
 

 2. Clean and vacuum diffusers/vents and ceiling tiles.

 
III. Elevator Lobbies/Building Corridors
 

 A. Daily Services: (Five days per week—except holidays)
 

 1. Vacuum all carpeted floors.
 

 2. Damp-mop all non-carpeted floors.
 

 3. Dust ledges within reach.
 

 4. Damp-mop as needed.
 

 5. Spot-clean walls and doors.
 

 6. Clean, wipe and sanitize drinking fountains.
 

 7. Dry-mop marble flooring with chemically treated dustmops.
 

 8. Clean elevator thresholds.
 

 B. Weekly Services:
 

 1. Spot-clean and pile-condition carpet in heavy-traffic areas.
 

 2. (If customary at such frequency for the Comparable Buildings, or at such other frequency as such custom requires:) Machine polish and/or
apply finish to all non-carpeted areas, including marble floors.

 

 C. Monthly Services:
 

 1. Clean marble walls to ceiling.
 

 2. (If customary at such frequency for the Comparable Buildings, or at such other frequency as such custom requires:) Clean Building light
fixtures, lens and lamps.

 

 3. Machine polish and/or apply finish to all non-carpeted areas, including marble floors.
 

 D. Annual Services:
 

 1. Clean Building light fixtures, lens and lamps.
 

 2. Clean and vacuum diffusers/vents and ceiling tiles.
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IV. Elevators
 

 A. Daily Services: (Five days per week—except holidays)
 

 1. Clean elevator doors, frames, walls, saddles and tracks.
 

 2. Clean and wipe all metal surfaces.
 

 3. Dry-mop non-carpeted floors.
 

 B. Monthly Services:
 

 1. Polish all metal surfaces.
 

 C. Annual Services:
 

 1. Clean light fixtures, lens and lamps.
 

 2. Clean and vacuum diffusers/vents and ceilings.

 
V. Stairways
 

 A. Daily Services as Needed: (Five days per week—except holidays)
 

 1. Remove all debris and wet-mop stair treads, risers and landings.
 

 B. Weekly Services:
 

 1. Sweep thoroughly.
 

 2. Dust thoroughly.
 

 3. (If customary at such frequency for the Comparable Buildings, or at such other frequency as such custom requires:) All stairs and landings
will be wet-mopped.

 

 C. Monthly Services:
 

 1. All stairs and landings will be wet-mopped.
 

 D. Annual Services:
 

 1. Clean light fixtures, lamps, walls and ceilings.

 
VI. Building Service Areas
 

 A. Daily Services: (Five days per week—except holidays)
 

 1. Clean all janitor closets at end of shift and promptly switch off all lights.
 

 2. Cardboards to be flattened and tied for removal.
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 3. Place waste paper, cardboard and rubbish, etc., in approved receptacles or assigned rooms.

 
VII. Building Exterior, Entrances and Ground Floor Lobbies/Main Lobby
 

 A. Daily Services: (Five days per week—except holidays)
 

 1. Wash door glass and door frames.
 

 2. Wipe down horizontal entrance ledges.
 

 B. Weekly Service:
 

 1. Prune, water and care for landscape materials.
 

 2. Sweep sidewalks adjacent to the building.
 

 3. Remove gum and other adhesive material.
 

 4. Sweep or flush clean exterior entrance to maintain in a good condition.
 

 C. Monthly Services:
 

 1. Clean and/or polish all metal finished entrances to building.
 

 2. As to the ground floor lobbies, machine polish and/or apply finish to all non-carpeted areas, including marble floors.
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EXHIBIT H

Rules and Regulations for Construction by Tenant
 

1. Introduction

The following Rules and Regulations for Contractors are to govern the actions and operations of Contractors, subcontractors, and suppliers for
construction (collectively referred to herein as “Contractor”) within the confines of the Property. Each Contractor is responsible for ensuring compliance with
each of the Rules and Regulations by each subcontractor, subsubcontractor and supplier of such contractor.

 
2. Supervision

Contractor shall maintain a competent superintendent or supervisory representative on the premises full-time who is authorized to act in all manners
pertaining to the work.

The name, phone number, mobile telephone number and pager number for this individual shall be given to Owner along with an emergency contact in the
event of an after hours emergency.

 
3. Appearance

All toots, equipment and building materials must be maintained at all times within the area under construction when not in transit to or from the area.

In all cases where construction is taking place in an occupied area or visible common area, all necessary steps and precautions shall be taken to shield the
work site from public view. This shall include keeping doors closed (construction of temporary doors if necessary), latexing “storefront” windows in retail areas
and building out a one-side drywall partition on public corridors, if appropriate. The use of tape (of any kind) on any finished surfaces is expressly forbidden.

 
4. Access

Access will be directed by the Owner. Access to the project is limited to the loading dock entrance only. Contractor is not to use the main building
entrance, main lobby or passenger elevators during the course of the work. No Contractor personnel are allowed in the main lobby nor any floor of the building
other than the floor on which the work occurs.

All tools, equipment and building materials must enter the project through the loading dock area and freight elevator. Removal of trash, tools and
equipment must be made via the same route.

Access to mechanical, electrical or telephone rooms can be obtained by checking out a key. Keys can be checked out between 8:00 AM and 4:00 PM only
if a driver’s license is left with the building office or their designee.

No hard wheeled carts or hand trucks will be permitted on any stone or tile surface without adequate protection and prior approval of Owner.

 
5. Staging Area

Owner may designate unloading and staging areas. All materials unloaded at these areas are to be moved into the premises immediately.

 
6. Utility Access

Other than the existing utilities currently existing in the premises, Contractor shall provide its own source of power for performing work on the job site.
Access to any common area utility (e.g., electrical panels/service, gas valves, water/sewer hook-ups, etc.) shall only be provided by Owner upon one full business
day’s prior notice.
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7. Utility Interruption

Contractor shall take all necessary and appropriate steps to ensure that utility services to existing occupants of the Property are not interrupted.

In the event that minimal service interruption is necessary during the course of the work, it must be arranged with Owner no less than 5 business days prior
to its occurrence and must occur during hours when the businesses affected are not generally open nor in operation.

 
8. Temporary Facilities

Water and electric power are provided in the building for the use of the various contractors. Contractor is to verify the locations and adequacy of the
facilities provided and make all allowances in its bid for modifying the facilities (such as tie-ins, temp-power boxes, etc.) if he/she so desires. Any changes to
Power Panels must receive prior written approval of Owner. Temporary power must be maintained within the construction premises. No power cords will be
allowed outside the work area. Monthly electric power and water charges are paid by Owner and charged to Contractor at Owner’s discretion.

Owner may provide (at Owner’s discretion) temporary sanitary facilities. If Owner chooses not to, then Contractor will provide adequate temporary
sanitary facilities for his employees and subcontractors. Contractor is to maintain these facilities in a clean and acceptable manner subject to Owner’s inspection.
If these sanitary facilities are provided and found to be abused, their use will be withdrawn by Owner and the Contractor will be required to provide other
facilities. In the event that Contractor is granted by Owner permission to place a temporary office facility on the site, the size, location, and quality of the facility
is at the sole discretion of Owner.

 
9. Protection

Where Contractor’s work engages work performed by others or if access to the premises passes through areas of work performed by others, marring or
damaging of such areas will not be permitted. Any work which must take place in an area previously prepared by others shall be approved by Contractor before
commencing work and any unsatisfactory conditions shall be reported to Owner.

Where existing work is damaged in the execution of the work, Contractor shall be responsible for repairing or replacing the damaged work (at Contractor’s
expense) as required and to the satisfaction of Owner. Contractor will be responsible for the security of its own materials, equipment and work.

Upon completion of tenant construction, Contractor shall promptly dismantle, remove and dispose of any temporary enclosures and any excess materials
from the premises.

Should Contractor fail to comply with the above, Owner will proceed upon 24 hours notice to Contractor with the necessary clean-up, demolition and
removal, and charge Contractor.

 
10. Elevators/Loading Dock Deliveries

Contractor agrees to comply with the freight elevator policy for this building. Dock freight elevator hours are from 7:00 AM to 4:00 PM daily, Monday
through Friday. Use of the freight elevator on weekends and other than normal business hours must be arranged and approved upon 24 hours advance notice to
Owner (not later than 5:00 PM, Thursday for weekend service).
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After-hours’ use of the freight elevator, loading dock and garage will require the presence of a security guard that will be billed to Contractor requesting
this convenience. Contractors may not use passenger elevators at any time for any reason, except with Owner’s prior written consent. If Owner consents to
Contractor’s use of a passenger elevator, Contractor shall take all necessary and prudent measures to safeguard the passenger elevator against damage, wear, or
tear. Contractor shall bear the expense of any repairs required due to any damage caused to such passenger elevators. Except as Owner, at its sole discretion, may
otherwise allow in writing, Contractor’s movement shall be through the freight elevators only.

 
11. Clean-Up

Contractor will ensure that no tools, equipment, materials or debris of any kind are permitted to accumulate anywhere outside of the work area, including
but not limited to: dirt, dust, paint, sawdust, taping and/or taping mud, sheet rock and/or related debris, paper and trash of any kind. Tracking of construction dirt
onto public streets or sidewalks or into corridors or stairways must be prevented through the use of walk-off mats provided by Contractor and changed frequently
to remain clean. The walk-off mats shall be placed immediately inside the work area. In addition, Contractor will sweep clean the work area (using sweeping
compound to minimize dust) as often as necessary to maintain a safe workplace and a clean public access to and from it.

Contractor shall assign someone responsible for policing the common areas between the loading area and the work area and/or the areas workmen travel as
necessary to ensure cleanliness. The Freight Elevator will be wiped clean and the floor mopped at the end of each shift. Janitorial services may be required
to supplement Contractor’s cleaning. Costs for providing such cleaning will be billed to and paid by the Contractor.

 
12. Final Clean-Up

At completion of the project, Contractor is to provide a thorough janitorial cleaning of the entire premises (and surrounding areas affected by the
construction), including but not necessarily limited to the following:

a. Interior glass, mullions, and all interiors of exterior glass.

b. High and low dusting (including baseboards).

c. Light fixtures.

d. All sinks, cabinets, and countertops.

e. All mini-blinds or other window coverings.

f. Vacuum all carpeted floors.

g. Mop all tile, VCT and other hard surfaced floors.

 
13. Site Policing

Contractor is to maintain premises free of general debris and trash. Provisions shall be made to control visible dust emissions. Food is to be consumed in
designated areas with all food remains, garbage and containers removed by Contractor nightly.

At all times during demolition and construction, Contractor shall assign someone responsible to police and clean public areas where construction debris is
present.

 
14. Debris Boxes

Contractor is to arrange for its own debris boxes to be placed in areas and at times approved by Owner.
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Any use by Contractor of Property debris boxes, compactors or portable janitorial bins may be cause for removal of Contractor from the premises and/or
assessment of charges to cover dumping costs.

 
15. Quality of Workmanship

Contractor’s work shall be performed in a thoroughly first class and journeymanlike manner and shall be in good and usable condition at the date of
completion thereof.

 
16. Labor Relations

Any and all work performed by Contractor shall be performed in a manner so as to avoid any labor dispute which results or could result in a stoppage or
impairment of work, deliveries or any other services in the Property. If there shall be any such stoppage or impairment or threat thereof as a result of any such
labor dispute, Contractor shall immediately undertake such action as may be necessary to eliminate such dispute or potential dispute including, without
limitation:
 

a. Removing all disputants from the jobsite until such time as the labor dispute no longer exists;
 

b. Seeking an injunction in the event of a breach of contract between Contractor and Contractor’s subcontractor; and
 

c. Filing appropriate unfair labor practice charges in the event of a union jurisdictional dispute.

 
17. Fire Protection

The Owner’s Property Management representative is to be given at least 24 hours’ notice prior to shutting down an area for work on the sprinkler system.
Contractor will drain the area on which it is working in the presence of Owner’s representative (if requested) each day of the work. Contractor agrees to recharge
the area at the close of each work day. In no case will a system not be recharged each night.

Contractor shall supply its own Fire Extinguisher and will provide a fire watch when fire suppression equipment is disabled or during welding.
Additionally, this policy shall apply to the smoke detection system on each floor.

 
18. Panel and Equipment Labeling

Prior to completion of work and turning work over to a Representative of Owner, properly label each piece of equipment and electric panel with its name,
function and circuit. Use permanent etched plastic sign materials or typed panel cards as appropriate. No penciled, hand marked or incomplete label will be
accepted. Landlord reserves the right at contractors cost, to call in an outside contractor to label or correct panel schedules not correctly done by the original
contractor.

 
19. Security

Contractor shall ensure the security of the project premises as well as its own materials, equipment and work in progress. This shall include the re-keying,
where applicable, of locksets at completion of job in accordance with the keying schedule provided by Owner. Contractor shall provide adequate security so as to
avoid the risk of the construction site becoming an attractive nuisance. BEWARE 199 Fremont uses a Schlage Security Keyway—this is a long lead item,
please contact the Building authorized locksmith, Complete Security, San Francisco for locks and associated materials.

 
20. Floor and Wall Penetrations

Piping penetrations through rated floors and walls are to be sealed using approved materials to assure existing ratings.
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21. Roof Access and Penetrations

Access to the roof is restricted to Owner’s personnel and Owner’s designated contractors, only. No other contractor or subcontractor will be permitted on
the roof unless written permission has been obtained from Owner.

All roof penetrations must be made by a roofing contractor acceptable to Owner at Contractor’s expense and must conform to Owner’s standard criteria.
Penetrations shall be subject to Owner’s approval as to construction detail, size, configuration, location and support.

Contractor shall contact Owner directly to obtain approval of the roof penetration and patching. Blues Roofing is an approved roofing contractor.

Once the roof curbs are on the job, the roofing contractor will make the penetration and Contractor will install the curb and the roofing contractor will
repair the roof. No penetration will be made that cannot be repaired by the roofing contractor on the same day. Contractor shall pay all such costs for this work
directly.

 
22. System Tie-ins and Owner Inspections

Contractors are not allowed, under any circumstances, to tie into building mechanical, electrical, sprinkler, life safety, or security primary systems without
prior written approval and coordination from Owner. Owner may coordinate, at Contractor’s cost, having these tie-ins performed by Owner’s own contractors.
Owner may observe all work prior to closing-in and observe all tie-ins and interfaces with Property systems to assure Owner specifications compliance, warranty
protection, and property systems operations. Contractor should be prepared to separately clean any new system that is being brought on-line. This may include,
descaling, degreasing, industry accepted methods of chemical cleaning and fully charging the system with chemicals that are the same as those currently used in
the base building systems. Forty-eight (48) hours notice is to be given to Owner prior to any tie-in.

 
23. Code Compliance and Inspections

Contractor is responsible for acquiring all additional permits, if any, for the work contemplated by its approved scope of work (e.g., street parking,
excavating or dewatering into the sewer system, etc.) Contractor is also responsible for scheduling inspections by the Building Department and other inspections
as necessary and to comply with their requirements, all codes and regulations. A copy of all inspection reports must be submitted to Owner. [In the event
Contractor is notified of any violations of codes by the jurisdictional authorities or by Owner’s representative, Contractor shall correct such violation within
seven (7) calendar days from such date of notification. Construction shall comply in all respects with applicable federal, state, county and/or location statutes,
ordinances, regulations, laws and codes. Permits required for ALL work prior to commencement of demolition or construction.

 
24. Approved Plans

Work shall be constructed in accordance with plans that have been approved by Owner and comply with all city, county and state ordinances, rules and
regulations relating thereto. No design build projects will be allowed. Contractor shall not deviate from approved drawings and specifications without obtaining
prior written permission from Owner. No M.E.P. work is allowed without Landlord approved plans that have been provided to the Engineer of
Record—Flack and Kurtz—for peer review.

 
25. Work Coordination

Construction shall be coordinated with all work being performed or to be performed by Owner and other occupants of the Property to such extent that the
work will not interfere with or delay the completion of any other work. No Contractor or subcontractor participating in Contractor’s work shall at any time
damage, injure, interfere with or delay the completion of the work or any other construction within the Property. All Contractors and subcontractors and suppliers
shall comply with all procedures and regulations prescribed by Owner for the
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integration of Contractor’s work with the work to be performed in connection with the project. Common areas, plazas, public corridors, service corridors and
exterior of Owner’s buildings must be kept clear of Contractor’s equipment, merchandise, fixtures, refuse and trash at all times. [Any mechanical, electrical or
plumbing item which needs to be routed through another space requires written permission from Owner’s office with not less than 72 hours notice.]

 
26. Adjacent Improvements

Contractor shall be responsible for the repair, replacement or clean-up of any damages caused to any other work in any area of the Project. Contractor shall
be required to maintain continuous protection of adjacent premises in such a manner as to prevent any damage to such adjacent property and the improvements
thereon. If Property is damaged by Contractor then Contractor shall promptly repair such damages and restore it to its pre-damaged condition.

Contractor shall neatly patch, replace, and finish all adjacent surfaces or features disturbed in performance of the work, including, but not limited to glass,
glazing, exterior and/or interior surfaces, paving, stripping, signage, landscaping, concrete work, and improvements of every kind. All replaced or patched work
shall be of the same type and quality as the existing surfaces or features.

 
27. Safety

Contractor shall at all times while work is in progress provide all appropriate protection, as required by law or prudent industry practices, (1) to protect
Contractor’s employees, the Property’s occupants, and the public from any personal injury or any damage to personal property that could occur in connection
with the work and (2) to protect all portions of the building and all fixtures, equipment, finishes, furniture, and supplies located therein from any damage that
could occur in connection with the work.

Contractor shall comply with all safety, fire protection, and evacuation procedures and regulations reasonably established by Owner or any governmental
agency. In no event shall any emergency exits, emergency exit signs, fire lanes, or other safety aspects of the Property be blocked or impeded by Contractor.
Further, Contractor shall exercise extreme caution to avoid leaving any hazardous situation exposed to occupants and/or guests of the project (i.e., a tripping
hazard caused by an electrical cord stretched across a walkway.)

Contractor shall supply its own First Aid Kit. All life safety devices must remain operational during construction except where specific systems or devices
are being altered. In no event shall the construction area be unprotected after normal business hours.

 
28. Insurance

At all times while work is in progress, Contractor shall carry and maintain all insurance policies and coverage required under its contract, and in any event
Contractor shall carry and maintain (i) comprehensive general liability insurance, in a reasonable and prudent amount, insuring against liability for property
damage and personal injury and (ii) Workers’ Compensation and employer’s liability insurance, as required by law.

 
29. Hours for Work Onsite

Prior to commencing work in or about the building, Contractor shall obtain Owner’s consent as to the hours and days of the week that Contractor intends
to perform its work. Contractor shall use all reasonable efforts to perform its work in a manner to minimize interference with occupants of the building by
scheduling certain types of work for times and days in which the building is generally unoccupied. In no event, however, shall Contractor be permitted to
perform its work after Owner’s customary business hours or on days the building is not open for business to the public, without first obtaining Owner’s written
consent to such work and appropriate security precautions to be taken. Notice must be given to Owner not less than 24 hours in advance of the schedule of
off-hours work.
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30. Prior to Commencement of Work Onsite

Contractor shall furnish the following items to Owner prior to commencing any work in or about the building:

a. A certificate of insurance evidencing the compliance with the insurance requirements of the contract and these Rules and Regulations.

b. Contractor’s License Number.

c. One (1) copy of any permits required by the local governmental authorities for the performance of the work.

d. A copy of Contractor’s Bond in connection with the work to be performed.

e. A certified list of all subcontractors and material suppliers to be used by Contractor in connection with the work.

 
31. Conduct/Cleanliness at Work Site

Contractor shall take all reasonable steps to minimize interference with occupants of the Property and adjacent properties during the course of the work.

Contractor, its employees, and subcontractors shall use only the service or freight elevators during times when work is to be performed, and they shall
enter and exit through service areas only. Contractor shall leave all common areas in clean condition after each use. Owner shall have the right to prescribe the
weight, size, and position of any heavy equipment brought onto the Property. Heavy equipment and objects shall, if considered necessary by Owner, stand on
wood strips (or other material) of such thickness as reasonably determined by Owner to be necessary to properly distribute the weight thereof. If a structural
engineer is needed to determine if structural bracing is required for contractors equipment, etc., then such costs shall be at the expense of Contractor. Owner shall
not be responsible for loss of or damage to any such equipment or property and all damage done to the Property by moving or maintaining such equipment or
property shall be repaired at the expense of Contractor. During construction, Contractor shall clean up and remove all discarded materials, refuse, debris and
similar items from the work site on a daily basis, and thereby leave the construction area and surrounding areas in a neat and clean condition. At all times, the
work site shall be maintained in a neat and clean condition, consistent with the work being performed. In no event shall any materials be left or stored in any
common areas of the Property, including, without limitation, Property parking lots, walkways or vacant spaces without the prior consent of Owner.

All salvageable items that are removed shall be reused in the work whenever possible and appropriate (except as otherwise provided in the contract), and
Owner shall receive an appropriate credit for any such reused items.

Except as otherwise provided in Contractor’s written contract, Contractor, its employees, and subcontractors shall supply all of their own tools and
materials required for the work and shall not use any tools, supplies, or materials belonging to Owner or its agents.

Public drains, storm drains, toilet rooms, toilets, urinals, wash bowls, and other apparatus shall not be used for any purpose other than that for which they
were constructed and no foreign substance of any kind whatsoever shall be thrown therein. The expense of any breakage, stoppage, or damage resulting from the
violation of this rule by Contractors, its employees, or subcontractors shall be borne by Contractor.

 
32. Mechanical Equipment

Contractor is responsible to ensure that the existing HVAC system is not permitted to operate during the construction process in the construction areas
without the written permission of Owner. Further, a working test of the system must be completed by Contractor prior to tenant move-in. HVAC hook-up to the
energy management system (if any) must be completed prior to tenant move-in.
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33. Air System Filters

Prior to completion of work and prior to turning work over to Owner, Contractor is to replace all floor main supply fan filters under the direction of Owner
prior to tenant occupancy and prior to releasing retention.

 
34. Cutting and Coring

No cutting or coring of the Building premises or installations, or those of any Building occupant, shall be permitted without prior written consent of
Owner. Any cutting and/or coring must be done outside of normal Building hours. Request for permission to do cutting shall include explicit details and
description of work and shall not under any circumstances diminish the structural integrity of the Building’s components or systems. If any work is to be done in
another space or in any public area, such work is to be done only with the explicit written permission of Owner and at times as directed by Owner. Any such area
is to be promptly repaired and returned to a fully functioning, complete, and clean condition.

 
35. As-Builts and Warranties

Upon completion of construction, two sets of full size as-built prints and one set full size as-built sepias are to be forwarded to Owner. In addition to
as-builts, all cut sheets, warranties and manuals for installed mechanical equipment and/or appliances must be given to Owner.

Failure to provide “AS BUILTS” may result in the Owner REMOVING the contractor from the approved vendor list. Landlord reserves the
right to call in an outside Architectural firm to supply as-built drawings at Tenants expense.

 
36. Air System Balancing

The building exhaust and make-up air systems for ventilation and conditioning are designed for total floor occupancy. It is the responsibility of Contractor
to adjust the base building air system as necessary at the completion of the project work. Contractor shall provide to the Owner evidence of re-balancing prior to
tenant occupancy and prior to releasing retention. Air balance will not be conducted by the installing contractor.

 
37. Water Balancing

Contractor is to water re-balance the base building loop at completion of project connection. Contractor shall provide evidence of re-balancing to the
Owner’s Property Management representative.

 
38. Disinfecting

Contractor is to clean and disinfect the water systems after installation and before connecting to the building system. Before placing water piping in service
and before washing out, piping must be thoroughly blown out with air to remove dirt, rust, scale or other contaminants. Insides of all regulating valves must be
removed and blank covers provided where necessary. All condensing and water system piping must be washed out with water, thoroughly cleaned by flushing
water to waste. All strainer screens shall be removed and thoroughly cleaned after flushing. Contractor shall provide a certificate of disinfection together with
bacteriological reports prior to final connection to base building system.

 
39. Plumbing Connections

Plumbing wet taps may not interrupt service. Forty-eight (48) hours notice is to be given to Owner prior to connection.
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40. Parking

Contractor, its employees, and subcontractors shall park their vehicles only in those areas of the parking lot or parking garage designated by Owner for use
by contractors (if any). In any case, Contractor parking shall be located as far away from operating businesses during open hours as possible. Contractor shall
comply with all rules or regulations applicable to such parking areas. Loading docks are for drop off and unloading only and not for parking. In no event shall
Contractor block public access to the parking lot or garage or otherwise disrupt the normal use of the parking facilities without first notifying Owner and
obtaining Owner’s prior written consent. No vehicles may be parked overnight in the parking facilities without Owner’s prior written consent. Washing, waxing,
cleaning, and servicing of vehicles in the parking facilities are prohibited. Contractor is responsible for the cost of parking its employees’ vehicles.

 
41. Work Schedule

As soon as possible prior to commencement of the work, Contractor shall prepare, and submit for Owner’s approval, progress schedules for the work.
These progress schedules shall indicate the dates for the starting and completing of the various stages of the work and shall be revised as required by the
conditions of the work, subject to Owner’s approval.

 
42. Signs

Contractor shall not be permitted to post any sign, placard, picture, name, advertisement, or notice visible from the exterior of the building or the work site
at the building without Owner’s prior consent, unless the posting of such sign, placard, or notice is required by law. Such consent may be withheld in Owner’s
sole discretion.

 
43. No Smoking

Smoking of cigarettes, cigars, and pipes is prohibited in all enclosed areas of the Property (i.e., restrooms, utility service rooms, etc.).

 
44. No Intoxication

Owner may exclude or expel from the Property any person who, in the judgment of Owner, is intoxicated or under the influence of liquor or drugs, or who
shall in any manner do any violation of any of the rules or regulations of the Property.

 
45. No Improper Conduct

No employee of Contractor, or any of its subcontractors, shall be permitted to dress, or behave or speak in any rude, lewd, suggestive, obnoxious, or
inappropriate manner to any occupants or visitors to the Property.

 
46. No Loitering

No employee of Contractor or any of its subcontractors shall loiter in any entrance, exits, or common areas or, except as otherwise consented to in writing
by Owner, in any way obstruct any sidewalk or driveway.

 
47. No Excessive Noise

Contractor shall ensure that it and each of its employees, subcontractors, and other workers shall perform all work and services in or about the building in a
courteous manner, respectful of the rights and convenience of others, and with the least amount of noise, dust, and vibration possible under the circumstances.
Playing of radios or other audio devices is prohibited and these devices are subject to confiscation.

No loud machinery will be used from 8:00 AM to 5:30 PM without express written permission from the Owner.
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Noisy work such as hammering, drilling, jack-hammering, chipping, shooting anchors, roto-hammering and other disruptive activity must take place
outside of normal building operating hours of 8:00 AM - 5:30 PM, Monday through Friday. Marginal activities such as shooting anchors may be performed up to
8:30 AM, between 12:00 noon and 1:00 PM and after 5:00 PM. Contractors must include adequate overtime allowances for these activities in their contract price
as exceptions to the above will not be granted.

 
48. Hazardous Substances

The following rules concern “Hazardous Substances”, which term shall mean any kerosene, gasoline, oils, solvents, paint thinner, acids, caustics,
insecticides, pesticides, herbicides, corrosives, flammable explosives, asbestos, PCBs, vinyl chloride, cyanide solutions, urea formaldehyde, waste chemicals,
sludge, radioactive materials, infectious or medical waste, or other substance or material that, after release into the environment and upon exposure, ingestion,
inhalation or assimilation, either directly from the environment or indirectly by ingestion, through food chains, will or may reasonably be anticipated to cause
death, disease, behavior abnormalities, cancer, reproductive harm, or genetic abnormalities:

a. Contractor shall use its best efforts to minimize the use of Hazardous Substances, and to avoid any releases of Hazardous Substances into the environment, in
performing services or work in or about the building. If the use of some Hazardous Substance is required in connection with a service or work to be performed in
or about the building, Contractor shall use its best efforts to procure and use the least hazardous substance or material suitable for such work or service.

b. Contractor shall not, without Owner’s prior written consent, use any Hazardous Substances, or any construction materials containing Hazardous Substances, in
or about the building if the presence of such substances or materials, or the manner in which they are used, will cause or risk causing any exposure for which a
warning or disclosure, to any occupant of the building other than Contractor’s own employees and permitted subcontractors, would be required under any
applicable federal, state, or local law, ordinance, regulation, or order at any time during the performance of services or work in or about the building or within six
months after the completion of such services or work.

c. If at any time Contractor shall become aware, or have reasonable cause to believe, that there has occurred or will occur any release of any Hazardous
Substance for which a warning or disclosure is or will be required under any applicable federal, state, or local law, ordinance, regulation, or order, Contractor
shall immediately upon discovering such condition or suspected condition give notice thereof to Owner. At Owner’s request, Contractor shall cooperate with
Owner in giving any such required warning or disclosure.

d. Contractor shall provide Owner with material safety data sheets (“MSDSs”) for any chemicals or materials used by Contractor in connection with work at the
work site. If MSDSs are not available for any material or item for which applicable law requires the producer or manufacturer to provide an MSDS, Contractor
shall use its best efforts to obtain from the producer, manufacturer, or vendor appropriate information concerning any Hazardous Substances used in the
manufacture of such material or item.

e. If Owner has identified to Contractor any material located at the site as containing asbestos, PCBs, or other Hazardous Substances, Contractor shall be
responsible for satisfying itself and assuring that the procedures specified in its contract are adequate to ensure that no one will be exposed to such Hazardous
Substances in connection with or as a result of the performance of any work or services to be performed by or through Contractor. In the event Contractor
encounters in or about the building any other material that Contractor reasonably believes may contain any Hazardous Substance that has not been rendered
harmless or that might possibly be disturbed or rendered harmful by the work to be performed by Contractor, then Contractor shall immediately so notify Owner
and cause all work in the affected area to stop until Contractor receives instructions from Owner as to whether and how to proceed.

f. In no event shall any work involving the generation of toxic fumes or objectionable odors be permitted or undertaken in occupied areas during building
operating hours or prior to operating hours when fumes, gasses or other emissions cannot be fully exhausted by 8:00 AM. Work of this type shall include, but not
be limited to any and all oil-based painting, priming or sealing and any direct glue carpet or wall covering installation.
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49. Other Maintenance, Alterations, and Construction

In the event Owner is aware of asbestos or asbestos-containing material (ACM) that could potentially be disturbed by any work or services to be
performed by Contractor in the building, Owner shall so notify Contractor and make available to Contractor a copy of Owner’s operations and maintenance plan
regarding such ACM. Contractor shall strictly comply with all precautions and requirements contained in such asbestos operations and maintenance plan. Before
any work of any kind may commence, Contractor will familiarize themselves with the Owner’s Operations & Maintenance Plan.

 
50. Enforcement of Rules and Regulations

Owner shall attempt to enforce these Rules and Regulations equitably, but Owner may waive any one or more of these Rules and Regulations for the
benefit of any particular contractor or contractors, but no such waiver by Owner shall be construed as a waiver of such Rules and Regulations in favor of any
other contractor or contractors, nor shall any such waiver prevent Owner from thereafter enforcing any such Rules and Regulations against such other contracts.

If in the sole judgment of Owner’s representative one or more of these rules are being or have been violated, Owner’s representative may immediately
remedy the deficiency at Contractor’s expense and/or hereby levy a fine between $100-$500 per occurrence, based on the severity of the breach and the number
of times Contractor has been warned. Such remedy shall be in addition to any other remedies Owner may have under the contract or at law or in equity.

 
51. Amendments

Owner reserves the right to make such other and reasonable rules and regulations as in its judgment may from time to time be desirable for safety or
security, for care or cleanliness of the Property, or for the preservation of good order therein. Contractor shall, from and after receipt of written notice thereof,
abide by any such additional rules and regulations as may be adopted by Owner.
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52. Contractor Responsible for Others

Contractor shall be responsible for observance of all of the Rules and Regulations by Contractor’s employees, agents, subcontractors, suppliers, invitees,
and guests.

The below signed Contractor acknowledges the receipt of the Rules and Regulations for Contractor and accepts all the conditions contained therein.
 

Contractor:   

Firm:    

By:    (Sign)

   (Print)

Its:    (Title)

Date:    

Issued by:   Approved

by:    

Date:    

 Date:    
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EXHIBIT I

Building Standard Materials
 

Ceiling Tile:  USG Interiors
 Mars ClimaPlus 2"2"3/4'

.  High LR .92
 Fineline Beveled
 Edge (FLB) Ceiling Tile (USGI 86985)

 or

 

Armstrong Optima with foil backing,
product number 3335,
with an acoustic rating of .
.90 NRC and 20+ CAC

Ceiling Suspension System:  USG Interiors

 

Donn Fineline 1/8" (DXFF) Grid System
Main Runners and Cross Tees for a 2"2' system
(DXFF2924, DXFF229 and DXFF429N)

Doors:

 

All doors to be 9'-0' height. Main Tenant doors will be fire rated, solid core wood with Figured Annigre finish in rated
hollow metal frames, painted. Secondary, non-rated doors to be solid core wood with Figured Annigre finish with
aluminium frame.

Door Hardware:  Schlage, fully mortised, lever: L-series 03, finish: 625 bright chromium plated

Window Blinds:  Levelor, Riviera Dust Guard 1" Blind with SheerView slats and tiltone colors

Neutral side: 115 Dover  alternate neutral side: 112 Alabaster

Window side: 862 Pearl Grey  alternate window side: NA

**     Required option: Restrictive Cam Tilter for uniform window side (exterior) 862 Pearl Grey color

Tenant Light Fixtures:
 

Columbia P4 Parabolic or Lightolier, 3 Lamps with T-8 lamps. Lighting connected to the building’s Energy Management
system.

VAV Boxes:  Titus or Price, Direct Digital Control system connected to the building’s Energy Management System

Thermostats:  White, surface mounted thermostat with set point adjustment and room Temperature display.

Duct Work:

 

Externally insulated sheet metal duct build to sheet metal duct industry standard for leakage and performance. Maximum of
6 feet of flexible duct work will be utilized for connection from VAV box to diffuser. All sheet metal duct will be suitable
for re-use by future tenants.
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Sprinklers:   Semi Recess Type with white metal escutcheon. Central Model 1 or Equal.

Air Diffusers:   Light Troffer Diffusers titus LTTI or Price

Light Switches:   White, Non-sensor type Leviton rocker type or Motion Sensor type: Novitas, Watt Stopper or equal.

Outlet:   white, Leviton Commercial receptacles.

Speakers and Strobe Lights:   Speakers: Gentex or equal 4" or 8" SPK series. Speakers to be Connected to building fire alarm system.

  Strobes: Wheelock Candella or equal wall mounted, UL listed Strobes to be connected to building fire alarm system.

Pull Stations:
  

Cerberus Pyrotronics, Simplex or equal. UL listed, manual single Action pull station. Surface or Semi-flush installation.
Stations to be connected to building fire alarm system.

Exit Lights:   UL Listed, Low energy LED type. Emergi-Lite Preceptor Series or equal.
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EXHIBIT J

Tenant Estoppel Certificate

The undersigned, as Tenant under that certain Lease Agreement (the “Lease”) made and entered                  into as of , 20     and between GLL FREMONT
STREET PARTNERS, a California partnership organized under the laws of California, as Landlord, and the undersigned as Tenant, for Premises on the             
through              floors of the Building located at 199 Fremont Street, San Francisco, California, hereby certifies as follows:

1. Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a true and correct copy of the Lease and all amendments and modifications thereto. The documents contained in Exhibit
A represent the entire agreement between the parties as to the Premises.

2. The undersigned has commenced occupancy of the Premises described in the Lease, currently occupies the Premises, and the Commencement Date
occulted on                 .

3. The Lease is in full force and effect and has not been modified, supplemented or amended in any way except as provided in Exhibit A.

4. Tenant has not transferred, assigned, or sublet any portion of the Premises nor entered into any license or concession agreements with respect thereto
except as follows:

5. Tenant has not voluntarily prepaid any amounts owing under the Lease to Landlord in excess of thirty (30) days.

6. The date of                 , 20    , is the Commencement Date for the Term for the Premises, as defined in the Lease.

7. The date of                 , is the scheduled Expiration Date of the Term; and

8. The Premises consist of                  rentable square feet.

9. The period of                 , 20     through                 , 20    , is the First Window Period during which Tenant may elect to lease the First Expansion Space.

10. The period of                 , 20     through                 , 20    , is the Second Window Period during which time Tenant may elect to lease the Second
Expansion Space.

11. The Termination Date for the cancellation of the Lease with respect to the Early Termination Premises is                         .

12. To Tenant’s actual knowledge, all conditions of the Lease to be performed by Landlord necessary to the enforceability of the Lease have been satisfied
and Landlord is not in default thereunder, except as follows:                                                                                  .

13. No rental has been paid in advance and no security has been deposited with Landlord except as provided in the Lease, except as follows:
                                                                                 .
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14. As of the date hereof, there are no existing defenses or offsets that the undersigned has, which preclude enforcement of the Lease by Landlord,
provided that none of the foregoing shall negate Tenant’s audit rights set forth in Section 6.8 of the Lease.

15. All monthly installments of Minimum Monthly Rent and all other rent have been paid when due through                                 . The current monthly
installment of Minimum Monthly Rent is $            .

16. The undersigned acknowledges that this Estoppel Certificate may be delivered to Landlord’s existing or prospective mortgagee, or a prospective
purchaser, and acknowledges that it recognizes that if same is done, said mortgagee, or prospective purchaser will be relying upon the statements contained
herein.

17. If Tenant is a corporation, limited liability company, or partnership, each individual executing this Estoppel Certificate on behalf of Tenant hereby
represents and warrants that Tenant is a duly formed and existing entity qualified to do business in the state in which the Building is located and that Tenant has
full right and authority to execute and deliver this Estoppel Certificate and that each person signing on behalf of Tenant is authorized to do so.

18. Executed at                          on the              day of             , 20    .
 

Tenant:  

RIVERBED TECHNOLOGY, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By:   
Print Name:  
Title:  

Date:  
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Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Company

Riverbed Technology Limited (UK)
Riverbed Technology Sarl (France)
Riverbed Technology Pte. Ltd. (Singapore)
Riverbed Technology GmbH (Germany)
Riverbed Technology Pty Ltd. (Australia)
Riverbed Technology Korea, Inc. (Korea)
Riverbed Technology Limited (Hong Kong)
Riverbed Technology K.K. (Japan)
Riverbed Technology B.V. (Netherlands)
Riverbed Technology India Private Limited (India)
Riverbed Technology International, Inc. (Delaware)
Riverbed Technology AG (Switzerland)
Riverbed Technology SL (Spain)
Riverbed Technology Canada LTD (Canada)
Riverbed Technology South Africa (Proprietary) Limited (South Africa)
Riverbed Technology S.r.l. (Italy)
Riverbed Technology Limited (New Zealand)
Riverbed Technology AB (Sweden)
Riverbed Technology Sdn. Bhd. (Malaysia)
Riverbed Technology S. de R.L. de C.V. (Mexico)
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EXHIBIT 23.1

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-137502 and 333-141260) pertaining to the 2006 Equity
Incentive Plan, 2006 Director Option Plan and 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan of Riverbed Technology, Inc., of our reports dated February14, 2008, with
respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Riverbed Technology, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of
Riverbed Technology, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2007.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Francisco, California
February 14, 2008
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jerry M. Kennelly, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Riverbed Technology, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
Date: February 14, 2008  /S/    JERRY M. KENNELLY

 Jerry M. Kennelly

 
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

 

Source: Riverbed Technology,, 10-K, February 15, 2008



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Randy S. Gottfried, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Riverbed Technology, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 

 
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

 a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

 
Date: February 14, 2008  /S/    RANDY S. GOTTFRIED

 Randy S. Gottfried

 
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

 

Source: Riverbed Technology,, 10-K, February 15, 2008



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Riverbed Technology, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2007 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof, Jerry M. Kennelly, as President, and Chief Executive Officer, and Randy S. Gottfried, as Chief Financial Officer, each
hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

1. The Annual Report on Form 10-K fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

2. The information contained in the Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
Riverbed Technology, Inc.

 
Date: February 14, 2008  /S/    JERRY M. KENNELLY

  

 Jerry M. Kennelly

 
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 14, 2008  /S/    RANDY S. GOTTFRIED
  

 Randy S. Gottfried

 
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to Riverbed Technology, Inc. and
will be retained by Riverbed Technology, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

_______________________________________________
Created by 10KWizard     www.10KWizard.com

Source: Riverbed Technology,, 10-K, February 15, 2008

http://www.10kwizard.com
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